

Curran, Samuel Arion (2012) *Pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease in the presence and absence of rheumatoid arthritis.* PhD thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/3849/

Copyright and moral rights for this thesis are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Glasgow Theses Service http://theses.gla.ac.uk/ theses@gla.ac.uk

Pathogenesis of Cardiovascular Disease in the Presence and Absence of Rheumatoid Arthritis

Samuel Arion Curran BSc (Hons)



Thesis submitted to The University of Glasgow for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences

University of Glasgow

2012

Author's Declaration

I declare that the work presented in this thesis is my own unless specifically stated otherwise.

Samuel Arion Curran September 2012

Abstract

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic inflammatory disease that although primarily affecting the joints is recognised as a systemic disease with a variety of co-morbidities. One such co-morbidity is cardiovascular disease (CVD) and patients with RA are at a two-fold increased risk of developing CVD compared to the general population. Indeed, CVD, principally as a result of atherosclerosis, is recognised as the leading cause of death in RA patients. In this study the vascular adventitia and serum samples from patients with co-existing RA and CVD were investigated to identify factors that could explain the increased CVD morbidity observed in RA patients. This involved culture-independent identification of bacterial signatures and histological evaluation for pro-inflammatory molecules and potential RA-associated autoantigens in the aortic adventitia. Additionally, serum samples from healthy controls, patients with RA or CVD alone, and patients with co-existing RA and CVD, were screened for a broad range of cytokines, chemokines and growth factors. These data provided the basis for further studies into the effect of cytokines on foam cell formation.

Histological evaluation of the aortic adventitia revealed that pronounced inflammatory infiltrates were detectable in all patients with CVD, regardless of rheumatic disease. To assess whether or not the inflammatory composition of the aortic adventitia differed between patients with or without RA, sections were examined using immunohistochemistry for a markers including TNFα, CD21 and heat shock proteins (HSP) 47 and 60, both of which have been implicated in the pathogenesis of RA and CVD. TNFα and HSP47 were confirmed in the aortic adventitia; however, neither CD21 nor HSP60 were detected. The expression of total TNFα was significantly elevated in RA+CVD compared to non-RA CVD patients. These data demonstrate that the aortic adventitia is a site of considerable immunological function and suggest a possible role for TNFα overexpression in the pathogenesis of CVD in RA.

Bacterial infection has been implicated as a causative agent for both RA and CVD. The present study used culture-independent methods to identify bacteria in the aortic adventitia of RA+CVD and non-RA CVD patients. The presence of bacterial DNA was confirmed in three of 11 RA+CVD and four of 11 non-RA CVD patients. The bacterial flora of RA+CVD patients was significantly less heterogeneous compared to non-RA CVD patients. *Methylobacterium oryzae* was detected in every RA+CVD patient positive for the presence of bacterial DNA. Subsequent in *vitro* characterisation demonstrated that *M*.

oryzae stimulates mild Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2), but not TLR4, signalling and, upon challenge of primary human macrophages, produces a robust pro-inflammatory response. Importantly, these findings implicate *M. oryzae* infection as playing a potential role in the pathogenesis of CVD in RA patients.

Previous studies have argued that the persistently high levels of systemic inflammation exhibited by RA patients are critical to elevated CVD risk. In the current study it was demonstrated that RA patients exhibit an altered systemic immune profile compared to non-RA CVD patients and healthy controls. The pro-inflammatory phenotype in comorbind CVD and RA is suggestive of an environment that may promote atherosclerosis. Furthermore, RA+CVD patients were shown to possess an altered systemic immune phenotype compared to both RA and CVD patients. Notably, IL-1β, IL-2, IL-5, IL-8, IL-13, IL-17, Monokine induced by gamma interferon (MIG), Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) and Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) expression was greater in the serum of RA+CVD patients compared to the additive values of the RA and CVD patients.

The formation of lipid-rich foam cells is a major feature of atherosclerosis pathogenesis and is partially dependent on the inflammatory environment. The present study demonstrated that GM-CSF stimulation significantly decreased the rate at which human primary macrophages could endocytose oxLDL and form foam cells. The effect of dextran sulphate, a known competitive inhibitor of scavenger receptors, on the ability of GM-CSF stimulated macrophages to differentiate into foam cells revealed that GM-CSF decreases the concentration of dextran sulphate required to successfully inhibit scavenger receptormediated ox-LDL uptake; suggesting that GM-CSF-stimulated macrophages express less scavenger receptors on the cell surface. However, subsequent investigation demonstrated that GM-CSF stimulation did not decrease expression of the currently recognised scavenger receptors that are capable of oxLDL recognition (SR-A1, SR-B1, CD36 and MARCO). These data imply that the overexpression of GM-CSF observed in RA and RA+CVD patients may provide some atheroprotective benefit. This has clinical implications for future anti-RA drugs which target GM-CSF function.

In summary, the data presented in this thesis demonstrate that RA+CVD patients exhibit immunological and pathological alterations both in the aortic adventitia and systemically. Further research will, over time, provide insight into the mechanisms underlying increased CVD burden in RA.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank Dr Marcello Riggio, Dr Carl Goodyear and Professor Colin Murray for their enthusiasm, guidance and support over the past three years. Not only have they armed me with the scientific skills needed to complete this project, but the lessons learned and experiences gained will undoubtedly be valuable throughout my life. Now that the formalities are over, I would also like to thank each of them for being great friends to me over the years. From the drinks to the lab meetings, every moment has been appreciated and enjoyed.

To all the staff and students on level 3 of the GBRC (Susan Kitson, Pauline Smith, Jamie Dizzle Doonan, Jennifer Montgomery, Felicity Herrington, Michelle Campbell, Dr Alasdair Fraser, Ashley Gilmour, Kay Hewit, Kenny Pallas and Dr Lindsay MacLellan) and level 9 of the dental hospital (Sanne Dolieslager, Andrew Smith, Leighann Sherry and Jennifer Malcolm) a massive thank you. Your contribution to this body of work was significant (P<0.0001) and your support and friendship will never be forgotten.

I would also like to acknowledge the contribution of several other key members of staff. Dr David Lappin for always taking the time to help me with statistical analyses and teach me numerous scientific techniques. Jim Reily and Shauna Kerr for their help and assistance with all things immunohistochemistry, and Dr Clett Erridge for performing the TLR assay outlined in this thesis.

To Dr Gordon Smith and Dentist Anto Jose, we have come a long way since your initial judgement that I was just 'some ginger guy that didn't know about football'. Maybe I should be thanking the buddy system for breaking those social barriers and bringing us all closer together. From the pints to the science chat, it has all been above average.

This project would not have been possible without the help and collaboration of Dr Ivana Hollan and her team in Lillehammer, Norway. Your dedication to research and assistance over the years has helped make my experiences all the more fulfilling.

Thank you to Maria Nonak (of the North) for your constant enthusiasm.

Special thanks go to my mother Artemis Curran and my father James Curran. I am deeply grateful for your constant love and encouragement. You have provided me with the platform to achieve all my goals in life.

Finally, a special thank you must go to Dr Katy 'golden egg' Malpass. You are both a brilliant scientist and girlfriend. For all those motivating chats, afternoon emails, fun filled distractions and scientific input – thank you.

Table of Contents

1

Author	or's declaration					
Abstra	ict					
Ackno	cknowledgments					
Table	of conte	ents				
List of	tables					
List of	figures	5				
Introd	uction					
1.1	Overv	iew				
1.2	Introd	uction to immu	nity 2			
	1.2.1	Pathogen asso	ociated molecular patterns 4			
	1.2.2	Pattern recogn	nition receptors 5			
	1.2.3	Inflammation				
	1.2.4	The acquired	immune system 9			
1.3	Rheun	natoid arthritis.				
	1.3.1	Pathogenesis	of rheumatoid arthritis 13			
		1.3.1.1	Inflammation in RA13			
		1.3.1.2	Autoantibodies in RA14			
		1.3.1.3	Genetics 14			
	1.3.2	Co-morbiditie	es in RA15			
1.4	Cardio	ovascular disea	se16			
	1.4.1	The global bu	urden of cardiovascular disease16			
	1.4.2	Blood vessel	structure			
	1.4.3	Vascular ende	othelium19			
		1.4.3.1	Endothelial dependent leukocyte recruitment21			
		1.4.3.2	Endothelial dysfunction21			
	1.4.4	Formation of	the atherosclerotic lesion			
		1.4.4.1	From intima to adventitia22			
		1.4.4.2	From adventitia to intima23			
		1.4.4.3	Clinical manifestations of atherosclerosis25			

	1.5	Atherog	genesis in rheumatoid arthritis	28
		1.5.1	Exploring the link	28
		1.5.2	Traditional risk factors shared between RA and CVD patients	28
		1.5.3	Systemic inflammation	30
		1.5.4	Autoantigens and heat-shock proteins (HSPs)	32
		1.5.5	Bacterial triggers	34
			1.5.5.1Systemic inflammation hypothesis	35
			1.5.5.2Bacteraemia hypothesis	37
			1.5.5.3Bacteria: a candidate to help explain the associatio between RA and CVD	n 39
	1.6	Hypothe	esis and aims	40
2	Mate	erials and i	methods	41
	2.1	Immuno	ohistochemistry	42
		2.1.1	Human subjects	.42
		2.1.2	Aortic adventitia paraffin sections	42
		2.1.3	Haematoxylin and eosin staining	42
		2.1.4	Optimisation	43
		2.1.5	Deparaffination	44
		2.1.6	Antigen retrieval	45
		2.1.7	Non-specific binding block and primary antibody	45
		2.1.8	Secondary antibody and mounting	45
		2.1.9	Major staining steps for each antibody	46
		2.1.10	Analytical procedure and data collection	48
		2.1.11	Measuring surface area of section	.49
		2.1.12	Statistical analysis	.49
	2.2	Bacteria	al detection	50
		2.2.1	Aortic adventitia frozen sections	50
		2.2.2	DNA extraction from tissue samples	50
		2.2.3	PCR amplification of 16S ribosomal DNA	50
		2.2.4	Cloning and restriction digestion	51

	2.2.5	Sequencing	51
	2.2.6	DNA sequence analysis	52
	2.2.7	Contamination control	52
2.3	In vitre	o investigation of <i>Methylobacterium sp</i>	53
	2.3.1	Culture of <i>Methylobacterium mesophilicum</i> and <i>Methylobacteriu</i> oryzae	ım 53
	2.3.2	Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)	53
	2.3.3	SVEC-10 murine cell culture	53
	2.3.4	RAW 264.7 murine cell culture	54
	2.3.5	Isolation and culture of CD14 ⁺ monocytes by EasySep [®] positive selection	54
	2.3.6	Purity evaluation of CD14 ⁺ cells by FACS analysis	56
	2.3.7	Methylobacterium challenge and RNA isolation	56
	2.3.8	cDNA synthesis	57
	2.3.9	TaqMan mRNA analysis by RT-QPCR	58
	2.3.10	TLDA analysis	58
	2.3.1	l Ingenuity pathway analysis	59
	2.3.12	2 TLR transfection assay	59
	2.3.13	Phenol extraction of LOS and LPS	60
	2.3.14	Determination of LPS and LOS purity by silver stain	60
2.4	Prote	in profile of human serum	60
	2.4.1	Patients and serum sample preparation	60
	2.4.2	Luminex assay of human serum	61
	2.4.3	sST2 ELISA	62
2.5	Lipop	rotein isolation and oxidative modification	62
	2.5.1	Lipoprotein isolation	62
	2.5.2	lipoprotein oxidation	63
	2.5.3	Modified Lowry protein assay	64
	2.5.4	Lipoprotein electrophoresis	64
2.6	In vit	<i>ro</i> foam cell investigation	64
	2.6.1	Foam cell formation	64

		2.6.2	Oil-red-O staining and foam cell quantification	.65
		2.6.3	Luminex of GM-CSF stimulated macrophages	65
		2.6.4	Dextran sulphate-mediated inhibition of foam cell formation	.65
	2.7	Quanti	itative PCR	66
		2.7.1	cDNA synthesis and normalisation	.66
		2.7.2	Primer design	66
		2.7.3	SYBR QPCR protocol	67
		2.7.4	Analysis of QPCR data	.68
	2.8	FACS	analysis of scavenger receptors	.68
3	Cellula subjec arthrit	ar comp ts with (is	osition and cytokine expression in the aortic adventitia of human cardiovascular disease in the presence and absence of rheumatoid	.70
	3.1	Introdu	uction	.71
	3.2	Result	S	.76
		3.2.1	Patients characteristics	76
		3.2.2	Morphology of aortic adventitia section	.76
		3.2.3	Inflammation in the aortic adventitia	.79
		3.2.4	Relationship between vascular inflammation and traditional CVD risk factors	.84
		3.2.5	Detection of TNF α in the aortic adventitia of CVD patients with a without RA.	and 86
		3.2.6	TNFα immunohistochemistry established in human tonsil	86
		3.2.7	Immunoreactivity for TNF α in RA+CVD and CVD only patients.	.88
		3.2.8	Relationship between $TNF\alpha$ and adventitial inflammation	91
		3.2.9	Relationship between TNFα expression and traditional CVD risk factors	.91
		3.2.10	Expression of TNFα in RA+CVD serum	.94
		3.2.11	CD21 expression in the aortic adventitia	.95
		3.2.12	Immunoreactivity of HSP47 in RA+CVD and CVD only patients.	.99
		3.2.13	Relationship between HSP47 expression and traditional CVD risk	
			factors	.99
		3.2.14	Heatshock protein 60 in the aortic adventitia1	03

		3.2.15	Calprotectin protein antigen expression in the aortic adventitia103
		3.2.16	Calprotectin and TNFα correlation analysis105
		3.2.17	Immunohistochemical quality control106
	3.3	Discus	sion108
4	The ba inflam	acterial of matory	composition of the human aortic adventitia: possible implications for disease
	4.1	Introdu	action115
	4.2	Results	s118
		4.2.1	Study plan and patients characteristics118
		4.2.2	DNA extraction and contamination control119
		4.2.3	Bacterial DNA signatures detected in the aortic adventitia of patients with and without RA
		4.2.4	Bacterial signatures detected in the aortic adventitia of patients with psoriatic arthritis
		4.2.5	Description of <i>M. oryzae</i> bacterium126
		4.2.6	Broad spectrum analysis of cellular transcription following infection with <i>Methylobacterium sp.</i>
			 4.2.6.1 Sequence alignment of 16S rRNA genes of <i>M. oryzae</i> and <i>M. mesophilicum</i>
		4.2.7	Transcriptional response of murine macrophages to <i>M</i> . mesophilicum
		4.2.8	Biological pathway analysis by Ingenuity IPA analysis of murine macrophages infected with <i>M</i> . mesophilicum131
		4.2.9	Transcriptional response of murine endothelial cells to <i>M</i> . mesophilicum
		4.2.10	Immune responses of human primary macrophages to Methylobacterium oryzae in vitro
			 4.2.10.1 Isolation and purity of human primary macrophages134 4.2.10.2 Transcriptional analysis of human primary macrophages infected with <i>Methylobacterium</i> oryzae136
			4.2.10.3 Biological pathway analysis by Ingenuity IPA analysis of human primary macrophages infected with <i>M. oryzae</i> .145
		4.2.11	TLR response to <i>M. oryzae</i> 146
		4.2.12	Detection of LPS in <i>M. oryzae</i> 149

	4.3	Discu	ssion15		
5	Syster arthrit	mic imn tis and i	nune profile in cardiovascular disease with co-existing rheumatoid mplications in foam cell formation150		
	5.1 Introduction		uction15'		
	5.2	Result	ts160		
		5.2.1	Patients characteristics160		
		5.2.2	Immune expression in serum of CVD, RA and RA+CVD patients		
			5.2.2.1 Cytokine profile in CVD, RA, RA+CVD patients		
			5.2.2.2 Chemokine and growth factor profile in CVD, RA, RA+CVD patients17		
			5.2.2.3 sST2 and IL-2R expression in the serum of CVD, RA and RA+CVD patients		
		5.2.3	Macrophages in the aorta of CVD patients with coexisting RA170		
		5.2.4	Low density lipoprotein isolation and oxidative modification17		
		5.2.5	Kinetics of oxLDL uptake and foam cell formation179		
		5.2.6	OxLDL loading in cytokine-treated human monocyte derived macrophages		
		5.2.7	The effects of GM-CSF on human macrophage responses		
		5.2.8	Inhibition of foam cell formation using dextran sulphate183		
		5.2.9	Scavenger receptor expression in cytokine-treated human monocyte derived macrophages		
	5.3	Discu	ssion192		
6	Gener	al discu	ssion19		
	Concl	Conclusions			
	Refer	ences			
	Apper	ndix			

List of Tables

Table 6.5 List of human and murine genes encoding intracellular proteins and enzymes	5
examined by TLDA	.254
Table 6.6 List of human and murine genes encoding transcription factors and signalling	g
factors examined by TLDA	.255
Table 6.7 List of human and murine growth factors, immune effector and pro/anti-	
apoptotic genes examined by TLDA	.256
Table 6.8 List of human and murine cell surface proteins and adhesion molecules	
examined by TLDA	.257

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Breakdown of NHS spending for diagnosis and treatment of CVD in 2006	18
Figure 1.2 Location of endothelial cells in the vessel wall	20
Figure 1.3 Atherosclerosis initiated in the adventitia	25
Figure 1.4 The stages of atherosclerosis	27
Figure 1.5 Impact of traditional risk factors on endpoint CVD in RA and non-RA patie	nts 30
Figure 3.1 Morphological and cellular characterisation of the aortic adventitia	78
Figure 3.2 Histological examination of aortic adventitia mononuclear cell infiltration b light microscopy	y 80
Figure 3.3 Inflammatory infiltrates in the aortic adventitia of RA+CVD and CVD only patients	82
Figure 3.4 Number of inflammatory infiltrates in the aortic adventitia of RA+CVD and CVD only patients	l 82
Figure 3.5 Aortic inflammation in matched human aortic adventitia and internal mamm	1ary 83
Figure 3.6 Analysis of potential inflammatory infiltrate risk factors	84
Figure 3.7 TNFα staining using different antibody concentration and antigen retrieval systems	87
Figure 3.8 Number of sites of TNF α staining in the aortic adventitia of RA+CVD and CVD only patients	89
Figure 3.9 Quantitative scoring of TNF α in smooth muscle cells and inflammatory infiltrates in the aortic adventitia of RA+CVD and CVD only patients	90
Figure 3.10 TNF α and inflammatory infiltrates in all patients	92
Figure 3.11 TNFα and inflammatory infiltrates in RA+CVD patients	92
Figure 3.12 Levels of TNFα expression in serum of RA+CVD and CVD only patients.	94
Figure 3.13 CD21 mAb selectively stains germinal centers	96
Figure 3.14 mAb CD21 stains tonsillar germinal centers	97
Figure 3.15 CD21staining in aortic adventitia	98
Figure 3.16 HSP47 immunohistochemistry in the aortic adventitia	.100
Figure 3.17 HSP47 expression in the aortic adventitia of patients with RA+CVD and C only	CVD .101
Figure 3.18 Calprotectin in the aortic adventitia	.104
Figure 3.19 Calprotectin and TNFa correlation	.105
Figure 3.20 Immunohistochemistry quality control	.107

Figure 4.1 Samples PCR-positive for 16S rRNA gene119
Figure 4.2 Samples PCR-negative for 16S rRNA gene
Figure 4.3 Reagent sterility
Figure 4.4 Total bacterial species identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing
Figure 4.5 Morphological characteristics of M. oryzae127
Figure 4.6 Growth rate of <i>M. oryzae</i> 127
Figure 4.7 Transcriptional profile of RAW 264.7 murine macrophages following M.
mesophilicum stimulation
Figure 4.8 Transcriptional profile of SVEC murine endothelial cells following M.
mesophilicum stimulation
Figure 4.9 FACS plots illustrating purity of isolated CD14+ monocytes135
Figure 4.10 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding cytokines in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation
Figure 4.11 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding enzymes or intracellular proteins in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation
Figure 4.12 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding chemokines in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation
Figure 4.13 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding lineage markers in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation
Figure 4.14 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding signalling and transcription factors in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation
Figure 4.15 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding adhesion molecules and cell surface proteins in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation
Figure 4.16 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding growth factors, immune effectors and pro-survival proteins in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation
Figure 4.17 <i>M. oryzae</i> and TLR2 signaling
Figure 4.18 <i>M. oryzae</i> and TLR4 signaling148
Figure 4.19 LPS/LOS profile of <i>M. oryzae</i>
Figure 5.1 Interleukin concentrations in the serum of patients with CVD, RA, RA+CVD and healthy controls
Figure 5.2 Cytokine (non-interleukin) concentrations in the serum of patients with CVD, RA, RA+CVD and healthy controls
Figure 5.3 Chemokine concentrations in the serum of patients with CVD, RA, RA+CVD and healthy controls

Figure 5.4 Growth factor concentrations in the serum of patients with CVD, RA,
RA+CVD and healthy controls173
Figure 5.5 sST2 and IL-2R concentrations in the serum of patients with CVD, RA,
RA+CVD and healthy controls175
Figure 5.6 Macrophage staining in the aortic adventitia of CVD patients
Figure 5.7 Electrophoretic mobility of oxLDL
Figure 5.8 Kinetics of oxLDL uptake by human macrophages
Figure 5.9 OxLDL loading in cytokine-treated human monocyte-derived macrophages
Figure 5.10 Immune profile of GM-CSF-stimulated human macrophages184
Figure 5.11 Competitive inhibition of scavenger receptor-mediated uptake of oxLDL 186
Figure 5.12 Oil-red-O staining following inhibition of scavenger receptor mediated uptake of oxLDL
Figure 5.13 mRNA expression of scavenger receptors in cytokine treated human monocyte-derived macrophages
Figure 5.14 FACS staining of MARCO and SRB1 in cytokine-treated human monocyte
derived macrophages
Figure 6.1 Model of adventitial-derived atherosclerosis in RA

Abbreviations

ACR	American College of Rheumatology
ACPA	Anti citrullinated peptide antibody
APC	Antigen presenting cell
ApoE ^{-/-}	Apolipoprotein E knock out mouse
BMI	Body mass index
CABG	Coronary artery bypass graft
ССР	Cyclic citrullinated peptide
CuSo ₄	Copper sulphate
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
CRP	C-reactive protein
DM	Diabetes mellitus
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetracetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FACS	Fluorescent Activated Cell Sorter
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HS	Healthy samples
Ig	Immunoglobulin
II	Inflammatory infiltrate
IMA	Internal mammary artery
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
LOS	Lipooligosaccharide
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
NA	Not available
NTC	No template control
oxLDL	Oxidized low density lipoprotein
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular pattern

PBMCs Peripheral blood mononuclear cells

- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- PBS Phosphate buffered saline
- PRR Pattern recognition receptor
- PsA Psoriatic arthritis
- RA Rheumatoid arthritis
- **RF Rheumatoid factor**
- **RPE R** Phycoerythrin
- **RPMI** A cell culture medium discovered at 'Roswell Park Memorial Institute'
- **RPM** Revolutions per minute
- SD Standard deviation
- SDS Sodium dodecyl sulphate
- SE Standard error
- SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus
- SMC Smooth muscle cell
- SR Scavenger receptor
- Th1 T helper lymphocyte type 1
- Th2 T helper lymphocyte type 2
- TLR Toll-like receptor

1 Introduction

1.1 Overview

The term atherosclerosis describes a chronic inflammatory disorder of the arterial blood vessel wall in which immune cell activation and inflammation leads to fibrotic plaque formation, followed by destabilisation and rupture (Hansson, 2001). Risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD), as a result of atherosclerosis, is increased in patients diagnosed with inflammatory rheumatic disease such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (van Leuven et al., 2006). Indeed, CVD is the leading cause of mortality in both RA and SLE patients.

The research undertaken for this thesis explores the hypothesis that the association between CVD and inflammatory rheumatic disease may be explained by the chronic inflammatory state itself. Furthermore, several alternative hypotheses are explored in an effort to improve our understanding of why the association between CVD and RA arises. Enhanced understanding will enable the design and implementation of specific therapeutic approaches for patients with these diseases.

The following introduction will initially provide a brief overview of immunity before focusing in detail on RA, CVD and reviewing current popular thinking of why the association between these diseases exists.

1.2 Introduction to immunity

We are constantly exposed to pathogenic microbes that are swallowed, inhaled or inhabit mucous membranes or the skin. Whether these microbes cause disease or not is a result of both the microbes' pathogenicity and the integrity of the host defence mechanisms. The immune system comprises an interactive network of lymphoid organs, cells, growth factors, chemokines and cytokines (Parkin and Cohen, 2001). An effective immune system is essential to human health; however, in both RA and CVD the immune system attacks the body (self) leading to joint destruction and blood vessel inflammation.

Host immunity can be divided into two functionally distinct but related systems, termed the innate and the adaptive immune responses. These two systems have evolved to protect the host from the invasion of microbes (bacteria, viruses, protozoa and fungi), harmful substances and to eliminate modified or altered self.

The term innate immunity is occasionally used to describe physical barriers, but more commonly encompasses the elements of the immune system (macrophages, monocytes, neutrophils, cytokines, complement and acute phase proteins) that provide an immediate first line of defence against pathogenic challenge (Kumar et al., 2011). Although not antigen specific, the innate immune system is effectively able to discriminate foreign molecules from self (self tolerance).

The highly conserved nature of the innate immune response, which is present in even the simplest of animals, demonstrates its importance to host survival (Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002). The innate immune system initially exhibits effector mechanisms over invading pathogens through immediate activation of phagocytic antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and the complement pathway, and secretion of antimicrobial peptides. The simultaneous secretion of down-regulatory mediators, for example the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, alleviates the risk of host tissue destruction arising from an exaggerated rapid inflammatory response.

Activation of the innate immune system is dependent upon recruitment and activation of phagocytes bearing pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) (*Section 1.2.2*), with lectin-like activity. PRRs recognise foreign structures termed pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (*Section 1.2.1*) present on microbes, but not self cells (Medzhitov and Janeway, 2000). PRRs support recognition, uptake and phagocytosis by antigen-presenting cells. Furthermore, the innate immune system also utilises the complement system during recognition and removal of pathogens (*Section 1.2.3*).

The innate and acquired immune systems are not isolated systems but, through the secretion of soluble mediators and cellular contacts, are constantly interacting with each other. The cytokine and chemokine profile established during the innate immune response initiates the migration of antigen-specific T cells to the lymph nodes where they come into contact with APCs. Acquired immunity is dependent upon the innate system providing effective antigen presentation through class I and class II MHC antigens, which are predominantly located on the surface of macrophages and dendritic cells. Additionally, T helper (T_H) cells bind to MHC antigens and stimulate B cells to generate immunity by undergoing immunoglobulin (Ig) class switching and somatic hypermutation, resulting in the production of antigen specific antibodies.

Unlike the innate immune response, which is rapid and lacks specificity, the acquired immune response is highly precise but takes days to weeks to develop. The acquired

immune response exhibits memory so that subsequent exposure results in a more rapid and vigorous response.

The following sections will consider the immune system in more detail. In keeping with the research outlined in this thesis, particular attention will be paid to PRRs, their corresponding PAMPs and inflammation.

1.2.1 Pathogen-associated molecular patterns

Pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) are molecules associated with groups of microbes that are recognised and targeted by the innate immune system. Recent studies have suggested that chronic bacterial and viral infections may play a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of both CVD and RA (Haraszthy et al., 2000, Jacob et al., 1992, Alvarez-Lafuente et al., 2005). In chapter 4 of this thesis we investigate the potential role bacteria may play in the vasculature of RA and CVD patients.

PAMPs are classically defined as evolutionarily conserved pathogen-derived molecules that distinguish hosts from pathogens (Ausubel, 2005). PAMPs include lipopolysaccahride (LPS), bacterial flagellin, peptidoglycan and mannans. It is worth noting that nonpathogens also synthesise PAMPs and the term 'pathogen-associated' is a misnomer. A more accurate term would be 'microbe-associated molecular pattern' (Ausubel, 2005).

LPS is an essential constituent of the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria, and is often considered the prototypical PAMP (Holst et al., 1996, Rietschel et al., 1994). LPS typically consists of a hydrophobic domain known as lipid A (endotoxin), a nonrepeating core oligosaccharide and a distal polysaccharide (O-antigen) (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002). Lipid A, the hydrophobic anchor of LPS, makes up the outermost monolayer of most Gram-negative bacteria. The lipid A domain is highly conserved throughout Gram-negative bacteria and is essential to their viability (Brabetz et al., 1997). In humans, LPS is primarily targeted by phagocytic cells of the innate immune system (macrophages, monocytes, neutrophils, dendritic cells). TLR4 in association with MD-2 is responsible for the physiological recognition of LPS (*see Section 1.2.2*) (Medzhitov et al., 1997, Shimazu et al., 1999).

Lipid A activation of TLR4 triggers the biosynthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-1 β (Beutler and Cerami, 1988, Dinarello, 1991), and activates the

expression of co-stimulatory molecules required for the adaptive immune response (Medzhitov and Janeway, 2000). LPS presence also induces an elevated expression of IFNγ by macrophages which acts to further enhance the sensitivity and magnitude of monocytes immune response to LPS (Fultz et al., 1993). Furthermore, IFNγ induces increased TLR4 expression in human monocytes and several pro-inflammatory cytokines (Muzio et al., 2000). LPS injections in apolipoprotein E (apoE)-deficient mice (a model of atherosclerosis) increased atherosclerotic lesion size and increased adventitial infiltrate of activated lymphocytes (Ostos et al., 2002). This finding suggests that LPS derived from invading pathogens may accelerate or trigger atherosclerosis. Gram-positive bacteria do not posses LPS. however, these bacterial populations posses several alternative PAMPs including peptidoglycans, lipopeptides, lipoteichoic acid, unmethylated DNA fragments (specifically, oligomer containing CpG dinoucleotides in the correct sequence context) and double-stranded RNA (Karlsson et al., 2002). Although somewhat weaker than LPS in their immune potency, each of these molecules elicits an innate immune response (Muhlradt et al., 1997, Weidemann et al., 1997, Morath et al., 2001, Wagner, 2002).

Viruses possess four classes of PAMPs including double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), single strandad RNA (ssRNA), unmethylated CpG DNA and envelope glycoproteins. There are many common elements in the cellular responses to Gram-negative, Gram-positive and viral PAMPs, including the recruitment of leukocytes and the release of chemokines and cytokines, such as TNFa. However, our understanding of how PAMPs and the resulting immune activation affect CVD and RA pathophysiology remains largely limited.

1.2.2 Pattern recognition receptors

Initiation of an effective immune response is reliant upon first recognising the pathogenic article. The initial sensing of infection is mediated by germline-encoded pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) of the innate immune system (Takeuchi and Akira, 2010).

Several classes of PRRs exist, including Toll-like receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptors, RIG-I-like receptors and C-type lectin receptors. This limited repertoire of PRRs is in contrast to the huge repertoire of rearranged receptors utilised by the acquired immune system. The innate immune system is the principal contributor to the acute immune reaction triggered by infection (Akira et al., 2006). Intracellular signalling cascades

triggered by PRRs leads to the expression of immune and inflammatory mediators that coordinate the effective removal of pathogens.

PRRs share several common characteristics: (1) PRRs recognise microbial components known as PAMPs that are essential for survival and replication of the microbe; (2) PRRs are constitutively expressed in the host and detect microbes regardless of their lifecycle; (3) PRRs are germline encoded, nonclonal and posses no immunologic memory (Akira et al., 2006).

The remainder of this section will briefly review the mechanisms by which TLRs and NOD-like-receptors (NLRs) detect the presence of microbial insults, and how the resulting PRR signals stimulate an immune response. A brief outline of which PAMPs the principal PRRs are capable of detecting is provided in *table 1.1*.

The TLR family is evolutionarily conserved and is responsible for sensing microbial components outside of the cell and in intracellular lysosomes and endosomes (Chaturvedi and Pierce, 2009). Twelve members of the TLR family have been identified in humans. TLRs are characterised by extracellular domains containing leucine rich repeat (LRR) motifs and a transmembrane signalling domain termed the Toll/IL-1R homology (TIR) domain (Bowie and O'Neill, 2000). LRR is composed of 20 to 30 amino acid stretches that are rich in the hydrophobic amino acid leucine. Typically each repeat unit is composed of a β -strand α -helix structure and the assembled domain, composed of many repeats, has a horseshoe like conformation (Kobe and Deisenhofer, 1994). It has been widely considered that ligands would bind to the concave structure of the horseshoe structure (Kobe and Kajava, 2001). However, following characterisation of the three-dimensional structure of the human TLR3 LRR motif it has been suggested that negatively charged dsRNA (a PAMP recognised by TLR3) is likely to bind to the outer convex surface of the horseshoe-like conformation (Choe et al., 2005). It is currently unknown if this observation can be applied to the other members of the TLR family.

The TLR family can be divided into subfamilies based on their primary sequences. Each subfamily detects related PAMPs. The highly related subfamily consisting of TLR7, TLR8 and TLR9 recognises nucleic acids, whereas the subfamily consisting of TLR1, TLR2 and TLR6 recognises lipids (*table 1.1*).

The signalling pathway used by the TLR family is highly homologous to that used by the IL-1R (IL-1 receptor) family (Akira and Takeda, 2004). TLRs and IL-1R interact with

MyD88 (myeloid differentiation factor 88) through the TIR (Toll/IL-1R) domain. Following TLR stimulation, MyD88 binds the cytoplasmic TIR domain, where it facilitates the association of TRAF6 (TNF receptor-associated factor 6) and IRAKs (IL-1R associated kinases) (Vallejo, 2011). TRAF6 association activates TAKs (transforming growth factor β -activated kinases), which initiates a kinase cascade resulting in the phosphorylation of inhibitory protein IkB (Hacker and Karin, 2006). Phosphorylated IkB dissociates from the complex and is rapidly targeted for degradation, resulting in the activation of the transcription factor NF-kB, which translocates to the nucleus and initiates the expression of several inflammatory cytokines. Although MyD88 has been suggested to be involved in all TLR signalling, TLR3 appears to transduce signals mainly using a MyD88-independent pathway, as the activation of NF-kB by dsRNA can occur in the absence of MyD88 (Alexopoulou et al., 2001). Furthermore, subtle differences to the signalling pathway of each TLR exist, thus supporting slightly different gene expression patterns for each TLR.

As well as PAMPs, the PRRs are able to recognise certain endogenous self molecules. For example, β -defensins (Biragyn et al., 2002), heatshock proteins (Ohashi et al., 2000) and a number of extracellular matrix proteins (Okamura et al., 2001) have been reported to activate TLR4 and stimulate inflammation. It has been speculated that these endogenous molecules act as danger signals released from stressed or dead cells to trigger a pro-inflammatory response (Matzinger, 2002).

In addition to being expressed by immune cells, TLRs are also expressed by tissues of the cardiovascular system. There is accumulating evidence that TLRs, notably TLR2 and TLR4, are involved in atherosclerotic development and progression (Lin et al., 2009). TLR2 was shown to be over-expressed in arterial endothelial cells in atherosclerosis prone LDLr^{-/-} mice, and diet-induced hyperlipidaemia further increased this expression (Mullick et al., 2008). TLR4-expressing macrophages have been identified in human atherosclerotic lesions and at sites of plaque rupture (Ishikawa et al., 2008). However, the specific role of individual TLRs in initiating and maintaining pathological responses in the cardiovascular system remains to be defined.

While TLRs constitute the main sensors for detection of extracellular microbes, recent findings suggest that NLRs act as intracellular surveillance molecules (Meylan et al., 2006, Fritz et al., 2006). Several proteins of the highly conserved NLR family have been demonstrated to act as PRRs for the initiation of innate immune responses upon pattern specific microbial sensing (Inohara and Nunez, 2003). Two members of the NOD family

(NOD1 and NOD2) recognise specific bacterial components D-glutamyl-mesodiaminopimelic acid (iE-DAP) and muramyl dipeptide (MDP) respectively (*table 1.1*). NOD proteins are members of a family that includes the apoptosis regulator APAF1 (apoptotic protease activating factor 1), mammalian NOD-LRR proteins and plant-diseaseresistance gene products. Similar to TLRs, several NOD proteins have been implicated in the induction of NF-*k*B. In addition, a role for NOD proteins in regulation of caspase activation and apoptosis has been indicated (Warren et al., 2008). Interestingly, genetic variation in the genes encoding NOD proteins in humans is associated with inflammatory disease and increases susceptibility to bacterial infection (Hampe et al., 2001, Hoffman et al., 2001).

PRR	Localisation	Ligand	Origin of ligand
TLR			
TLR1	Plasma membrane	Triacyl lipoprotein	Bacteria
TLR2	Plasma membrane	Lipoprotein	Bacteria, virus,
			parasites, self
TLR3	Endolysosome	dsRNA	Virus
TLR4	Plasma membrane	LPS	Bacteria, virus, self
TLR5	Plasma membrane	Flagellin	Bacteria
TLR6	Plasma membrane	Diacyl lipoprotein	Bacteria, virus
TLR8	Endolysosome	ssRNA	Virus, bacteria, self
TLR9	Endolysosome	CpG-DNA	Virus, bacteria,
			protozoa, self
TLR10	Endolysosome	Unknown	Unknown
TLR11	Plasma membrane	Profilin-like molecule	Protozoa
NLR			
NOD1	Cytoplasm	iE-DAP	Bacteria
NOD2	Cytoplasm	MDP	Bacteria
Table 11	DDDa and their liganda		

Table 1.1PRRs and their ligands

1.2.3 Inflammation

As will become apparent in later sections, RA is a prototypical inflammatory disease (*section 1.3.1*). Furthermore, understanding of atherosclerosis has evolved from a passive process resulting in narrowing of the lumen to a dynamic inflammatory process (Chung et al., 2007) (*section 1.4.4*). Inflammation plays a pivotal role in an orchestrated immune response and can be activated by several mechanisms. But what exactly is inflammation, and how does it function?

The inflammatory process is the characteristic response of tissue to infection or cellular injury. Inflammation functions to destroy, dilute or isolate the damaging agents and limit damage to the tissue. Furthermore, inflammation is necessary for the mediation of immune responses and the maintenance of homeostasis. At the clinical level, the inflammatory response is usually accompanied by tenderness, oedema, erythema and pain. These associated symptoms occur due to increased blood flow to the site of inflammation, recruitment of activated leukocytes and fluid leakage into surrounding tissue. The actions of inflammatory mediators and cytotoxic lymphocytes function to remove damaged tissue and pathogens, supporting healing, restoration of function and homeostasis.

Inflammation is characterised by (1) vasodilation of local blood vessels with subsequent excess blood flow; (2) accumulation of fluid in interstitial space due to increased permeability of surrounding capillaries; (3) migration of monocytes and granulocytes into the affected tissue; (4) swelling of the cells within the tissue. Some of the key proinflammatory molecules include serotonin, histamine, bradykinin, blood clotting factors, the complement cascade and lymphokines secreted by sensitised cells.

1.2.4 The acquired immune system

The innate immune system is not an isolated response. Instead, several components of the innate immune system cooperate with the acquired immune system, resulting in a highly integrated immune response.

The acquired immune response involves the proliferation of antigen-specific B and T cells. Activation of these cells is dependent upon antigen-presenting cells of the innate immune system effectively presenting class I and class II MHC antigens. This is predominantly performed through the action of macrophages and dendritic cells. Class I and class II MHC presenting antigen will activate cytotoxic CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ helper T cells respectively (Harding et al., 2003).

MHC class I molecules are expressed on all nucleated cells. The presentation of foreign antigen and MHC molecule allows infected cells to establish intercellular contacts with cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells. When exposed to such cells effector CD8⁺ T cells release cytotoxins that form pores in the target cell membrane, resulting in lysis.

CD4⁺ T cells, or helper T cells, are immune-response mediators. Unlike CD8⁺ T cells these cells have no phagocytic or cytotoxic capabilities. Upon recognition and binding of class II MHC expressing foreign antigen, CD4⁺ T cells release specific cytokines which influence the activity of an array of immune cells.

The principle function of B cells is to produce antibodies. Antibodies serve several functions including, preventing microbes adhering to host cells, neutralising toxins, opsonising microbes, activating complement, and sensitising infected cells for antibody-dependent attack by natural killer cells (NK cells). Similar to the innate and acquired immune system, T and B cells interact with each other. Antigen recognised by B cells is internalised and processed for MHC class II expression on the B cell surface. This antigen is then presented to a primed specific T cell. The T cell then produces B cell growth factors which stimulate B cell division and maturation, resulting in the formation of antibody-secreting cells. Following an immune response, two types of differentiated B cells persist in a B cell memory pool: plasma cells, which confer a rapid and enhanced response to secondary challenge (Lanzavecchia and Sallusto, 2009).

B cells play several roles in the pathogenesis of RA. They are a source of rheumatoid factors and anti-citrullinated protein antibodies, which activate complement and contribute to the formation of immune complexes in the joints (Silverman and Carson, 2003). B cells both produce and respond to cytokines and chemokines that promote leukocyte infiltration into the joints. Furthermore, germinal-like structures consisting of T and B cells clustered in aggregates around interdigitating dendritic cells are observed in the synovium of about 60% of RA patients (Silverman and Carson, 2003). Generally speaking, the presence of lymphoid infiltration correlates with clinical disease in RA (Weyand and Goronzy, 2003). Furthermore, evidence suggests that the mechanisms of immune-mediated tissue damage

are shared between the synovium and the atherosclerotic lesion, predisposing RA patients to CVD (Weyand et al., 2001).

1.3. Rheumatoid arthritis

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is the most prevalent inflammatory arthritis and is characterised by systemic inflammation, persistent synovitis and autoantibodies leading to severe disability and premature mortality (Scott et al., 2010, Pincus et al., 1984). RA principally affects the peripheral joints, which can lead to cartilage damage, bone erosion, and can subsequently disrupt bone integrity.

In industrialised countries, RA affects 0.5-1% of the adult population and is a major cause of disability. The incidence of RA is three times greater in women than men. Rarely will RA occur in individuals under 15 years of age, but following this age the risk of RA increases until 80 years of age (Majithia and Geraci, 2007). Severity of disease can vary enormously depending on the number of joints affected, the extent of inflammation and the rate of progression.

Despite RA being considered an autoimmune disease the exact initiating stimulus remains unknown (Resch, 2008). However, it is likely that RA results from a complex interaction between environmental and genetic factors. An initial trigger, possibly infectious or autoimmune, initiates joint inflammation, with subsequent interactions between cells of the immune system, their cytokines, growth factors and proteinases leading to joint destruction (Majithia and Geraci, 2007) (*Section 1.3.1*).

There is no single test to confirm the diagnosis of RA. Instead, classification criteria devised by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) and the European League Against Rheumatology (EULAR) (Aletaha et al., 2010) aim to distinguish individuals with RA from those with other types of established joint disease (*table 1.2*). These criteria replace previous long-standing ACR diagnosis criteria (Arnett et al., 1988). The updated criteria require measurement of the acute phase respondents, namely C-reactive protein (CRP) and the erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR). Furthermore, measurement of anti-citrullinated protein antibody (ACPA), an autoantibody against citrulline which can precede physical RA manifestation by several years (Nielen et al., 2004, Rantapaa-Dahlqvist et al., 2003), is required. Together these updates support earlier diagnosis of RA and will undoubtedly result in improved clinical outcomes over the long term.

	Score	
A. Joint involvement *		
1 large joint	0	
2-10 large joints	1	
1-3 small joints (with or without involvement of large joints)	2	
4-10 small joints (with or without involvement of large joints)	3	
>10 joints (at least 1 small joint)	5	
B. Serology (at least one test result is needed for classification)		
Negative RF and negative ACPA	0	
Low-positive RF or low-positive ACPA	2	
High-positive RF or high-positive ACPA	3	
C. Acute-phase reactants (at least one test is needed for classification)		
Normal CRP and normal ESR	0	
Abnormal CRP or abnormal ESR	1	
D. Duration of symptoms		
<6 weeks	0	
≥ 6 weeks	1	

Table 1.2ACR-EULAR classification criteria for rheumatoid arthritis (Aletaha etal., 2010).

The scores from categories A-D are added; a score of ≥ 6 is needed to diagnose a patient as having definite RA. Patients are recommended to undergo these tests if they have at least one joint with definite clinical synovitis and if the observed synovitis cannot be better explained by an alternative disease.

*'Large joints' refer to knees, hips, ankles, shoulders and elbows. 'Small joints' refers to the proximal interphalangeal joints, metacarpophalangeal joints, second through fifth metatarsophalangeal joints, thumb interphalangeal joints and wrists.

1.3.1 Pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis

Despite intensive research the cause of RA remains unknown. However, understanding of the pathogenesis of RA has advanced significantly in recent years. RA is best regarded as a clinical syndrome involving several different inflammatory pathways that ultimately converge, resulting in persistent synovial inflammation and associated bone and cartilage damage (Scott et al., 2010, van der Helm-van Mil and Huizinga, 2008).

1.3.1.1 Inflammation in RA

Inflammation is typically a tightly regulated process involving both pro-inflammatory mediators and anti-inflammatory mediators. In RA an imbalance exists between these two mediator systems, leading to cellular damage and tissue destruction (Choy and Panayi, 2001).

The synovial membrane in patients with RA is characterised by an infiltrate of inflammatory cells, principally CD4+ T cells, which orchestrate cell-mediated immune responses. Antigen-activated CD4+ T cells stimulate monocytes, macrophages and synovial-like fibroblasts to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6 and TNF α (Aggarwal, 2003).

The overproduction of tumour necrosis factor (TNF α) has been identified as a key contributor to the inflammatory and tissue-destructive pathways in RA (Feldmann and Maini, 2003). TNF α is overexpressed in the synovial fluid as well as the synovial membrane of RA patients (Digiovine et al., 1988). Furthermore, expression of the TNF α receptor is also up-regulated in the synovial membrane of RA patients and appears to colocalise with areas of bone erosion (Alsalameh et al., 1999). Further evidence to support the direct role of TNF α in RA comes from transgenic mice, where overexpression of TNF α alone resulted in inflammation and rheumatoid-like lesions in the joints (Keffer et al., 1991). Importantly, inhibiting the biological activity of TNF α has revolutionised the treatment of RA and substantially improved clinical outcomes.

Furthermore, TNF α and IL-1 stimulate mesenchymal cells (synovial fibroblasts, chondrocytes and osteoclasts) to release tissue degrading matrix metalloproteinases (Shingu et al., 1993).

Whereas IL-1, IL-6 and TNF α initiate and maintain inflammation, other cytokines such as IL-10 and IL-4 dampen it (vanRoon et al., 1996). Both IL-10 and IL-4 attenuate the production of TNF α and IL-1 and have been shown to inhibit cartilage damage (Vanroon et al., 1995, Sugiyama et al., 1995). Although both IL-10 and IL-4 have been found in the synovial fluid of RA patients, the amount is thought to be insufficient to protect from inflammation (Katsikis et al., 1994, Taki et al., 2000).

1.3.1.2 Autoantibodies in RA

Rheumatoid factor (RF) is the classic autoantibody in RA. IgM and IgA rheumatoid factors are key pathogenic markers directed against the Fc fragment of immunoglobulin (IgG). RF titre has been demonstrated to correlate with synovitis, joint damage and disability (Shmerling and Delbanco, 1991). However, experimental studies have so far failed to attribute a pathogenic role to RF in RA. Additional types of antibodies are those directed against citrullinated peptides (ACPA). Although most ACPA-positive patients are also positive for RF, ACPA seems more specific and sensitive for diagnosis than RF and provides superior predictive information on joint destruction and disease activity (van der Linden et al., 2009, Fathi et al., 2008). Autoantibodies are discussed further in *section 1.5.4*.

1.3.1.3 Genetics

Although not a feature of the research carried out for this thesis, it must be highlighted that there is extensive evidence for a genetic component in the aetiology of RA. A study of 91 monozygotic (MZ) and 112 dizygotic (DZ) twins revealed that 15.4% of the MZ and 3.6% of the DZ pairs were disease concordant (Silman et al., 1993). Furthermore, familial clustering tests demonstrated that there is an increased risk of RA in first- and second-degree relatives of patients (Grant et al., 2001). Owing to such studies, genetic factors are estimated to account for ~60% of the variation in liability to disease (MacGregor et al., 2000).

The HLA-DRB1 gene, which contributes to the major histocompatability complex (MHC), is the best understood genetic risk marker in RA (Williams et al., 1995). Indeed, genome-wide searches using micro-satellite loci have confirmed a linkage between RA and the

HLA-DR allele polymorphisms (Cornelis et al., 1998, Delgado-Vega and Anaya, 2007). Several non-HLA loci have also been demonstrated to exhibit genetic linkage to RA, including the 18q21 region of the TNFRSF11A gene, which encodes the receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB (RANK), a membrane protein involved in bone resorption in RA (Jawaheer et al., 2003).

1.3.2 Co-morbidities in RA

The pathophysiology of RA is fairly well characterised, but less understood are the comorbid conditions that are associated with RA. Physicians and researchers are interested in RA co-morbidity because of the potential effect on the quality of life (QOL) and the RA prognosis and outcome (Michaud and Wolfe, 2007). It is customary to think of the functional status of RA patients as being directly related to RA pathophysiology; however, functional status is also strongly influenced by co-morbid conditions.

RA patients have, on average, a 10 to 15 year decreased life expectancy compared to the general population (Pincus and Callahan, 1986, Wolfe et al., 1994). CVD is the leading cause of mortality in RA, with over half of all reported mortalities in RA cohorts being explained by CVD events (Goodson, 2002). Enhancing our understanding of why CVD burden is elevated in RA is fundamental to improve clinical outcomes and forms the basis of the research outlined in this thesis. Atherogenesis in rheumatology is discussed in greater detail in *section 1.5*.

In cohorts of RA patients, infection is considered the second greatest contributor to mortality (Franklin et al., 2007, Goodson et al., 2002) and the rate of infection-related mortality is typically 4 to 6 times greater than that of the general population (Sihvonen, 2006, Au et al., 2011). This association has implications for the research described in *chapter 4*, which characterises bacterial species present in the aortic adventitia of patients with RA.

Although not the subject of the research presented in this thesis, epidemiological studies have also demonstrated that RA is associated with pathologies such as osteoporosis, gastrointestinal disease, cataracts, psoriasis and certain cancers. Despite mortality rates resulting from these associated conditions being slight in comparison to CVD, future research into these co-morbidities could lead to development of therapeutics that significantly increase the quality of life experienced by RA patients.

Direct evidence to support CVD as a major pathology in RA comes from stress myocardial perfusion imaging. This relatively simple technique allows clinicians to quantify blood flow to the myocardium. These studies demonstrated that 50% of RA patients aged 40 to 70 years exhibited definitive signs of cardiac ischemia (principally caused by atherosclerosis), whereas only 27% of controls matched for age, sex and all classical cardiovascular risk factors exhibited similar signs of cardiac ischemia (Banks et al., 1998). This clinical observation occurred roughly 10 years earlier in the RA cohort indicating that RA itself (or the pathogenic mechanism) is an independent risk factor for CVD, attributable to accelerated atherosclerosis.

Inflammation is known to play a role in the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis (Ross, 1999, Alexander, 1994, Pasceri and Yeh, 1999). In animal models engineered to overexpress inflammatory mediators, atherosclerosis severity is increased (Huber et al., 1999) and inflammatory cells and mediators have been found in human atherosclerotic plaque (Naruko et al., 2002). Furthermore, elevated serum concentration of inflammatory markers such as IL-6 (Ridker et al., 2000) and CRP (Ridker, 2005) can predict atherosclerosis. Consequently, elevated atherosclerosis risk could result from the chronic inflammation that accompanies RA.

In order to conceptualise current thinking on elevated atherosclerosis risk in RA, and to introduce new hypotheses, it is important first to understand the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. The following section (*section 1.4*) will provide *inter alia* an overview of CVD before describing the physiology of atherosclerosis in more detail.

1.4 Cardiovascular disease

1.4.1 The global burden of cardiovascular disease

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is a broad-spectrum disease that most commonly refers to atherosclerosis, but also includes conditions such as angina and stroke. CVD results from an accumulation of atherosclerotic plaques within the walls of the arteries that supply the myocardium. In 2008 the World Health Organization (WHO) ranked CVD as the premier cause of global death, accounting for 12.2% of all recorded deaths (WHO, 2011). This

trend is expected to continue indefinitely (Murray and Lopez, 1997a, Murray and Lopez, 1997b). Every 25 seconds an American citizen will experience a coronary event and every 60 seconds someone will die as a result of such an event (Roger et al., 2011).

CVD is causally linked to lifestyle. Poor diet, lack of exercise and smoking have been popularised in the media and established in the literature to be major cardiovascular risk factors (Karasek et al., 2010, Gordon et al., 1974, Wildman et al., 2011). The last few decades of urbanisation has led to changes in behavioural patterns towards activities that increase CVD burden. Reduction in manual labour and greater reliance on motorised transportation coupled with the global uptake of an unhealthy western diet (low fruit and vegetable, high salt and saturated fat) have led to a pandemic of obesity in the developed nations. The WHO estimates that in 2006 66.7% of US adults were overweight (BMI \geq 25 kg/m²) and that 33.3% were obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²). Data from the 2009 United States Behavioural Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (Sherry et al., 2010) documented a 1.1% increase in US obesity between 2007 and 2009. This has led some researchers to infer that by 2050 a vast proportion (approaching 100%) of American citizens will be overweight (Yanovski and Yanovski, 2011).

There has been an epidemiological shift in the developing world which has seen a decrease in deaths due to communicable disease and malnutrition, coupled with an increased burden of degenerative disease – the major contributor being atherothrombotic CVD. This epidemiological shift can be categorised into general stages. The first stage encompasses the least developed countries (e.g. sub-Saharan Africa) where the predominant circulatory diseases are nutritional related disorders of the cardiac muscle and rheumatic heart disease (Yusuf et al., 2001). Second-stage countries (e.g. China) are experiencing a decrease in communicable disease and improvements in nutrition. In China, for example, hypertension-related diseases such as hypertensive heart disease and haemorrhagic stroke are the major contributors to CVD (Chiu et al., 2010). Countries in the third stage of the epidemiological shift (e.g. Latin America, urban India) are experiencing improved life expectancy. Here, sedentary lifestyles are being increasingly adopted, smoking and high fat diets are increasing, and as a result noncommunicable diseases predominate, with the greatest contributor to mortality being atherosclerotic CVD (Reddy, 1999). For the majority of developing nations the increased prevalence of CVD accompanies the continuing burden from nutritional and infectious disease. This has been aptly termed the "double burden". The fourth stage, applicable to highly developed nations, is in all senses
similar to the third stage, however increased investment in diagnosis and treatment has led to a delay of symptoms until a later age (Yusuf et al., 2001).

Prevention and treatment of CVD is therefore a critical clinical and social issue. However, as well as human costs, CVD has major economic consequences. In the United Kingdom in 2006, CVD alone cost the NHS £14.4 billion, representing £250 per capita. 72% of this sum was accounted for by direct hospital care of CVD sufferers and 20% of the cost was due to medication (*figure 1.1*). Accordingly there has been a recent burst of research focusing on identifying individuals at risk of CVD, educating them on the necessary lifestyle changes required and administering suitable prophylaxis such as aspirins and statins. This approach has undoubtedly led to progression in the field, however more research is necessary to enhance our understanding of the molecular mechanisms that trigger and potentiate CVD.



Figure 1.1 Breakdown of NHS spending for diagnosis and treatment of CVD in 2006. Figure generated using data from the British Heart Foundation Statistics Database.

1.4.2 Blood vessel structure

In order to understand the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, it is important to be familiar with the basic structure of a healthy blood vessel. All blood vessels, with the exception of the very smallest, are composed of three distinct layers or tunics that surround the central blood-containing lumen (*figure 1.2*). The intima forms the innermost layer, which is composed of a single layer of endothelial cells arranged on a thin membrane of laminin, type IV collagen and proteoglycans. An internal elastic lamina separates the tunica intima from the tunica media. The media forms the middle layer of the vessel and comprises vascular smooth muscle cells with a basement membrane of elastic tissue. The tunica adventitia forms the outermost layer of the vessel. The adventitia is principally composed of loose connective tissue comprised of fat cells and a few smooth muscle cells. Nerves and capillaries (*vasa vasorum*), which provide the vessel wall with nutrients, are also present within the adventitia.

It is widely accepted that atherosclerosis is initiated at the endothelial lining of the tunica intima (Kharbanda and MacAllister, 2005, Ross, 1999). The following sections (*section* 1.4.3 - section 1.4.3.2) will describe current understanding of endothelial cells and how these may contribute to atherosclerosis. However, as will become apparent later (*section* 1.4.4.2 - the outside in phenomenon) there is a growing body of evidence to suggest that atherosclerosis may originate in the adventitia.

1.4.3 Vascular endothelium

The vascular endothelium is a single-celled layer that lines the interior surface of all blood vessels and forms the interface between the vessel wall and circulating blood in the lumen (*figure 1.2*) (Michiels, 2003). For many years the endothelium was considered a relatively inert container for blood. However, the last two decades have seen research reveal a wealth of endothelial functionality.

Under normal physiological conditions the vascular endothelium allows nutrient exchange but limits the passage of blood and protein. The endothelium also plays vital roles in the maintenance of vascular tone by releasing vasoactive substances such as nitric oxide (NO) as well as contributing to angiogenesis, humoral coagulation and inflammation (Stenvinkel, 2001).

Vascular endothelial cells have threefold functionality in the interaction with leukocytes: (1) they dictate the passage of leukocytes to inflammatory foci; (2) they modulate leukocyte activation; (3) they possess receptors that recognise leukocyte derived molecules, which can result in endothelial cell activation or death (Biedermann, 2001). Upon recognition of damaged cells or pathogens, neutrophils, macrophages and mast cells become activated. These cells then secrete cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1, TNF α and a range of other pro-inflammatory mediators. These molecules stimulate blood vessels at the site of damage to vasodilate, increase vascular permeability and activate endothelial cells to express adhesion molecules, including vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and inter-cellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) (Woodfin et al., 2009). Adhesion molecules recognise and bind to circulating lymphocytes, supporting migration from the vascular lumen to the site of infection and/or injury (Yadav et al., 2003).



Figure 1.2. Location of endothelial cells in the vessel wall

A single layer of endothelial cells confined to the intimae line the surface of blood vessels, forming an interface between circulating blood and the rest of the vessel. The media makes up the thickest layer of the vessel and is composed principally of smooth muscle cells. The adventitia is composed primarily of connective tissue and also contains nerves and capillaries (vasa vasorum) that serve the vessel wall. Figure adapted from Micheles,2003.

1.4.3.1 Endothelial-dependent leukocyte recruitment

Evidence suggests that the progression of atherosclerosis resembles a chronic inflammatory disease (Hansson, 2005). Several different leukocyte subsets have been identified in the early lesion, including B cells, T cells, monocytes and macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, dendritic cells (DCs), activated smooth muscle cells (SMCs), mast cells and a range of products secreted from these cells (Charo and Ransohoff, 2006).

A key event in the atherogenic inflammatory response is the endothelial-dependent recruitment of leukocytes to the site of tissue damage and/or infection. The vascular endothelium is responsible for orchestrating the cellular and regulatory mechanisms of leukocyte recruitment to the vessel wall (Rao et al., 2007). Endothelial cell activation by a variety of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNF α , IL-1 β , IFN γ), thrombin, haemodynamic factors, bacterial endotoxin and viruses can lead to loss of endothelial function, local thrombosis and rapid leukocyte recruitment (Gimbrone, 1999). These inflammatory mediators lead to small blood vessel dilation, resulting in increased blood flow and a slowed course of circulating leukocytes, thus allowing them opportunity to contact the endothelial lining. If unrestricted, these alterations can lead to vascular inflammation and contribute to atherosclerosis (Meredith et al., 1993) and RA (Foster et al., 2010).

A key stage in leukocyte recruitment is the secure adhesion of leukocytes to the surface of the endothelium, allowing migration into the vessel wall. The specificity of leukocyte recruitment to the vascular wall is most probably dictated by the expression of different combinations of adhesion molecules and locally expressed chemoattractants, cytokines and chemokines. Furthermore, only subsets of leukocytes which posses the ability to disrupt endothelial cell junctions including components such as tight junctions (claudins, occludins) and adherens junctions, will be free to pass across the endothelial lining.

1.4.3.2 Endothelial dysfunction

Endothelial dysfunction is an important early event in atherosclerosis, contributing to plaque formation. Accumulating evidence indicates that endothelial dysfunction can be detected before physical changes to the vascular wall (Davignon and Ganz, 2004). Endothelial dysfunction is characterised by a shift in endothelial homeostasis towards a prothrombotic and proinflammatory state with reduced vasodilation (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004). Mechanisms that contribute to reduced vasodilation include reduced

production of nitric oxide (NO), diminished generation of hyperpolarising factor and oxidative excess (Chen et al., 2001). Production of chemokines such as macrophage chemoattractant peptide-1 and upregulation of endothelial adhesion molecules supports a prothrombotic and proinflammatory response (Griendling and FitzGerald, 2003, Khan et al., 1996).

The diminished production of NO by the endothelium appears paramount in the pathophysiology of endothelial dysfunction. In addition to its vasodilatory effect, NO produced by the endothelium stimulates neovascularisation and angiogenesis (Aicher et al., 2004), promotes endothelial growth and survival (Kawasaki et al., 2003), limits leukocyte adherence to the endothelium (Gauthier et al., 1995), and restricts platelet aggregation and reduces risk of thrombosis (De Graaf et al., 1992). Interestingly, CRP (an established biomarker for CVD and RA) significantly downregulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and disrupts eNOS mRNA expression, resulting in reduced NO and increased inflammatory cell adhesion (Verma et al., 2002, Venugopal et al., 2002).

1.4.4 Formation of the atherosclerotic lesion

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disorder resulting from interaction between modified lipoproteins, monocytes and T cells as well as resident cells of the vessel wall (Glass and Witztum, 2001). Chronic inflammation ultimately leads to development of the atheromatous lesion. However, the site of atherosclerosis initiation has been the subject of debate in recent years. The following two sections (*Sections 1.4.4.1 and 1.4.4.2*) will summarise the two conflicting hypotheses. This is followed by an overview of the macroscopic stages of atherosclerosis progression, which is applicable to both models of disease initiation.

1.4.4.1 From intima to adventitia

The theory that atherosclerosis is initiated at the intima is the most widely accepted mechanism to explain atherosclerosis pathogenesis. Owing to the direction of pathogenesis, this theory is commonly referred to as 'inside-out'. Accumulation of LDL in the subendothelial matrix has been described as a primary initiator of atherosclerosis (Steinbrecher et al., 1990). Elevated lipid accumulation within large arteries allows low-

density lipoprotein (LDL) to diffuse freely through endothelial cell junctions. Retention of LDL at the site of atherosclerosis involves interaction between apolipoprotein B (ApoB) and matrix proteoglycans within the intima of the vessel wall. While resident in the tunica intima, LDL will undergo modification by oxygen radicals and enzymes, forming oxidised LDL (oxLDL). Upon exposure to oxLDL, endothelial cells express a variety of surface molecules, including intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1), vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM1) and P-selectin, which recruit leukocytes into the intima (Hansson and Libby, 2006).

Monocytes recruited to the activated endothelium are exposed to arterial M-CSF (Qiao et al., 1997) and differentiate into macrophages. Macrophages will bind oxLDL through an array of scavenger receptors, principally CD36, SRA-1, SRB-1 and MARCO (Collot-Teixeira et al., 2007, Naito et al., 1992, Sakaguchi et al., 1998). Lipid particles are then taken up via a range of endocytic pathways (Kruth, 2001) to form foam cells. Innate immune recognition of oxLDL epitopes prompts cytokine-mediated recruitment of lymphocytes that subsequently promote an adaptive immune response responsible for the chronic inflammation observed in atherosclerosis (Keaney, 2011). The establishment of persistent arterial inflammation underpins the progression of atherosclerosis, resulting in the formation of a lipid-rich necrotic core and a fibrous cap. These later stages in atherosclerosis development are discussed in more detail in *Section 1.4.4.3*.

1.4.4.2 From adventitia to intima

A growing body of research supports a novel 'outside-in' hypothesis (first proposed by Maiellaro & Taylor, 2007) in which vascular inflammation is initiated in the tunica adventitia and progresses inwards to the luminal surface (Maiellaro and Taylor, 2007). During CVD pathogenesis different immune cells, including monocytes, macrophages and T cells, are resident in the adventitia (Wick et al., 1997, Capers et al., 1997). The accumulation of these cell populations in the adventitia results in the local expression of growth factors, chemokines and inflammatory cytokines similar to that observed in the inside-out mechanism (Jabs et al., 2007). According to the 'outside-in' hypothesis (*figure 1.3*) expression of inflammatory mediators signal adventitial fibroblasts, which are responsible for the synthesis of extracellular matrix and collagen, to undergo a phenotypic switch into migratory myofibroblasts. The myofibroblasts transform into a contractile myofibroblast which secrete chemokines such as ccl-2, to recruit further monocytes, before

finally undergoing apoptosis in the media. The fibroblasts that remain in the adventitia will secrete a range of cytokines and chemokines, resulting in pronounced leukocyte infiltrate. Inflammatory infiltration into the adventitia has been suggested to occur through the *vasa vasorum*. Upon exposure to inflammatory mediators the *vasa vasorum* will upregulate expression of adhesion molecules such as VCAM-1 and P-selectin.

Following pronounced inflammatory infiltration, germinal centres are formed. Antigen presenting cells interact with these lymphoid organ-like clusters of lymphocytes supporting the generation of antibodies against inflammatory antigens. Antigen presenting cells also interact with T cells, transforming them into pro-inflammatory Th1 cells. The cytokines and chemokines secreted by activated lymphocytes recruit leukocytes from the lumen into the intima and subsequent transformation into macrophages. At this point, both the intima-adventitia and adventitia-intima directional models share the same sequence of events. Macrophages uptake oxLDL, forming foam cells. These cells then form apoptotic bodies and further release pro-inflammatory molecules, at which point the early atheromatous lesion becomes visible followed by the fibrous plaque.

It is apparent that this theory provides no clear indication as to why immune cells initially present in the adventitia surmount an aggressive proinflammatory response. This theory does however support a hypothesis where by autoantigens and/or microbial pathogens may reside in the adventitia and trigger a localised inflammatory response. This concept will be reviewed further in *sections 1.5.4 and 1.5.5* and is the subject of some of the research outlined in this thesis (*chapters 3 and 4*).



Figure 1.3 Atherosclerosis initiated in the adventitia

The expression of inflammatory molecules leads to a phenotypic switch in fibroblasts to migratory myofibroblasts. Leukocyte recruitment to the adventitia supports a humoral response and allows further influx of leukocytes from the endothelium. Macrophages present in the intima and media then uptake oxLDL and form foam cells, resulting in the early atherosclerotic lesion. Figure from (Maiellaro and Taylor, 2007)

1.4.4.3 Clinical manifestations of atherosclerosis

The previous two sections outlined two alternative hypotheses of the mechanism behind atherosclerosis initiation. At the point of initiation, atherosclerosis remains asymptomatic. It is only after several years that chronic inflammation of the vessel wall results in clinical manifestations (Ross, 1993).

During atherosclerosis progression the structure of the vessel wall is altered. SMCs from the media migrate to the intima. The proliferation of both migratory and resident intimal SMCs coupled to the synthesis of extracellular matrix molecules such as elastin, collagen and proteoglycans forms the foundation of the atherosclerotic plaque (Libby et al., 2011). Foam cells and SMCs undergo apoptosis in advancing lesions releasing lipid into the extracellular matrix. The accumulation of apoptotic foam cells and SMCs under the intima forms a plaque visible as a fibrous cap covering the surface of the lesion. Extracellular lipid accumulates at the central region of the plaque to form a necrotic core, which, if large enough, can occlude blood flow through the vessel (*figure 1.4*).

Owing to the structure of the plaque and the haemodynamic stress experienced during systolic expansion and diastolic contraction, the fibrous plaque is prone to rupture. Plaque rupture exposes tissue factors in the plaque interior to blood coagulation factors in the lumen resulting in thrombus formation (Didangelos et al., 2009). Thrombi can extend into the lumen and are capable of completely occluding arteries resulting in myocardial infarction. Alternatively, thrombi can detach and occlude smaller downstream branches of the circulatory system, causing thromboembolism (i.e. stroke).



Figure 1.4 The stages of atherosclerosis

The earliest lesion consists of subendothelial accumulation of lipid-laden macrophages (foam cells). Such lesions are not clinically significant, but form the precursor for a more advanced lesion characterised by the accumulations of SMCs and necrotic debris. The necrotic core of advanced lesions is typically enclosed by a fibrous cap consisting of extracellular matrix and SMCs. Advanced lesions can grow sufficiently large to block blood vessels. More commonly, advanced lesions become unstable resulting in rupture followed by thrombus. Such clinical complication can result in myocardial infarction or stroke. Figure adapted from (Lusis et al., 2004).

1.5 Atherogenesis in RA

1.5.1 Exploring the link

It is widely documented that RA patients die prematurely (Wolfe et al., 1994, WallbergJonsson et al., 1997). The gap in mortality between RA patients and the general population is widening because RA patients have not experienced the improvements in survival evident in the general population over the past four decades (Gonzalez et al., 2007). A recent meta-analysis of observational studies indicates that increased CVD burden is the principle contributor to elevated mortality rates in RA patients (Avina-Zubieta et al., 2008). Importantly, despite the obvious clinical importance of CVD in RA, understanding why these diseases are associated remains elusive.

The following sections will briefly review the potential contribution of traditional and nontraditional risk factors to the excess CVD burden observed in RA. Particular attention has been paid to areas that are relevant to the research outlined in this thesis. As well as exploring current popular thinking, several novel hypotheses are suggested.

1.5.2 Traditional risk factors shared between RA and CVD patients

CVD risk factors provide strong predictors of cardiovascular outcomes that contribute to CVD in the general population (Kannel and Schatzkin, 1985). The prevalence of traditional CVD risk factors in RA patients compared to controls has been well described and their relative contribution to excess CVD in RA is continuously being assessed (Solomon et al., 2004, Semb et al., 2010). However, epidemiological work often shows unexpected or paradoxical results and associations, some of which may be explained by biological phenomena peculiar to the RA population (Gonzalez et al., 2008).

The most striking of these unexpected epidemiological observations comes when considering body mass index (BMI). BMI is a well established risk factor for CVD and in the general population mortality as a result of CVD reaches its highest among people in the top BMI categories (>30kg/m²) (Fontaine et al., 2003). However, within RA patients an inverse association between BMI and mortality has been observed (Escalante et al., 2005) with low BMI resulting in a threefold increased risk of CVD mortality (Kremers et al., 2004).

Emerging information suggests a relationship between obesity and systemic inflammation (Lehrke and Lazar, 2004). High BMI principally results from increases in both the number and size of adipocytes. Adipose tissue was previously considered to act as a simple fuel store, but is now viewed as a complex endocrine system capable of secreting proinflammatory and pro-atherosclerotic cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF α (Ahima and Flier, 2000). Macrophages have also been demonstrated to infiltrate adipose tissue in states of obesity (Weisberg et al., 2003), further perpetuating a pro-inflammatory state. This apparent immunogenicity within adipose tissue may play a role in the 'outside-in' theory of atherosclerosis progression (*section 1.4.4.2*), as the majority of adipocytes reside in the adventia, the outer most layer of the vessel wall. Although these observations may help to explain why elevated BMI increases the risk of CVD in the general population, the protective effect of adiposity in RA patients remains paradoxical. In order to abet understanding of why this anomaly occurs it would be useful to correlate adventitial inflammation with BMI in both RA patients and the general population.

The relative contribution of other traditional CVD risk factors, including smoking, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, family history of CVD, diabetes mellitus and the male gender appears to be less in RA patients compared to the general population (Gabriel, 2010) (*figure 1.5*).



Figure 1.5 Impact of traditional risk factors on endpoint CVD in RA compared to the general population

Figure reproduced from Gabriel (2010); original data from Gonzalez et al (2008).

Undoubtedly, the anomaly in CVD risk factors between RA patients and the general population would benefit from further research in order to enhance understanding of the mechanisms underlying these relationships. Kitas and Gabriel (2010) postulated that the chronic high-grade systemic inflammation may impart significant CVD risk in RA but not non-RA subjects. They further suggested that such high-grade inflammation could have a dilution effect, resulting in the relative contribution of traditional risk factors appearing small in RA patients (Kitas and Gabriel, 2010).

1.5.3 Systemic inflammation

Accumulating evidence suggests that atherosclerosis is an inflammatory condition with a pathophysiology similar to that observed in RA (Ross, 1999, Pasceri and Yeh, 1999). It has been proposed that RA-driven systemic inflammation could predispose an individual to atherosclerosis (Sattar et al., 2003). During RA pathogenesis, the primary site of inflammation in is the synovial tissue, from which cytokines are released into the systemic

circulation. CVD burden in RA has been found to correlate with the number of inflamed joints (Pincus et al., 1984).

The concept of inflammatory-driven atherogenesis is supported by the composition of the atherosclerotic lesion, which exhibits an abundance of immune cells and inflammatory markers. Pro-inflammatory cytokines have also been shown to play a predominant role in both RA and CVD (Park and Pillinger, 2007). However the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines detected in CVD patients are significantly lower than those observed in the serum of RA patients (Sattar et al., 2003). Several other features are common in the two diseases, including T cell activation (increased Th1:Th2 cell ratio), elevated serum concentration of acute phase reactants (including CRP and fibrinogen) and the local expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules and endothelin (Snow and Mikuls, 2005).

Endothelial dysfunction is considered to be one of the earliest events in CVD pathogenesis (*section 1.4.3.2*) and leads to increased inflammatory cell adhesion, reduced dilator function and increased coagulation activity (Davignon and Ganz, 2004). Pro-inflammatory cytokines have been shown to impair endothelial function both in dissected human veins and in animal models (Clapp et al., 2004, Aicher et al., 2004).

If systemic inflammation were a causative agent in CVD pathogenesis, it would seem likely that the use of anti-inflammatory RA therapeutics would decrease CVD burden. In a small study involving 25 RA patients, disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) were found to significantly improve coronary microcirculation (Turiel et al., 2010). Similarly, treatment of RA with infliximab, a monoclonal antibody targeting TNF α , has been shown to improve endothelial function in RA patients (Gonzalez-Juanatey et al., 2008, Hurlimann et al., 2002).

These observational studies support the hypothesis that elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines promotes atherosclerosis; however, they do not explain how cytokines that are elevated as a result of RA promote atherogenesis at a molecular level. One suggestion, by Sattar *et al* (2003), is that the mechanism may involve the pleiotropic functions of cytokines, since they mediate numerous metabolic effects in addition to their role in regulating immune responses and inflammation. Importantly, such metabolic effects include transient alterations in lipids and peripheral insulin resistance (Feingold and Grunfeld, 1992). In healthy individuals these responses are necessary, forming part of an effective short-term response to infection and inflammation. However, the chronic elevation of certain cytokines observed during RA can have severe deleterious effects and

are capable of activating several physiological features known to increase the risk of developing atherosclerosis, including insulin resistance, dyslipidaemia and pro-oxidative stress (Feingold and Grunfeld, 1992, Guest et al., 2008, Prawan et al., 2009).

Pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNFα and IL-6) and chemokines (e.g. IL-8 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1)) are significantly elevated in RA patients (Ellingsen et al., 2001, Endo et al., 1991). Not only do these cytokines and chemokines play key roles in driving the synovial cell proliferation and chronic inflammation observed in RA, but they have also been demonstrated to play important roles in CVD pathogenesis. For example, IL-8 and MCP-1 have been suggested to play a pivotal role in atherosclerosis initiation by recruiting monocytes/macrophages to the vessel wall. Furthermore, plasma concentrations of IL-6 have been suggested to reflect the intensity of plaque inflammation and the vulnerability to rupture (Ito and Ikeda, 2003).

That systemic inflammation promotes CVD in RA is a hypothesis that has featured heavily in the literature on this subject (Sattar et al., 2003, Abou-Raya and Abou-Raya, 2006, Foster et al., 2010). However, despite several mechanisms having been proposed, our understanding of the exact pathomechanisms that link these diseases remains incomplete. It is unknown whether the immune profile of patients with RA that go on to develop premature CVD differs from that of other RA patients; that certain RA patients have an altered immune profile which renders them at high risk of CVD is one possibility.

1.5.4 Autoantigens and heat-shock proteins (HSPs)

Autoantibodies against self-antigens have long been associated with RA (*see section 1.3.1.2*). Accordingly, a wide range of autoantigens have been described by the reactivity of antibodies present in the serum of RA patients. The majority of suggested RA autoantigens fall into two distinct groups (Corrigall and Panayi, 2002). The first group encompasses autoantigens associated with the joint, such as collagen type II, human chondrocyte glycoprotein 39 and proteoglycans. The second group includes those proteins that are not associated with the joint. Such proteins are made up of (1) post-translationally altered proteins, such as citrullinated filaggrin; (2) highly conserved antigens with foreign (bacterial, viral) homologues, such as heat shock proteins (HSPs), in which the initiating antigenic stimulus may be through infection; (3) ubiquitous proteins, such as glucose-6-phosphate isomerase and HSPs released during times of stress.

It is well established that, within RA cohorts, traditional and non-traditional cardiovascular risk factors do not explain the observed increased CVD burden (Gonzalez et al., 2008), suggesting that alternative pathological processes may be responsible. One potential explanation is that autoantigens and autoantibodies previously considered as specific to the pathology of RA are also contributing to the development and progression of CVD.

In a study of 672 RA patients, it was determined that those positive for anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide (anti-CCP), a highly specific marker for RA, experienced more frequent ischaemic heart disease and had higher mortality rates. Furthermore, there was no association between anti-CCP and established CVD risk factors (Javier Lopez-Longo et al., 2009). However, whether citrullinated proteins, peptidyl arginine deiminase (the enzyme responsible for citrullination) or antibodies against citrullinated proteins play a role in the development of CVD in RA patients remains unknown.

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is an autoimmune rheumatic disease with many similarities to RA and for which the risk of fatal or debilitating CVD events is increased 10-fold (Hahn et al., 2007). Accordingly this disease may provide a valuable insight into RA pathogenesis. It has been shown that IgG autoantibodies which recognise high-density lipoproteins (HDLs), the major apolipoprotein constituent (Apo A-I) and also CRP exist in the sera of ~45% of SLE patients with high disease activity (O'Neill et al., 2010). As all three of these molecules play roles in the pathogenesis of CVD, the clinical implications of such autoantibodies must be considered. Several potential mechanisms by which these antibodies might contribute to CVD burden have been suggested (Hahn, 2010): (1) the binding of autoantibodies to HDL epitopes may remove the atheroprotective function of HDL; (2) soluble antibody-antigen complexes may attach to vascular tissue, fix complement, and trigger local inflammation; (3) antigen-antibody complexes are proinflammatory as immune recognition activates Fc expressing phagocytic cells; (4) antibody recognition is likely to interfere with normal metabolism of CRP, HDL and Apo A-I.

It should also be noted that HSPs have been implicated as potential autoantigens in both RA and CVD (Pockley, 2002, Bodman-Smith et al., 2003). In addition to being molecular chaperones, a significant element of the immune response to pathogens is directed towards HSP peptides (Kaufmann, 1990). Furthermore, as the name would suggest, increased synthesis of HSPs occurs when cells are exposed to stress. By increasing cellular HSP content, cells protect themselves from the uncontrolled protein unfolding that often

accompanies stress (Zuegel and Kaufmann, 1999). As a result of the chronic inflammatory nature of RA, cells are constantly under the influence of pro-inflammatory signals, so it is not surprising that several members of the HSP family have been reported to be elevated in the serum and synovium of RA patients (Huang et al., 2009, Schett et al., 1998).

Although the precise influence of HSPs on atherosclerosis remains unclear, an association between HSP expression and the induction of the inflammatory response that characterises the development of atherosclerosis has been demonstrated. In one particular study intensity of HSP expression was found positively to correlate with atherosclerosis severity. At the same time a localised enrichment of T cells, with an ability to recognise HSPs, was detected in the lesion (Kleindienst et al., 1993). Furthermore, immunisation of normocholesterolemic rabbits (Xu et al., 1992) and atherosclerosis model mice (Afek et al., 2000) with mycobacterial HSP65 was found to induce atherosclerosis.

Such studies raise the possibility that elevation of HSPs as a result of RA may lead to HSP overexpression at arterial sites vulnerable to atherosclerosis. Such expression may further promote a localised arterial inflammatory response, resulting in recruitment of immune cells to the vessel wall. This hypothesis is explored further in *chapter 3*.

1.5.5 Bacterial triggers

Despite conventional risk factors for CVD being well established, they can only account for 50 to 70% of CVD events within the general population (Haynes and Stanford, 2003), and even less in RA subjects (*figure 1.5*) (Gabriel, 2010). Recently, infection has been proposed as playing an aetiological role in CVD. In particular research efforts have concentrated on oral infection as an independent risk factor for CVD (Amar et al., 2003).

Several epidemiological studies have supported a link between periodontal disease (PD) and CVD (Hung et al., 2003, Destefano et al., 1993). CVD and PD are both major contributors to morbidity and mortality in developing and developed countries (Abou-Raya et al., 2007), therefore quantification of their association may provide significant improvements to public health (Slots, 1998). Furthermore, clinical studies support a significant association between RA and periodontal bacteria, with RA patients demonstrating a substantially higher incidence of PD when compared to age- and sexmatched controls (Mercado et al., 2001) (Rosenstein et al., 2004). Several anaerobic

periodontal pathogens have also been detected in both the synovial fluid and serum of patients with RA (Moen et al., 2006).

Periodontal diseases, including gingivitis and periodontitis, are serious infections that when left untreated lead to inflammation and tooth loss.

Two hypotheses to explain the link between infection and CVD and RA have been widely documented. Firstly, inflammation as a result of local or systemic bacterial infection may stimulate a systemic inflammatory response that, in turn, could potentiate the onset of atherosclerosis and/or RA (the systemic inflammation hypothesis). Alternatively, infection may lead to bacteraemia, with the potential for bacterial proliferation *per se* leading to atherosclerosis and/or RA (the bacteraemia hypothesis). The following two sections will consider these two hypotheses (*sections 1.5.5.1 and 1.5.5.2*). This is followed by suggestions as to how bacterial infection may help explain the link between RA and CVD (*section 1.5.5.3*).

1.5.5.1 Systemic inflammation hypothesis

Systemic inflammation as a result of either localised or systemic infection may contribute to both the development and maintenance of atherosclerosis through the activation of the immune and inflammatory cascade (Seymour et al., 2009).

As previously discussed, endothelial dysfunction has been popularised as the first step in atherosclerosis development (*section 1.4.3.2*) (Higashi et al., 2008) (Cai and Harrison, 2000). There is a well-established link between inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. Several studies have established that chronic bacterial infection impairs vasodilation in otherwise healthy subjects (Charakida et al., 2005). For example, Oshima *et al* (2005) demonstrated that PD impairs endothelium-dependent vasodilation but has no effect on endothelium independent vasodilation in hypertensive patients and subjects negative for all known cardiovascular risk (Oshima et al., 2005).

Another way in which bacteria can potentially up-regulate immune responses remotely is by inducing autoimmunity against host vasculature cells. Bacteria contain certain components that closely resemble host molecules. Thus, an immune response triggered by bacterial infection may lead to production of autoaggressive T cells or cross-reacting autoantibodies (Leinonen and Saikku, 2002). Heat shock proteins (Hsp) are an example of autoimmunity-stimulating molecules, as they are widely conserved between both prokaryotes and eukaryotes. Bacterial Hsp60 shares much sequence and structural homology with human Hsp60 and may be a candidate for triggering an autoimmune response which could lead to, or maintain, atherosclerosis.

Other studies have implicated *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, the major periodontal pathogen, in playing a role in atherogenesis. Pollreisz *et al.* in an attempt to reveal the effect this pathogen has on systemic inflammation, infected murine monocytes and macrophages with *P. gingivalis (Pollreisz et al., 2009)*. Infection with *P. gingivalis* significantly increased secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and TNF- α and stimulated monocyte migration. Since both recruitment of monocytes/macrophages and the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines are vital in the development of atherosclerosis, it is possible that *P. gingivalis* could be involved in the atherogenesis process.

Furthermore, fibrinogen, a co-factor in platelet aggregation expressed during the acute phase response (Leinonen and Saikku, 2002), could help explain why infection may contribute to atherosclerosis. Raised fibrinogen levels have been associated with atherosclerosis due to their effect upon platelet aggregation, leucocyte chemotaxis and vascular permeability (Levenson et al., 1995). Equally, it has recently been demonstrated that periodontal infections are associated with increased fibrinogen concentrations in patients with CVD (Buhlin et al., 2009). Taken together, these findings imply that raised fibrinogen levels, as a result of infection, could increase the risk of CVD development.

Bacteria may potentially alter host lipid metabolism, providing further support for the association between infection and CVD. Invasive bacteria are capable of altering host lipid metabolism in two ways. Firstly, the LPS from Gram-negative pathogens have been demonstrated to reduce high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol (Grunfeld and Feingold, 1992). Secondly, during the acute phase response to infection, IL-1, IL-6 and TNF α release will increase triglyceride and cholesterol concentrations (Leinonen and Saikku, 2002). Thus, it is possible that chronic infection leads to an expression of cytokines which can create a pro-atherogenic lipid profile.

1.5.5.2 Bacteraemia hypothesis

If CVD development is found to be definitively associated with bacterial infection, a major hurdle to overcome will be in deciphering whether systemic inflammation or systemic infection is the causative link.

The hypothesis that a local or systemic infection may be capable of triggering a systemic inflammatory response which could potentiate the onset of atherosclerosis has been discussed previously (*section 1.5.5.1*). A similarly and equally plausible hypothesis is that subsequent to bacteraemia certain pathogens will be retained in the arterial vessel wall and trigger a localised inflammatory response associated with proteolytic and oxidative processes, eventually leading to atherosclerosis.

Definitive proof that bacteria can potentiate atherosclerosis requires experimental modelling. Murine models, following intravenous administration with the putative periodontal pathogen *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, have been found to go on to develop atherosclerosis (Li et al., 2002).

A significant body of literature has established elevated concentrations of CRP as a risk factor for CVD (de Ferranti and Rifai, 2002). Interestingly, elevated pathogen presence (either individually or as a cumulative pathogen burden) at the site of atherosclerosis has also been associated with an elevated concentration of CRP (Zhu et al., 2001a). This further implicates bacterial infection in the development of atherosclerosis.

Several pathogens in particular have been associated with the development of atherosclerosis. Viable *Chlamydia pneumoniae* (the human respiratory pathogen) has been commonly isolated from atherosclerotic plaques (Leinonen and Saikku, 2002). However, of the periodontal bacteria (*Porphyromonas gingivalis, Prevotella intermedia, Campylobacter rectus, Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans*), association with atherosclerotic plaques has almost exclusively been determined by the presence of bacterial DNA, and not by culture dependent techniques. A study conducted by Fiehn *et al* (2005) demonstrated that although DNA originating from periodontal pathogens could be isolated (Fiehn et al., 2005). These results could infer that if periodontal pathogens are in fact associated with CVD, it is either mediated by systemic inflammation or transient exposure to viable oral bacterial at the site of atherosclerosis. Alternatively, as periodontal pathogens are mostly anaerobic, they may bury deep in the arterial tissue, making cultivation difficult.

Arterial infection may potentiate the onset and maintenance of atherosclerosis through interaction with the innate immune system (Edfeldt et al., 2002). The expression of TLRs 2, 4, 5 and 9, all of which possess the ability to recognise bacterial ligands, have been found to be upregulated in atheromatous tissue. TLR stimulation will result in secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which could potentiate atherosclerosis. Arterial cells are responsive to a wide range of ligands for TLRs 2, 4, 5 and 9. However, efforts to stimulate TLRs *in vitro* with homogenised atherosclerotic tissue have so far provided equivocal results, with ligands for only TLR2 only being stimulated by tissue homogenate (Erridge et al., 2008). This observation may be the result of bacterial PAMPs being present in atheromatous tissue only transiently.

If systemic bacterial infection was a risk factor for CVD, it could potentially allow intervention using conventional antibiotic treatment. Antibiotic therapy with azithromycin, a broad-spectrum antibiotic suitable for treatment of *Chlamydia pneumoniae* and a range of periodontal pathogens in patients with history of myocardial infarction, did not significantly reduce any of the outcomes of CVD (myocardial infarction, angina and death) (O'Connor et al., 2003). These results do not dismiss the possibility that bacteria play a role in the pathogenesis of CVD. As previously mentioned, bacteria may exert their pathogenic effect only transiently, thus triggering an immune cascade capable of potentiating atherosclerosis.

Antibiotics appropriate for the treatment of anaerobic pathogens, such as clarithromycin, ornidazole and levofloxacin, have been demonstrated to be effective against RA. In one study, a significantly greater proportion of patients administered with 1000mg ornidazole met the 20% improvement criteria set by the American College of Rheumatology when compared to patients who were administered a placebo (Ogrendik, 2006). However antibiotics, most notably clarithromycin, have been demonstrated to possess immunomodulatory functions and can inhibit TNF α and IL-1 synthesis. As several biologic immunomodulatory drugs are currently used in the treatment of RA, it is possible that the mechanism of action of these antibiotics in the treatment of RA is not through their effect on bacterial viability.

1.5.5.3 Bacteria: a candidate to help explain the association between RA and CVD

A high frequency of bacterial infection complicating RA has been described in case reports. It has been suggested that this occurs due to both underlying disease complications as well as the side effects of immunosuppressive RA therapeutics (Smitten et al., 2008). Data from longitudinal cohort studies have demonstrated that patients with RA are indeed at increased risk of developing infections compared to non-RA subjects (Doran et al., 2002) and that higher disease activity was associated with a higher probability of developing infections (Au et al., 2011). Furthermore, it has been found that the elevated risk of infection leading to hospitalisation is associated with diseasemodifying anti-rheumatic drug (DMARD) use (Smitten et al., 2008).

As previously discussed, RA is generally considered to have a multifactorial aetiology, with susceptibility presumed to be principally due to genetics combined with environmental triggers, of which bacterial infection is considered the most prominent. Most autoimmune diseases, including RA, are associated with specific HLA alleles. Greater than 90% of RA patients possess HLA-DR1 (Ebringer and Wilson, 2000). It has been suggested that the involvement of HLA antigens in the pathogenesis of RA is due to molecular mimicry between certain bacterial antigens and HLA antigens (Wilson et al., 2000).

Considering all the evidence, it is plausible to hypothesise that RA increases a patient's susceptibility to infection by bacterial pathogens. Furthermore, the systemic inflammatory state present in RA may select for certain bacterial pathogens. If correct, these could potentially increase the risk of pro-atherogenic bacteria entering the circulation of RA patients and help to explain why RA patients experience increased CVD burden.

1.6 Hypothesis and aims

- It has been proposed that atherosclerosis begins in the aortic adventitia and progresses to the intima (the so-called 'outside-in' hypothesis), but this tissue has rarely been examined in the context of CVD. Given that RA is a systemic inflammatory condition, it is plausible that this inflammation affects the vascular environment.
 - Is the aortic adventitia immunogenic? Does the inflammatory mileu of the aortic adventitia differ between CVD and RA+CVD patients?
- Recently, infection has been proposed as playing an aetiological role in CVD.
 Owing to the pathological profile associated with RA, it is possible that patients are more susceptible to potentially pro-atherogenic bacterial infection.
 - Are bacteria present in the aortic adventitia, and do differences in the bacterial profile exist between CVD and RA+CVD patients?
- Systemic inflammation in RA has been proposed as a major contributor to CVD comorbidity. However, the immune profile of RA+CVD has not been characterised.
 - Does the systemic immune profile differ between RA, CVD and RA+CVD patients, and could any differences contribute to increased CVD burden in RA?

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Immunohistochemistry

2.1.1 Human subjects

Patients were enrolled at a cardiac surgery centre (Feiring Heart Clinic, Feiring) and were matched at the group level for age and sex. Patients were screened for the presence of RA according to the ACR and EULAR classification criteria (*table 1.2*). The patients were evaluated preoperatively by a single rheumatologist (Ivana Hollan, Department of Rheumatology, Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases, Lillehammer, Norway) to verify the rheumatologic diagnosis and to assess disease severity and activity; blood samples were collected at that time. Inclusion criteria for the RA group were age older than 18 years and a confirmed diagnosis of RA according to accepted criteria (Aletaha et al., 2010).

2.1.2 Aortic adventitia paraffin sections

The human aortic adventitia samples were from the Fering Heart Biopsy Study. Aortic specimens were obtained from tissue that is routinely removed during CABG surgery. Subsequently, part of the adventitia covered by the epicardium was removed from the ventral part of the ascending aorta, and 1-3 punch holes were made through the vessel wall for proximal aortocoronary anastomoses in the same area. To avoid thromboembolic complications, the specimens were obtained from areas with less pronounced gross signs of atherosclerosis. A portion was fixed in formalin and then embedded in paraffin. All the patients gave written informed consent. Regional Ethics committee for Medical Research Norway approved the Feiring Heart Biopsy study.

2.1.3 Haematoxylin and eosin staining

Tissue sections were deparaffinised in two changes of absolute xylene for 10 minutes each followed by gradient rehydration in two changes of 100%, 90% and 70% ethanol (VWR, Lutterworth, UK) for three minutes each. Sections were briefly rinsed in distilled water followed by immersion in Harris haematoxylin for five minutes. Sections were then rinsed in running tap water for three minutes followed by differentiation in 1% acid alcohol for 30 seconds. The sections were then rapidly transferred into running water and rinsed for one minute and then blued in Scott's tap water substitute for two minutes. The sections were rinsed again in running tap water and counterstained in eosin for one minute. Following a

rapid rinse in running tap water sections were dehydrated through an alcohol gradient of 70%, 90% and 100% for three minutes each. Sections were then transferred into absolute xylene for 10 minutes and then mounted with DPX (Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, UK).

2.1.4 Optimisation

Aortic adventitial tissue was scarce and prone to high levels of background staining. As a result, immunohistochemistry staining was first established in human tonsil or RA synovium tissue. Each antibody was optimised by altering elements of antigen retrieval, blocking systems and secondary antibodies. Details of primary antibodies, retrieval systems and secondary antibodies are listed (*table 2.1*) and the final optimised protocol for each antibody is outlined in *table2.2*.

Antigen Retrieval Code Source Antibody **Staining System** Heat shock ab1819 Abcam Trypsin, 37°C, Horse anti-mouse Protein 60 15 min **ImmPRESS** Heat shock ab77609 Abcam MW* 700w, Horse-anti mouse Protein 47 15 min **ImmPRESS CD21** M0784 DAKO Trypsin, 37°C, ABC kit 30 min Cytomation Calprotecin NA NA MW* 700w Horse anti-mouse S100A9 **ImmPRESS** 15 min TNFα ab1793 Abcam MW* 700w Horse anti-mouse **ImmPRESS** 15 minutes **CD68** DAKO MW* 700w ABC **MO876** 15 minutes Cytomation

Table 2.1Details of antibodies, antigen retrieval and immunohistochemistry systemused in staining of human paraffin sections

2.1.5 Deparaffination and hydration

Paraffin sections were cut (kindly performed by Ivana Hollan, Lillehammer, Norway) to a thickness of 4-5 μ m and then mounted on electrostatically coated microscope slides (VWR). Deparaffination of the sections was carried out by initially incubating the slides at 65°C for 45 minutes to soften the paraffin wax. Sections were then deparaffinised by immersion in xylene for 10 minutes. Following this, sections were hydrated by immersion in 100%, 90% and 70% ethanol for six minutes each followed by immersion in distilled water for five minutes. The endogenous peroxidise activity was blocked by immersing sections for 30 minutes in 0.5% hydrogen peroxidise (Sigma-Aldrich) (*Appendix 2*) at room temperature.

2.1.6 Antigen retrieval

Two different antigen retrieval methods (trypsin or citrate) were used, depending on which antibody was being used. For trypsin retrieval each section was covered with trypsin (Vector Laboratories, Peterboroughm UK) working solution (*appendix 2*) and incubated at 37^{0} C for 15 minutes to allow enzymatic activity and then left at room temperature for five minutes. The sections were then washed in TBS buffer (Sigma-Aldrich) (*appendix 2*) for a further five minutes. Antigen retrieval by citrate buffer (Vector Laboratories) (*appendix 2*) was performed by microwaving 600ml of citrate buffer for five minutes at 700 watts in order to bring the solution to the boil. The slides were then added to the boiling solution and microwaved for a further eight minutes at 700 watts. The sections were then left to cool for 15 minutes in the citrate buffer.

2.1.7 Non-specific binding block and primary antibody

Following antigen retrieval, and prior to primary antibody incubation, a non-specific binding block was performed for every section. Non-specific binding was blocked by incubating sections with 5% normal horse serum (Vector Laboratories) for 30 minutes at room temperature. This was followed by incubation with primary antibody overnight at 4°C. The optimal antibody concentration, and any alterations to the steps outlined here are listed in *table 2.1* and *2.2*. Primary antibodies were diluted in TBS buffer (*appendix 2*) with 2.5% horse serum and 2.5% human serum.

2.1.8 Secondary antibody and mounting

Following incubation with primary antibody, sections were brought back to room temperature and washed twice in TBS buffer. Each section was then incubated for 30 minutes with the appropriate secondary antibody. The most commonly used secondary antibody (*table 2.2*) was an antibody coupled to peroxidise molecules (ImmPRESS kit, Vector laboratories). Sections were then washed twice in TBS buffer. The staining was then developed with DAB (Diaminobenzidine: Vector Laboratories) (*appendix 2*) until positive proteins were visualised but background staining was not evident. Stain development was stopped by immersing the sections in TBS buffer and then running under water. Sections were then counter stained in haematoxylin and again immersed in running water. The sections were then dehydrated by passing through 70%, 90% and 100% ethanol

for three minutes each and then immersing in xylene for 10 minutes. A cover slip was then placed over each section using DPX (Di-N-Butyle Phthalate in xylene) (Sigma-Aldrich).

2.1.9 Major staining steps for each antibody

Immunohistochemistry protocols were optimised for each primary antibody (*section 2.1.4*). All optimisation was performed in paraffin-embedded human tonsil and if available rheumatoid synovium sections. Antigen retrieval, antibody dilutions and staining systems were thus specific for each staining. The major steps for each staining are highlighted in *table 2.2* below.

Antibody	Isotype		Order of primary steps	Positive
dilution	control			tissue
CD21	Monoclonal	a)	Antigen retrieval in 0.1% trypsin	Tonsil
1/13	mouse IgG1	b)	Endogenous peroxidise block	
		c)	Non-specific block with 10% horse	
			serum	
		d)	Primary antibody incubation in 2%	
			goat serum in PBS at RT for 90 minutes	
		e)	Secondary antibody incubation with	
			biotinylated goat anti-mouse	
			immunoglobulin (1:200 dilution)	
		e)	avidin/biotin complex	
		f)	Developed with impact DAB	
TNFα	Monoclonal	a)	Heat retrieval with citrate	Tonsil
1/25	mouse IgG1	b)	Non-specific block with 2.5%	
			horse serum	
		c)	Overnight primary antibody incubation	

Table 2.2Sequence of major immunohistochemistry steps performed

			at 4°C	
		d)	Endogenous peroxidise block	
		e)	Incubation with peroxidise linked	
			secondary antibody	
		f)	Developed with impact DAB	
HSP60	Monoclonal	a)	Antigen retrieval in 0.1% trypsin	Tonsil
1/50	mouse IgG1	b)	Non-specific block with 2.5%	
			horse serum	
		c)	Overnight primary antibody incubation	
			at 4°C	
		d)	Endogenous peroxidise block	
		e)	Incubation with peroxidise linked	
			secondary antibody	
		f)	Developed with impact DAB	
HSP47	Monoclonal	a)	Heat retrieval with citrate	RA
1/50	mouse IgG1	b)	Non-specific block with 2.5%	synovium
			horse serum	
		c)	Overnight primary antibody incubation	
			at 4°C	
		d)	Endogenous peroxidise block	
		e)	Incubation with peroxidise linked	
			secondary antibody	
		f)	Developed with impact DAB	
Calprotectin	Monoclonal	a)	Heat retrieval with citrate	Tonsil
1/100	mouse IgG1	b)	Non-specific block with 2.5% horse serum	
			horse serum	
		c)	Overnight primary antibody incubation	
			at 4°C	

- d) Endogenous peroxidise block
- e) Incubation with peroxidise linked secondary antibody
- f) Developed with impact DAB

CD68	Monoclonal	a) Endogenous peroxidise block	RA
1/100	mouse IgG1	b) Antigen retrieval with citrate	synovium

- c) Incubation with non-specific binding block plus avidin
- Incubation with primary antibody and biotin block
- e) Secondary antibody incubation with biotinylated pan-specific horse immunoglobulin
- f) Incubation with avidin/biotin complex
- g) Developed with impact DAB

2.1.10 Analytical procedure and data collection

The aortic adventitia is composed primarily of adipocytes, mesothelial, endothelial and smooth muscle cells. There was also a varying extent of inflammatory infiltrate detectable in most sections. Stained sections were analysed in random order while blinded to experimental data. Sections stained by immunohistochemistry were analysed by light microscopy (Olympus IX51, Essex, UK). When applicable, the extent of staining was measured in each cell type (mesothelial, endothelial, smooth muscle and inflammatory infiltrate). The percentage of each cell type expressing the stained protein was then calculated and assigned a value (*table 2.3*).

0%	0
<10%	1
10-25%	2
>25%	3

Table 2.3Scoring system for immunohistochemistry. Percentage representsnumber of cells stained.

2.1.11 Measuring surface area of section

Total inflammation in the aortic adventitia was calculated using Cell^D software (Olympus). Each section was first imaged by light microscopy at 100x magnification (Olympus IX51). Sequential, non-overlapping images were captured spanning the entire surface area of each section. The surface area of each picture was then measured using the Cell^D measurement package, thus allowing total section area to be expressed in μm^2 . Sites of inflammatory cell infiltrate were visually identified and measured in an identical manner. Inflammatory cell infiltrate was then expressed as a percentage of the total section area.

2.1.12 Statistical analysis

Data was analysed using the most appropriate statistical test. All results are accompanied with a description of the statistical test used. When comparing two groups of normally distributed data a student's t-test was used to determine statistical significance. If the data was not consistent with normal distribution, differences in quantitative variables were analysed for with a non-parametric Mann Whitney U test. In both cases a *P* value of <0.05 was considered significant. When applicable, graphs are displayed as dot plots to clearly illustrate the distribution of scores. Statistical analysis was performed using either SPSS version 19 for PC (IBM Software, New York, USA) or GraphPad Prism version 4 for PC (GraphPad Software, Calofornia, USA).

2.2 Bacterial detection and investigation

2.2.1 Aortic adventitia frozen sections

Aortic tissue was collected as described in *section 2.1.2*. A portion was snap frozen in liquid nitrogen upon removal and then stored at -80°C until required.

2.2.2 DNA extraction from tissue samples

At all stages a strictly aseptic procedure was used. Tissue samples were lysed by incubation for 1 hour at 55° C with 15µl Proteinase K solution (20 mg/ml) (Sigma-Aldrich). Tissue samples were then homogenised on dry ice in 1.0ml TRIzol (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) using a TissueRuptor kit and sterile probe (Qiagen Crawley, UK). 200µl of chloroform (Sigma-Aldrich) was added, followed by incubation at room temperature for 15 minutes then centrifugation at 12.0 x *g* for 15 minutes at 4°C. The aqueous phase was removed, and the remaining interphase and organic phases were resuspended in 300µl of 100% ethanol. The sample was centrifuged at 12.0 x *g* for 5 minutes to form a DNA pellet. The pellet was washed twice in 1ml 0.1M sodium citrate (Sigma-Aldrich) before being resuspended in 1ml 75% ethanol. This was then centrifuged at 12.0 x *g* for five minutes at room temperature and the supernatant removed. The remaining pellet was dissolved in 100µl of sterile water (Qiagen), and the DNA containing supernatant removed and stored at -20°C. Control samples which replaced tissue sample with sterile water were run in parallel to monitor for sterility of reagents and apparatus (see *section 2.2.7*).

2.2.3. PCR amplification of 16S ribosomal DNA

PCR amplification of 16S rRNA gene was performed using well established universal eubacterial primers (Marchesi et al., 1998): 5'- CAGGCCTAACACATGCAAGTC-3' (63f) and reverse; 5'- GGGCGGWGTGTACAAGGC-3' (1387r). The selected primers supported amplification of a 1324-bp segment of the 16SrRNA gene sequence. PCR was performed in a total volume of 50µl containing 100ng of genomic DNA 1 x GoTaq[®] PCR buffer (Promega, Southampton, UK) 1.25 U Go*Taq[®]* polymerase (Promega) 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM dNTPs (New England Biolabs, Hitchin, UK) and each primer at a concentration of 0.2 μM. Thermal cycling was conducted using a MyCycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hemel Hempstead, UK) and comprised one cycle of 95°C for 2 minutes,

followed by 35 cycles of 95°C for 1 minute, 55°C for 1 minute and 72°C for 1.5 minutes, followed by a final extension cycle at 72°C for 10 minutes. Each PCR reaction contained a negative control with sterile molecular grade water (Qiagen) replacing DNA; the positive control contained 100 ng DNA isolated from cat plaque (kindly donated by Sanne Dolieslager). PCR products were then size separated by electrophoresis on a 2% agarose gel (Sigma-Aldrich) DNA bands were stained with ethidium bromide and visualised and photographed (Gel Doc XR+; Biorad).

2.2.4 Cloning and restriction digestion

PCR products were ligated into the StrataClone[®] PCR Cloning Vector pSC-A-amp/kan (Agilent Technologies, Wokingham, UK) followed by transformation into competent *E. coli* cells (Invitrogen) by heat-shock at 42°C. Transformed cells were grown overnight at 37°C on Luria-Bertani plates supplemented with 100mg/ml ampicillin (Invitrogen). Complete insertion was verified by PCR with M13 forward and reverse primers (Invitrogen). The 16S rRNA gene insert was then subjected to restriction digestion. 0.5µl of each PCR reaction was digested in a total volume of 18µl containing 0.2µl of either Rsa*I* or *Mnl*I (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK) at 37°C for one hour. Digestions were spun down and run on a 2% agarose gel. Clones were initially segregated into restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) groups based on their *RsaI* profile, and then further discrimination was made based on the *Mnl*I digestion profile.

2.2.5 Sequencing

The 16S rRNA gene insert of a single representative clone from each RFLP group was sequenced. Sequencing was performed using the SequiTherm EXCELTM II DNA Sequencing Kit (Cambio, Cambridge, UK) and IRD800-labelled 357f sequencing primer (5'-CTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG-3'). The following cycling parameters were used: (i) initial denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds; (ii) 10 seconds at 95°C and 30 seconds at 70°C for 15 cycles. Formamide loading dye (6µl) was added to each reaction mixture after thermal cycling and 1.5µl of each reaction mixture was run on a LI-COR Gene ReadIR 4200S automated DNA sequencing system (MWG Biotech, Milton Keynes, UK).

Sequencing data were converted to FASTA format and compared with bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequences from the EMBL and GenBank sequence databases using the BLAST program (Altschul et al., 1997). The program was run through the National Centre for Biotechnology Information website (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST</u>). Clone sequences that demonstrated at least 97% identity with a known sequence from the database were considered to be the same species as the matching sequence with the highest score. Sequences with less than 97% identity were classified as potentially novel phylotypes.

2.2.7 Contamination control

Owing to the sensitivity of 16S rRNA gene sequencing it was vital to control for the introduction of contamination at every stage. A negative control was processed in parallel with every tissue sample. Each control was treated in exactly the same manner as the sample with the exception that sterile nuclease-free water was used instead of tissue. To further ensure experimental sterility, each reagent used in the DNA extraction protocol was initially tested for the presence of possible bacterial DNA contamination. Aliquots of TRIzol, chloroform, 100% ethanol, 75% ethanol, 0.1M sodium citrate (Sigma-Aldrich) isopropanol and DEPC treated water were allowed to completely evaporate from a 1.5ml eppendorf tube in a class II laminar flow hood and then resuspended in sterile nuclease-free water (Qiagen). Each sample was then subjected to Proteinase K digestion (Sigma-Aldrich) followed by 16S rRNA gene amplification to determine if any contamination was present. Each sample was diluted in mastermix (10, 4 and 1%) (Promega, UK) as excessive DNA concentrations can inhibit the PCR reaction by preventing product formation. Samples were then subjected to PCR using exactly the same primers and conditions highlighted in *section 2.2.3*.

2.3 *In vitro* investigation of *Methylobacterium sp.*

2.3.1 Culture of *Methylobacterium mesophilicum* and *Methylobacterium* oryzae

Methylobacterium mesophilicum (1708) and *Methylobacterium oryzae* (18207) type strains were obtained from the DSMZ culture collection (DSMZ, Braunschweig, Germany). Both strains were grown in nutrient agar (5g peptone, 3g meat extract, 15g agar for solid media, made up to 1000ml with distilled water) supplemented with 1% (v/v) methanol. A pH of 7.0 was maintained by the addition of hydrochloric acid (10mM). Strains were grown on solid agar in petri dishes or in 10ml tubes in a shaking incubator at 30° C.

2.3.2 Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)

Planktonic bacterial cells were examined by SEM, as previously described (Erlandsen et al., 2004). Briefly, bacterial cells were centrifuged (400 x g) and resuspended in fixative (2% para-formaldehyde, 2% gluteraldehyde and 0.15M sodium cacodylate). The fixative was then replaced with 0.15M sodium cacodylate buffer, and samples washed for 3 x 5 minutes. A 1% (w/v) osmium tetroxide (OsO4) solution was then added to an equal volume of 0.15M sodium cacodylate buffer for 1 hour. Samples were then rinsed three times with ddH₂O for 10 minutes. 0.5% (v/v) aqueous uranyl acetate was then added, and samples were incubated in the dark for 30 minutes at room temperature. Samples were then dehydrated in an ascending ethanol series, followed by fixing in hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS) (Carbosynth, Berkshire, UK) for 2 x 5 minutes in separate containers. The samples were then placed in a dessicator overnight. The fixed and dried bacterial samples were sputter-coated with gold/paladium and viewed under a JEOL JSM-6400 scanning electron microscope (JEOL, Herts, UK).

2.3.3 SVEC-10 murine cell culture

A murine lymphoid vascular endothelial cell line (SVEC-10) (Oconnell and Edidin, 1990) immortalized with simian virus 40 (SV40) was grown in T-75 flasks at 37°C in 5% CO₂ in Dulbecco's medium (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 100mM sodium pyruvate (Sigma-Aldrich), 200mM L-Glutamine (Life Technologies, Paisley, UK), 10,000 units Pen-strep (Life Technologies) and 10% foetal calf serum (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were cultured until
90% confluence as determined by light microscopy and then split. Growth media was removed then the cell monolayer was gently washed twice with sterile 1 x PBS (Sigma-Aldrich). The monolayer was then trypsinised by the addition of 5ml of sterile 1x 0.5% trypsin EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich). This was then incubated at 37°C for three minutes or until de-attachment of the endothelial cells was visible by light microscopy. The flask was then shaken firmly a couple of times and 10ml of complete media added to stop the trypsinisation reaction. Cells were then removed and placed into a 15ml tube and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 10 minutes. The cells were then washed in fresh media and approximately 15% of the cells were used to seed a new T-75 flask.

2.3.4 RAW 264.7 murine cell culture

A murine leukaemic monocyte macrophage cell line (RAW 264.7) was grown in T-75 flasks at 37° C in 5% CO₂ in RPMI-1640 medium (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 200mM L-Glutamine (Life Technologies), 10,000 units Pen-strep (Life Technologies) and 10% foetal calf serum (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were cultured until 90% confluence as determined by light microscopy and then split. Growth media was removed and the cell monolayer was gently washed twice with sterile 1 x PBS (Sigma-Aldrich). PBS was removed and 10ml of fresh complete media added. The cells were then harvested using a cell scraper (Corning, USA). The scraped cells in media were removed and placed into a 15ml tube and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 10 minutes. The cells were then washed in fresh media and approximately 15% of the cells were used to seed a new T-75 flask.

2.3.5 Isolation and culture of CD14⁺ monocytes by EasySep[®] positive selection

Human buffy coats (the fraction of a total blood following gradient centrifugation that primarily contains white blood cells and platelets) were graciously provided by the Western Infirmary (Glasgow, UK). The buffy coat was mixed in a 1:1 ratio with room temperature Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS) without CaCl₂ and MgCl₂ (Sigma-Aldrich). 3ml of Histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to 15ml falcon tubes and allowed to reach room temperature. 8ml of the diluted buffy coat was gently overlaid onto the histopaque-1077. Tubes were spun at 400 x g with no brake for 30 minutes at room temperature. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were carefully

collected from the opaque interphase of PBS/Ficoll with a Pasteur pipette and transferred to a 50ml centrifuge tube. The total volume was brought to 50ml by addition of DPBS modified without CaCl₂ and MgCl₂ and mixed by gentle inversion. Cells were spun at 240 x *g* for 10 minutes at room temperature with full break applied. The supernatant was decanted taking great care not to lose any of the PBMC pellet. The PBMC pellet was resuspended in 10ml of cell separation media (Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ free PBS containing 2% FBS and 1mM sterile EDTA) and mixed by gentle trituration with a Pasteur pipette. At this stage 50µl of PBMCs were removed for cell counting. PBMCSs were then spun down at 240 x *g* for 10 minutes at room temperature with full break applied and resuspended in a volume of cell separation media to obtain 1×10^8 PBMCs per ml.

Once PBMCs had been isolated CD14⁺ cells were purified by EasySep[®] selection kit (StemCell Technologies, Grenoble, France) as per the manufacturer's instructions. This procedure supports processing of up to 2.5×10^8 PBMCs per preparation. The cell suspension at a concentration of 1×10^8 PBMCs/ml of separation was transferred into a 12 x 75mm polystyrene tube (Becton Dickson, UK) which fits into the EasySep[®]Magnet. PBMCs were labelled at room temperature for 15 minutes by addition of EasySep[®]Positive selection cocktail (StemCell Technologies) at 75µl/ml containing bispecific Tetrameric Antibody Complexes (TAC) directed against CD14 and dextran. Following this, dextrancoated EasySep[®]Magnetic Nanoparticles (StemCell Technologies) were incubated with the cell suspension at 50µl/ml at room temperature for 10 minutes to allow cross-linking with the labelled cells. The cell suspension was then placed into the EasySep[®]Magnet without the lid for 5 minutes. The TAC ⁺ nanoparticle labelled CD14⁺ cells remain in the tube held by the magnetic field. $CD14^+$ cells were enriched by pouring off the material not held by the magnet. This process of enrichment was repeated three times adding fresh separation media each time. Finally, CD14⁺ enriched cells were harvested by removing the tube from the magnet.

CD14⁺ monocytes were then cultured for seven days at 37°C in 5% CO₂ in RPMI-1640 medium (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 200mM L-Glutamine (Life Technologies), 10,000 units Pen-strep (Life Technologies) and 10% foetal calf serum (Sigma-Aldrich) as well as 15ng/ml human M-CSF (Peprotech, London, UK). Cells were replenished in fresh media following three days of culture.

2.3.6 Purity evaluation of CD14⁺ cells by FACS analysis

Flow cytometry was used to determine the final purity of the CD14⁺ monocytes obtained by the StemCell method. Cell populations were analysed on a FACS caliber (BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK) with FlowJo software (Treestar, Ashland, USA) to evaluate pre and post separation cells. The CD14⁺ purified cells, and CD14⁻ cells (population not retained by the EasySep[®]Magnet) were stained for different cell surface antigens; CD3-FITC (BD Biosciences), CD19-APC (BD Biosciences) and CD14-PE (BD Biosciences). 1 $x 10^{6}$ cells from each population were transferred into FACS tubes and suspended and washed in 1ml of FACS buffer. The supernatant was then aspirated and cells were resuspended in 50µl of FACS buffer. 2.5µl of each antibody was added to the cell suspension followed by a 15 minute incubation in the dark at 4° C. 500µl of FACS buffer was then added and FACS tubes were centrifuged at 421 x g for 5 minutes and the supernatant removed. Cells were then fixed for later analysis by incubation with 250µl of Cytofix/Cytoperm (BD Biosciences) for 15 minutes at 4°C. The cell suspension was then spun down at 400 x g for 5 minutes and the pellet was resuspended in 250µl 1 x permwash (BD Biosciences). This was then centrifuged at 400 x g for 5 minutes and finally 350µl of FACS buffer was added. Cells were then ready for acquisition.

2.3.7 *Methylobacterium* challenge and RNA isolation

Murine cell lines and human primary macrophages were cultured as described previously (*section* 2.3.3 - 2.3.5). 1 x 10⁶ cells were seeded into each well of a 6-well plate and grown until they reached 100% (endothelial) and 70% (macrophage) confluence. Cells were then challenged with exponentially growing *Methylobacterium mesophilicum* or *Methylobacterium oryzae* at an MOI of 200. *Methylobacterium* sp. were spun down and resuspended in either Dulbecco's media or RPMI media prior to inoculation. Controls were included which were treated in exactly the same manner as above with the exception of no bacteria being inoculated into the flask. Cells were harvested at 4 hours and 8 hours post infection.

Total cellular RNA purification was carried out using an RNeasy Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly 600µl of buffer RLT was added to each well and allowed to incubate at room temperature for 2 minutes in order for complete cell lysis to occur. Lysate was collected and 600µl of 70% ethanol added. The sample was then mixed

and the entire contents loaded onto an RNeasy spin column and centrifuged at 8000 x g for 15 seconds and the flow through discarded. DNase digestion was then performed directly on the column to ensure no residual genomic DNA contamination. Firstly the column was washed by spinning down for 15 seconds at 8000 x g with 350µl buffer RW. 10µl DNase I was mixed with 70µl buffer RDD. The solution was then pipetted directly onto the membrane of the spin column and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes, following which the reaction was then stopped by the addition of 350µl buffer RW1 to the column. The column was then centrifuged at 8000 x g for 15 seconds at 8000 x g followed by disposal of the flow through. As buffer RPE contains ethanol, an additional step to ensure no residual ethanol was present was carried out. This involved placing the spin column in a new collection tube and centrifuging for 1 min at full speed. The RNA was then eluted into a sterile 1.5ml tube by placing 30µl of RNAse free water (Qiagen) onto the spin column and centrifuging for 1 minute at 8000 x g.

2.3.8 cDNA synthesis

Following RNA extraction the resulting concentration and purity was measured by NanoDrop spectrophotometry (Thermo Scientific). RNA was regarded as sufficiently pure if the A₂₆₀:A₂₈₀ was within the range of 1.7-2.1. 500ng of RNA was subjected to reverse transcription. As recommended for use with TaqMan Low Density Arrays (TLDA) (Applied Biosystems, Paisley, UK), cDNA synthesis was performed using a High Capacity RNA-to-cDNA Kit (Applied Biosystems, UK). For each reaction the following reagents were added to a 200µl PCR tube on ice; 10µl 2x RT buffer, 1µl 20x RT enzyme mix; RNA (up to 9µl). The total volume was then brought up to 20µl with the addition of nucleasefree water (Qiagen). For each sample a non-RT control was included. For this, all stages remained the same with the exception of no 20x RT enzyme mix being added. Each tube was briefly centrifuged to eliminate any air bubbles. The tubes were then loaded onto a MyCycler Personal Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad) and subjected to the following cycling conditions; 37°C for 60 minutes followed by 95°C for 5 minutes. DNA contamination was analysed by standard PCR for murine or human GAPDH. cDNA samples were stored at -20°C until needed.

2.3.9 TaqMan mRNA analysis by RT-QPCR

Gene expression was quantified using TaqMan Low Density Arrays (TLDA) (Applied Biosystems). A TLDA array consists of a 384 well micro fluidic card that supports 384 simultaneous RT-PCR reactions for targets that are pre-loaded onto each well. A standard 384-well Mouse Immune TLDA array or Human Immune TLDA array was used. Each card contained 96 different Taqman gene expression targets and supported four parallel runs. Appendix 6 lists the 96 genes that were included in this study, and provides a brief explanation of the corresponding protein function. An average of 400ng of DNase-treated cDNA was used in each sample. 100µl of TaqMan gene expression mastermix (Applied Biosystems) and 100µl of cDNA in sterile water (Qiagen) was first mixed and then loaded onto the card. This mixture was equally divided over two loading ports (100µl) each supplying 48 genes of interest. The arrays were then centrifuged twice at room temperature for 2 minutes at 1300 rpm (Beckman Coulter, High Wycombe, UK, L-80 ultracentrifuge) to ensure equal distribution of the sample. Following this the card was sealed to prevent sample exchange between wells. Real time qPCR was performed using an Applied Biosystems 7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR System. The following thermal conditions were employed: 2 minutes at 50°C and 10 minutes at 95°C, followed by 40 cycles of 30 seconds at 97°C and 1 minute at 59.7°C.

2.3.10 TLDA analysis

Gene expression was quantified using the comparative threshold (C_T) method as suggested by the manufacturer (User Bulletin 2, Applied Biosystems). This technique utilises the formula 2^{- $\Delta\Delta CT$} in order to calculate the relative number of gene transcripts. The C_T value represents the PCR cycle at which the amplified gene target reaches a defined threshold. 40 PCR cycles were performed; accordingly the C_T values can range from 0 to 40. C_T values for each immunological molecule were calculated. If a C_T value was greater than 34, the datum was dismissed, as high C_T values invariably give rise to poor precision and reliability. C_T values were calculated for the *Methylobacterium* sp.-stimulated sample and the non-stimulated control sample. The C_T of several endogenous control genes was also calculated. GAPDH was calculated to be the most reliable endogenous control. The ΔC_T value was calculated [$\Delta C_T = C_T$ (target gene) – C_T (GAPDH)]. This was performed for each gene in both the *Methylobacterium* sp.-stimulated sample and the non-stimulated control sample. The relative expression of each gene was then calculated with the formula $\Delta\Delta C_{\rm T} = \Delta C_{\rm T}$ (positive sample) – $\Delta C_{\rm T}$ (control sample). This was then expressed in terms of fold change relative to the control sample with the formula [fold change = $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$]. For down-regulated genes (value less than 1) the negative inverse of the value was taken. This allowed down-regulation to be expressed as a negative value.

2.3.11 Ingenuity pathways analysis

The 'Core Analysis' function included in the IPA (Ingenuity System Inc, Redwood City, USA) software package was used to identify and interpret the principal biological pathways and processes associated with human and murine macrophages following *Methylobacterium* sp., infection. All identifier types (different gene transcripts) with a $C_{\rm T}$ value of less than 34 were included in this study. Identifier types were first normalised to GAPDH and then expressed as fold change relative to non-infected macrophages. Both up- and down- regulated identifier types were defined as value parameters for analysis. A working file was generated which contained one column including all the original gene IDs (Unigene nomenclature) and another column indicating fold change \pm SD relative to control macrophages. Following the analysis, generated canonical pathways and biofunctions were ranked by significance as tested by the Fisher's exact test. Canonical pathways were grouped into Signalling Pathways and Metabolic Pathways. Similarly, biofunctions were grouped into Molecular and Cellular Functions and Disease and Disorders. The number of molecules under investigation which are directly implicated in a given biological pathway or process were highlighted by the ration value function included in the IPA software package.

2.3.12 TLR transfection assay

HEK-293 cells were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% foetal-calf serum for between three and seven passages. For the transfection assay HEK-293 cells were plated in 96-well plates at 8x10³ cells per well in serum-free DMEM and transfected after 24 hours (50-80% confluent) using the Gene-juice kit (Novagen, Watford, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Amounts of construct per well were 30ng of human TLRs 2, 4 (co-expressing MD-2), 30ng pCD14, 20ng transfection efficiency control renilla luciferase-reporter construct (pRL-TK) and 10ng firefly luciferase-reporter construct driven by the NFkB dependent E-selectin promoter (pELAM) cloned into pGL3 (Promega). Cells were grown for 2-3 days posttransfection prior to 18 hour challenge. Reporter levels were normalised to co-transfected renilla luciferase and represented as fold induction relative to cells cultured in medium alone \pm S.D. Endogenous expression of TLRs in HEK-293 was ruled out by RT-PCR.

2.3.13 Phenol extraction of LOS and LPS

Bacteria were heat inactivated at 65°C for 1 hour. Bacteria were then centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 10 minutes (Sorvil centrifuge, SS34) and the supernatant discarded. The pellet was resuspended at 10g/ml in dH₂O and the cells were blended to a paste on ice using a homogeniser (Tissue Tearor, Biospec products Inc, Bartlesville, USA). An equal volume of 85% liquid phenol (Sigma-Aldrich) was added and the solution was homogenised on ice for 5 minutes. The mix was heated to 65° C and homogenised for 1 minute at 2 minute intervals for a total of 10 minutes. The mix was then centrifuged at 600 x *g* at 4°C for 10 minutes. The aqueous layer was removed and stored temporarily at 4°C. An equal volume of dH₂O was added to the remaining sample and homogenised on ice repeating the steps outlined above. The combined aqueous layers were then dialysed at 4°C for three days in six changes of 5 litres of dH₂O using a 3.5kDa MWCO (molecular weight cut off) dialyser tube (Novagen, D-Tube Dialyzer Maxi). The resulting extract was then stored at -20°C.

2.3.14 Determination of LPS and LOS purity by silver stain

SDS-PAGE electrophoresis of LPS and LOS was carried out using a NuPAGE 4-12% Bis-Tris gel (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. 5µg LPS/LOS was added to 5µl Tricine SDS sample buffer and 1µl Nupage reducing agent (Invitrogen). The sample was heated to 95°C for 5 minutes and 10µl was loaded onto the gel. The gel was run in Tricine SDS buffer (Invitrogen) at 125V for 90 minutes. The gel was then subjected to silver staining using a SilverQuest staining kit (Invitrogen) as per the manufacturer's instructions.

2.4 Protein profile of human serum

2.4.1 Patients and serum sample preparation

Venous blood samples were collected from patients enrolled in the Feiring Heart Biopsy Study after a minimum of four hours fasting. The subset of patients from the Feiring Heart Biopsy Study examined included 16 patients with RA undergoing CABG (RA+CVD cohort), 19 patients without RA or any other form of IRD undergoing CABG (CVD cohort), 21 patients with RA and but no detectable CVD symptoms and 21 healthy controls (absence of any clinically significant disease, surgery or trauma; absence of drug or alcohol abuse; absence of pregnancy). RA was confirmed according to the accepted ACR-EULAR diagnostic criteria (*table 1.2*). Patient characteristics are outlined in *table 5.1*. Whole blood was collected in sterile 4ml vacutainers without additives and allowed to coagulate at room temperature (<2 hours). The samples were then spun to allow isolation of serum at 2800 x g for 20 minutes at 4°C. The serum was removed by pipette and transferred into a sterile 1.5ml tube for storage at -20° C until use.

2.4.2 Luminex assay of human serum

Serum samples from healthy individuals (n = 21), CVD patients (n = 19), RA patients (n = 19) 21) and patients diagnosed with both RA and CVD (n = 16) were analysed using a multi cytokine and chemokine bead array detection system capable of detecting human IL-1 β , IL-1RA, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12 p40/p70, IL-13, IL-15, IL-17, VEGF, TNFa, IFNa, GMCSF, MIP1a, MIP1b, IP-10, MIG, Eotaxin, RANTES, MCP-1, EGF, GCSF, FGF, HGF and IL-2R according to the manufacturer's instructions (Human Cytokine Thirty-Plex Antibody Bead Kit, Invitrogen). Briefly, 25µl 1 x beads (2.5×10^6) beads ml⁻¹ cytokine⁻¹) with defined spectral properties were covalently conjugated to analyte specific monoclonal antibodies and then pipetted into each well of a 96-well filter bottom microplate. The conjugated beads were exposed to 50µl of serum sample or standard solution containing a known concentration of each cytokine and incubated at room temperature on an orbital shaker (500-600 rpm) for two hours while being protected from light exposure. After several washes and filtration by vacuum manifold to remove unbound protein, biotinylated detection antibodies specific for the epitopes of interest were added to the reaction and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature on an orbital shaker (500 - 600 rpm). Following this incubation step, a series of washes and a vacuum filtration to remove unbound antibody was performed. The reaction mixture was then detected by the addition of Streptavidin-R Phycoerythrin (Streptavidin-RPE) which binds with high affinity to the biotinylated antibodies. A further series of washes and vacuum filtrations were then performed to remove any unbound material. The beads were then resuspended in 100µl working wash solution and stored in the dark at 4°C until analysis. The reaction mixtures were analysed using a Luminex flow cytometer (Invitrogen). The

lower detection limit for each mediator measured was 2pg/ml, any values lower than this were considered as 0 for this study. The upper limit of detection was variable depending on the analyte and was dictated by the generated standard curve.

2.4.3 sST2 ELISA

96 well half-area ELISA plates (Corning Costar, Dorset, UK) were coated overnight at room temperature with 100µl/well of sST2 capture antibody (R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK) diluted to 2µg/ml in PBS. Plates were washed twice with PBS/0.1% Tween (Sigma-Aldrich) then blocked for 1 hour at 37°C with 300µl PBS/1% BSA (Sigma-Aldrich) per well. After two washes in PBS/Tween followed by two washes in PBS, sST2 standards were diluted in PBS/BSA and added at 100µl per well to provide a standard curve. A seven point standard curve using two-fold serial dilutions with a high standard of 2000pg/ml was performed. Serum samples were then added at 100µl per well and incubated at room temperature for two hours. Plates were then washed with PBS/Tween before adding 100µl biotinylated detection antibody diluted to a working concentration of 100ng/ml in PBS/0.1% Tween supplemented with 2% heat inactivated normal goat serum. Plates were then incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. Once washed, 100µl of Streptavidin-HRP diluted to a working concentration of $2\mu g/ml$ in PBS/0.1% Tween was added to each well for 20 minutes at room temperature. Following another wash step 100µl substrate solution (1:1 mixture of H₂O₂ and tetramethylbenzidine) (R&D Systems) was added to each well and incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes in the dark. Reactions were then stopped using the appropriate Stop Solution (2N H₂SO₄) (R&D Systems). sST2 concentration was then quantified with reference to the standard curve at 450 nm of a plate reader (Tecan, Sunrise and Magellan, Reading, UK).

2.5 Lipoprotein isolation and oxidative modification

2.5.1 Lipoprotein isolation

50ml venous blood was taken from each of three healthy donors for LDL isolation. All donors underwent a period of 12 hours fasting prior to blood collection. Blood was collected in 0.4 mmol/EDTA. Plasma was isolated from blood by centrifugation at 3000rpm at 10°C for 30 minutes (L-80 ultracentrifuge, Beckman Coulter). LDL isolation

was performed by density adjustment of plasma using potassium bromide (KBr) and discontinuous ultracentrifugation at 50,000 rpm at 10° C (L-80 ultracentrifuge, Ti 70 rotor). On the first day the non-protein solvent density of the pooled serum sample was adjusted to 1.022 g/ml by the addition of 0.2 g dry salt KBr per 10ml of plasma. Following adjustment, the plasma was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 18 hours at 10°C. On day two the non-protein solvent density of the serum sample was adjusted to 1.019 g/ml by the addition of solid salt KBr according to the following formula:

$$KBr[g] = \frac{volume \ x \ (density \ A - density \ B)}{1 - 0.267 \ x \ \frac{density \ A + density \ B}{2}}$$

where volume is the volume of the fluid (ml), density A is the desired density (g/ml), and density B is the actual density. Following adjustment, the plasma was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 18 hours at 10°C. The top fraction (VLDL) was carefully removed and discarded. The remaining plasma had the density adjusted to 1,063 g/ml by addition of KBr using the equation above and was again subjected to centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 18 hours at 10°C. The top layer containing the LDL was gently removed using a pipette. Finally, the LDL stock was dialysed in dialysis tubes with a pore size of 50,000 Daltons (Millipore, Watford, UK) against 5 litres of PBS supplemented with 0.2mM EDTA in the dark (Note: if it was intended to oxidise the LDL stock immediately, there was no need to dialyse in the presence of EDTA). Dialysis was performed over three days with two changes of buffer. The resulting LDL was the stored at 4°C in the dark.

2.5.2 Lipoprotein oxidation

Prior to oxidation, the LDL stock was dialysed in dialysis tubes with a pore size of 50,000 Daltons (Millipore) against 5 litres of PBS to remove all traces of EDTA. Dialysis was performed over three days with two changes of buffer. The preparation was then passed through a 0.45μ m filter (Millipore) to sterilise and remove lipoprotein aggregates. 150µl of this preparation was stored at 4°C for a modified Lowry protein determination (*Section 2.5.3*). The remaining LDL stock (2mg/ml) was oxidised by addition of 10µM CuSO₄ and incubated for 18 hours at room temperature in the dark. To stop the oxidation reaction and prevent further modification 0.25mM EDTA was added to the solution. Oxidised LDL was again sterilised by passing through a 0.45µm filter and then stored at 4°C in the dark.

2.5.3 Modified Lowry protein assay

The modified Lowry protein assay was used to measure the final concentration of purified LDL. A 2x Lowry concentrate was prepared by mixing three parts copper reagent (*appendix 3*) to one part (1% sodium dodecyl sulphate) and one part (1M NaOH). A standard was prepared from 0.2mg/ml bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Thermo Scientific). Eight two-fold serial dilutions were made of both the LDL and the BSA. 50µl of 2x Lowry solution was added to every 50µl of sample and mixed thoroughly before incubating at room temperature for 10 minutes. After this, 25µl of 0.2N folin reagent (VWR) was then added and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. Finally, the samples were analysed using a plate reader at 502nm to obtain OD readings. A standard curve was prepared from the BSA and the concentration of LDL was extrapolated.

2.5.4 Lipoprotein electrophoresis

Lipoproteins isolated from the blood of healthy donors were oxdatively modified by copper sulphate. Electrophoresis was used to confirm that oxidative modification was occurring as necessary. Native LDL from the same samples was used as a control. Prior to agarose gel electrophoresis lipoprotein was stained with Nile Red. This allows LDL to be visualised by UV light following electrophoresis. 20µl of working Nile Red solution (10µg per ml of acetone) (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to 1.5ml tubes and allowed to evaporate fully. 50µl LDL was added to the tube and agitated for 10 seconds, followed by addition of 5µl of 30% w/v sucrose solution. A 0.6% agarose gel in 50mM barbital buffer, pH 8.6 was prepared by microwaving (*appendix 3*). The agarose solution was allowed to cool for five minutes and then poured into the running tray. Once the gel was fully set the electrophoretic chamber was filled with 50mM barbital buffer, pH 8.6. The gel was loaded with 15µl of Nile Red stained LDL and subjected to electrophoresis at 56V for 2 hours. The gel was imaged under UV light (Alpha Innotech, Alphalmager, East Sussex, UK).

2.6 *In vitro* foam cell investigation

2.6.1 Foam cell formation

Human primary macrophages were isolated (*section 2.3.5*) and cultured for six days in 24 well tissue culture plates (BD Biosciences, UK) with RPMI (Life Technologies)

supplemented with 15ng/ml M-CSF. Cells were then incubated with 200µg/ml oxLDL for 1 hour. Foam cell formation was then visualised following Oil-red-O staining (*section* 2.6.2).

2.6.2 Oil-red-O staining and foam cell quantification

Oil-red-O staining was used to image lipid uptake. The steps outlined here were optimised for cells cultured in a 24-well plate. All reagents were used at room temperature. Cell culture medium was removed and the cells were twice washed gently with 250µl PBS. Following complete removal of the PBS, cells were incubated in 250µl 10% formalin/PBS for 15 minutes and then washed twice in ddH₂O. Cells were then washed in 250µl of 60% isopropanol/H₂O for 5 minutes. Following complete removal of the wash solution, cells were incubated with Oil-Red-O working solution (*appendix 3*) for 30 minutes. The cells were then washed in ddH₂O until the water rinsed off clear. The cells were then immersed in 200µl ddH₂O and the intracellular distribution of lipid droplets was imaged by light microscopy (Olympus IX51).

2.6.3 Luminex assay of GM-CSF stimulated macrophages

Human primary macrophages were isolated (*section 2.3.5*) and cultured for six days in 24well tissue culture plates (BD Biosciences) with RPMI (Life Technologies) supplemented with 15ng/ml M-CSF. Cells were then stimulated overnight with 125ng/ml GM-CSF or vehicle control before the supernatants were removed and subjected to Luminex analysis as described in *section 2.4.2*.

2.6.4 Dextran sulphate-mediated inhibition of foam cell formation

Human primary macrophages were isolated (*section 2.3.5*) and cultured for six days in 48well tissue culture plates (BD Biosciences) with RPMI (Life Technologies) supplemented with 15ng/ml M-CSF. Cells were then stimulated overnight with 125ng/ml GM-CSF or vehicle control. The following day cells were challenged with 200µg/ml oxLDL and varying concentration of dextran sulphate (Millipore) (0, 2 10, 20 and 40µg/ml) and incubated at 37° C in 5% CO₂ for 24 hours. Resulting foam cell formation was then visualised following Oil-red-O staining (*section 2.3.9*).

2.7 Quantitative PCR

2.7.1 cDNA synthesis and normalisation

cDNA was synthesised according to the manufacturer's instructions using the supplied reagents (Superscript III First-Strand Synthesis System, Invitrogen) (Note: this method of cDNA synthesis was specific for qPCR, and differed from the method outlined in *section* 2.3.8). 120ng RNA was diluted in 4µl RNase-free H₂O (Qiagen) and 1µl random primers and 1µl dNTPs was added to each sample. Samples were placed in the thermocycler for 5 minutes at 65°C and then on ice for 1 minute. The cDNA synthesis mix was prepared on ice by mixing 2µl of 10x RT buffer, 4µl 25mM MgCl₂, 2µl 0.1M DTT, 1µl RNaseOUT and 1µl SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase. 10µl cDNA Synthesis mix was added to each sample. For the control samples, Superscript III Reverse Transcriptase was replaced by an equivalent volume of RNase-free H₂O. Samples were placed in the thermal cycler for 50 minutes at 50°C then 85°C for 5 minutes. In order to remove any remaining RNA, 1µl RNase-H was added to each cDNA sample and incubated at 37°C for 20 minutes. cDNA was stored at -20°C.

2.7.2 Primer design

Sets of primers were designed for quantitative PCR using the PrimerBLAST software (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer-blast/). All primer sets used are described in *appendix 4*.

QPCR primer specifications were as follows:

- Amplicon size less than 150bp
- Between 18 and 23 base pairs in length
- Between 40 and 65% GC content (50% optimal)
- Maximum 3' self complimentarity: 1
- Maximum self complimentarity: 2
- Tm of primers within 59.5°C and 61°C (60°C optimal)

- Not more than two G or C bases in the last five bases at 3' end of each primer (i.e. no GC clamp)
- Avoid stretches of four or more G or C bases in a row

If these conditions did not support generation of appropriate primers then the self complimentarity was relaxed from two to three and the primer Tm reduced to 59°C. The only condition that was never relaxed was maximum 3' self complimentarity.

BLAST analysis was used to ensure that primer sequences were specific to the gene of interest alone and that no splice variants existed that could confuse the analysis.

2.7.3 SYBR QPCR protocol

Each QPCR reaction was performed in triplicate. In order to ensure homogeneity a master mix was prepared for each reaction prior to plating out triplicates. Each master mix reaction contained:

- 33µl SYBR Green FastMix (Quanta Biosciences, Lutterworth, UK)
- 23.3µl neuclease free water (Qiagen)
- 1.2µl primer mix (each primer mixed together at 50pmol/µl)
- 4µl cDNA (equivalent to 24ng cDNA)

This was then mixed by pipetting at least five times. 20μ l of the master mix was then pipetted into each of the three wells (triplicates) on a 96-well QPCR plate (Star Lab, Milton Keynes, UK). A non-template control (NTC) was included to determine the level of contamination and to show the detection limit of the assay. The plate was spun for 10 seconds at 400 x g to ensure that the contents of each well were at the bottom of the plate. Using the 9700HT QPCR machine (Applied Biosystems) a fast run was performed, which used the following reaction conditions:

- Initial three minutes at 94°C (not repeated)
- 5 seconds at 94°C then 15 seconds at 60°C, repeated 40 times (measuring fluorescence at the end of each 60°C elongation step).

2.7.4 Analysis of QPCR data

Gene expression was quantified using the relative quantification (RQ) method. This technique utilises the formula $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ in order to calculate the relative number of gene transcripts. The C_T value represents the PCR cycle at which the amplified gene target reaches a defined threshold. 40 PCR cycles were performed; accordingly the C_T values can range from 0 to 40. C_T values for each triplicate were measured and the mean calculated. If a C_T value was greater than 34, the data was dismissed. C_T values were calculated for the stimulated samples and the non-stimulated control samples. The C_T of the endogenous control gene 18S was also calculated. The ΔC_T value was calculated sample and the non-stimulated control sample. The relative expression of each gene was then calculated with the formula $\Delta\Delta C_T = \Delta C_T$ (positive sample) – ΔC_T (control sample). This was then expressed in terms of fold change relative to the control sample with the formula [fold change = $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$]. For down-regulated genes (value less than 1) the negative inverse of the value was taken. This allowed down-regulation to be expressed as a negative value.

2.8 FACS analysis of scavenger receptors

Human primary macrophages were stained independently for both MARCO (extracellular) (Santa Cruz, Middlesex, UK) and SR-B1 (intracellular) (Novus Biologicals, Cambridge, UK). Macrophages were washed in PBS and then resuspended in 50µl FACS buffer. Cells were then incubated with 5µl Fc Block (BD Biosciences) for 15 minutes at 4°C before being spun down at 400 x *g* for five minutes. For antibodies specific to extracellular proteins (MARCO) cells were then aspirated and then incubated with 1µl un-conjugated rabbit anti-human primary antibody specific to MARCO (Santa Cruz) or rabbit IgG as the isotype control (BD Biosciences) for 15 minutes at 4°C in the dark. For antibodies specific to intracellular proteins (SR-B1), macrophages were first permeabilised by incubating in 250µl cytofix/cytoperm (BD Biosciences) for 15 minutes at 4°C in the dark before being washed twice in 1x permwash (BD Biosciences). Cells were then aspirated and then incubated and then incubated with 1µl of an un-conjugated rabbit anti-human primary antibody specific to SR-B1 (Southern Biotech, USA) or rabbit IgG as the isotype control (BD Biosciences) for 15 minutes at 4°C in the dark. For both extracellular and intracellular specific antibodies, cells were then resuspended in 1ml FACS buffer or permwash respectively, before being

spun at 400 x g for 5 minutes and aspirated. Samples were then incubated with anti-rabbit IgG-PE (Southern Biotech, Cambridge, UK) for 15 minutes at 4° C in the dark. Finally the stained cells were spun down at 400 x g for five minutes before being resuspended in 350µl FACS buffer and acquired on a MACSQuant (Miltenyi Biotec, Surrey, UK). The resulting data was analysed using Flowjo software (Treestar).

3 Cellular composition and cytokine expression in the aortic adventitia of human subjects with cardiovascular disease in the presence and absence of rheumatoid arthritis

3.1 Introduction

RA is a chronic systemic inflammatory disorder that principally affects synovial joints. RA is associated with increased CVD as a result of accelerated atherosclerosis. Although the underlying mechanisms of vascular comorbidity in RA are not known, it is hypothesised that the increased risk of CVD is driven by systemic inflammation and/or increased expression of autoantigens (Sattar and McInnes, 2005).

The extent of systemic inflammation is significantly greater in RA patients than in individuals without the disease. Indeed, inflammation in RA patients is often well above the levels that arise as a result of lifestyle factors, including smoking, obesity, reduced activity or as a result of blood vessel pathology. Several studies support the hypothesis that elevated inflammation plays a fundamental role in the accelerated CVD observed in RA:

- Murine studies demonstrate that pro- inflammatory cytokines promote atherogenesis, whereas inhibition of these cytokines reduces CVD risk (Huber et al., 1999, Steffens et al., 2005)
- Therapeutic reduction of inflammation in RA improves endothelial function and lipid profile (Dixon and Symmons, 2007)
- RA severity predicts CVD risk (Jacobsson et al., 2001, Maradit-Kremers et al., 2005)
- CVD risk in RA cannot be accounted for by traditional risk factors (del Rincon et al., 2005).

Analysis of protein and mRNA has revealed that many pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, TNF α , GMCSF and TGF β are abundant in the synovium and serum of patients with RA (Feldmann et al., 1996). The release of pro-inflammatory cytokines in RA may be crucial in the initiation of co-morbid CVD. It has been demonstrated that TNF α is capable of initiating a pro-inflammatory response and acts as an alarm to injury. If the release of TNF α is blocked, expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-1 will decrease (Fong et al., 1989). TNF α -mediated induction of numerous cytokines, chemokines and adhesion molecules (Doukas and Pober, 1990, Schroder et al., 1990) is of key importance in attracting leukocytes to areas of injury. TNF α is a pleiotropic cytokine that orchestrates systemic inflammation and stimulates the acute phase response. TNF α has previously been detected in both the RA synovium (Ohta et al., 2001) and murine atherosclerotic lesions (Zhang et al., 2007). The reduction of inflammation in RA that is

observed following anti-TNF α therapy appears to be associated with a concomitant reduction in CVD risk (Avouac and Allanore, 2008). As RA patients have elevated levels of systemic TNF α , we hypothesise that TNF α may be over-expressed in the aortic tissue of these individuals, which may be associated with an increased risk of CVD.

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disease in which both humoral and cellmediated immune responses participate (Hansson, 1997). In advanced stages of atherosclerosis, inflammatory cell infiltrates are often detected in the aortic adventitia adjacent to sites of atherosclerotic plaque. Immunohistochemical studies by a previous PhD student (Ahmed, 2010) in our group showed small aggregates of CD20⁺ B cells and occasional plasma cells in the aortic adventitia of CVD patients (unpublished results). These observations suggest that lymphoid follicle-like organisations, which develop in a variety of autoimmune mediated inflammatory diseases such as RA (Randen et al., 1995), may be present in the aortic adventitia of CVD patients.

Follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) form a contiguous network that is vital for formation and survival of germinal centres in response to signals that include TNFα. Mice expressing a mutant form of TNFα that cannot be released do not form primary follicles (Ruuls, 2001). In primary follicles, FDCs are localised in the central region, whereas germinal centre FDCs exhibit a polarised distribution. In both primary follicles and germinal centers, FDCs and mature B cells are recognised by antibodies to CD21, also known as complement receptor 2 (Imal and Yamakawa, 1996). CD21 is required for germinal centre development, antibody production and B cell tolerance. To evaluate whether lymphoid follicle-like structures were present in patients with CVD, we used immunohistochemical staining for CD21.

The role of autoantigens in the onset of atherosclerosis and RA has gained support in recent years. Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are highly conserved molecules that execute a range of functions including assembly, folding and translocation of proteins (Hightower, 1991). In addition to being molecular chaperones, HSPs are immunodominant molecules and a substantial proportion of the immune response against pathogenic microorganisms is targeted towards pathogen-derived HSP peptides (Kaufmann, 1990, Young, 1990). Given the phylogenetic homology between prokaryotic and mammalian homologues of these molecules (for example, 60% of residues are shared across the HSP60 family) there is a concept that pathogen-derived HSPs may be recognised by the host immune system as autoantigens, in a process known as molecular mimicry (Kaufmann, 1990).

Immunological recognition of cross-reactive HSP epitopes could present a link between autoimmunity and infection (Lamb et al., 1989).

Among the immuno-pathological factors shared by RA and atherosclerosis, a subset of $CD4^+/CD28^-T$ cells have been implicated. HSP60 is a mitochondrial chaperone protein responsible for ATP dependent folding of 15-30% of total cellular protein. It has been identified as a dominant autoantigen recognised by $CD4^+/CD28^-T$ cells (Zal et al., 2004). As previously highlighted, molecular mimicry between host and pathogen HSPs may lead to the targeting of self HSP60 by auto- reactive T and B cells. Although HSP60 is normally only expressed intracellularly, it can also be expressed on the surface of endothelial cells in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-1 α (Xu et al., 1994). We hypothesised that the systemic proinflammatory profile of RA patients may lead to overexpression of HSP60 in aortic tissue, triggering a $CD4^+/CD28^-T$ cell autoimmune response that leads to an increased risk of atherosclerosis.

HSP47 is a heat shock protein and molecular chaperone that interacts with procollagen during its folding, assembly and transport from the endoplasmic reticulum in mammalian cells (Tasab et al., 2000). Histological studies demonstrate that little or no HSP47 is expressed in healthy artery samples. Conversely, HSP47 is observed in ~65% of atherosclerotic tissue and is mostly expressed in lipid-rich regions of the fibrous cap and smooth-muscle-like cells (Rocnik et al., 2000). Collagen plays a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of both CVD and RA. The accumulation of fibrillar collagen during plaque formation can trigger arterial stenosis. Conversely, inadequate collagen production or failure in the breakdown of collagen can lead to plaque rupture (Davies and Thomas, 1984). RA is categorised as a collagen vascular disease — a group of diseases that also includes dermatomyositis and scleroderma — which affects the collagen that constitutes connective tissue, bones and tendons being affected (Das, 1991). In RA, an autoimmune reaction is mounted against collagen structures and ultimately leads to their destruction (Kim et al., 2004). As HSP47 is necessary for correct and regulated collagen expression, we hypothesised that dysregulation of HSP47 may be central to pathogenesis of both CVD and RA. Furthermore, HSP47 antigen and antibody levels have been demonstrated to be significantly elevated in patients with RA (Yokota et al., 2003).

Recently, two novel pro-inflammatory proteins belonging to the S100 family of calciumbinding proteins have been characterised: S100A8 and S100A9 (Striz and Trebichavsky, 2004). These two proteins can form either monovalent homodimers or a heterodimer, termed calprotectin, in a calcium-dependent manner (Mortensen et al., 2009). Calprotectin is principally expressed in neutrophil granulocytes, however the level of expression is dependent upon inflammatory status and stage of myeloid cell differentiation (Striz and Trebichavsky, 2004). Current knowledge of the expression of calprotectin on other cell populations is limited. Research into the regulation of calprotectin has elucidated that calprotectin expression can be induced by a variety of stimuli, including bacterial LPS, IFN-γ and TNF-α (Xu and Geczy, 2000). The principal function of calprotectin is as an antimicrobial agent. However, calprotectin can also participate in various innate immune processes, including chemotaxis and cellular adhesion (Ryckman et al., 2003). We hypothesise that calprotectin expression would be dysregulated in subjects with systemic inflammation resulting from RA. Furthermore, detection of calprotectin in the aortic adventitia may indicate previous or present exposure to potentially pathogenic bacteria.

To increase understanding of the link between RA and CVD, we collected aortic adventitia samples during CABG surgery from 20 patients with RA and 19 control patients matched for age, family history of CVD, BMI and other traditional CVD risk factors.

The objective of the research described in this chapter was to determine and compare the expression of several possibly pro-atherogenic proteins and to determine the cellular composition in the aortic adventitia of patients with CVD either with or without RA. The principal aims of this study were:

- Quantify the extent of inflammatory infiltration within the aortic adventitia of RA patients with CVD compared to patients with CVD alone.
- Determine whether the aortic adventitia of RA patients with CVD has an association with TNFα, which may orchestrate an elevated pro-atherogenic response, and to relate expression of TNFα to presence of inflammatory infiltrate.
- 3. Investigate the presence of CD21, a marker of follicular dendritic cells, to determine whether lymphoid follicle-like organisations exist in the aortic adventitia of CVD patients.

- 4. Determine if the potential autoantigens HSP60 and HSP47 are present within the aortic adventitia of RA patients with CVD in comparison to CVD patients without RA .
- 5. Detect and quantify calprotectin, a pro-inflammatory and anti-microbial protein, in the adventitia of RA patients with CVD and compare to patients with CVD alone.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Patient characteristics

Human aortic adventitia biopsy samples were from the Feiring Heart Biopsy study. All biopsies were obtained from patients undergoing routine coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery. The demographic data and prevalence of traditional CVD risk factors was similar in the group with RA and the control group (CVD only) (*table 3.1*). The time period from initial angiography to CABG surgery was shorter for RA patients than control patients. RA patients had higher levels of inflammatory biomarkers. RA patients were treated with a range of steroidal and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. A total of 39 sections were included in the following studies, which comprised patients with RA and CVD (n=19) and patients with CVD only (n=20).

3.2.2 Morphology of aortic adventitia sections

Aortic adventitia sections were stained with Haematoxylin & Eosin and examined by light microscopy. The aortic adventitia biopsies predominantly consisted of smooth muscle cells and connective tissue fibres and contained variable amounts of adipose tissue. Small vessels, termed *vasa vasorum* were regularly visible; these vessels function to supply the adventitia with oxygen and essential nutrients. Endothelial cells surrounded the *vasa vasorum*. Nerves (*nervi vasorum*) were detectable in several sections. Adventitial inflammatory infiltrates were frequently observed, consistent with biopsies being from patients with CVD. The aortic adventitia was contained within a mesothelial layer. *Figure 3.1* illustrates these key cell types.

	RA	Non-RA	P value
	(n=19)	(n=20)	
Age – years	69±9	68±9	0.746
Males – no. (%)	12 (63)	14 (70)	0.651
Duration of CVD – years	6.3±8.7	7.2±6.6	0.378
History of myocardial infarction – no. (%)	15 (79)	9 (45)	0.048
Acute coronary syndrome – no. (%)	9 (47)	4 (20)	0.096
Time from angiography to CABG – days	17±30	31±60	0.944
Left ventricle ejection fraction – no. (%)	59±13	64±13	0.237
C-reactive protein – mg/litre	23±40	3±3	0.006
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate – mm/hour	34±29	15±10	0.047
Serum PTX3	2.07±1.00	1.48±0.86	0.067
Body mass index – kg/m ²	25±5	25±2	0.761
Hypertension – no. (%)	13 (68)	9 (45)	0.200
Family history of CVD – no. (%)	11 (58)	20 (100)	0.001
Hyperlipidemia – no. (%)	16 (84)	20 (100)	0.106
Diabetes – no. (%)	2 (11)	1 (5)	0.605
Previous smoker – no. (%)	10 (52)	12 (60)	0.751
Current smoker – no. (%)	2 (11)	1 (5)	0.605
Current use of:			
Oral glucocorticosteroids – no. (%)	8 (42)	0 (0)	0.001
Disease modifying drugs – no. (%)#	16 (84)	0 (0)	< 0.001
Cox2-selective inhibitors – no. (%)	5 (26)	0 (0)	0.020
Traditional NSAIDs – no. (%)	2 (11)	0 (0)	0.231
Lipid-lowering drugs – no. (%)	16 (84)	19 (95)	0.342
Acetylsalicylic acid – no. (%)	17 (90)	17 (85)	1.000
Betablockers – no (%)	15 (88)	15 (79)	0.662
ACE inhibitors – no. (%)	5 (31)	6 (30)	1.000
Duration of IRD – years	17 (15)	-	-
Patient global assessment of RA (VAS, 0-100	29±24	-	-
millimetre)			
Number of swollen joints	4.2±5.3	0	< 0.001
History of aortic aneurysm	1 (5)	0 (0)	0.487

Table 3.1. Patient characteristics

*Unless indicated otherwise, values represent mean \pm SD. Numbers may not add up to the expected total due to missing data for some variables. ACE: angiotensin–converting enzyme. CVD: cardiovascular disease. NSAIDs: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. VAS: visual analogue scale.

Azathioprine=1, suphasalazine monotherapy=2, auranofine=1, CPH-82=1, leflunomide=2, methotrexate monotherapy=7, etanercept and methotrexate=1, suphasalazine and hydroxychloroquine=1.



Figure 3.1. Morphological and cellular characterisation of the aortic adventitia

Representation of typical structures observed in the aortic adventitia. Sections were stained with H&E and imaged by light microscopy (200x, unless otherwise stated). Smooth muscle cells (A); Connective tissue fibres (B); Vasa vasorum (C); Nerve (D); Endothelial cells* (E); Adipose tissue (F); Mononuclear cell infiltrate (G) and Mesothelial cells (100x)* (H). Arrows have been inserted for clarity.

*Endothelial and mesothelial cells were distinguished by location. Endothelial cells lined the inner layer of the vasa vasorum. Mesothelial cells form the simple squamous epithelium that lines areas of the adventitia.

3.2.3 Inflammation in the aortic adventitia

Inflammatory cell infiltrates have previously been detected in the aortic adventitia of patients with CVD (Ramshaw and Parums, 1990). As RA and CVD are both inflammatory conditions, we hypothesised that co-morbid patients may exhibit exaggerated aortic inflammation.

We examined 19 CVD+RA and 20 CVD only aortic adventitia biopsies taken from the Feiring Heart Biopsy Study. Atherosclerotic lesions (plaques or fatty streaks) were detected in 4 of 19 (21%) patients with RA and in 3 of 20 (15%) patients without RA (P=0.63). All lesions were confined to the media of the biopsies (data based on surgeons perioperative observation).

Nine of the 19 patients with RA (47%) and 9 of 20 CVD only patients (45%) had inflammatory infiltrate in the aortic adventitia (p=0.30). There was no significant difference between the two cohorts in either the number of inflammatory infiltrates or the size of the largest inflammatory infiltrate per section (*table 3.2*). Inflammatory infiltrates were detected in the perivascular region (around the vasa vasorum), diffusely in connective and adipose tissue and most commonly as a submesothelial infiltrate (*figure 3.2*).

The occurrence of inflammatory infiltrates in the adventitia of 30 matched internal mammary samples was significantly lower than in the corresponding aortic adventitia $(0.02\% \pm 0.001 \text{ and } 0.2\pm 0.67 \text{ respectively})$ (*figure 3.5*). The largest inflammatory infiltrate as a percentage of the total section in the aortic adventitia and internal mammary was 3.6% and 0.2% respectively.



Figure 3.2 Histological examination of aortic adventitia inflammatory infiltration by light microscopy

A, Localised submesothelial mononuclear cell infiltration in a patient with CVD only. *B*, Submesothelial mononuclear cell infiltration in a patient with co-morbid RA and CVD. *C*, Diffuse submesothelial infiltration in a patient with CVD only. *D*, Pronounced mononuclear cell infiltration in the inner adventitia in a co-morbid patient. Sections were stained with Haematoxylin and Eosin and imaged with a 10x objective.

	RA +		
	CVD	CVD	P value
No. of adventitial inflammatory infiltrates			0.22
0	10 (21)	11 (55)	
1	3 (16)	5 (25)	
2	1 (5)	1 (5)	
3	1 (5)	2 (10)	
>3	4 (26)	1 (5)	
Size of largest adventitial infiltrate as % of			
section			0.35
0	10 (53)	11 (55)	
<0.5	8 (42)	7 (35)	
0.5-1	1 (5)	1 (10)	
1-3	0 (0)	0 (0)	
3-5	0 (0)	1 (10)	
>5	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Total infiltrate as % of section	2.5	3.2	0.53

Table 3.2Number and size of inflammatory infiltrates in the aortic adventitia ofpatients with RA + CVD and CVD only

Values represent the number (%) of patients. Data represents 19 RA + CVD patients and 20 CVD only patients. Statistical analysis was performed by Mann Whitney U test suitable for non-parametric data.



Figure 3.3 Inflammatory infiltrates in the aortic adventitia of RA+CVD and CVD only patients

Sites of inflammation were measured and expressed as a percentage of the total section area. The comparison between the CVD+RA and CVD only group was not significantly different (mean \pm SD of 0.15 \pm 0.26 and 0.28 \pm 0.81 respectively). Statistical analysis was performed with a Mann Whitney U test for non-parametric data. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.



Figure 3.4 Number of inflammatory infiltrates in the aortic adventitia of RA+CVD and CVD only patients

The number of independent inflammatory sites was not significantly different between the RA+CVD group and the CVD only group (mean \pm SD of 1.6 \pm 2.5 and 0.8 \pm 1.2 respectively). Statistical analysis was performed with a Mann Whitney U test for non-parametric data. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.



Figure 3.5 Aortic inflammation in matched human aortic adventitia and internal mammary artery

Sites of mononuclear cell inflammation were measured and expressed as a percentage of the total section area. Statistical analysis was performed with a Mann Whitney U test for non-parametric data. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant and is represented as an (*).

3.2.4 Relationship between vascular inflammation and traditional CVD risk factors

We analysed the relationship between the occurrence of inflammation, the number of inflammatory infiltrates and the total area of inflammatory infiltration in the aortic adventitia with the following factors: sex, age, duration of CVD, BMI, and CRP level. Vascular inflammation did not correlate with any of the CVD risk factors considered here (*table 3.3 and figure 3.6*).



Figure 3.6 Analysis of potential inflammatory infiltrate risk factors

The number of independent inflammatory infiltrates were determined in all patients (n=39) and correlated with a variety of potential risk factors. Representative graphs show correlation of inflammatory infiltrate number with age, B.M.I, CVD duration and CRP. P value was calculated by spearman rho and r^2 by linear regression.

	All Patients			CVD only		RA + CVD			
	(n=39)			(n=20)		(n=19)			
Predictor	Inflammatory infiltrate presence	Number of infiltrates	Area of infiltrates	Inflammatory infiltrate presence	Number of infiltrates	Area of infiltrates	Inflammatory infiltrate presence	Number of infiltrates	Area of infiltrates
Age	0.64 (ns)	0.68 (ns)	0.80 (ns)	0.52 (ns)	0.44 (ns)	0.79 (ns)	0.94 (ns)	0.88 (ns)	0.58 (ns)
B.M.I	0.70 (ns)	0.81 (ns)	0.65 (ns)	0.81 (ns)	0.68 (ns)	0.81 (ns)	0.54 (ns)	0.62 (ns)	0.81 (ns)
CVD duration	0.85 (ns)	0.85 (ns)	0.55 (ns)	0.80 (ns)	0.87 (ns)	0.70 (ns)	0.52 (ns)	0.59 (ns)	0.12 (ns)
C.R.P	0.66 (ns)	0.13 (ns)	0.70 (ns)	0.11 (ns)	0.12 (ns)	0.41 (ns)	0.43 (ns)	0.99 (ns)	0.45 (ns)
Hypertension	0.43 (ns)	0.75 (ns)	0.67 (ns)	0.31 (ns)	0.36 (ns)	0.27 (ns)	0.43 (ns)	0.46 (ns)	0.67 (ns)
E.S.R	0.21 (ns)	0.57 (ns)	0.48 (ns)	0.82 (ns)	0.67 (ns)	0.38 (ns)	0.56 (ns)	0.05 (ns)	0.39 (ns)

Table 3.3Predictors of the presence, number and area of inflammatory infiltrates in the aortic adventitia

Area of inflammatory infiltrates was recorded as a % of the total section area occupied by inflammatory infiltrates. Spearman's rank correlation coefficient (non-parametric) was used to examine statistical dependence. Non-significant (ns); p<0.05; p<0.01; p<0.001

3.2.5 Detection of TNFα in the aortic adventitia of CVD patients with and without RA

Having confirmed the presence of inflammatory infiltrates in the aortic adventitia, the predominant inflammation in the vessel made TNF α an obvious choice for investigation. To investigate the presence of TNF α we first had to establish a technique for detection. The initial experiments were carried out on sections of tonsil biopsies, as the number of aortic adventitia sections was limited. To determine the optimal antigen-retrieval method for TNF α immunohistochemistry, a series of methods with varying primary antibody concentration were performed (*figure 3.7*).

3.2.6 TNFa immunohistochemistry established in human tonsil

Tonsil biopsies were fixed in paraformaldehyde and then paraffin embedded. Sections were cut and mounted on glass slides. In order to determine optimal staining conditions, sections were subjected to different antigen retrieval mechanisms and different dilutions of anti-TNF α primary antibody, and the quality of staining was determined by light microscopy. A trypsin retrieval system was used first: this enzymatic reaction is designed to break protein cross-links formed during fixation and unmask antigens and epitopes of interest. The trypsin retrieval technique was desirable as, unlike alternative techniques, trypsin retrieval does not involve a boiling step and leads to less tissue damage during processing. A 1/50 (as per manufacturers recommendation) and a 1/25 dilution of the primary antibody was used. The results demonstrated that this antigen retrieval method was not successful at unmasking the TNF α epitope and rendered this technique unsuitable (*figure 3.7.A and 3.7.B*).

The next antigen retrieval method evaluated used citric acid (pH 6). Due to the boiling stage, this method is considered harsh and could lead to tissue damage. This technique led to clear cell specific TNF α staining and left the isotype control completely clear (*figure 3.7 C and 3.7 D*.). Furthermore, there was no evidence of tissue remodelling or damage following the boiling stage. It was also found that a 1/25 primary antibody dilution gave superior staining to a 1/50 dilution. Additionally, a further improvement to the staining procedure was made by performing a peroxidise block following incubation with the primary antibody, instead of prior.



Figure 3.7 TNFa staining using different antibody concentration and antigen retrieval systems

To establish optimal TNFa staining different antigen retrieval systems were tested on tonsil sections. Figures A and B show trypsin retrieval using a 1/50 and 1/25 antibody dilution respectively. Figures C and D show citric acid retrieval using a 1/50 and 1/25 antibody dilution respectively. Figure D shows strong TNFa staining (brown colour) with no background staining detectable in the isotype control. Sections were counterstained with haematoxylin to define nuclei and cytoplasm. Images were acquired by light microscopy with a 10x objective lens. To summarise, citric acid retrieval with a primary antibody dilution of 1/25 and peroxidise block following primary antibody incubation resulted in clear isotype controls and a strong, cell specific positive staining. Accordingly, this optimised staining technique was used to stain the aortic adventitia sections.

3.2.7 Immunoreactivity for TNFa in RA+CVD and CVD only patients

Tissue was obtained from the aortic adventitia of 19 patients with RA and CVD and 20 patients with CVD only. Mononuclear cell infiltrates expressing TNF α were identified in tissues from both cohorts, with strongest staining in areas of large submesothelial infiltration. TNF α was also detected in inner adventitia inflammatory infiltrates but at a lower frequency. Other cells that displayed immunoreactivity for TNF α included smooth muscle cells that surrounded larger *vasa vasorums*, however this staining was far weaker than that observed in the inflammatory infiltrates. Observable levels of TNF α were present in 12 of the 19 RA+CVD patients and 6 of the 20 CVD only patients (*figure 3.8*).

TNF α staining was scored in a blinded manner. Each section was imaged and the number of independent sites of TNF α staining were recorded. All inflammatory and smooth muscle cells were then imaged at high magnification, and the overall percentage of cells that expressed TNF α was recorded and assigned a score of 0-3 (no staining, >0%<10%, 10-25% and >25% respectively). The TNF α score was significantly greater in the RA+CVD group compared to the CVD only group (*p*=0.02) (*figure 3.9*). Furthermore, there was a trend towards an increased number of independent TNF α -expressing sites in the RA+CVD group compared to the non-RA group (*figure 3.8*), however the difference did not reach statistical significance (*p*=0.06).



Figure 3.8 Number of sites of TNFa staining in the aortic adventitia of RA+CVD and CVD only patients

(A) The number of independent sites of TNF α staining was not significantly different between the RA+CVD and CVD only group with a mean \pm SD of 1.5 ± 1.7 and 0.6 ± 1.1 respectively. Statistical analysis was performed with a Mann Whitney U test for nonparametric data (p=0.06). (B) Representative image of TNF α in an inflammatory infiltrate of the aortic adventitia (400x magnification).


TNFa score (0-3)	RA +CVD (n=19)	CVD only (n=20)	P value
0	7	14	0.02
1	5	5	
2	4	1	
3	3	0	

Figure 3.9 Quantitative scoring of TNFa in smooth muscle cells and inflammatory cells in the aortic adventitia of RA+CVD and CVD only patients

The number of smooth muscle cells and inflammatory cells were approximately counted and each section was scored according to the percentage of cells expressing TNFa. 0, negative; 1, >0%<10%; 2, 10-25%; 3, >25%. A significant difference was observed between the RA+CVD and CVD only cohort with a mean \pm SEM of 1.2 \pm 0.26 and 0.3 \pm 0.13 respectively. p=0.02 represented (*) (Mann Whitney U test).

3.2.8 Relationship between TNFα and adventitial inflammation

Our data have so far demonstrated that TNF α is expressed in the aortic adventitia of patients with CVD. Furthermore we have observed a significant increase in TNF α expression in patients with co-morbid RA. We also found inflammatory cells are present in the aortic adventitia of a large proportion of patients with CVD (n=39) and that TNF α was principally expressed by inflammatory cells in the tissue. We therefore hypothesised that, in the aortic adventitia, TNF α expression would positively correlate with the number of inflammatory infiltrates. A linear regression analysis revealed that the number of sites of TNF α expression did not significantly correlate with the number of inflammatory infiltrates when all patients were included (n=39) (*p*=0.055, r²=0.26), however there was a strongly significant correlation when considering only the RA+CVD patients (*p*=0.0058 **, r²=0.59) (*figure 3.10 & figure 3.11*). These data suggest that the increased CVD burden in RA patients may be partly explained by an increase in risk of TNF α expression within inflammatory infiltrates of the aortic tissue.

3.2.9 Relationship between TNFa expression and traditional CVD risk factors

The relationship between the number of independent TNF α sites and the extent of TNF α staining (TNF α score) in the aortic adventitia with the following factors was analysed: age, duration of CVD, BMI, ESR, hypertension and CRP level. When considering all patients (n=39), CRP positively correlated TNF α score (*p*=0.02). However significance was lost when considering RA+CVD patients and CVD only patients independently. No other significant correlations were observed. *Table 3.4* highlights all correlations performed.



Figure 3.10 TNFa and inflammatory infiltrates in all patients

Levels of adventitial TNF α and number of inflammatory infiltrates were determined in all patients (n=39). The number of inflammatory infiltrates was correlated with the number of independent sites of TNF α expression (p value=0.055 with r² 0.26) (A) and the TNF α score (p value=0.0073 with r²0.18) (B). P value was calculated by spearman rho and r²by linear regression.



Figure 3.11 TNFa and inflammatory infiltrates in RA+CVD patients

Levels of adventitial TNF α and number of inflammatory infiltrates were determined in RA+CVD patients (n=19). The number of inflammatory infiltrates was correlated with the number of independent sites of TNF α expression (p value=0.0058 with r² 0.59) (A) and the TNF α score (p value=0.02 with r²0.38) (B). P value was calculated by spearman rho and r²by linear regression.

	All patients		CVD only		RA + CVD	
	(n=39)		(n=20)		(n=19)	
Predictor	No. of TNFα areas	TNFα score	No. of TNFα areas	TNFα score	No. of TNFα areas	TNFα score
Age	0.34 (ns)	0.53 (ns)	0.25 (ns)	0.22 (ns)	0.58 (ns)	0.89 (ns)
B.M.I	0.39 (ns)	0.54 (ns)	0.41 (ns)	0.47 (ns)	0.97 (ns)	0.88 (ns)
CVD duration	0.17 (ns)	0.17 (ns)	0.76 (ns)	0.82 (ns)	0.18 (ns)	0.26 (ns)
C.R.P	0.06 (ns)	0.02 *	0.37 (ns)	0.43 (ns)	0.29 (ns)	0.12 (ns)
Hypertension	0.34 (ns)	0.36 (ns)	0.18 (ns)	0.19 (ns)	0.48 (ns)	0.45 (ns)
E.S.R	0.37 (ns)	0.31 (ns)	0.46 (ns)	0.39 (ns)	0.89 (ns)	0.96 (ns)

Table 3.4 Predictors of the number of TNFa areas and the extent of TNFa (TNFa score) in the aortic adventitia

For each section the number of independent TNF α areas was recorded and a score assigned (percentage of smooth muscle cells and inflammatory cells were scored according to the percentage of cells expressing TNF α . 0, negative; 1, >0%<10%; 2, 10-25%; 3, >25%). Spearman's rank correlation coefficient (non-parametric) was used to examine statistical dependence. Non-significant (ns); *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001

3.2.10 Expression of TNFa in RA+CVD serum

Serum samples were collected from 15 of the 20 CVD patients and all 19 RA+CVD patients (n=19). TNF α levels were measured by Luminex assay and found to be significantly higher in the RA+CVD group compared to the CVD only group [36.6 ± 22 versus 3.7 ± 1.6 pg/ml respectively, *p*=0.0008] (*figure 3.12*). However, converse to expectation, serum TNF α did not positively correlate with TNF α expression in matched aortic adventitia biopsies (*p*=0.10, spearman rho).



Figure 3.12 Levels of TNFa expression in serum of RA+CVD and CVD only patients

A significant difference was observed between the RA+CVD and CVD only cohort with a mean \pm SE of 36.5 \pm 22 and 3.7 \pm 1.6 pg/ml respectively. p=0.0008 (***) (Mann Whitney U test)

3.2.11 CD21 expression in the aortic adventitia

Having confirmed the presence of inflammatory infiltrate, $TNF\alpha$ and B cells (experiment conducted by Ammad Ahmed 2010) in the aortic adventitia, we next sought to determine whether germinal centres, a site of intense B lymphocyte maturation, were present in the aortic adventitia of patients with CVD. I therefore set out to establish primary follicle/germinal centre staining in human tonsil with an antibody raised against CD21.

To optimise the staining I tried trypsin, citrate and Tris EDTA antigen retrieval with the immPRESS method. Positive staining was not apparent in any of these attempts. I next attempted to use the Avidin/Biotin (ABC) method with a biotinylated secondary antibody. Again attempts with all three antigen retrieval methods similarly resulted in no positive staining. In an effort to further optimise this staining method I altered the primary antibody incubation conditions. Unlike other immunohistochemistry experiments illustrated in this chapter, I did not incubate the samples with the primary antibody at 4°C overnight, instead incubating at room temperature for 90 minutes. This approach led to clear cell-specific staining with no background and no signal detectable in the isotype control (*figure 3.13*). The quality of staining was further improved by performing a non-specific block with 10% horse serum, instead of the usual 2.5%, and by incubating the primary antibody in a solution made up of PBS and 2% goat serum.



Figure 3.13 CD21 mAb selectively stains germinal centers

In an attempt to detect follicular dendritic meshwork was highlighted by staining for CD21 in human tonsil sections. Isotype controls are shown in the left column (negative). (A) Representative image of failed CD21 staining attempts (100x). (B) CD21 staining using avidin/biotin complex with primary antibody incubation at room temperature for 90 minutes. (C) Same as B with altered serum block and primary antibody buffer conditions. Germinal centers were detected in tonsil sections and the surrounding follicular mantle zone — the outer ring of lymphatic follicles that surround a germinal centre and contains transient lymphocytes (*figure 3.14*). Dense networks of FDCs were visible in germinal centres and, to a lesser extent, in the follicular mantle.



Figure 3.14 mAb CD21 stains tonsillar germinal centres

(A) anti-CD21 staining of FDC networks within a germinal centre (GC) as well as B lymphocytes within the follicular mantle (FM) (100x) (B) High magnification of the germinal centre shown in figure A. FDCs can be distinguished as large cells containing one or two big nuclei and branched projections. Follicular dendritic networks are clearly visible (400x).

We were not able to detect CD21 positive cells in any of the aortic adventitia samples (*figure 3.15*). This interesting observation is surprising as morphology presumed to be follicle-like structures were microscopically observed in several of the aortic adventitia sections (*figure 3.15 D*). However these support the notion that germinal centers are not present in the aortic adventitia.



Figure 3.15 CD21staining in aortic adventitia

CD21 was not detectable in the aortic adventitia. Images above are representative of sections that were hypothesised to contain CD21 positive germinal centres. (A)
Submesothelial infiltrate (400x) (B) Pronounced adventitial infiltrate (400x) (c)
Pronounced adventitial infiltrate with localised areas of dense inflammatory cells (100x)
(D) High magnification image of follicle-like structure observed in C (400x).

3.2.12 Immunoreactivity of HSP47 in RA+CVD and CVD only patients

Immunohistochemistry was performed on human aortic adventitia paraffin sections using a monoclonal mouse anti-human antibody raised against HSP47. HSP47 expression was detectable in 13 of the 19 RA+CVD patients (68.4%) and 11 of the 20 CVD only patients (55%). HSP47 was detected in smooth muscle-like cells, endothelial cell, mesothelial cells and the inflammatory infiltrate (*figure 3.16*). No HSP47 staining was observed in adventitial adipocytes.

The extent of HSP47 staining was analysed using a semi-quantitative scoring method in a blinded manner. Each section was imaged by light microscopy and the overall percentage of each cell type to express HSP47 was recorded and assigned a score of 0-3 (no staining, <10%, 10-25%, and >25% respectively).

No significant differences in HSP47 staining between the RA+CVD and CVD only patients was detected in any of the cell populations studied. However, there was a trend towards greater HSP47 expression in smooth muscle cells, mesothelial and endothelial cells in patients who had both RA+CVD compared to CVD only, however these results did not reach significance (*figure 3.17*). We also observed a significant correlation between smooth muscle HSP47 expression and mesothelial HSP47 expression when considering all patients (n=39) (p=0.024, Spearman's rank). The power of this correlation increased when considering CVD only patients (n=20) (p=0.011) but was lost when considering the RA + CVD patients (n=19) (p=0.4).

3.2.13 Relationship between HSP47 expression and traditional CVD risk factors

The relationship between the expression of mesothelial, endothelial, inflammatory cell and smooth muscle cell HSP47 in the aortic adventitia with the following factors was analysed: sex, age, duration of, BMI, CRP, CVD, ESR, and hypertension. When considering all patients (n=39), hypertension positively correlated with smooth muscle cell (p=0.027) and inflammatory cell (p=0.02) HSP47 expression. A positive correlation between mesothelial HSP47 expression and age (p=0.02) was observed when considering all patients and this significance remained when considering the RA+CVD group only (p=0.02). C.R.P positively correlated with mesothelial HSP47 expression in the RA+CVD group only. *Table 3.5* highlights all correlations performed.



Figure 3.16 HSP47 immunohistochemistry in the aortic adventitia

Representation of typical HSP47 staining in the aortic adventitia. Images were captured by light microscopy at 100x magnification. Cell-specific staining is clearly observable in mesothelial cells (A); endothelial cells (B); smooth muscle cells (C) and mononuclear cell infiltrate (D).



Figure 3.17 HSP47 expression in the aortic adventitia of patients with RA+CVD and CVD only

HSP47 was detected in four independent cell populations (smooth muscle, endothelial, mesothelial and inflammatory cells). Statistical analysis was performed by Mann-Whitney U test for non-parametric data. Y-axis units represent semi-quantitative analysis (0=0%, 1=<10%, 2=10-25%, 3=>25%).

Note: Statistical analysis was also performed by Pearson chi-squared analysis suitable for comparing categorical variables. A significant difference was detected in mesothelial HSP47 expression between RA+CVD and CVD only patients (p=0.022). No significant differences were detected in the remaining cell populations.

	All Patients				CVD only			RA + CVD				
		(n=39)				(n=20)				(n=19)		
Predictor	Endothelial	Mesothelial	SMC	II	Endothelial	Mesothelial	SMC	II	Endothelial	Mesothelial	SMC	II
Age	0.51	0.02*	0.21	0.99	0.62	0.49	0.54	0.83	0.64	0.02*	0.54	0.74
B.M.I	0.25	0.13	0.35	0.55	0.79	0.84	0.58	0.62	0.29	0.13	0.53	0.68
CVD	0.70	0.98	0.84	0.28	0.25	0.74	0.56	0.86	0.83	0.83	0.87	0.16
duration												
C.R.P	0.34	0.17	0.93	0.41	0.56	0.61	0.79	0.64	0.49	0.04*	0.92	0.95
Hypertension	0.27	0.41	0.027*	0.02*	0.45	0.78	0.41	0.15	0.64	0.41	0.07	0.19
E.S.R	0.25	0.24	0.51	0.382	0.94	0.46	0.93	0.93	0.45	0.15	0.18	0.06

Table 3.5Predictors of the expression of HSP47 in the aortic adventitia.

HSP47 expression was recorded as a semi-quantitative score. Spearman's rank correlation coefficient (non-parametric) was used to examine statistical dependence. Non-significant (ns); *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001. Inflammatory infiltrate (II)

3.2.14 Heat shock protein 60 in the aortic adventitia

Immunohistochemical analysis of human aortic adventitia (n=39) showed no immunoreactive HSP60 in any cases. Clear cell specific staining was observed in the positive control and no background signal was detected in the isotype control (*figure 3.20*).

3.2.15 Calprotectin protein antigen expression in the aortic adventitia

Immunohistochemistry was performed on human aortic adventitia paraffin section (n=39) using a monoclonal mouse anti human antibody raised against calprotectin (antibody kindly donated by Prof. Magne K. Fagerhol, (Ullevaal University Hospital, Oslo). Specifically, aortic adventitial sections were analysed for the s100A9 epitope as this proved to be the most reliable antibody of those available for calprotectin detection.

The calprotectin complex was expressed in areas of mononuclear cell infiltration. Calprotectin expression was detected in inflammatory cells in both the submesothelium and adventitia. Calprotectin was detectable in 8 of the 19 RA+CVD patients (42.1%) and 9 of the 20 CVD only patients (45%). There was no significant difference in either the number of patients expressing calprotectin or the extent of calprotectin expressed across the two cohorts (*figure 3.18*).

Interestingly, very low levels of calprotectin were occasionally detected in smooth muscle or endothelial cells surrounding areas of inflammation. This suggests that neutrophils may be releasing small amounts of calprotectin into surrounding tissue either due to cell disruption or death or as an antimicrobial mechanism. However this hypothesis remains to be investigated.



Figure 3.18 Calprotectin in the aortic adventitia

(A) Representative image of calprotectin staining in the inflammatory infiltrate of human aortic adventitia (100x). (B) Semi-quantitative scoring of calprotectin in the aortic adventitia of RA + CVD and CVD only patients. The number of inflammatory cells was approximately counted and each section was scored according to the percentage of cells expressing calprotectin. 0, negative; 1, >0%<10%; 2, 10-25%; 3, >25%. No significant difference was observed between the RA + CVD and CVD only cohort (p>0.05) (Mann Whitney U test).

3.2.16 Calprotectin and TNFa correlation analysis

Previous studies have demonstrated that TNF α can induce calprotectin production from human monocytes (Suryono et al., 2005). In this study, calprotectin expression did not correlate with either the number of independent adventitial TNF α sites or the extent of TNF α expression. Furthermore adventitial calprotectin expression did not correlate with serum TNF α expression (*figure 3.19*).



Figure 3.19 Calprotectin and TNFa correlation

Levels of adventitial calprotectin and TNF α were determined by immunohistochemistry in RA+CVD patients and CVD only patients (n=39). Serum TNF α concentration was also determined in 12 of these patients. Correlation analysis was performed for calprotectin expression with: (A) the number of independent adventitial TNF α sites; (B) the extent of TNF α expression (score). Furthermore adventitial calprotectin expression did not correlate with serum TNF α expression. P value was calculated by spearman rho and r²by linear regression (all >0.05).

3.2.17 Immunohistochemical quality control

The work outlined in this chapter relied heavily upon immunohistochemistry, and as such the strictest quality control was maintained throughout. All experiments carried out here used monocolonal antibodies (*table 2.1*) which removes the risk of contaminating antibody due to impure antigen used to immunise the host animal.

All experiments, with the exception of the HSP47 immunohistochemistry, carried out on the aortic adventitia sections were first worked up on tonsil sections. HSP47 was worked up on RA synovium sections as these proved to have a source of HSP47 antigen, whereas tonsil tissue did not. Accordingly RA synovium was used as both the positive and negative control. Staining was only performed on aortic adventitia sections once the desired quality of staining was attained and there was no staining in the negative control.

A positive and negative control was carried out in tandem with each experiment. Control images captured from each experiment are provided in *figure 3.20*. In each case, staining is observed in the positive control, whereas no staining is evident in the negative (isotype) control.



Figure 3.20 Immunohistochemistry quality control

All images were captured from the positive and negative controls carried out in tandem with each experiment (A) calprotectin S100A9; (B) CD21; (C) HSP60; (D) HSP47 and (E) TNFa. Higher magnification of S100A9 and HSP47 has been included for clarity. Control tissue is human tonsil tissue with the exception of HSP47 which is RA synovium.

3.3 Discussion

A growing body of evidence supports the observation that patients with RA experience an increased risk of CVD morbidity and mortality. However, patients with RA do not exhibit a corresponding increase in traditional CVD risk factors that could explain an increased atherosclerotic burden (Wilson, 2008). Evidence exists to suggest that inflammation, being of major importance in the pathogenesis of both RA and CVD, may represent the missing link in explaining the CVD burden observed in RA patients (Aubry et al., 2007, Libby, 2008, Abou-Raya and Abou-Raya, 2006). However, the majority of these studies have concentrated on measuring systemic and general downstream inflammatory markers (e.g. CRP, ESR and total leukocyte counts) as well as traditional inflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNF α , IL-1 and IL-6). To date, only a handful of studies have focused on determining differences in inflammatory profiles between CVD and CVD-RA patients (Hollan et al., 2007, Breland et al., 2010). In the present study we have built upon previous studies by quantifying the extent and incidence of inflammatory infiltration into the aortic adventitia of patients with CVD and CVD+RA.

The aortic adventitia comprises the outermost layer of the aortic wall and has received little attention in research to understand the underlying pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. Additionally, the majority of *ex vivo* human studies on CVD have concentrated on sites of severe atherosclerotic disease. The adventitial sections studied here were taken from areas with reduced macroscopic signs of atherosclerosis. As expected, the atherosclerotic lesion was confined to the intima and on no occasion were the atherosclerotic plaque or lesion observed in the corresponding adventitia.

In this study, we hypothesised that increased aortic inflammation would be observed in patients with both RA and CVD compared to those without RA. When evaluating inflammatory infiltrates in the aortic adventitia we detected inflammation in 18 of the 39 (46%) samples analysed. This data supports descriptions from other authors who have detected inflammatory cells in the outer most layers of the vessel wall. Aubry *et al* (2004) found prominent B-lymphocyte infiltrates in the adventitia of two men with CVD and RA (Aubry et al., 2004). Millonig *et al* (2002) observed inflammatory infiltration in the aortic adventitia of children pre-disposed to atherosclerosis and using immunohistochemistry demonstrated that these were principally composed of T cells and mast cells, (Millonig et al., 2002).

However, in our study, despite the relatively high proportion of patients with adventitial inflammation, no significant difference in either the size or the number of inflammatory sites was observed between the CVD and RA+CVD groups. These findings are in disagreement with Hollan *et al* who examined the severity of inflammatory infiltrates in the aortic adventitia that were removed during routine CABG surgery in 66 patients with inflammatory rheumatic disease and 51 control patients (Hollan et al., 2007). They observed that mononuclear cell infiltrates occurred with greater frequency in the inner adventitia of the rheumatic disease group compared with controls (47% versus 20%; p=0.002). Several factors may explain these conflicting data. Firstly, the study of Hollan et al (2007) included a much larger number of patients with a diverse range of rheumatic diseases (including RA, psoriatic arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, giant cell arteries). Experimental outcome is likely to change when including diseases such as giant cell arteries, as although this is an inflammatory disease of the blood vessels most commonly involving large and medium arteries of the head the disease can involve other large vessels such as the aorta. Furthermore, Hollan et al distinguished between inner adventitial infiltrates and infiltrates adjacent to the mesothelium, which they classified as submesothelial (epicardial). As there is no clear anatomic border between epicardial and adventitial loose connective tissue, this differentiation was based on the judgement of pathologists rather than histopathological examination. Due to our relatively small sample numbers and desire to minimise subjectivity we accurately measured total inflammation in each aortic adventitial sample.

The clinical significance of the observed chronic adventitial inflammation remains unknown. Inflammation may have spread from surrounding tissue into the aorta, or may occur *in situ* as a secondary response to atherosclerosis. Alternatively, it may reflect an inflammatory process that is critical to the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and plaque formation (Higuchi et al., 2002, Scott et al., 1996, Wilcox and Scott, 1996).

In our study, inflammatory infiltration was significantly greater in the aortic adventitia compared to matched internal mammary artery specimens $(0.22\% \pm 0.67$ and $0.001\% \pm 0.003$ respectively). As with the aortic adventitia, inflammation in the mammary tissue was observed in and around the perivascular adipose tissue. This is not surprising, as the regulatory effects of adipose cells on inflammation are well characterised, as are the effects of obesity and lipid metabolism on CVD (Ryden et al., 2002, Berg et al., 2004). The very low inflammatory presence in the internal mammary samples supports the fact that this tissue is highly resistant to atherosclerosis. The difference in atherosclerotic

burden between the coronary aortic adventitia and internal mammary artery adventitia may be due to differences in systemic inflammatory mediators, susceptibility to local infection, or due to the presence of autoantigens (HSPs, lipoprotein) at these sites. Unfortunately, owing to sample limitations, we could not investigate these factors. However, future efforts to characterise the atherosclerotic resistance mechanisms of internal mammary artery tissue could have significant therapeutic implications.

Inflammation is a natural defence mechanism against infection and toxic compounds such as lipids and oxidised proteins. Markers of inflammation such as TNF α have been associated with an increased risk for CVD (Ridker, 1997). Furthermore, the pathology of RA is attributable to the pleiotropic biological activities of TNF α (Romas et al., 2002, Keystone, 2001). TNF α is a key cytokine in both the recruitment and activation of inflammatory cells. Furthermore it promotes matrix degradation (Rajavashisth et al., 1999) and thus facilitates the influx of inflammatory cells into the vessel wall.

We set out to ascertain whether TNF α is expressed in the aortic adventitia. This study was principally performed to test the hypothesis that patients with RA would exhibit greater adventitial TNF α expression. TNF α was detected in the aortic adventitia of 12 of the 19 RA+CVD patients (63%) and 6 of the 20 CVD patients (30%), and TNFa expression was significantly greater in the RA+CVD cohort. Elevated TNFa in the aortic adventitia of RA+CVD patients cannot be explained by an excess of inflammatory cells, as we have already demonstrated that there is no difference in inflammatory infiltrate presence between the RA+CVD and CVD groups. However, we have identified that serum TNFa expression is roughly ten times greater in the RA+CVD group compared to the CVD group. Although TNF α is initially synthesised as a transmembrane molecule (Ishisaka et al., 1999), upon cleavage by metalloprotease TNF α converting enzyme (TACE or ADAM17), the secreted monomers that are generated form biologically active homotrimers (Smith and Baglioni, 1987). We hypothesise that elevated levels of secreted TNF α in the serum of the RA+CVD group may infiltrate into and reside in the aortic adventitia, possibly potentiating the onset of CVD in RA. It is worth noting that although there was a trend towards adventitial TNFa correlating with serum TNFa that this did not reach significance. This lack of significance is most likely attributable to our limited sample size.

Sixteen of the 19 RA+CVD patients were taking disease modifying drugs at the time of serum removal and CABG surgery. Only one of these patients was administered anti-TNF

therapy (*etanercept*). However the possibility that other disease modifying drugs may affect TNF α expression cannot be ignored. As most of the other disease modifying drugs (e.g. *methotrexate*, *azathioprine*) administered to RA patients are believed to function by reducing immune cell activation it is highly unlikely that these drugs would cause the elevation of TNF α expression observed in this study. Conversely, it seems highly likely that TNF α expression would be greater in the RA+CVD group if these patients were not confounded by the action of disease modifying drugs.

The overexpression of TNF α in the aortic adventitia of CVD+RA patients suggests that systemically targeted anti-TNF α therapy in RA patients may have beneficial effects in the prevention of CVD and may lead to a reduction in TNF α expression at the sites of atherosclerosis progression. In accordance with these results Jacobson *et al* followed 983 RA patients, 531 who were undergoing anti-TNF α therapy, and measured subsequent CVD events. Their findings suggested that the risk of developing CVD was significantly lower in patients treated with TNF blockers (Jacobsson *et al.*, 2005).

The presence of inflammatory infiltrate, $TNF\alpha$ and B cells (Ahmed., 2010) in the aortic adventitia has been confirmed. In occasional instances, we observed possible nodular lymphoid aggregates which resembled germinal centers in the adventitia. Such structures could accumulate T cells and follicular dendritic cells and support rapid proliferation and differentiation of B cells and corresponding class switch of their antibodies (Perez et al., 2002). To ascertain whether these structures were indeed germinal centres we stained for CD21, as this receptor provides a signal independent of antigen that is required for survival of B cells in the germinal centre (Fischer et al., 1998). In no cases was CD21 detected in the aortic adventitia. This was a surprising result, as CD21 is also involved in the cell activation of B cells and is engaged in homotypic aggregation of B cells (Bjorck et al., 1993). These results are in disagreement with Houtkamp *et al* who identified $CD21^+ B$ cells and CD21⁺ follicular dendritic cells in occasional nodular aggregates resembling lymphoid follicles in the aortic adventitia of CVD patients (Houtkamp et al., 2001). These contrasting results could in part be explained by a recent study by Isnardi *et al* who found that CD21-negative B cells are enriched in patients with autoimmune disease, and that many RA patients also displayed an increased frequency of CD21⁻ B cells (Isnardi et al.).

Heat shock protein 47 is a stress protein that acts as a molecular chaperone during intracellular processing of procollagen (Nakai et al., 1992). A relationship between HSP47 expression and fibrosis has been identified in human coronary arteries, in which HSP47

was identified in abundance in the fibrous cap of atherosclerotic plaque (Rocnik et al., 2000). Studies also indicate that autoantibodies and inflammatory reactions are directed against surface exposed HSP47 in patients with RA (Hattori et al., 2005). Such studies led us to hypothesise that HSP47 expression may be elevated in the aortic adventitia of patients with both RA and CVD. HSP47 was detected in endothelial, mesothelial, smooth muscle or inflammatory cells. There was no difference between HSP47 expression in endothelial, mesothelial, smooth muscle and inflammatory cells between the CVD and RA+CVD.

As far as we are aware, our study is the first to identify HSP47 in human aortic adventitia tissue. Yokota *et al* have also demonstrated that HSP47 antigen and autoantibody levels are significantly elevated in the serum of RA patients (Yokota et al., 2003). Taken together these findings generate the hypothesis that elevated levels of autoantibodies specific to HSP47 in RA patients may target HSP47 in the aortic adventitia and lead to accelerated atherosclerosis.

When considering all patients (n=39) we observed a strong correlation between smooth muscle and inflammatory cell HSP47 expression and hypertension. Hypertension is associated with structural changes in blood vessels including an increase in the thickness of the media, which is caused by increased cell mass and increased deposition of extracellular matrix. An important component in the latter outcome is collagen, the deposition of which may cause an increase in stiffness of the vessel wall (Deinum, 2002). Thus, it is possible that hypertension may be, in part, due to overexpression of HSP47 and associated collagen accumulation, however this remains to be determined.

Previous studies have demonstrated that human anti-HSP60 autoantibodies are associated with the development of atherosclerosis and can cross react with bacterial HSP60 (Zhu et al., 2001b, Huittinen et al., 2002). Furthermore, subjects with elevated HSP60 in their circulation exhibited vascular dysfunction (Halcox et al., 2005). Experiments in adjuvant-induced arthritis models also suggest that HSP60 may play a vital role in the immune regulation of arthritis (van Eden and Waksman, 2003) and that HSP60 of microbial origins, as well as those of endogenous origins, are targets of immune responses (vanRoon et al., 1997). These studies led us to hypothesise that HSP60 may infiltrate into or reside in the aortic adventitia and could potentially trigger a pro-atherosclerotic response. Converse to this hypothesis, our study of 39 biopsies revealed no HSP60 presence in the aortic

adventitia. These results suggest that HSP60 expression or autoimmunity do not play a pathological role in the adventitia.

Our study was limited to detection of human HSP60, as the only available anti-HSP60 monoclonal antibody did not cross-react with the bacterial homologue. It remains possible, therefore, that bacterial HSP60 may reside in the aortic adventitia and this antigen could potentially trigger a pro-atherogenic immune response.

Several studies on patients with RA have shown strong associations between serum or plasma levels of calprotectin and clinical measurements of joint inflammation (Foell and Roth, 2004, Youssef et al., 1999). Furthermore, Mortensen *et al* observed a negative correlation between plasma calprotectin and HDL, leading the authors to suggest that calprotectin may play a role in atherosclerosis (Mortensen et al., 2009). With this exception, there is no indication that calprotectin has previously been studied in relation to CVD. Our results demonstrate for the first time that calprotectin is expressed in the aortic adventitia and that inflammatory cells are responsible for the production of this peptide.

Calprotectin, a major product of innate immune cells, is an antimicrobial peptide that protects cells and tissues against microorganism invasion and regulates adhesion of leukocytes to the endothelium and extracellular matrix during the inflammatory process (Terrin et al., 2011). The presence of calprotectin in the aortic adventitia, as demonstrated in our study suggests that bacteria may penetrate the vascular wall and reside in the adventitia where they can trigger a calprotectin anti-microbial response. Such an immune reaction could potentiate the onset of atherosclerosis. These findings support one of the most interesting hypotheses of recent years that suggests one or more infectious agents may play a role in atherosclerosis through a direct proinflammatory effect on the vessel wall (Shah, 2001, Leinonen and Saikku, 2002). Further studies to characterise bacterial presence in the aortic adventitia may help explain why calprotectin is expressed in the adventitia and may help to understand the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis.

4 The bacterial composition of the human aortic adventitia: possible implications for inflammatory disease

4.1 Introduction

Premature CVD as a result of advanced atherosclerosis is now understood to be the leading cause of mortality among RA patients (Solomon et al., 2003). Following experiments described in the previous chapter, it was established that the aortic adventitia of CVD patients exhibit extensive inflammatory infiltration. It was also determined that TNF α , a cytokine involved in systemic inflammation that stimulates the acute phase reaction is present in the aortic adventitia. TNF α is released from macrophages in response to stimulation by lipopolysaccahride (LPS) and other bacterial products. Expression of this TNF α was established as being greater in RA + CVD patients than patients with CVD only. It was also observed that calprotectin, a calcium binding protein present predominantly in neutrophils with antimicrobial activity, was detectable in the aortic adventitia of CVD patients in both the presence and absence of RA. Taken together, these findings led to the hypothesis that bacteria observed within the aortic adventitia may generate a pro-atherosclerotic environment.

The mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis remain unclear. Recently, infection has received much attention as a potential contributing factor towards atherosclerosis. Specific pathogens have been detected in the arterial vessel wall of CVD patients, and there have been reports of an association between CVD and serological responses to bacterial and viral pathogens such as *Helicobacter pylori*, *Chlamydia pneumonia*, herpes simplex virus or cytomegalovirus (Saikku et al., 1992, Chiu et al., 1997, Danesh et al., 1999). Furthermore, periodontitis, a disease that results in bacteraemia from oral lesions, has been implicated as a risk factor for the development of atherosclerosis (Haraszthy et al., 2000, Nakib et al., 2004). Lehtiniemi *et al* (2005) observed a diverse bacterial colonisation of atherosclerotic plaques, and consequently hypothesised that atheromas act as mechanical sieves that collect bacteria from the circulation.

To date, most studies have concentrated on *Chlamydia pneumonia* as a possible etiological agent for atherosclerosis (Deniset et al., 2009). *C. pneumonia*-infected endothelial cells are thought to produce reactive oxygen species (ROS), which together with chlamydial antigens cHSP60 and LPS enhance the oxidation of LDL to oxLDL (Kalayoglu et al., 1999). Exposure of macrophages to *C. pneumonia* stimulates the uptake of oxLDL as well as native LDL, which causes macrophages to develop into pro-atherosclerotic lipid-laden foam cells (Kalayoglu and Byrne, 1998). Furthermore, T cells activated by *C. pneumonia*

produce IFN- γ , which activates macrophages and triggers a persistent intracellular infection.

Initial interventional studies with macrolide antibiotics that specifically targeted *Chlamydia* infection after acute coronary syndrome suggested a reduced risk of secondary cardiovascular complications following treatment (Etminan et al., 2004). However, large randomised controlled studies (Azithromycin and Coronary Events Study [ACES], Weekly Intervention With Zithromax Against Atherosclerosis and Related Disorders [WIZARD] and a Randomised Trial of Roxithromycin in Non–Q-Wave Coronary Syndromes [ROXIS]) that tested benefits of treatment with antibiotics such as zithromax and azithromycin indicated no reduction in either CVD or associated complications (Grayston et al., 2005, O'Connor et al., 2003, Gurfinkel et al., 1999).

Despite the major research focus on *C. pneumonia*, several other studies have identified a number of alternative organisms implicated in atherosclerosis. Using 16S ribsosomal RNA (rRNA) molecular sequencing, Marques da Silva *et al.* (2006) detected a wide range of microorganisms in human aortic aneurisms. These included *Stenotrophomonas* spp., *Propioibacterium acnes*, *Brevundimonas diminuta*, *Herbaspirillum* sp., and oral bacteria such as *Streptococcus sanguinis*, *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* and *Tannerella forsythia* (Marques da Silva et al., 2006). However, potential etiological and pathological roles of these bacteria in atherosclerosis remain unclear.

The 16S ribosomal RNA (16S rRNA) is the genetic marker of choice to detect bacteria to the species level. 16S rRNA is a highly conserved region which constitutes part of the 30S subunit of prokaryotic ribosomes. The 16S rRNA gene is a powerful tool for phylogenetic analyses (Janda and Abbott, 2007) as universal PCR primers targeting these conserved regions can be used to amplify the gene in parts to provide the complete nucleotide sequence of the 16S rRNA without prior knowledge of which bacterial species are present. Concomitantly, the 16S rRNA gene also contains hypervariable regions that provide species-specific signature sequences and enable unbiased bacterial identification following sequencing.

Autoimmune rheumatic diseases are generally considered to have a multifactorial aetiology, with susceptibility presumed to be principally due to genetics combined with environmental triggers, of which bacterial infection is considered the most prominent. Most autoimmune diseases, including RA, are associated with specific HLA alleles. Greater than 90% of RA patients possess HLA-DR1 (Ebringer and Wilson, 2000) and

significantly more psoriatic arthritis (PsA) than control patients carry the HLA-Cw*0602 allele (Szczerkowska Dobosz et al., 2005). It has been suggested that the involvement of HLA antigens in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases is due to molecular mimicry between certain bacterial antigens and HLA antigens (Wilson et al., 2000).

Psoriatic arthritis is classified as a spondyloarthropathy and is characterised by spondylitis, dactylitis, enthesitis and synovitis, usually manifesting in people with nail and skin psoriasis (Mease, 2010). There is accumulating evidence to support the hypothesis that PsA patients develop CVD prematurely, which may contribute to the early mortality associated with this disease (Wong et al., 1997, Han et al., 2006, Kimhi et al., 2007). Based on current understanding of the pathophysiology of PsA, potential contributors to CVD include inflammation-induced atherosclerosis and metabolic syndrome including hyperlipidiemia, hypertension and obesity (Ku et al., 2009). It has been demonstrated that the use of TNF inhibitors in PsA are associated with a reduction in carotid intima-media thickness and was accompanied by a reduction in inflammatory biomarkers, which is independent of alterations in lipid profile (Mease, 2010).

Although the aetiology of PsA remains unclear, it has been proposed that systemic bacterial infection and/or alteration of the gastrointestinal flora may trigger a Th17 response and increased production of other pro-inflammatory biomarkers that contribute to disease progression. If proved correct, this could help explain why PsA patients have a higher morbidity rate from CVD than the general population.

Considering all the evidence, it is plausible to hypothesise that inflammatory rheumatic disease increases patient susceptibility to infection by specific bacterial pathogens. The objective of the research described in this chapter was firstly to identify the bacteria present in the aortic adventitia of patients with CVD+RA, CVD+PsA and CVD only. The second objective was to characterise the potential atherosclerotic pathogenicity of any species that appeared at an elevated frequency.

4.2.1 Study plan and patient characteristics

The bacterial diversity of aortic adventia biopsies taken from patients with CVD+RA, CVD+PsA and CVD alone were analysed by amplification of the 16S rRNA gene from total extracted DNA. 16S rRNA gene amplicons were then cloned, sequenced and indentified by GenBank alignment.

All human aortic adventitia (AA) biopsies were from patients who underwent routine coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery, and were provided by the Feiring Heart Biopsy study. All patients were confirmed as free from any clinically significant infection or malignancy prior to CABG surgery. A total of 31 aortic adventitia samples were obtained, from patients diagnosed as having CVD. Of these patients, 11 had coexisting RA, and nine patients had coexisting PsA. The prevalence of known risk factors and the demographic distribution is outlined in *table 4.1*.

Characteristics	CVD-only	RA+CVD	PsA
	(n=11)	(n=11)	(n=9)
Age, years	68±8	66±9	61±6
Male sex, no. (%)	4 (36)	4 (36)	5 (55)
Current smokers, no (previous)	0 (6)	2 (5)	4 (2)
C – reactive protein mg/l	3.3±2	10±9	8.3±7
Duration of coronary artery			
Disease, years	5.1±4	2.6±4	3.7±5
Time from angiography to CABG			
surgery, days	6.7±8	9.7±8	15±18
Acute coronary syndrome, no (%)	1 (9)	4 (36)	3 (33)
Hypertension, no (%)	8 (72)	4 (36)	5 (55)

Table 4.1Demographic and clinical characteristics of patients with CVD, RA+CVDand PsA ± SD

4.2.2 DNA extraction and contamination control

To ensure experimental sterility a negative control was processed in parallel with every sample. Furthermore, all reagents used (trizol, chloroform, 100% ethanol, 75% ethanol, 0.1M sodium citrate, isopropanol and DEPC water) were tested for the presence of possible bacterial DNA contamination (*Methods section 2.2.7*). In all cases the negative control did not show any bands. *Figure 4.1* illustrates two 16S PCR samples that were PCR-positive for the presence of the 16S rRNA gene (RA74 in lanes 2-4 and RA63 in lanes 6-8) and the respective positive and negative controls. *Figure 4.2* illustrates that patient RA37 was negative for the presence of the 16S rRNA gene and that bacteria were either absent or below the limit of detection. Furthermore, in consonance with the negative controls, all experimental reagents were demonstrated to be sterile (*figure 4.3*).



Figure 4.1. Samples PCR-positive for 16S rRNA gene

2% agarose gel electrophoresis of DNA extracted from the aortic adventitia of patients. Each sample was diluted in mastermix (10, 4 and 1%). RA74 (lane 2, 10%; lane 3, 4%; lane 4, 1%) and RA63 (lane 6, 10%; lane 7, 4%; lane 8, 1%). 100-bp DNA ladder (lane 9), negative controls (lanes 1 and 5), positive control (lane 10).



100bp +ve 10% 4% 1% -ve

Figure 4.2. Samples PCR-negative for 16S rRNA gene

2% agarose gel electrophoresis of DNA extracted from the aortic adventitia of patients RA37. The sample was diluted in mastermix (10, 4 and 1%). 100-bp DNA ladder (lane 1); positive control (lane 2); negative control (lane 6) and RA37 (lane 3, 10%; lane 4, 4%; lane 5, 1%)



Figure 4.3. Reagent sterility

2% Gel electrophoresis of DNA extracted and 16S rRNA gene PCR amplified from all reagents used in DNA extraction. 100-bp DNA ladder (lane 1); positive control (lane 2); trizol (lane 3); chloroform (lane 4); 75% ethanol (lane 5); 0.1M Sodium Citrate (lane 6); isopropanol (lane 7); 100% ethanol (lane 8); DEPC H₂O (lane 9) & molecular grade water (lane 10)

4.2.3 Bacterial DNA signatures detected in the aortic adventitia of patients with and without RA

Sequencing of a 1324bp region of the 16S rRNA gene was used to identify bacteria present in the aortic adventitia of CVD patients with and without RA. Four of 11 non-RA patients and 3 of 11 RA patients had detectable levels of bacteria present in the aortic adventitia (p>0.05), whereas no bacteria were detected in negative controls. All sequences analysed showed >98% similarity to their associated sequences in GenBank. All of the positive specimens contained more than one bacterial species. The four positive samples from non-RA patients harboured a total of 31 different bacterial species (*table 4.2*), and the three positive samples from RA patients contained a total of 11 different bacterial species (table 4.3). A Fisher's exact test resulted in a *p*-value <0.00001 indicating that there was a significant difference in the heterogeneity of bacteria present between RA and non-RA patients. A non-RA patient, K53, displayed the most heterogeneity with 10 different bacterial species being detected. Conversely, RA patient RA74 displayed the least heterogeneity, with only two bacterial species detected. *Methylobacterium* sp. was detected in every positive sample from RA patients and represented the most prevalent bacteria in the RA group contributing 35.3% of the total bacteria detected in these samples. Stenotrophomonas sp. contributed 29.7% of all bacteria detected in the RA sample group, but was found in only one patient (RA63). Among the non-RA patients Sphingomonas sp. was detected in three samples and was the largest contributor to the overall bacterial diversity (16.3%) of the non-RA group (table 4.3). Oral Haemophilus sp. and Stenotrophomonas sp. were the next most commonly detected bacteria in the non-RA group, with *Haemophilus* sp. being detected in two samples and *Stenotrophomonas* sp. making up the majority of bacteria detected in one patient (K40). Other oral bacteria were detected, including Streptococcus mitis, Porphyromonas endodontalis and oral Neisseria sp. in the non-RA group and *Veillonella* sp. and *Streptococcus sanguinis* in the RA group.

The duration of RA did not significantly alter the risk of bacterial infection in the aortic adventitia (p=0.825). The median duration of RA in this group was 137 months. There were more men (n=13) than women (n=9) in this study, and chi-squared analysis showed that they fell equally into each of the patient groups. None of the patients that entered this study had aortic aneurysms.

Patient	% of	Bacteria	GenBank
	clones		Accession
			<u>No.</u>
Non-RA K48	14	Acinetobacter sp.	GU339300.1
	48	Sphingomonas sp.	EF636054.1
	8	Janthinobacterium aqaricidamnosum strain SAFR-022	AY167838.1
	14	Pedobacter sp. TB2-14-II	AY599662.1
	16	Agrobacterium sp.	GU120649.1
K40	50	Stenotrophomonas sp.	GQ416874.1
	2	Rhodococcus sp.	AB547168.1
	6	Methylobacterium oryzae strain 1021b/DCY52	GU294332.1
	30	Pedobacter sp. TB2-14-II	AY599662.1
	2	Bosea thiooxidans KNUC165	DQ424863.1
	8	Pseudomonas fluorescens strain LMG 14571	
	2	Herbaspirillum putei strain AU14404	EU549857.1
V 20	10.5	0.1.	EE(2(054.1
К53	10.5	Springomonas sp.	EF636054.1
	2.0	Neissena sp. Orai taxon 014 str. F0514	GQ131417.1
	7.89	Haemonbilus en Oral along M052	FJ828883.2
	21	Each criskie celi UE2024	A 1 349380.1
	1.9	Escherichia coll IHE3034	CP001969.1
	18.4	Ecc1-16	FJ52/400.1
	7.9	Uncultured Phyllobacterium sp. clone PSC19	GU293169.1
	10.5	Methylophilus leisingeri	AB193725.1
	2.6	Bradyrhizobium sp. Pha-1	AF510604.1
	10.5	Uncultured Pseudomonas sp. clone F1Sjun.54	GQ417217.1
K44	42.4	Haemophilus sp. oral clone JM053	AY349380.1
	3.03	Pseudoxanthomonas sp. 11 4K	EF540482.1
	6.06	Kineosporia rhamnosa strain I-132	NR028600.1
	3.03	Uncultured Providencia sp. clone F4feb.62	GQ418015.1
	21.1	Streptococcus mitis by. 2 strain F0392	GU470907.1
	6.03	Ralstonia pickettii strain MMA-BtI-3	FJ828883.2
	9.09	Porphyromonas endodontalis ATCC 35406	AY253728.1
	6.06	Sphingomonas sp.	EF636054.1
	3.03	Escherichia coli strain AC1	GU594306.1

Table 4.2: Bacterial species detected in the aortic adventitia of CVD only patients

species (at least 98% identity) identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing of clones from four aortic adventitia biopsies of CVD patients without RA.

Patient	%	Bacteria	Accession No.
RA74	90	Methylobacterium oryzae strain 1021b/DCY52	GU294332.1
	10	Afipia sp.	FJ711197.1
RA63	89.2	Stenotrophomonas sp.	GQ416874.1
	2.7	Streptococcus sanguinis	GU561393.1
	2.7	Methylobacterium oryzae strain 1021b/DCY52	GU591546.1
	5.4	Pedobacter sp. TB2-14-II	AY599662.1
RA73	6.67	Afipia sp.	FJ711197.1
	13.33	Methylobacterium oryzae strain 1021b/DCY52	GU294332.1
	40	Streptococcus sanguinis	GU561393.1
	13.33	Acinetobacter sp.	GU339300.1
	26.6	Veillonella sp. oral clone VeillC3	AY995752.1

Table 4.3: Bacterial species detected in the aortic adventitia of CVD+RA patients

Bacterial species (at least 98% identity) identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing of clones from three aortic adventitia biopsies of CAD patients with RA



Figure 4.4 Total bacterial species identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing

Bars represent the percentage of isolated clones which belong to each species in the two cohorts [4 Non-RA (blue bars) and 3 RA patients (red bars)].
4.2.4 Bacterial signatures detected in the aortic adventitia of patients with psoriatic arthritis

The total DNA from the aortic adventitia of 9 patients with PsA was analysed for the presence of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene by PCR. These patients were age- and sex-matched to the 11 control patients (CVD only) described in the previous section. Bacterial DNA was not detectable in any of the adventitial biopsies from the PsA cohort. A Fisher's exact test resulted in a *p*-value <0.00001 indicating there was a significant difference in the heterogeneity of bacteria present in the aortic adventitia between PsA and non-rheumatic patients.

4.2.5 Description of *M. oryzae* bacterium

This study demonstrated that *M. oryzae* was present in the aortic adventitia of all 16S PCRpositive RA+CVD patients. In order to support downstream analysis of host-pathogen interaction it was important to characterise *M. oryzae*. The genus *Methylobacterium* includes a group of Gram-negative, pink-pigmented, facultatively methylotrophic bacteria characterised by their ability to utilise single carbon compounds via the serine pathway, as well as a wide range of multicarbon growth substrates (Madhaiyan et al., 2007). Scanning electron microscopy images demonstrated that *M. oryzae* possess a bacillus-shaped morphology and that the bacterium measures roughly 4.6µm in length and 0.8µm in width (*figure 4.5*). *M. oryzae* occurs singly, in pairs or in rosettes and the cells are convex with regular edges and no flagella. *M. oryzae* grew on both nutrient agar and nutrient agar supplemented with 1% methanol. *M. oryzae* is slow-growing at the optimal temperature of 30°C and takes approximately 35 hours to reach the logarithmic growth phase (*figure 4.6*). Growth was also supported at physiological temperature (37°C) (data not shown).



Figure 4.5 Morphological characteristics of M. oryzae

Scanning electron micrographs of M. oryzae: (A) Low magnification view of bacteria (5000x); (B, C) Compact aggregation of M. oryzae (15,000x and 10,000x magnification respectively); (D) Single high magnification micrograph of M. oryzae (15,000x).



Figure 4.6 Growth rate of M. oryzae

M. oryzae in the logarithmic phase was inoculated into fresh nutrient agar supplemented with methanol and incubated at 30° C. The increase in optical density (OD_{600}) was measured over time.

4.2.6 Broad spectrum analysis of cellular transcription following infection with *Methylobacterium sp.*

The transcriptional profile of atherosclerosis-related genes following infection with *Methylobacterium sp.* was investigated in murine macrophage and endothelial cell lines. This was performed in order to determine if this bacterium could have a pro-atherogenic effect on these cell types.

4.2.6.1 Sequence alignment of 16S rRNA genes of *M. oryzae* and *M. mesophilicum*

At the time of study *M. oryzae* was unavailable, initial experiments in murine cell lines were therefore carried out with *M. mesophilicum*. Prior to experimentation a 16S rRNA gene alignment was performed in order to provide a measure of genetic similarity between *M. mesophilicum* and *M. oryzae* (*See Appendix 5*). A concise linear alignment across the 16S rRNA gene identified a 95.1% genetic similarity, demonstrating that these bacterial species have a highly similar genome and implies very close genetic relationship.

4.2.6.2 Genes analysed by TLDA qPCR array

A qPCR array targeting 90 murine genes involved in immune regulation was used to profile the transcriptional response of murine macrophage and endothelial cell lines to *M. mesophilicum*. Atherosclerosis is a process that involves thickening of vessel walls, a process related to inflammation, which then leads to the formation of plaque. This process is dependent upon proteases, adhesion molecules, growth factors, extracellular matrix proteins and apoptosis signals. A complete list of each of the genes analysed and their properties is provided in the Appendix (*table 6.1-6.8*).

4.2.7 Transcriptional response of murine macrophages to *M. mesophilicum*

Murine RAW 264.7 macrophage cells were infected in duplicate with *M. mesophilicum* at a multiplicity of infection of 200. To profile the cellular atherogenic transcriptional response to infection with *M. mesophilicum* analysis of sequential time points by transcriptional profiling of the 90 genes outlined in *appendix 6* was conducted.

Samples were analysed at four and eight hours post-infection. Each independent sample was normalised to the housekeeping gene *GAPDH* and the transcriptional profile of infected macrophages was determined relative to the vehicle control (*figure 4.7*). A fold change of greater than 1.5, or less than -1.5 was considered biologically relevant. In order to ensure reliability, all replicates with a *Ct* above 33 were excluded in this study.

Measurable levels of transcript was detected from 36 of the 90 genes examined. As expected, gene expression changes were generally amplified with time. Following eight hours of *M. mesophilicum* stimulation, the 10 most strongly upregulated genes and their fold change relative to control were as follows; Ptgs2 (5.1); Csf1 (4.6); Il1 β (4.3); Ccl3 (3.8); Fas (3.1); C3 (2.9); Hmox1 (2.7); Cd40 (2.6); Tnf α (2.6) and Cxcl10 (2.0). All of these genes are associated with inflammation: for example, CD40 and Il1 β upregulation is characteristic of activated macrophages. The most strongly downregulated gene was IL-15 (-2 fold). Suitably, this gene is expressed by macrophages following viral but not bacterial infection.



Figure 4.7 Transcriptional profile of RAW 264.7 murine macrophages following M. mesophilicum stimulation Cells were stimulated with M. mesophilicum at a multiplicity of infection of 200 for four and eight hours. Bars represent experimental duplicates. The fold change for each gene was generated by comparing the means of signal densities of stimulated vs non-stimulated control.

4.2.8 Biological pathway analysis by Ingenuity IPA analysis of murine macrophages infected with *M. mesophilicum*

Following identification of differentially expressed genes from TLDA experiments, a subsequent post-analysis task was performed in order to find the main biological processes associated with the experimental data. The 'core analysis' function included in IPA (Ingenuity System Inc, USA) was used to interpret the gene expression data for macrophages stimulated for eight hours with *M. mesophilicum* in the context of biological pathways, processes and networks. Both up- and down- regulated genes were defined as value parameters for the analysis and all data with a $Ct \leq 33$ was included. After the analysis, generated biological processes were ordered by a score representing significance.

IPA analysis revealed significant biological functions and canonical pathways to be associated with the differentially expressed genes. The most significant biological function associated with the TLDA-identified genes corresponded to 'inflammatory response' $(p=1.32E^{-29} \text{ to } 1.71E^{-10})$ with 29 of the analysed genes being directly implicated in this process. Interestingly, several of the most significant canonical pathways were related to cardiotoxicity [cardiac inflammation (p=5.28E-10 to $1.1E^{-2}$), cardiac necrosis/cell death $(p=1.24E^{-9} \text{ to } 3.46E^{-2})$ and cardiac dysfunction ($7.54E^{-6}$ to $5.54E^{-3}$)]. The remaining significant canonical pathways identified were related to renal and liver damage/necrosis.

4.2.9 Transcriptional response of murine endothelial cells to *M*. *mesophilicum*

Murine SVEC endothelial cells were cultured until 100% confluent and stimulated with exponentially replicating *M. mesophilicum* at an MOI of 200. As in the previous experiment (*Section 4.7*), total cellular RNA was extracted at four and eight hours post-stimulation and the expression profile of 90 genes (*Appendix 6*) analysed by TLDA. Raw fluorescence intensity was processed using the Applied Biosystems RQ data suite. Each independent sample was first normalised to the housekeeping gene GAPDH and the transcriptional profile of infected macrophages was then determined relative to the vehicle control. In order to ensure reliability all replicates with a *Ct* value above 33 were excluded in this study. A resulting fold change of greater than 1.5, or less than -1.5 was considered a biologically relevant change.

Following eight hours stimulation, only five of the 90 genes examined demonstrated a transcriptional fold change of greater than 1.5 or less than -1.5 (*figure 4.8*). *IL6, IL18* and *Ccl2* were upregulated 1.8-, 2.32- and 2.3- fold respectively, whereas *NFkb2* and *Bcl2l1* were downregulated by 1.67- and 1.6- fold, respectively. The majority of genes (79 of 90) were either non-detectable or had a $Ct \ge 33$. Furthermore, mRNA corresponding to *sele* and *selp*, which encode E-selectin and P-selectin respectively, were not detectable following *M*. *mesophilicum* infection. Upregulation of these genes is a hallmark of endothelial cell activation.



Figure 4.8 Transcriptional profile of SVEC murine endothelial cells following M. mesophilicum stimulation

Cells were stimulated with M. mesophilicum at a multiplicity of infection of 200 for four and eight hours. Bars represent experimental duplicates. The fold change for each gene was generated by comparing the means of signal densities of stimulated vs non-stimulated control.

4.2.10 Immune responses of human primary macrophages to *Methylobacterium oryzae in vitro*

In Section 4.3 it was shown that *M. oryzae* was detected in the aortic adventitia of 100% of 16S rRNA gene PCR-positive RA+CVD patients and contributed 35% to total bacterial burden. Initial experiments in murine macrophage cell lines demonstrated that *M. mesophilicum* (closely related to *M. oryzae*) triggered a pro-inflammatory response (*see Section 4.2.7*). In order to increase our understanding of how bacteria may behave during atherosclerosis and to increase clinical applicability we next challenged human primary macrophages with *M. oryzae*.

4.2.10.1 Isolation and purity of human primary macrophages

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were obtained from the blood of 3 healthy donors. Primary cultures of CD14⁺ monocytes were prepared using anti-CD14-conjugated magnetic beads. Prior to culture, flow cytometry analysis was performed to assess the purity of CD14⁺ monocytes. In all cases purity was in the region of 95% (*figure 4.9*). Highly purified adherent CD14⁺ monocytes were then cultured for seven days in the presence of 15ng/ml M-CSF to ensure monocyte differentiation into macrophages.





A

CD3

10⁴

10³

10²

10¹

37.3

Figure 4.9 FACS plots illustrating purity of isolated CD14+ monocytes (A, B) FACS analysis on PBMCs prior to CD14⁺ isolation demonstrates that 37.3% of cells were CD14⁺ monocytes, 27.8% CD3+ T cells and 5.57% CD19+ B cells. (C) FACS analysis of PBMCs following CD14 separation showing that only 0.9% CD14⁺ cells remained. (D) FACS analysis following CD14 separation demonstrating that isolated monocytes were 94.9% pure.

4.2.10.2 Transcriptional analysis of human primary macrophages infected with *Methylobacterium oryzae*

Analysis of the relative expression of 90 genes involved in immune regulation (*Appendix: table 6.1-6.8*) showed that, following *in vitro* infection with *M. oryzae*, 40 genes were differentially expressed in human primary macrophages. Thirty-eight of the differentially expressed genes were upregulated and two genes were down-regulated. In general, following 4 and 8 hours of infection with *M. oryzae*, macrophages displayed an excessive pro-inflammatory response.

To facilitate analysis, the differentially expressed genes were divided into several categories based on biological activity. For completeness, *figures 4.10* to *4.16* list all the genes that were detected in primary macrophages following *M. oryzae* infection ($Ct \leq 33$). However, the 40 genes which demonstrated at least two-fold increase or decrease in expression in infected macrophages relative to uninfected control cells are highlighted (#).

After both four and eight hours of infection, many of the upregulated genes were those that encode pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α) (*figure 4.10*) and chemokines (CCL3, CCL5, CCL19 and IL-8) (*figure 4.12*). Interestingly, the gene encoding the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 was also induced upon stimulation with *M. oryzae* (62-fold increase after eight hour stimulation). Of the cytokines, IL-18 remained unchanged. IL-18 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine principally produced by macrophages following infection with microbial products such as lipopolysaccahride (LPS).

A set of genes up-regulated in response to the infection encoded co-stimulatory molecules involved in the induction of antigen-specific immune responses (CD40 and CD80) and cell adhesion molecules that are critical for immune cells to enter sites of infection (ICAM-1). Elevated mRNA levels were also observed for apoptosis-regulating genes (Bcl2 and Bcl2l1, showing 12- and 7-fold up-regulation, respectively, following eight hour bacterial stimulation); however mRNA levels of the pro-apoptotic gene Bax remained unchanged.

Granzyme B (encoded by *GZMB*) is a serine protease that is highly expressed in cytotoxic T cells and natural killer cells. The principal function of granzymes is to induce the death of virus infected and other transformed cells. Following infection for four and eight hours,

GZMB was greatly increased in infected macrophages (24-fold at four hours and 197- fold at eight hours). Granzyme B is discussed further in the general discussion (*chapter 6*). Among other genes whose expression was greatly increased was the pro-vasoconstriction agent endothelin 1(*EDN1*) and the enzyme *PTGS2*. PTGS2 converts arachidonic acid to prostaglandin endoperoxide H2 and is the target of the NSAIDs used for the treatment of RA.

Of the 90 genes analysed, *CSF2 (GM-CSF)* exhibited the greatest upregulation (23,000 and 11,000 fold upregulation following four and eight hours stimulation respectively). CSF2 is a cytokine that functions as a white blood cell growth factor which leads to rapid increase in macrophage number *in vivo*. Conversely, the gene encoding the transcription factor SMAD3 (modulates signals of activin and is essential for TGF-beta-mediated immune suppression) exhibited the greatest down regulation following infection (9- and 12-fold down regulation following four and eight hours stimulation respectively).



Figure 4.10 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding cytokines in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation









Figure 4.12 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding chemokines in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation











Figure 4.15 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding adhesion molecules and cell surface proteins in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation. Primary human macrophages were stimulated with M. oryzae at a multiplicity of infection of 200 for four and eight hours. Each column represents the mean \pm standard error of three experiments. The fold change of each transcript was generated by comparing the means of signal densities of stimulated vs non-stimulated control. Fold change >2 (#).



Figure 4.16 Transcriptional profile of genes encoding growth factors, immune effectors and pro-survival proteins in primary human macrophages following M. oryzae stimulation.

4.2.10.3 Biological pathway analysis by Ingenuity IPA analysis of human primary macrophages infected with *M. oryzae*

Genes identified as being differentially expressed in primary human macrophages following *M. oryzae* were analysed using IPA pathway analysis software (Ingenuity System Inc, USA). Analysis was used to interpret the eight hour data and conditions were matched to those used in *section 4.8* with the exception that human instead of murine pathways were cross-referenced.

IPA analysis revealed significant biological pathways and canonical pathways associated with the pattern of differential gene expression following *M. oryzae* infection. The transcriptional profile observed in the infected human primary macrophages correlated with expression seen during 'immunological disease' (p=2.93E-32 to 1.55E-15) and 'inflammatory disease' (p=8.90E-27 to 2.21E-15). Similar to our previous study in murine cell lines (*Section 4.8*) we observed that the transcription profile of human infected macrophages was significantly related to cardiotoxicity canonical pathways. Both 'cardiac inflammation' (p=8.76E-11 to 1.51E-02) and 'cardiac necrosis/cell death' (p=2.4E-14 to 4.7E-02) were significantly related to the transcription profile identified following *M. oryzae* infection.

In order to determine whether *M. oryzae* could stimulate TLR signalling, TLR deficient HEK-293 cells were transfected with a nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-*k*B)-sensitive reporter and TLR2 or TLR4 (kindly performed by Dr Clett Erridge, University of Leicester). All TLR signalling pathways culminate in activation of the transcription factor nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-*k*B), which controls the expression of an array of inflammatory cytokine genes. Previous studies have demonstrated that TLR2 and TLR4 are the most abundant TLRs in human atherosclerotic lesions and that transcription was elevated >3-fold compared to healthy arteries (Edfeldt et al., 2002). With this in mind, the following work concentrates on these two receptors. TLR2 mediates host response to bacteria principally by recognition of the lipopeptides (e.g. Lipoteichoic acid), and TLR4 mediates host response to bacteria by recognition of lipopolysaccahride (LPS). *E. coli* is known to stimulate both TLR2 and TLR4 (Lee et al., 2002).

M. oryzae and *E. coli* K12 (starting concentration of 1x10⁸ cells/ml), Pam3CSK4 (10ng/ml) (a TLR2 agonist) and LPS (10ng/ml) were suspended in DMEM and incubated with transfected HEK-293 cells for 18 hours. NF-*k*B signalling was expressed as mean fluorescent intensity of the reporter construct (pELAM) normalised to co-transfected renilla expression to account for fluctuations in plasmid transfection and expression efficiency. Clear TLR2 and TLR4 dependent signalling of Pam3CSK4 and LPS, respectively were detected (*figure 4.17* and *figure 4.18*). As expected, *E. coli* activated signalling via both TLR2 and TLR4. It was also observed that LPS was a mild activator of TLR2-mediated signalling.

TLR4 was entirely insensitive to *M. oryzae (figure 4.18).* Mild TLR2 dependent signalling was observed when TLR2 HEK-293 transfected cells were challenged with the highest concentration of *M. oryzae* ($1x10^7$ cells/ml) (*figure 4.17*). However at decreasing concentrations ($1x10^6$ and $1x10^5$ cells/ml) no significant increase in TLR2 signalling relative to the control was observed. Signalling detected in the negative controls represents homeostatic NF-*k*B signalling. All experiments were carried out in triplicate. These data suggest that *M. oryzae* expresses small amounts of TLR2 ligand but does not possess the TLR4 ligand LPS.



Figure 4.17 M. oryzae and TLR2 signalling.

HEK-293 cells co-transfected with NF-kB sensitive reporter (pELAM) and TLR2 were challenged for 18 hours with M. oryzae (1:10 dilution equivalent to $1x10^7$ cells/ml), E. coli K12 ($1x10^7$ cells/ml), Pam3CSK4 (10ng/ml) and LPS (10ng/ml). The vehicle control was treated with medium only. Arbitrary units (a.u.) represents mean fluorescent intensity of the reporter construct normalised to co-transfected renilla. Data are representative of three experiments \pm S.D. ^{**}p<0.01 vs. control; ^{***}p<0.001 vs. control.



Figure 4.18 M. oryzae and TLR4 signalling.

HEK-293 cells co-transfected with NF-kB sensitive reporter (pELAM) and TLR4 were challenged for 18 hours with M. oryzae (1:10 dilution equivalent to $1x10^7$ cells/ml), E. coli K12 ($1x10^7$ cells/ml), Pam3CSK4 (10ng/ml) and LPS (10ng/ml). The vehicle control was treated with medium only. Arbitrary units (a.u.) represents mean fluorescent intensity of the reporter construct normalised to co-transfected renilla. Data are representative of three experiments \pm S.D. ^{**}p<0.01 vs. control; ^{***}p<0.001 vs. control.

4.2.12 Detection of LPS in *M. oryzae*

In *section 4.11*, it was determined that *M. oryzae* does not stimulate TLR4 signalling. To determine whether *M. oryzae* possesses a TLR4 ligand, total cellular LPS and LOS was isolated from the bacteria using a hot phenol/water extraction protocol. To ensure extraction efficacy, LPS from *E. coli* K12 was extracted in tandem. In order to characterise extracted LPS/LOS, sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) followed by silver staining was performed. Commercially available (Sigma-Aldrich) *Salmonella typhimurium* rough LPS, *Salmonella typhimurium* smooth LPS, Pam3CSK4 and LOS were also visualised for comparison.

LPS profiling discriminated between isolated *E. coli* LPS, *Salmonella* rough LPS, *Salmonella* smooth LPS and LOS (*figure 4.19*). The LPS extracted from *E. coli* exhibited similar band patterns to *Salmonella* smooth LPS. *Salmonella* rough LPS was characterised by having no repeating units. SDS-PAGE confirmed the absence of the TLR4 ligands LPS and LOS in *M. oryzae*.



Figure 4.19 LPS/LOS profile of M. oryzae SDS-PAGE (13%) and silver staining of LPS/LOS following hot phenol extraction from M. oryzae.

E. coli K12 was used as the positive control. Smooth and rough LPS from Salmonella typhimurium and purified LOS were included for visual comparison (5µg per lane).

4.3 Discussion

Bacterial DNA from a diverse range of species was identified in biopsies of aortic adventitial tissue obtained from patients following CABG surgery. The principle finding of this study was that RA patients had a significantly reduced heterogeneity in the bacterial species associated with the diseased aortic adventitia when compared to non-RA patients. Furthermore, *M. oryzae* was detected in all aortic adventitia samples from RA patients that were PCR-positive for the 16S rRNA gene, but in only 25% of samples from non-RA patients. The clinical relevance of *M. oryzae* is further discussed in *chapter 6* (general discussion).

The bacteria identified in this study included an array of environmental and oral species. Many of these species have previously been reported as opportunistic or nosocomial pathogens. For example *Stenotrophomonas* sp., which was detected in both RA and non-RA patients, has recently emerged as an important opportunistic pathogen in debilitated individuals (Looney et al., 2009). Furthermore, it is reported to infect immunocompromised individuals at a high frequency (Rolston et al., 2005). Indeed, sequences of *Stenotrophomonas* sp., have been reported in up to 60% of aneurysm samples (Marques da Silva et al., 2006). *Stenotrophomonas* sp., have also been demonstrated to cause bloodstream infections (Park et al., 2008). Several species of *Stenotrophomonas*, including the most widely studied *S. maltophilia*, express a protease (*StmPr1*) that is capable of breaking down fibrinogen, fibronectin and collagen (Windhorst et al., 2002). This may ultimately result in local tissue damage and as such, may be a potential atherogenic trigger.

Several oral bacteria were detected in the present study, including *Veillonella* sp., *Porphyromonas endodontalis, Streptococcus sanguinis. Streptococcus mitis, Haemophilus* and a *Neisseria* oral clone. *Veillonella* species exist as part of a healthy oral, gastrointestinal and female genital flora. However, in a rare number of cases *Veillonella* species have been implicated as the aetiological agent of infective endocarditis (Greaves and Kaiser, 1984, Loughrey and Chew, 1990, Loewe et al., 1946), a condition that shares many pathophysiological features with atherosclerosis. Similarly, *Streptococcus sanguinis* has been reported to be a causative agent in endocarditis (Douglas et al., 1993). The detection of oral bacteria in the aortic adventitia provides support for the concept of haematogenous spread of oral pathogens to the atherosclerotic site. Oral bacteria can potentially enter the bloodstream during tooth brushing, chewing, oral infection and invasive dental procedures (Chung et al., 1986).

Surprisingly, despite a variety of oral pathogens having been identified in the aortic adventitia, not a single periodontal pathogens was detected in these samples. Periodontal disease has been proposed as a significant risk factor in CVD (Destefano et al., 1993, Mattila et al., 1989). In contrast to data presented in this study, Haraszthy *et al*, reported that 22 of 50 endarterectomy samples tested positive for the presence of periodontal pathogens (Haraszthy et al., 2000).

Chlamydia pneumoniae has been the subject of the majority of research investigating bacterial infection and atherosclerosis. Strong associations between *C. pneumoniae* and atherosclerosis have been demonstrated by: (i) detection of *C. pneumoniae* within atherosclerotic lesions, but not adjacent normal tissue by PCR, IHC and electron microscopy (Shor et al., 1992, Kuo et al., 1993); (ii) sero-epidemiological studies demonstrating that patients with CVD have higher titres of anti-*C. pneumoniae* antibodies compared to healthy patients; (iii) showing that *C. pneumoniae* can cause exacerbation of atherosclerotic lesions in murine models (Hu et al., 1999, Campbell et al., 2000). Nonetheless, the association between *C. pneumoniae* and CVD has been inconsistent from study to study, in a manner that has been ascribed to varying diagnostic methodology (Boman and Hammerschlag, 2002). However, as no *C. pneumoniae* plays a major role in adventitial derived pathology.

The differences in bacterial species identified in this study compared with other studies could have several explanations. These include differences in geographical location of patients sampled, diagnostic methodology used and anatomical site sampled.

Clinical samples used for the present study were all taken from an age- and sex-matched Norwegian cohort. Owing to socioeconomic status, diet, environment and lifestyle the microbial profiles are likely to vary from one geographic location to another. Research to determine the geographical variation in aortic microbiota remains to be performed. However, Haffajee *et al*, determined that the microbial profile of subgingival plaque samples from chronic periodontitis subjects varied significantly across four analysed countries and these differences persisted despite adjustment for age, gender and smoking status (Haffajee et al., 2004).

PCR-based sequence analysis of the 16S rRNA gene was used to identify bacterial DNA in the aortic adventitia. 16S rRNA gene analysis is a powerful and essential tool for studying bacterial diversity and has enabled detection of unculturable bacteria. However, the PCR procedure intrinsically leads to bias and error. This is attributable to complex factors such as preferential annealing between primers and templates, self-annealing between primers and templates, self-annealing between primers sequences (Suzuki and Giovannoni, 1996, Qiu et al., 2001, Hongoh et al., 2003). In the present study, a low annealing temperature of 55°C was used so as to suppress amplification bias caused by primer mismatches, and the number of PCR cycles was limited to 30 in an effort to minimise primer mismatch but still retain detection sensitivity. Despite the widespread use of 16S rRNA gene PCR in clinical research, there remains no conformity with regard to either primer design or PCR conditions. These anomalies are likely to contribute to the variations observed in data generated from different research groups.

Another major concern when using 16S rRNA gene sequencing analysis to identify bacteria in clinical specimens is the lysis efficiency of different bacteria in a complex environment. Ideally, lysis of bacterial cells should be equally efficient for all bacterial species and independent of growth phase and the concentration of cells in the sample (Zoetendal et al., 2001). The present study employed a powerful DNA isolation mechanism involving proteinase K digestion prior to homogenisation in Trizol® reagent. This technique differs from other published work studying 16S rRNA gene presence in human tissue and may lead to differences in the bacterial species detected. For example, Marques da Silva *et al*, (2006) homogenised tissue samples in a sterile mortar with liquid nitrogen whereas Haraszthy *et al* (2000) purified DNA directly from tissue samples.

Importantly, the present study is unique as it was carried out in aortic adventitia tissue that was removed for the establishment of aortocoronary anastomoses during CABG surgery. This tissue is located downstream of the site of atherosclerotic lesion. Considerable attention has been given to the atherosclerotic lesion itself, as well as endothelial cells on

the luminal surface of arteries and the media with regards infection and vascular lesion formation. However, virtually no attention has been paid to the potential role of the adventitia in this process. This lack of research attention may be due to the previous perception that the adventitia is nothing more than 'loose connective tissue' that enclosed blood vessels and is devoid of function other than to act as support for large vessels (Wilcox and Scott, 1996). Contrary to this, in chapter 3 of this thesis it was determined that the adventitia is a site of considerable immunological activity, possessing inflammatory infiltrate and detectable levels of TNF α , heat shock protein and calprotectin. Furthermore, the adventitial layer of vessels have been suggested to exhibit properties resembling a stem/progenitor cell niche. Indeed, progenitor cells have been isolated from the adventitia of both human and murine blood vessels with the potential to form endothelial, osteogenic and mural cells (Majesky et al., 2012). Progenitor cells from the adventitia have been suggested to migrate into the intima where they proliferate and differentiate into neo-smooth muscle cells which play a functional role in the formation of the atherosclerotic lesion (Xu, 2005).

Adventitia-derived inflammatory cells, cytokines, progenitor cells and microvasculature likely contribute significantly to many different vascular disease states (Maiellaro and Taylor, 2007). The involvement of the adventitia in vascular pathology suggests that concomitant to the traditional 'inside-out' view of atherogenesis that there is an 'outsidein' component. The establishment of bacterial presence in this under-studied niche suggests that bacterial infection may trigger an 'outside-in' inflammatory response. However, future research is required to verify this hypothesis.

The detection of bacterial DNA in the aortic adventitia supports the hypothesis that bacterial infection may contribute to the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis, but to what extent remains uncertain. It has been postulated that the atherosclerotic tissue may act as a 'mechanical sieve' trapping bacteria present in blood circulation and that detected bacteria, although present, may have no pathological significance (Lehtiniemi et al., 2005). Furthermore, it is possible that bacterial colonisation is secondary to atheromatous lesion formation and may potentiate acceleration of the disease process. Extending our understanding of the principal factors that lead to accelerated atherogenesis in RA patients is necessary in order for specific therapeutic intervention and prevention to be implemented. The findings of our study implicate a diverse range of bacterial species within the atherosclerotic lesion, supporting the hypothesis that a wide range of bacterial species rather than a single aetiological agent may contribute to atherosclerotic burden. In keeping with this, Ott *et al.* (Ott et al., 2006) reported a mean bacterial diversity of 12.33 different species in 38 CHD patients studied. Furthermore, the current study has demonstrated that the bacterial population in the aortic adventitia of CABG patients is significantly less diverse in patients with RA (see *general discussion*). These data may help in the on-going debate to explain why the incidence of CVD is significantly elevated in RA patients.

5 Systemic immune profile in cardiovascular disease with co-existing rheumatoid arthritis and implications in foam cell formation

5.1 Introduction

The reasons for the increased CVD morbidity and mortality observed in RA are likely to be multifactorial, with the majority of data supporting a predominant role for systemic inflammation in driving premature atherogenesis.

Evidence suggests that atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease sharing a similar pathophysiology to synovial inflammation and pannus formation in RA (Snow and Mikuls, 2005). Furthermore, these diseases share several pathogenic features including the predominant role of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNFα and IL-6), angiogenesis, increased expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules and the elevation of serum acute phase proteins (e.g. CRP and fibrinogen).

Population-based studies support an association of cardiovascular events with inflammation. In a study involving over 100 male participants, base-line plasma CRP was identified as an independent predictor for future myocardial infarction (Ridker, 1997, Ridker et al., 2002). The men in the quartile with the highest CRP had three times the risk of myocardial infarction compared to men in the lowest quartile. In a joint statement the Centre for Disease Control (CDC) and the American Heart Association (AHA) categorised individuals with serum levels of CRP >3mg/L as high risk for future CVD events (Graf et al., 2009). Serum CRP levels in RA patients are frequently above the 3mg/L cut-off associated with high risk of CVD in the general population. For example, cross-sectional examination of 767 RA patients revealed a median CRP serum level of 11mg/L (Aletaha et al., 2005).

Endothelial dysfunction as a result of reduced vasodilator function is among the earliest features of atherosclerosis (Gotto, 2004). Systemic inflammation observed in RA may act as a potent mediator of endothelial dysfunction. For example, *in vivo* human studies demonstrate that pro-inflammatory cytokines induce transient and reversible endothelial dysfunction (Bhagat and Vallance, 1997), an effect that may be mediated by increased oxidative stress and reduced vascular nitric oxide bioavailability (Clapp et al., 2004).

The notion that systemic inflammation present in RA alters vasodilation was reinforced in a study involving 32 RA patients under the age of 60. Young to middle aged RA patients with low disease activity without clinically overt atherosclerosis or traditional CVD risk patterns were found to have significant reductions in brachial flow-mediated vasodilation and these reductions positively correlated with serum CRP levels (Vaudo et al., 2004). If the hypothesis that inflammation as a result of RA contributes to the development of CVD events is correct, then it is probable that the use of anti-inflammatory therapeutics in RA may decrease CVD morbidity. Consistent with this, Jacobsson *et al.*, examined 983 RA patients, 531 of which were receiving treatment with the anti-TNF agents etanercept or infliximab and observed that subsequent CVD events were considerably lower in the anti-TNF-treated patients (Jacobsson et al., 2005). Halm *et al.*, investigated the association between CVD and the use of conventional disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) in 613 RA patients. After correction for other CVD risk factors DMARD use was associated with a significant CVD risk reduction. The risk reductions remained significant after additional correction for the presence of rheumatoid factor and erosions (van Halm et al., 2006). These studies highlight the protective role of anti-inflammatory therapeutics for the risk of CVD morbidity in RA patients

Macrophages play a central role in atherosclerosis as modulators of both the immune response and lipid metabolism. A critical event in atherogenesis is the focal accumulation of foam cells derived from macrophages (Shashkin et al., 2005). Foam cell formation is thought to be induced by Low Density Lipoproteins (LDL), including acetylated LDL (acLDL) and oxidised LDL (oxLDL). Although far less well established, it has also been suggested that the microvasculature has a pathogenic role in RA (Rothschild and Masi, 1982) and immunohistochemical analysis has identified foam-like cells within the region of synovial blood vessels (Winyard et al., 1993).

Scavenger receptors are known to be involved in the transformation of macrophages into lipid-laden foam cells (de Villiers and Smart, 1999). The term "scavenger receptor" initially described the macrophage cell surface proteins that mediate the uptake of modified LDL in cell culture (Goldstein et al., 1979). Eight classes of macrophage scavenger receptors exist (Classes A to H). Among the growing number of scavenger receptor members, SR-A1, SR-B1, MARCO and CD36 which recognise both oxLDL and acLDL are thought to be the principal receptors responsible for the uptake of modified LDL and the subsequent formation of foam cells (Kunjathoor et al., 2002, McLaren et al., 2010).

The uptake of oxLDL and acLDL, the primary modified LDL particles found in atherosclerotic plaque, is increased in THP-1 macrophages following stimulation with IFN- γ (Wuttge et al., 2004, Reiss et al., 2004). Furthermore, IFN- γ was found to increase SR-A expression in early differentiated THP-1 macrophages (Grewal et al., 2001).

Macrophages are inherently reactive and respond to a broad range of cytokines including IL-4, IL-13 and TNF α (Stein et al., 1992, Doherty et al., 1993, Khera et al., 2011).

It thus seems probable that pro-inflammatory factors that are over expressed in the serum of patients with RA+CVD may prime macrophages to enhance the uptake of modified lipoprotein resulting in increased foam cell formation.

To increase understanding of the link between RA and CVD we collected human serum samples from healthy controls as well as patients with RA, CVD and RA+CVD. The principal aims of this study were:

- 1. To determine which pro-inflammatory markers and immune mediators are over-expressed in patients with RA+CVD relative to healthy controls and patients with RA or CVD only.
- To uncover whether inflammatory markers over-expressed in RA+CVD may have implications in modified LDL uptake and subsequent foam cell formation.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Patients characteristics

Human serum samples were from the Feiring Heart Biopsy Study. Patient characteristics are shown in *Table 5.1*. A total of 77 patients were included in the following human studies, and comprised patients with CVD (n=19), RA (n=21), RA+CVD (n=16) and healthy controls (n=21). Attempts were made to minimise inter-cohort variability of both the demographic data and pre-existing cardiovascular risk factors. However, owing to the inherent differences in the diseases under investigation, and the limited samples available, this was not always possible.

There was no significant difference in the gender composition of each cohort, however the mean age of the healthy group was significantly lower than both the CVD and RA+CVD patients. As expected, the incidence of hypertension and hyperlipidaemia was significantly elevated in the CVD and RA+CVD cohorts. There was a significant increase in the number of current smokers in the RA cohort relative to both the RA+CVD and CVD cohorts. Data regarding both current and previous smoking was unavailable for the healthy controls.

The use of current cardiovascular medication (ACE inhibitors, acetylsalicyclic acid and statins) was similar in both the CVD and RA+CVD cohorts. Most of the patients with RA exhibited low to moderate disease activity. The use of DMARDs was similar in both the RA and RA+CVD cohorts; however the use of traditional non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) was greater in the RA cohort relative to the RA+CVD cohort. This anomaly is accounted for by the significantly increased use of COX-2 selective inhibitors, which are a form of NSAID, in the RA+CVD cohort relative to the CVD cohort.

	CVD (n=19)	RA (n=21)	RA+CVD (n=16)	Healthy (n=21)	P †
	· ` ´	<u> </u>	· · · ·	<u> </u>	•
Age-years	68±9	62±8	69±9	60±9	<0.05‡
B.M.I.	25±4	25±5	26±6	NA	0.65
Female-no. (%)	5 (26)	14 (66)	6 (38)	10 (48)	0.07
Duration of CVD - months	88 ± 80	-	97±110	-	0.9
Time from angiography to CABG –	32±61	-	20±32	-	0.49
days					
Duration of RA - months	-	126±114	221±184	-	0.14
Number of swollen joints	-	9±10	4±6	-	0.12
C- reactive protein - mg/l	3±3	7±9	11±10	1±0.4	<0.0001§
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate -	15±9	19±17	34±28	4±3	<0.0001\$
mm/hour					
Hypertension - no. (%)	8 (42)	6 (29)	10 (62)	0 (0)	<0.001¥
Hyperlipidemia - no. (%)	19	2 (10)	13 (81)	0 (0)	<0.0001Җ
History of mysecondial information no	(100) 8 (42)	0(0)	11 (69)	0(0)	<0.0001
(%)	0 (42)	0(0)	11 (0))	0(0)	-0.000171
_(/0) Diabates - no (%)	1 (5)	0 (0)	1 (6)	1 (5)	0 74
$\frac{1}{10} \frac{1}{10} \frac$	$\frac{1}{2}(11)$	0 (0)	4 (25)	0(0)	<0.05₽
Acute coronary synchome - no (70) Provious smoker - no $(9/2)$	11 (58)	0 (0)	6 (37)	NA	<0.001 a
1 Tevious smoker - no (70)	11 (50)	0 (0)	0(37)		0.0010
Current smoker - no (%)	1 (5)	11 (52)	2 (12)	NA	<0.05X
Current use of:					
Disease modifying drugs - no. (%)	0 (0)	18 (86)	14 (88)	0 (0)	<0.0001A
Ace inhibitors - no. (%)	6 (32)	1 (5)	4 (25)	0 (0)	<0.05Ψ
Traditional NSAIDs - no. (%)	0 (0)	7 (33)	2 (12)	0 (0)	<0.0001Ł
Cox2-selective inhibitors - no. (%)	0 (0)	0 (0)	4 (25)	0 (0)	<0.05#
Traditional statins - no. (%)	18 (95)	2 (10)	13 (81)	0 (0)	<0.0001¢
Acetylsalicylic acid - no. (%)	16 (84)	1 (5)	14 (87)	0 (0)	< 0.0001 2
Patient global assessment of RA (VAS,	-	4±2	3±2	-	0.053
0-100mm)					

Table 5.1Patient characteristics

Unless indicated otherwise, values represent mean \pm SD. Numbers may not add up to the expected total due to missing data for some variables. ACE: angiotensin-converting enzyme. NSAIDs: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. VAS: visual analogue scale. NA: Not available

P values for continuous dependent variables are from Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test. Where only two cohorts have available data, analysis is by Mann-Whitney U test
- \ddagger P<0.05 for comparisons between healthy and CVD or RA+CVD
- § P<0.05 for comparisons between healthy and CVD. P<0.01 for comparisons between healthy and RA. P<0.001 for comparisons between healthy and RA+CVD.
- ϕ *P*<0.01 for comparisons between healthy and CVD, RA or RA+CVD
- Ψ P<0.05 for comparisons between healthy and CVD or RA+CVD
- Ж *P*<0.001 for comparisons between: healthy and CVD or RA+CVD; CVD and RA; RA and RA+CVD
- A P < 0.05 for comparisons between CVD and healthy or RA. P < 0.001 for comparisons between RA+CVD and healthy or RA
- P P < 0.05 for comparisons between RA+CVD and healthy or RA
- α *P*<0.05 for comparisons between RA and RA+CVD. *P*<0.001 for comparisons between CVD and RA
- Σ P<0.05 for comparisons between RA and CVD or RA+CVD
- A *P*<0.001 for comparisons between: healthy and RA or RA+CVD; CVD and RA or *RA+CVD*
- Ψ P<0.05 for comparisons between healthy and CVD
- P<0.05 for comparisons between RA and RA+CVD. P<0.001 for comparisons between RA and healthy or CVD
- # P<0.01 for comparisons between RA+CVD and healthy, RA, or CVD
- 𝔅, ₹ *P*<0.001 for comparisons between: CVD and healthy or RA; RA+CVD and healthy or RA

5.2.2 Immune expression in serum of CVD, RA and RA+CVD patients

In order to gain a better understanding of systemic inflammatory-derived events occurring within RA and CVD, a broad range of cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and receptors were analysed in RA (n=21), CVD (n=19) and RA+CVD patients (n=16) as well as healthy controls (n=21) (*see section 5.2.1*). Protein concentrations within human serum samples were measured by LUMINEX and ELISA (sST2 only). Details of the proteins analysed are outlined in *table 5.2 and table 5.3*.

The research outlined in the following sections concentrates on uncovering potential biological mediators that may contribute to the increased CVD burden observed in RA patients. Particular attention was paid to biomarkers that were significantly elevated in RA+CVD or RA patients relative to CVD patients or healthy controls. Elevation of biomarkers in these patients could potentially lead to loss of vascular homeostasis and potentiate the onset of atherosclerosis.

Protein	Name	Class	Functions
IL-1β	Interleukin 1 β	Cytokine	Initiates cytokine cascade and vascular adhesion expression
IL-2	Interleukin 2	Cytokine	Stimulates proliferation of T and B cells
IL-4	Interleukin 4	Cytokine	Induces differentiation of naive helper T cells to Th2 cells
IL-5	Interleukin 5	Cytokine	Stimulates B cell growth and mediates eosinophil activation
IL-6	Interleukin 6	Cytokine	Pro-inflammatory pleiotropic cytokine
IL-10	Interleukin 10	Cytokine	Anti-inflammatory/resolving
IL-12	Interleukin 12	Cytokine	Differentiation of Th1 and Th2 cells and stimulates IFNy production by PBMCs
IL-13	Interleukin 13	Cytokine	Inhibits inflammatory cytokine production
IL-15	Interleukin 15	Cytokine	Stimulates proliferation of T-lymphocytes
IL-17	Interleukin 17	Cytokine	Induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines
TNFα	Tumour necrosis factor	Cytokine	Regulation of a wide spectrum of biological processes including cell proliferation,
	alpha		differentiation, lipid metabolism and apoptosis
IFNα	Interferon α	Cytokine	Produced by macrophages and have antiviral activities
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage	Cytokine	Stimulates growth and differentiation of hematopoietic precursor cells from various
	colony stimulating factor		lineages, including macrophages, eosinophils, granulocytes and erythrocytes
MIG	Gamma interferon	Cytokine	Chemotactic for activated T cells
	induced monokine		
Eotaxin	Eotaxin	Cytokine	Recruits eosinophils
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony	Cytokine	Controls the production, differentiation and function of granulocytes
	stimulating factor		
IL-1 RA	Interleukin 1 receptor	Cytokine	Natural inhibitor of the pro-inflammatory effect of IL-1 α and IL-1 β
	antagonist		

Table 5.2List of cytokines examined in the serum of healthy, RA, CVD and RA+CVD patients

Protein	Name	Class	Functions
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor	Growth factor	Regulates cell growth, morphogenesis and tissue repair
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor	Growth factor	Acts as a growth factor for a broad spectrum of tissues and cell types
IL-7	Interleukin 7	Growth factor	Stimulates proliferation of lymphoid progenitors and regulates B cell maturation
VEGF	Vascular endothelial	Growth factor	Induces endothelial proliferation and migration. Inhibits apoptosis and induces
	growth factor		permeabilisation of blood vessels
EGF	Epidermal growth factor	Growth factor	Stimulates growth of various epidermal and epithelial tissue
IL-2R	Interleukin 2 receptor	Receptor	High affinity receptor for IL-2
sST2	Soluble suppression of	Receptor	May be involved in the function of T helper cells. Receptor for II-33 which induces
	tumorugenicity 2		T cells, mast cells and basophils to produce type 2 cytokines
IL-8	Interleukin 8	Chemokine	Poly morphonuclear neutrophil chemoattractant
MIP1a	Macrophage	Chemokine	Involved in the acute inflammatory state for the recruitment and activation of
	inflammatory protein 1α		polymorphonuclear leukocytes
MIP1β	Macrophage	Chemokine	Attracts CD4 ⁺ T lymphocytes
	inflammatory protein 1β		
IP-10	IP-10	Chemokine	Chemotactic effect on activated T, NK and TH-1 cells
RANTES	Rantes	Chemokine	Promotion of inflammatory infiltrate and T-cell chemotaxis
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic	Chemokine	Chemotactic factor that attracts monocytes and basophils but not neutrophils or
	protein 1		eosinophils

Table 5.3List of growth factors, receptors and chemokines examined in the serum of healthy, RA, CVD and RA+CVD patients

5.2.2.1 Cytokine profile in CVD, RA, RA+CVD subjects

The serum level of 17 different cytokines (*table 5.2*) was investigated in CVD (n=19), RA (n=21) and RA+CVD (n=16) patients and healthy controls (n=21) by Luminex assay. Mean cytokine levels in pg/ml in whole serum shown in *figure 5.1-5.2*.

The expression of all cytokines, with the exception of G-CSF was significantly elevated in the RA+CVD cohort relative to the healthy controls (*Figure 5.1 & Figure 5.2*). When considering RA patients relative to healthy controls, 12 of the 17 cytokines examined were elevated, four remained unchanged (IL-5, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17), and G-CSF was significantly reduced.

Somewhat surprisingly, IL-17 was found to be significantly elevated in the RA+CVD cohort relative to the RA cohort. The T cell cytokine IL-17 is known to promote inflammation in RA through induction of monocyte migration (Shahrara et al., 2009). Il-17 was not significantly increased in CVD patients relative to healthy controls. Additionally, there was a non-significant trend towards elevated IL-1β, IL-2, IL-5 and IL-13 expression in the RA+CVD cohort relative to the RA cohort.

Although CVD is an inflammatory condition, there was an overwhelming trend for reduced cytokine expression in CVD patients compared to RA patients. IL-1 β , IL-2 and IL-6 were significantly lower in CVD patients compared to RA patients, and there was a non-significant trend towards reduced expression in all but one (G-CSF) of the remaining cytokines under investigation. Furthermore, IL-12 was the only cytokine under investigation to show significant elevation in the serum of CVD patients relative to healthy controls.

The pattern of G-CSF expression was distinct from all other cytokines analysed in this study. Healthy controls and RA+CVD patients had high levels of serum G-CSF (875±363 and 1832±837, respectively) where as both CVD and RA patients expressed ~10-fold less (105±5 and 66±8, respectively).

















Figure 5.1 Interleukin concentrations in the serum of patients with CVD, RA, RA+CVD and healthy controls

Serum was isolated from CVD (n=19), RA (n=21), RA+CVD (n=16) and healthy control samples (HS) (n=21). Mean cytokine concentration is expressed as pg/ml and error bars represent ±S.E.M. Statistical analysis was performed by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001 vs healthy control; #P<0.05, ##P<0.01, ###P<0.001 vs CVD; \Rightarrow P<0.05, \Rightarrow P<0.01, \Rightarrow \Rightarrow P<0.001 vs RA



Figure 5.2 Cytokine (non-interleukin) concentrations in the serum of patients with CVD, RA, RA+CVD and healthy controls

Serum was isolated from CVD (n=19), RA (n=21), RA+CVD (n=16) and healthy control samples (HS) (n=21). Mean cytokine concentration is expressed as pg/ml and error bars represent ±S.E.M. Statistical analysis was performed by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001 vs healthy control; #P<0.05, ##P<0.01, ###P<0.001 vs CVD; \Rightarrow P<0.05, \Rightarrow P<0.01, \Rightarrow \Rightarrow P<0.001 vs RA

5.2.2.2 Chemokine and growth factor profile in CVD, RA, RA+CVD subjects

Serum concentrations of six different chemokines (IL-8, MIP-1α, MIP-1β, IP-10, RANTES, MCP-1) and five growth factors (FGF, HGF, IL-7, VEGF, EGF) were analysed in patients with CVD, RA, RA+CVD and healthy subjects.

The RA+CVD cohort had significantly higher serum levels of IL-8 than the RA (p<0.01), CVD (p<0.01) and healthy cohorts (p<0.001) (*figure 5.3*). There was also a significant increase in serum IL-8 levels in RA patients relative to healthy controls. The difference in serum IL-8 levels between the CVD and healthy control cohorts was not statistically significant. These results present the possibility that IL-8 could be used as a biomarker for CVD in RA.

The chemokine RANTES (also known as CCL5) is chemotactic for T cells, eosinophils, and basophiles, and plays an active role in recruiting leukocytes into inflammatory sites. A significant elevation in serum RANTES was observed in RA+CVD patients compared to RA patients. However, a significant increase was also observed in CVD patients compared to RA patients. There was also a significant elevation in serum RANTES in CVD patients relative to healthy controls. Taken together these data suggest that RANTES may be an effective CVD risk biomarker.

Macrophage inflammatory proteins MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β shared similar expression patterns. These chemokines are produced by activated macrophages resulting in the synthesis and release of various pro-inflammatory cytokines as well as activating granulocytes. Serum levels of the chemokines MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β were significantly elevated in RA+CVD patients compared to CVD patients and healthy controls, however there was no significant difference observed between the RA+CVD and RA cohorts. MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β serum levels were also significantly elevated in the RA cohort relative to healthy subjects. There was an apparent increase in the RA patients compared to the CVD patients, although this did not reach statistical significance.

When considering growth factors, it was observed that the serum concentrations of FGF, HGF, IL-7 and EGF were significantly elevated in RA+CVD patients relative to CVD patients and healthy subjects (*figure 5.4*). None of the growth factors analysed were significantly elevated in RA+CVD patients relative to RA patients.

Levels of VEGF (mean \pm S.E.M.), an endothelial cell specific growth factor, were 4 \pm 4 and 3 \pm 3 pg/ml in RA patients and RA+CVD patients respectively, and were below the limits of



Figure 5.3 Chemokine concentrations in the serum of patients with CVD, RA, RA+CVD and healthy controls

Serum was isolated from CVD (n=19), RA (n=21), RA+CVD (n=16) and healthy control samples (HS) (n=21). Mean cytokine concentration is expressed as pg/ml and error bars represent ±S.E.M. Statistical analysis was performed by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001 vs healthy control; #P<0.05, ##P<0.01, ###P<0.001 vs CVD; \Rightarrow P<0.05, \Rightarrow P<0.01, \Rightarrow \Rightarrow P<0.001 vs RA



Figure 5.4 Growth factor concentrations in the serum of patients with CVD, RA, RA+CVD and healthy controls

Serum was isolated from CVD (n=19), RA (n=21), RA+CVD (n=16) and healthy control samples (HS) (n=21). Mean cytokine concentration is expressed as pg/ml and error bars represent ±S.E.M. Statistical analysis was performed by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001 vs healthy control; #P<0.05, ##P<0.01, ###P<0.001 vs CVD; \ni P<0.05, \ni P<0.01, \ni \ni P<0.001 vs RA

5.2.2.3 sST2 and IL-2R expression in the serum of CVD, RA and RA+CVD subjects

Previously unpublished work from our lab identified IL-33 expression in the aortic adventitia of patients with both CVD and RA (Ahmad, 2010). The receptor for IL-33 is ST2 and the membrane-bound form is constitutively expressed on fibroblasts, mast cells and Th2 cells. A secreted isotype (sST2) is a soluble inhibitory receptor also known as IL1R1A and can be detected in human serum. Binding of IL-33 to the membrane bound ST2 receptor in response to a cardiac event is believed to elicit a cardioprotective function. However, recent studies have shown that sST2 is a decoy receptor that disrupts the interaction of IL-33 with membrane bound ST2. Elevated sST2 levels have been detected in patients early after acute myocardial infarction (Weinberg et al., 2002).

In order to explore the hypothesis that sST2 may play a functional role in the increased CVD burden observed in RA, the serum concentration of sST2 was measured by ELISA in patients with CVD, RA, RA+CVD as well as healthy controls. sST2 was detected in the serum of all four subject cohorts, however there was no significant difference between any of these cohorts (p>0.05, Kruskal-Wallis followed by Dunn's multiple comparison) (*figure 5.5*).

Interlekin-2 (IL-2) has a central role in the initiation and development of immune responses through binding to the IL-2 receptor (IL-2R) and serum soluble IL-2R (sIL-2R). The exact biological role of sIL-2R is still not fully understood. It is however known that increased sIL-2R is associated with a broad spectrum of immunological conditions involving B- or T- cell activation and that soluble IL-2R is able to bind IL-2 (Caruso et al., 1993, Boyman and Sprent, 2012). In *section 5.2.2.1* it was determined that IL-2 was significantly elevated in patients with RA relative to CVD patients and healthy controls. In keeping with these previous data, soluble IL-2R was significantly elevated in RA patients relative to healthy controls, and in RA+CVD patients relative to CVD patients (*figure 5.5*). Unlike IL-2, there was no significant difference in soluble IL-2R expression when considering the RA and CVD cohorts. This can be explained by the large variability in the RA cohort.



Figure 5.5 sST2 and IL-2R concentrations in the serum of patients with CVD, RA, RA+CVD and healthy controls

Serum was isolated from CVD (n=19), RA (n=21), RA+CVD (n=16) and healthy control samples (HS) (n=21). Mean concentration is expressed as pg/ml and error bars represent ±S.E.M. Statistical analysis was performed by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001 vs healthy control; #P<0.05, ##P<0.01, ###P<0.001 vs CVD; \ni P<0.05, \ni P<0.01, \ni \ni P<0.001 vs RA. The lower detection limit for each mediator measured was 2pg/ml⁻¹, any values lower than this were considered as 0 for this study.

5.2.3 Macrophages in the aorta of CVD patients with coexisting RA

Essential to the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis is macrophage accumulation of intracellular lipid, resulting in foam cell formation. Monocytes respond to a broad range of cytokines, chemokines and growth factors that are expressed both systemically and locally by smooth muscle cells, vascular endothelial cells and infiltrated cells. Stimulated monocytes migrate from the peripheral blood into the arterial intima and differentiate into macrophages in the atherosclerotic lesion. Macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) is crucial for the differentiation of monocytes into macrophages and for survival of these cells in the atherosclerotic lesion (Takahashi et al., 2002). Macrophages are known to express a variety of surface receptors, predominantly scavenger receptors, which recognise and support endocytosis of modified lipoproteins, including oxidised low-density lipoprotein (oxLDL).

In the previous sections of this chapter (*section* 5.2.2 – *section* 5.2.2.3) it was established that a variety of cytokines and chemokines are over-expressed in the serum of RA patients. The following data explores the hypothesis that these signals may stimulate macrophages, leading to increased uptake of modified LDL and, consequently, increased foam cell formation.

Firstly, verification that macrophages were present in the aorta of RA+CVD patients was sought. As human atherosclerotic tissue was unavailable, aortic adventia sections from areas with no macroscopic signs of atherosclerosis were stained for CD68, a well established macrophage marker (IHC kindly performed by Ammad Ahmed). CD68⁺ macrophages were detected in 17 of the 19 patients examined and staining was localised to areas of inflammatory cell infiltrate (*figure 5.6*).



Figure 5.6 Macrophage staining in the aortic adventitia of CVD patients

Aortic adventitial staining for the macrophage marker CD68 can be seen (brown colour) in a lymphocyte aggregate (A). The isotype control showed no background staining (B). Sections were counterstained with haematoxylin and images were captured by light microscopy at 40x magnification.

5.2.4 Low density lipoprotein isolation and oxidative modification

In order to investigate the effect of cytokines and chemokines on oxLDL uptake by macrophages, native LDL was generated from healthy human serum using methods previously developed by Prof. Muriel Caslake (University of Glasgow). This involved the isolation of LDL by sequential flotation ultracentrifugation in a fixed angle rotor.

Following isolation of native LDL it was necessary to quantify the concentration of LDL. This was performed using the modified Lowry protein assay. Briefly, a standard curve was generated using bovine serum albumin (BSA) and the concentration of LDL was then determined by extrapolation from the standard curve. Native LDL was then oxidised by addition of 10µM copper sulphate. Following sufficient reaction lipoproteins were dialysed and stored in PBS containing 0.25mM EDTA. Oxidation was verified by agarose electrophoretic mobility shift assay (*figure 5.7*).





Native LDL and oxLDL prepared from the same donor were stained with Nile red in duplicate. The LDL preparations were compared by electrophoresis using 1% agarose gel in sodium barbital buffer. Lanes 1 & 2 are native LDL, lanes 3 & 4 are oxLDL.

5.2.5 Kinetics of oxLDL uptake and foam cell formation

Prior to experimentation with oxLDL, it was first necessary to determine the kinetics of foam cell formation in M-CSF derived human primary macrophages. CD14⁺ monocytes were isolated from human buffy coats and the resulting purity was verified by FACS (>97% purity) as previously outlined (section 4.10.1). Monocytes were cultured for 7 days in the presence of 15ng/ml M-CSF to ensure complete differentiation into macrophages. Macrophages were then challenged with different concentrations of oxLDL (2, 20, 80, 200 and 300µg/ml) for 24 hours (n=3). Internalised oxLDL was visualised using Oil-red-O stain and the number of foam cells counted. The percentage of macrophages exhibiting foam cell morphology increased with increasing oxLDL concentration (*figure 5.8*). Maximal foam cell formation was observed following incubation with 200µg/ml oxLDL. Having established that 200µg/ml oxLDL supported maximal foam cell formation, it was then necessary to quantify the kinetics of foam cell formation. Macrophages were challenged with 200µg/ml oxLDL for 1, 2, 3, 4, 8, 12 and 24 hours. Following one hour incubation, approximately 75% of macrophages exhibited foam cell morphology with saturation being reached after three hours (figure 5.8). Although approximately 100% of macrophages were converting to foam cells following three hours incubation with 200µg/ml oxLDL, the intensity of Oil-red-O staining increased for the 24-hour duration of the experiment (figure 5.8), indicating that lipid accumulation continued.



Figure 5.8 Kinetics of oxLDL uptake by human macrophages

(A) Concentration-dependent curve of foam cell formation induced by oxLDL (n=3). Human primary macrophages were incubated with different concentrations (2, 20, 80, 200 and 300µg/ml) of oxLDL for 24 hours. Following Oil-Red-O staining, the percentage of macrophages exhibiting foam cell like morphology was calculated. (B) Time-dependent curve of foam cell formation induced by oxLDL (n=2). Human primary macrophages were incubated with 200µ/ml oxLDL for different lengths of time (1, 2, 3, 4, 8, 12 and 24 hours) and the percentage of macrophages exhibiting foam cell morphology determined. (C) Representative images of the formation of foam cells over time (original magnification 100x).

5.2.6 OxLDL loading in cytokine-treated human monocyte-derived macrophages

Primary human macrophages were maintained in the presence of 15ng/ml M-CSF for seven days. Cells were then stimulated overnight with GM-CSF (125ng/ml), IL-6 (50ng/ml), IL-1 β (5ng/ml), TNF α (50ng/ml), IL-15 (50ng/ml) or IL-17 (125ng/ml), all of which have been implicated in RA and CVD pathogenesis. Control cells were stimulated with M-CSF (15ng/ml) only. We previously demonstrated that these RA-associated cytokines were all significantly elevated in RA patients relative to healthy controls (*section 5.2.2.1*). Following overnight stimulation, cells were challenged with 200µg/ml oxLDL for 1 hour. Subsequent Oil-red-O staining allowed the percentage of macrophages exhibiting foam cell morphology to be accurately determined.

In keeping with previous kinetics experiments (*section 5.2.5*) approximately 70% of unstimulated control macrophages formed foam cells. In contrast, only ~15% of macrophages stimulated with the growth factor GM-CSF formed foam cells. GM-CSF significantly reduced the foam cell formation to 25% of control cells. IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF α , IL-15 and IL-17 had no significant effect on foam cell formation (*figure 5.9*).





Figure 5.9 OxLDL loading in cytokine-treated human monocyte-derived macrophages (A) Human monocyte derived macrophages were maintained in M-CSF and then stimulated overnight with GM-CSF (125ng/ml), IL-6 (50ng/ml), IL-1 β (5ng/ml), TNF α (50ng/ml), IL-15 (50ng/ml) or IL-17 (125ng/ml). Control cells were maintained in M-CSF only. Macrophages were then challenged with 200 μ g/ml oxLDL for one hour and the percentage of cells expressing foam cell morphology determined following Oil-red-O staining. Data are representative of three experiments ± SD. Statistical analysis was performed by Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001. (B) Visual representation of Oil-red-O staining.

5.2.7 The effects of GM-CSF on human macrophage responses

In the previous section (*section 5.2.6*) it was demonstrated that GM-CSF inhibited both uptake of oxLDL by macrophages and the subsequent formation of foam cells. However, as GM-CSF is a pleiotropic growth factor it likely affects several macrophage differentiation and effector functions which may contribute to the biological effects observed.

To determine if GM-CSF caused downstream alteration in the immune profile, human monocyte-derived macrophages were stimulated overnight with GM-CSF or vehicle control and protein levels in the supernatant were measured by Luminex assay.

GM-CSF was found to significantly increase the expression of 17 of the 23 proteins analysed (*figure 5.10*). The majority of these were pro-inflammatory (IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6 and MIP-1 α), however the expression of the anti-inflammatory molecules, IL-10 and IL-1RA were also found to be significantly increased. Expression of the growth factor VEGF was also found to significantly increase following GM-CSF stimulation. Although the implications for VEGF in foam cell formation remain unknown, this protein has been established as a potent angiogenic factor (Celletti et al., 2001) and may have implications for CVD acceleration in RA patients who over-express GM-CSF. Interestingly GM-CSF was also found to significantly increase the expression of IL-15 and IL-17, although it was shown that they do not alter the rate of foam cell formation (*section 5.2.6*)





Human monocyte-derived macrophages were maintained in 15ng/ml M-CSF and then stimulated overnight with GM-CSF (125ng/ml). Control cells were maintained in M-CSF and stimulated with vehicle control only. Cell culture supernatants were removed and protein concentration measured by LUMINEX assay. GM-CSF stimulated (n=6); control (n=11). (A) cytokines (interleukins); (B) cytokines (non-interleukin); (C) chemokines and (D) growth factors. Error bars illustrate standard deviation. Statistical analysis was performed by unpaired t-test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001.

5.2.8 Inhibition of foam cell formation using dextran sulphate

Macrophages are thought to endocytose modified lipoproteins, including oxLDL, via scavenger receptors, resulting in accumulation of cholesterol ester and subsequent foam cell formation (Dhaliwal and Steinbrecher, 1999). It is necessary to verify that scavenger receptors are responsible for the uptake of oxLDL observed in the previous experiments, and to determine if GM-CSF alters the kinetics of scavenger receptor-mediated oxLDL endocytosis. To test these underlying hypotheses, samples were treated with varying amounts of dextran sulphate, a compound known to competitively bind and inhibit the function of scavenger receptors (Tsubamoto et al., 1994).

Maximal foam cell formation was first ensured by incubating GM-CSF stimulated and control macrophages with 200µg/ml oxLDL for 24 hours. *Figure 5.11* demonstrates that this time point supported maximal foam cell formation. It is worth noting, despite ~100% of GM-CSF- stimulated and control cells transforming into foam cells over this time period, that the GM-CSF-stimulated macrophages appeared to have taken up less oxLDL overall. Although this was not quantified, it is visible in *figure 5.12* as a reduction in Oil-red-O staining intensity.

GM-CSF and control cells were then incubated with 200μ g/ml oxLDL and varying concentrations of dextran sulphate (2, 10, 20, 40μ g/ml) for 24 hours. As the concentration of dextran sulphate was increased from 0 to 40μ g/ml the inhibition of foam cell formation increased (*figure 5.11*), indicating that scavenger receptor-mediated endocytosis plays a vital role in oxLDL uptake and foam cell formation. Interestingly, dextran sulphate appeared to significantly decrease the extent of foam cell formation in GM-CSF-stimulated macrophages relative to control macrophages. For example treatment with 10μ g/ml dextran sulphate resulted in 5±8.6% and 44±13% inhibition of foam cell formation in control cells and GM-CSF stimulated cells, respectively.



Figure 5.11 Competitive inhibition of scavenger receptor-mediated uptake of oxLDL

(A) Human monocyte-derived macrophages were maintained in 15ng/ml M-CSF and then stimulated overnight with GM-CSF (125ng/ml). Control cells were maintained in M-CSF and stimulated with vehicle control only. Macrophages were then challenged with 200μ g/ml oxLDL for 24 hours. The percentage of cells expressing foam cell morphology was determined following Oil-red-O staining. Cells in (B) were treated in a similar manner with the addition of varying concentrations of dextran sulphate (0, 2 10, 20 and 40μ g/ml). The percentage of cells expressing foam cell morphology was determined following Oil-red-O staining. Graphed data represent percentage foam cell inhibition relative to macrophages incubated with 200μ g/ml oxLDL for 24 hours but no dextran sulphate. Data are representative of three experiments \pm SD. Statistical analysis was performed by unpaired t-test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001.



Figure 5.12 Oil-red-O staining following inhibition of scavenger receptor mediated uptake of oxLDL

Representative images of data used to generate figure 5.11. Images were captured by light microscopy at 100x magnification.

5.2.9 Scavenger receptor expression in cytokine-treated human monocyte-derived macrophages

In *section 5.2.8* it was determined that GM-CSF-activated macrophages required a lower concentration of dextran sulphate (a competitive inhibitor of scavenger receptors) to inhibit oxLDL uptake and subsequent foam cell formation. This finding suggests that GM-CSF activated macrophages either express less total scavenger receptors on the surface or express less of a specific scavenger receptor that possesses high affinity for oxLDL. Alternatively, although less likely, GM-CSF-stimulated macrophages may express scavenger receptors that are hypersensitive to inhibition by dextran sulphate.

In order to investigate this further the transcriptional activity of SR-A1, SR-B1, CD36 and MARCO was analysed (*figure 5.13*). Each of these receptors are known to recognise oxLDL and are thought to be the principal receptors responsible for the uptake of modified LDL. Flow cytometry was also used to investigate the expression of SR-B1 and MARCO at a protein level. For completeness, macrophages stimulated with GM-CSF as well as TNF α , IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-15 and IL-17 were studied.

GM-CSF-activated macrophages exhibited significantly greater transcriptional activity for SR-B1 relative to control cells (11±7 fold change) (*figure 5.13, B*), however this was not observed at the protein level (*figure 5.14, B*). The transcription of SR-A1 and CD36 remained unchanged by overnight stimulation with GM-CSF. GM-CSF activated macrophages exhibited a trend towards transcriptional down regulation (-5.6-fold) of MARCO, however this did not reach significance. Furthermore, this trend was not observed at a protein level.

Interestingly, it was observed that TNF α and IL-6 significantly decreased the transcription of genes encoding SR-A1, SR-B1 and CD36, however this was not observed at the protein level (*figure 5.14*).



Figure 5.13 mRNA expression of scavenger receptors in cytokine treated human monocyte-derived macrophages

Human monocyte-derived macrophages were maintained in M-CSF and then stimulated overnight with TNFa (50ng/ml), IL-6 (50ng/ml), IL-1 β (5ng/ml), IL-15 (50ng/ml), IL-17 (125ng/ml) or GM-CSF (125ng/ml). Control cells were maintained in M-CSF only (black bar). The relative abundance of SRA1, SRB1, CD36 and MARCO was determined by qPCR. Left hand figures represent Ct values following normalisation to the housekeeping gene 18S. Right hand figures represent fold change relative to control cells. Data are representative of three experiments ± SD. Statistical analysis was performed on Ct values by paired t-test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001.



Figure 5.14 FACS staining of MARCO and SRB1 in cytokine-treated human monocyte derived macrophages

Human monocyte derived macrophages were maintained in M-CSF and then stimulated overnight with TNFa (50ng/ml), IL-6 (50ng/ml), IL-1 β (5ng/ml), IL-15 (50ng/ml), IL-17 (125ng/ml) or GM-CSF (125ng/ml). Control cells were maintained in M-CSF only (black bar). Cells were harvested and stained with primary antibodies which recognise extracellular MARCO (graph A) and total SRB1 (graph B). Bar graphs show expression of scavenger receptors normalised to isotype-matched control antibodies. M.F.I: Mean Fluorescent Intensity. The results shown are representative of three independent experiments \pm SD. Statistical analysis was performed for each condition relative to control by paired t-test.

5.3 Discussion

In RA, the primary site of inflammation is the synovial tissue, from which cytokines are released into systemic circulation. These circulating cytokines have been suggested to have an effect upon distant tissues, including liver, skeletal muscle, adipose, and vascular endothelium, to generate a variety of proatherogenic changes that include dyslipidaemia, insulin resistance, pro-oxidative effects, and endothelial dysfunction (Sattar et al., 2003). As such, systemic inflammation has been hypothesised to represent the missing link that could account for the higher burden of CVD observed in RA patients (Szekanecz and Koch, 2008). Previous studies have mostly focused on the general inflammatory markers (e.g. CRP, ESR and leukocyte counts) as well as traditional inflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNF α and IL-6), and some studies have been published which characterise differences in CVD and RA+CVD patients (Breland et al., 2010). The present study built upon previous findings by analysing the serum of patients with RA, CVD, RA+CVD and healthy control subjects for a range of 30 cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and receptors.

The principle finding of this study was that serum levels of several immuno-proteins are elevated in RA+CVD patients relative to RA patients and CVD patients. By examining a wide range of proteins it was shown that the mean concentration of eight cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-5, IL-13, IL-17, MIG, G-CSF and GM-CSF) and the chemokine IL-8 was greater in the RA+CVD cohort compared to the additive values of the RA only and CVD only cohorts. However, only IL-17, IL-8 and G-CSF were found to be significantly greater in the RA+CVD groups relative to both the CVD and RA groups. These data lead to the hypothesis that these bio-markers, either individually or cumulatively, may form a pro-inflammatory phenotype in RA which increases the risk of CVD.

Many of these biomarkers have already been studied in the context of CVD; however, their exact role(s) in pathogenesis often remains elusive. Studies have shown that knock-out of IL-1 β and treatment with anti-IL-2 decreases the severity of atherosclerosis in Apo-E deficient mice (Kirii et al., 2003, Upadhya et al., 2004). GM-CSF is also thought to be pro-atherosclerotic, with experiments showing that treatment of mice with GM-CSF increased cell proliferation in early lesions, whereas treatment with anti-GM-CSF inhibited proliferation (Zhu et al., 2009). Conversely IL-5, as a result of its ability to expand natural IgM specific for oxLDL, has been demonstrated as having atheroprotective properties (Binder et al., 2004). Recent studies have shown that IL-17 plays a pro-atherosclerotic role

(van Es et al., 2009, Erbel et al., 2009), where as a previous study suggests IL-17 is atheroprotective (Taleb et al., 2009). Thus, the function of IL-17 remains controversial and requires additional direct studies. Currently, little is known regarding the role that IL-13 and MIG play in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis

G-CSF exhibited an unusual and unique expression pattern, with CVD and RA patients having considerably lower serum concentrations (105 and 66 pg/ml, respectively) than healthy and RA+CVD subjects (875 pg/ml and 1832 pg/ml, respectively). If assuming that healthy patients have normal serum levels of G-CSF, it would appear that G-CSF is reduced in both CVD and RA, but remains relatively unchanged in RA+CVD patients. Although not investigated here, it would be of value to determine whether RA patients return to a 'normal' G-CSF concentration upon developing CVD, or whether these patients have always possessed a different G-CSF profile, which could increase CVD risk. Unfortunately, examination of the literature does not raise any reasonable hypotheses, and does not lend itself to speculation.

The chronic inflammatory state observed in CVD is believed to result, at least in part, from immune cells such as monocytes being continually recruited to the atherosclerotic lesion. Macrophages are capable of ingesting modified LDL to form cholesterol-rich foam cells, which become the initial building blocks of atherosclerotic plaques. However, an understanding of how the chronic inflammatory state observed in RA modulates macrophage foam cell formation is lacking.

In section 5.2.6 it was demonstrated that GM-CSF stimulation significantly decreased the rate at which human primary macrophages could endocytose oxLDL. It was further shown that TNF α , IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-15 and IL-17 had no significant effects on the rate of oxLDL uptake. Although clearly a very interesting result, these data have several limitations. Firstly, the GM-CSF effect was observed in isolation. It is possible that in an environment containing an array of cytokines and chemokines, more closely representing human serum, the GM-CSF effect would be reduced or possibly eliminated. Furthermore, in *section 5.2.7* it was demonstrated that GM-CSF stimulation significantly increases macrophage expression of several other cytokines and chemokines. Of particular note, both MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β were significantly elevated following GM-CSF stimulation. These chemokines are known for their chemotactic and pro-inflammatory effects but can also promote homeostasis (Maurer and von Stebut, 2004). The cytokine G-CSF, which shares many properties with GM-CSF, was also significantly increased. G-CSF has been

previously demonstrated to have a protective effect in a rabbit atherosclerosis model. In this model G-CSF prevented an increase in neointima/media ratio and accelerated reendothelialisation (Hasegawa et al., 2006). It is thus possible that GM-CSF stimulation *per se* is not responsible for the reduction in oxLDL uptake, but instead GM-CSF stimulates production of other proteins which may illicit the observed effect. Alternatively, this biological event may be a result of the additive function of the protein milieu secreted in response to GM-CSF stimulation. To fully understand the effect of elevated serum GM-CSF on atherosclerosis and foam cell formation, biologically relevant animal modelling would be necessary.

In *section 5.2.8* the effect of dextran sulphate, a known competitive inhibitor of scavenger receptors, on the ability of M-CSF and GM-CSF stimulated macrophages to produce foam cells was analysed. This study demonstrated that GM-CSF decreases the concentration of dextran sulphate required to successfully inhibit scavenger receptor-mediated ox-LDL uptake and subsequent foam cell formation. This would suggest that GM-CSF-stimulated macrophages either express less scavenger receptors on the cell surface or express scavenger receptors that are hyper-sensitive to inhibition by GM-CSF. Initial investigations into the expression of SR-A1, SR-B1, CD36 and MARCO showed that none of these scavenger receptors were decreased at a transcriptional level following stimulation with GM-CSF.

GM-CSF was originally characterised as a haematopoietic growth factor responsible for the differentiation of bone marrow progenitor cells (Burgess and Metcalf, 1980), however more recently it has also been established as a cytokine with important roles in both inflammation and infection (Shi et al., 2006). Furthermore, a variety of studies have shown that GM-CSF promotes survival and activation of macrophages (Hamilton, 2008, Hamilton et al., 1980). Although, the present study determined that GM-CSF protected from foam cell formation, it did not definitively show how such protection could occur. As a broad generalisation, in *in vitro* studies, GM-CSF preferentially generates, either alone or in the presence of M-CSF, populations with dendritic cell like and antigen presenting capabilities, whereas the progeny arising from M-CSF stimulation are phagocytic macrophage like cells (Fleetwood et al., 2007). Surprisingly, despite this apparent shift to from 'phagocytic' to 'antigen presenting', no decrease in scavenger receptor transcript was detected following GM-CSF stimulation. In order to further hypothesise as to why GM-CSF reduces foam cell formation, it would be useful to further consider the differences between macrophages stimulated with M-CSF and GM-CSF. Several studies suggest that GM-CSF has a clear pro-inflammatory effect on macrophage populations and that GM-CSF expression is elevated at sites of inflammation (Sorgi et al., 2012). By contrast, macrophages are continually exposed to M-CSF as it is expressed constitutively during times of homeostasis. Such macrophages have a comparably compromised ability to secrete pro-inflammatory mediators and other toxic intermediates, such as nitric oxide, but possess a capacity to promote tissue repair and angiogenesis (Fleetwood et al., 2007). It is possible that M-CSF-stimulated macrophages in the 'steady-state' have a phenotype which promotes effective scavenging of their environment and subsequent phagocytosis. Alternatively, following a GM-CSF mediated shift to a pro-inflammatory state, macrophages may favour activities such as recruitment of other immune cells and antigen presentation and expend less energy on processes such as phagocytosis.

It has also been noted that there are differences in nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) activity and RAS signalling pathways between M-CSF- and GM-CSF-stimulated macrophages (Fleetwood et al., 2007). It is possible that these pathways determine alternative surface receptor expression and/or phagocytic activity. Further experimentation is required to test this hypothesis.

The current study set out to explore mechanisms by which RA increases the risk of CVD, but instead has identified GM-CSF, which is elevated in RA serum, as having potential atheroprotective properties. Recently, however, antagonism of GM-CSF has been suggested as a novel therapeutic approach for a variety of autoimmune diseases, including RA (Cornish et al., 2009). Phase I human clinical trials with Mavrilimumab, a human monocolonal antibody targeting GM-CSF receptor- α , demonstrated pharmacodynamic activity (Burmester et al., 2011). Although it is still too early to say whether this therapeutic will make it to the market, these preliminary studies demonstrates both safety and an adequate pharmacokinetic profile and supports further clinical study in RA. Novel RA therapeutics are increasingly necessary to treat the significant proportion of patients who fail to achieve minimum improvement criteria. However the current study raises the possibility that anti-GM-CSF therapy would support increased foam cell formation and may have a potential long term detrimental cardiovascular effect. Further studies would be needed to demonstrate conclusively whether anti-GM-CSF therapy has an adverse cardiovascular effect.

As already mentioned, the present study found $TNF\alpha$ to have no effect upon foam cell formation. This was not entirely surprising as, despite a significant transcriptional downregulation of the scavenger receptors SR-A1, SR-B1 and CD36 being detected, no decrease in either SR-B1 or MARCO was observed at a protein level. Previous studies have however shown TNFα to suppress macrophage scavenger receptor (specifically SR-A1) function and reduce subsequent foam cell formation (Vanlenten and Fogelman, 1992). It has been suggested that $TNF\alpha$ regulates scavenger receptor expression by transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms, but principally by destabilisation of scavenger receptor mRNA (Hsu et al., 1996). The inconsistency between these data could have several explanations. Importantly the present study was performed with primary human macrophages isolated from several different donors and differentiated in M-CSF, whereas Vanlenten & Fogelman (1992) used the human monocytic macrophage THP-1 cell line and differentiated in the presence of phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA). The functional consequences of using a PMA differentiated macrophage cell line instead of M-CSF derived human primary macrophages are relatively unknown, but it is likely that differences in scavenger receptor expression and phagocytosis activity exist. Furthermore, the present study challenged macrophages with oxLDL whereas previous studies treated with acetylated LDL. Evidence indicates that oxLDL, rather than acLDL, is the physiological representative of modified LDL (Palinski et al., 1989). Furthermore, as oxLDL and acLDL are not identical ligands, certain scavenger receptors will exhibit varying affinities for each (Ottnad et al., 1995, Sparrow et al., 1989).

6 General Discussion

RA causes pain and swelling in the joints and is accompanied by a marked reduction in quality of life (Whalley et al., 1997); moreover, RA patients are at ~two-fold increased risk of developing CVD (Solomon et al., 2003, Turesson et al., 2003, Van Doornum et al., 2002). However, it is unknown how the underlying disease mechanism of RA influences the vascular environment.

The present study was principally carried out in human aortic adventitial tissue which was removed from the ascending aorta during the establishment of coronary artery bypass grafts. Blood vessels are known to exhibit different susceptibilities to atherosclerosis. Veins, for example, are usually less vulnerable than arteries. However, differences exist also within the arterial tree; for example the internal mammary artery (IMA), though of similar dimension to the coronary arteries, exhibits a ten-fold reduction in atherosclerosis risk (Ferro et al., 1990). This is in keeping with data presented in *chapter 3* which detected significantly less inflammation in the IMA than matched adventitial tissue.

The ascending aorta is a region with a known risk of atherosclerosis (Mills and Everson, 1991). Within the present study, all aortic specimens were taken from areas with minimal signs of atherosclerosis, a procedure necessary to reduce the risk of thromboembolic complication. However, as adventitial samples were removed from CVD patients requiring a bypass graft, this tissue provides a useful *ex vivo* model of aortic tissue that is at high risk of developing gross signs of atherosclerosis in the future. Furthermore, as samples were collected from CVD patients and patients with both CVD and RA, it was possible to investigate whether RA pathophysiology is capable of altering the adventitia in ways that may potentiate the onset of atherosclerosis.

Despite samples being removed from areas without gross clinical signs of atherosclerosis, the adventitia was found to possess an array of immunological properties. Inflammatory infiltration was detected in 18 of the 39 (46%) samples analysed (*section 3.2.3*). However, no significant difference in the extent of inflammatory infiltrate was observed between the CVD and RA+CVD cohorts. It remains to be elucidated what causes inflammatory infiltration into the adventitia, and whether adventitial infiltration underlies atherosclerosis pathogenesis. It would also be beneficial to characterise the IMA in more detail, with the aim of understanding why vascular inflammation is so rare in this tissue. As with many

conditions, understanding why certain tissue is at a reduced risk of disease often leads to breakthroughs in clinical treatment.

Despite no differences being detected in adventitial inflammation between the CVD and RA+CVD cohorts, it was found that TNF α expression was significantly greater in the RA+CVD cohort (*section 3.2.3*). Clearly, elevated adventitial TNF α in RA+CVD patients cannot be explained by an excess of inflammatory cells. However, further investigation revealed that serum TNF α expression is roughly ten times greater in the RA+CVD cohort compared to the CVD cohort. It is possible that the elevated levels of serum TNF α present in RA+CVD serum may infiltrate into, and reside in, the aortic adventitia. It remains to be investigated whether adventitial TNF α contributes to atherosclerosis, however it would appear likely, as several studies have shown TNF α to be associated with CVD and to posses pro-atherosclerotic properties (Ridker, 1997, McKellar et al., 2009).

It was also found that RA+CVD patients exhibited a trend towards greater HSP47 expression in the adventitia compared to CVD patients (*section 3.2.12*). HSP47 is a stress protein that acts as a molecular chaperone during intracellular processing of procollagen (Nakai et al., 1992), and a relationship between HSP47 expression and fibrosis has been previously reported (Rocnik et al., 2000).

As outlined in *section 1.5.4*, HSPs have been implicated as potential autoantigens in both RA and CVD (Pockley, 2002, Bodman-Smith et al., 2003). Furthermore, HSPs are immunodominant molecules, providing a principle epitope during pathogen recognition (Kaufmann, 1990) and often being implicated in human autoimmune disease. HSP expression is increased during exposure to cellular stress, a process which protects cells from the uncontrolled protein unfolding that often accompanies stress (Zuegel and Kaufmann, 1999). Although it remains to be determined, it is possible that environmental stress signals which accompany RA pathogenesis result in elevated adventitial HSP47 expression. This overexpression could potentiate atherosclerosis by providing a target for HSP47 specific autoantibodies. Alternatively, as it has previously been suggested that many of the HSPs have the property of damage-associated molecules (DAMPs), which are inducers of sterile inflammation and innate immunity (Kono and Rock, 2008), that HSP47 overexpression may facilitate the formation of a pro-inflammatory environment. The latter hypothesis would appear less likely when considering that it has already been shown that inflammation is not increased in the adventitia of RA+CVD patients.
The detection of inflammatory infiltrate, $TNF\alpha$ and the antimicrobial peptide calprotectin (*section* 3.2.15) in the aortic adventitia reinforced our previous hypothesis that bacteria may reside in the aortic adventitia and possibly contribute to atherosclerosis pathology. Furthermore, it is possible that the systemic inflammatory state which accompanies RA may alter patient susceptibility to certain bacterial species.

Bacterial DNA from a diverse range of species were detected in the aortic adventitia. Furthermore, this study demonstrated that RA+CVD patients had a significantly reduced bacterial heterogeneity in the adventitia when compared to CVD patients. Furthermore, *M. oryzae* was detected in all aortic adventitia samples from RA patients that were PCRpositive for the 16S rRNA gene, but in only 25% of PCR-positive samples from non-RA patients (*section 4.2.3*).

The detection of *M. oryzae* was somewhat surprising as this pink-pigmented, facultatively methylotrophic bacterium was first characterised following isolation from rice stem tissue in Korea (Madhaiyan et al., 2007). To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time that *M. oryzae* has been implicated in human disease. 16S rRNA gene sequencing analysis indicated that *M. oryzae* is most closely related to *M. mesophilicum*. Interestingly, *M. mesophilicum*, which is also a pink-pigmented, facultatively methylotrophic bacterium has been reported as a cause of opportunistic infections in immunocompromised hosts (Sanders et al., 2000) and has been isolated from several clinical sites, including blood, synovial, cerebral spinal fluid (CSF) (Kaye et al., 1992, Liu et al., 1997, Gilardi and Faur, 1984). Although the source of infection remains unclear, infection has been associated with environmental exposure. In particular, *M. mesophilicum* contamination of hospital tap water has been implicated as the source of an isolated nosocomial outbreak (Gilchrist et al., 1986).

In order to further characterise the potential atherogenic properties of *M. oryzae* we infected human primary macrophages. This study (*section 4.2.10*) highlighted that infection was characterised with an excessive inflammatory response, and subsequent analysis identified several pathways which could play a role in atherosclerosis. Curiously, granzyme B (encoded by *GZMB*), a serine protease that is highly expressed in cytotoxic T cells and natural killer cells, was ~200-fold up-regulated in macrophages following infection with *M. oryzae*. The principal function of granzymes is to induce the death of virus-infected and other transformed cells. Macrophages have previously been

demonstrated to not produce granzyme B, however it has recently been demonstrated that macrophages express granzyme B in the lesion areas of atherosclerosis and RA (Kim et al., 2007).

M. oryzae has previously been reported to be a Gram-negative bacterium (Madhaiyan et al., 2007). It was therefore very surprising when we determined that *M. oryzae* did not activate TLR4 signalling, but instead activated signalling from TLR2, the principle receptor for recognition of Gram-positive bacteria (*figures 4.17 and 4.18*). However, subsequent analysis confirmed that *M. oryzae* did not possess measurable levels of LPS or LOS (*figure 4.19*). Unfortunately, no images of the Gram stains performed on *M. oryzae* were available from the publication by Madhaiyan *et al.* (2007), so it is possible that owing to the inherent difficulty of Gram-staining certain bacillus species that staining was incorrectly interpreted. It is worth noting that although Pam3CSK4 was included in the assay depicted in *figure 4.18*, due to a technical oversight the hot phenol/water would not support extraction of lipopeptides from *M. oryzae*. Therefore, despite functional stimulation of TLR2 having been determined, it remains to be confirmed whether *M. oryzae* does indeed posses TLR2 ligand.

In a recent study, Canducci *et al.* (2012) characterised the antibody fragments produced by B-lymphocytes within the atherosclerotic lesions of four patients. Following molecular cloning, phage display and subsequent antibody generation it was demonstrated that all four patients possessed antibodies that cross-reacted with the outer membrane proteins (OMPS) of Gram-negative bacteria and with transgelin (TAGLN), a cytoskeleton protein expressed by smooth muscle cells (Canducci et al., 2012). Building upon this study, it would be beneficial to identify if antibodies raised against *M. oryzae* reside in the adventitia and whether these could similarly cross-react with self-antigens. It is possible that intermittent exposure to bacterial epitopes may lead to production of self cross-reacting antibodies that may persist following bacterial clearance.

Accumulating evidence suggests that alterations to the host microbiome precede RA and may play a key role in pathogenesis (Wu et al., 2010), however it is equally plausible that alteration to the microbiome follows RA and may lead to co-morbidity. Intriguingly, RA patients exhibit elevated levels of $T_H 17$ cells and their signature cytokine IL-17 (*figure 5.1*) in the serum and although normal levels of circulating regulatory T-cells are expressed, they exhibit decreased functionality *ex vivo* (Valencia et al., 2006). Conceivably, altered T

cell functionality in parallel with the elevation of systemic pro-inflammatory mediators characteristic to RA supports a notion for RA driven dysbiosis and vulnerability to infection by a few 'select' organisms (e.g. *M. oryzae*). To what extent host immunity plays a role in aortic infection, and how the patterns of infection observed in this Norwegian population compare to others, remains to be elucidated.

The present study was limited by the necessity to characterise bacterial populations based on the sequencing of DNA which corresponded to the 16S rRNA gene. Ideally we would have expanded the value of these methods to generating a cDNA library and using 16S rRNA-targeted molecular biology tools to determine the transcriptional activity of bacterial populations. Although attempted, RNA was deemed not to be of sufficient quality to support cDNA synthesis. Owing to the inherent instability of RNA, it is likely that loss of quality was due to several freeze-thaw cycles that were incurred between surgery and experimentation. The correlation between cellular rRNA content and growth rate is a wellestablished concept (Poulsen et al., 1993), with rRNA transcription being approximately ten-fold elevated when the doubling time of *E. coli* decreases from 100 minutes to 24 minutes (Lu et al., 2009). 16S rRNA analysis of a cDNA library would therefore have allowed determination of whether bacteria in the adventitia were viable at the time of CABG surgery rather than the result of an historical infection. Furthermore, 16S rRNA cDNA analysis by quantitative PCR would allow the hypothesis that total bacterial burden may be altered in RA+CVD patients relative to CVD patients to be explored.

As well as analysing the adventitia of CVD and CVD+RA patients, the adventitia of CVD-PsA patients was also assessed for the presence of 16S rRNA. Interestingly no bacterial signatures were detected in this patient cohort. The symptoms of PsA closely resemble that of RA. However, it has been shown that the incidence rate of infection in PsA is similar to that of patients with psoriasis but not RA (Haddad et al., 2011), and the overall rate of infection is higher in RA patients compared to non-RA subjects (Doran et al., 2002). As both PsA and RA patients are generally prescribed a similar course of NSAIDs, DMARDs and biologics it would appear that unlike PsA, the pathophysiology of RA predisposes patients to infection. It remains to be determined whether the absence of bacterial DNA detection in the adventitia is due to PsA having a protective effect against infection. In *chapter 5* the serum concentration of a broad range of cytokines, chemokines and growth factors was determined in RA, CVD, RA+CVD and healthy subjects. This study provided an opportunity to indentify biomarkers that were elevated in RA+CVD patients by a value greater than the sum of both RA and CVD patients. As highlighted and discussed in *section 5.3*, nine such biomarkers were identified (IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-5, IL-13, IL-17, MIG, G-CSF, GM-CSF and IL-8). However, value was also attained from looking at the immune profile of the RA patients relative to healthy controls. Despite these patients not presenting clinical signs of CVD at the time of study, there is an increased likelihood that they will go on to develop CVD (Turesson et al., 2003). It is possible that the systemic immune profile of these patients could pre-dispose them to subsequent CVD. Although not possible due to time constraints in the current study, it would be beneficial to follow up the RA patients entered into this study and determine whether future CVD burden correlates with any of the biomarkers measured.

If considering the function of the biomarkers found to be elevated in RA+CVD and RA patients (tables 5.2 and 5.3) it is possible to speculate as to how such an immune profile may promote atherosclerosis. Endothelial dysfunction is considered to be an early step in atherosclerosis. In RA and RA+CVD there was a marked increase in the expression of TNF α and IL-1 β , both of which are known to activate and induce migration and proliferation of endothelial cells and increase vascular permeability (Millauer et al., 1993, Inoue et al., 1998). Once activated, endothelial cells will support an infiltration of circulating monocytes/lymphocytes into the vessel wall. Owing to the elevated expression of MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β and IL-8, it is likely that the numbers of activated circulating monocytes and macrophages is already elevated in these patients. The concomitant presence of systemic IL-2 and IL-5 will support T- and B-cell expansion and differentiation, with the potential to generate antibodies against self (possibly HSP47) and bacterial antigens. Unless effective therapeutic intervention is achieved, monocytes and lymphocytes are likely to continue infiltrating into the vessel wall in an uncontrolled manner causing damage to the vessel wall and manifesting over time as an atherosclerotic lesion.

This project provides insight into the immunological activity and functional capacity of the aortic adventitia in atherosclerosis pathogenesis. The detection of increased TNF α , HSP47 and an altered bacterial profile in the adventitia of RA+CVD indicate that these important

factors may contribute to the increased CVD burden experienced in RA. These data have led us to propose a possible model of atherosclerosis pathogenesis in RA (*figure 6.1*). Furthermore, this study revealed that RA+CVD patients are characterised by an increased systemic pro-inflammatory phenotype, supporting a role for inflammation in accelerating comorbid CVD.



Figure 6.1 Model of adventitial-derived atherosclerosis in RA

A schematic model illustrating the possible effects of molecules detected in the aortic adventitia in atherosclerosis pathogenesis in RA patients. The altered systemic immune profile in RA may support *M. oryzae* infiltration into the adventitia. Bacteria interact with macrophages and other components of the adventitial inflammatory infiltrate to produce a classical pro-inflammatory response. This will further recruit inflammatory cells into the adventitia and lead to elevated expression of TNF α . B-cells may interact with elevated adventitial HSP47 leading to autoantibody generation and further perpetuate the inflammatory response. This molecular niche may accelerate atherosclerosis in RA and over time aid the formation of a characteristic lesion at the vessel wall.

Conclusions

This research was scoped to address three research questions (*section 1.6*). In conclusion it is necessary to summarise the principle findings.

✤ Is the aortic adventitia immunogenic? Does the inflammatory mileu of the aortic adventitia differ between CVD and RA+CVD patients?

The aortic adventitia of CVD and CVD+RA patients has been confirmed as a site of considerable immunological interest, frequently exhibiting diffuse inflammatory infiltrates, the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF α , the potential autoantigen HSP47 and the antimicrobial peptide calprotectin. The adventitia of RA+CVD patients was demonstrated to express significantly more TNF α than patients with CVD alone. These data may help explain why CVD is accelerated in RA patients and provides support for the involvement of the adventitia in atherosclerosis pathogenesis.

Are bacteria present in the aortic adventitia, and do differences in the bacterial profile exist between CVD and RA+CVD patients?

Four of 11 CVD and three of 11 RA+CVD aortic adventitia samples studied possessed bacterial DNA. The aortic adventitia of CVD+RA patients exhibited significantly lower bacterial heterogeneity. Interestingly *Methylobacterium orzyzae* was detected in all three RA+CVD samples positive for bacterial presence. *M. oryzae* was determined to be a mild TLR2 agonist and triggered a robust inflammatory response by macrophages. These data reinforce the hypothesis that bacteria may play an aetiological role in atherosclerosis, and suggest that the pathophysiology associated with RA predisposes aortic infection to a few select organisms.

Does the systemic immune profile differ between RA, CVD and RA+CVD patients, and could any differences contribute to increased CVD burden in RA?

RA patients exhibit an altered systemic immune profile compared to non-RA CVD patients and healthy controls. Furthermore, RA+CVD patients were shown to possess an altered systemic immune phenotype compared to both RA and CVD patients. Notably, IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-5, IL-8, IL-13, IL-17, MIG, G-CSF and GM-CSF expression was greater in the serum of RA+CVD patients compared to the additive values of the RA and CVD patients. Systemic elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in RA patients likely contributes to atherosclerosis pathogenesis. Furthermore, GM-CSF was found to significantly decrease the rate at which human macrophages could endocytose oxLDL and form foam cells. When considered in isolation this finding suggests that the overexpression of GM-CSF observed in RA and RA+CVD patients may provide some atheroprotective benefit.

References

- ABOU-RAYA, A. & ABOU-RAYA, S. (2006) Inflammation: A pivotal link between autoimmune diseases and atherosclerosis. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 5, 331-337.
- ABOU-RAYA, S., ABOU-RAYA, A., NAIM, A. & ABUELKHEIR, H. (2007) Chronic inflammatory autoimmune disorders and atherosclerosis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1107, 56-67.
- AFEK, A., GEORGE, J., GILBURD, B., RAUOVA, L., GOLDBERG, I., KOPOLOVIC,
 J., HARATS, D. & SHOENFELD, Y. (2000) Immunization of low-density
 lipoprotein receptor deficient (LDL-RD) mice with heat shock protein 65 (HSP-65)
 promotes early atherosclerosis. *Journal of Autoimmunity*, 14, 115-121.
- AGGARWAL, B. B. (2003) Signalling pathways of the TNF superfamily: A double-edged sword. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 3, 745-756.
- AHIMA, R. S. & FLIER, J. S. (2000) Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 11, 327-332.
- AHMED, A. (2010) The investigation of citrullinated protein, B-cells and their survival niches in atherosclerosis with coexisting rheumatoid arthritis. *Ph.D. Thesis. The University of Glasgow: UK.*
- AICHER, A., HEESCHEN, C., MILDNER-RIHM, C., URBICH, C., IHLING, C., TECHNAU-IHLING, K., ZEIHER, A. M. & DIMMELER, S. (2004) Essential role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase for mobilization of stem and progenitor cells (vol 9, pg 1370, 2003). *Nature Medicine*, 10, 999-999.
- AKIRA, S. & TAKEDA, K. (2004) Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 4, 499-511.
- AKIRA, S., UEMATSU, S. & TAKEUCHI, O. (2006) Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell*, 124, 783-801.
- ALETAHA, D., NELL, V. P., STAMM, T., UFFMANN, M., PFLUGBEIL, S., MACHOLD, K. & SMOLEN, J. S. (2005) Acute phase reactants add little to composite disease activity indices for rheumatoid arthritis: validation of a clinical activity score. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 7, R796-R806.
- ALETAHA, D., NEOGI, T., SILMAN, A. J., FUNOVITS, J., FELSON, D. T., BINGHAM, C. O., III, BIRNBAUM, N. S., BURMESTER, G. R., BYKERK, V. P., COHEN, M. D., COMBE, B., COSTENBADER, K. H., DOUGADOS, M.,

EMERY, P., FERRACCIOLI, G., HAZES, J. M. W., HOBBS, K., HUIZINGA, T. W. J., KAVANAUGH, A., KAY, J., KVIEN, T. K., LAING, T., MEASE, P., MENARD, H. A., MORELAND, L. W., NADEN, R. L., PINCUS, T., SMOLEN, J. S., STANISLAWSKA-BIERNAT, E., SYMMONS, D., TAK, P. P., UPCHURCH, K. S., VENCOVSKY, J., WOLFE, F. & HAWKER, G. (2010) 2010 Rheumatoid Arthritis Classification Criteria An American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism Collaborative Initiative. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 62, 2569-2581.

- ALEXANDER, R. W. (1994) INFLAMMATION AND CORONARY-ARTERY DISEASE. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 331, 468-469.
- ALEXOPOULOU, L., HOLT, A. C., MEDZHITOV, R. & FLAVELL, R. A. (2001) Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-kappa B by Toll-like receptor 3. *Nature*, 413, 732-738.
- ALSALAMEH, S., WINTER, K., AL-WARD, R., WENDLER, J., KALDEN, J. R. & KINNE, R. W. (1999) Distribution of TNF-alpha, TNF-R55 and TNF-R75 in the rheumatoid synovial membrane: TNF receptors are localized preferentially in the lining layer; TNF-alpha is distributed mainly in the vicinity of TNF receptors in the deeper layers. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, 49, 278-285.
- ALTSCHUL, S. F., MADDEN, T. L., SCHAFFER, A. A., ZHANG, J. H., ZHANG, Z., MILLER, W. & LIPMAN, D. J. (1997) Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 25, 3389-3402.
- ALVAREZ-LAFUENTE, R., FERNANDEZ-GUTIERREZ, B., DE MIGUEL, S., JOVER, J. A., ROLLIN, R., LOZA, E., CLEMENTE, D. & LAMAS, J. R. (2005) Potential relationship between herpes viruses and rheumatoid arthritis: analysis with quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 64, 1357-1359.
- AMAR, S., GOKCE, N., MORGAN, S., LOUKIDELI, M., VAN DYKE, T. E. & VITA, J. A. (2003) Periodontal disease is associated with brachial artery endothelial dysfunction and systemic inflammation. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 23, 1245-1249.
- ARNETT, F. C., EDWORTHY, S. M., BLOCH, D. A., MCSHANE, D. J., FRIES, J. F., COOPER, N. S., HEALEY, L. A., KAPLAN, S. R., LIANG, M. H., LUTHRA, H. S., MEDSGER, T. A., MITCHELL, D. M., NEUSTADT, D. H., PINALS, R. S.,

SCHALLER, J. G., SHARP, J. T., WILDER, R. L. & HUNDER, G. G. (1988) THE AMERICAN-RHEUMATISM-ASSOCIATION 1987 REVISED CRITERIA FOR THE CLASSIFICATION OF RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 31, 315-324.

- AU, K., REED, G., CURTIS, J. R., KREMER, J. M., GREENBERG, J. D., STRAND, V.
 & FURST, D. E. (2011) High disease activity is associated with an increased risk of infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 70, 785-791.
- AUBRY, M.-C., MARADIT-KREMERS, H., REINALDA, M. S., CROWSON, C. S., EDWARDS, W. D. & GABRIEL, S. E. (2007) Differences in atherosclerotic coronary heart disease between subjects with and without rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 34, 937-942.
- AUBRY, M. C., RIEHLE, D. L., EDWARDS, W. D., MARADIT-KREMERS, H., ROGER, V. L., SEBO, T. J. & GABRIEL, S. E. (2004) B-lymphocytes in plaque and adventitia of coronary arteries in two patients with rheumatoid arthritis and coronary atherosclerosis - Preliminary observations. *Cardiovascular Pathology*, 13, 233-236.
- AUSUBEL, F. M. (2005) Are innate immune signaling pathways in plants and animals conserved? *Nature Immunology*, 6, 973-979.
- AVINA-ZUBIETA, J. A., CHOI, H. K., SADATSAFAVI, M., ETMINAN, M., ESDAILE,
 J. M. & LACAILLE, D. (2008) Risk of Cardiovascular Mortality in Patients With
 Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. *Arthritis & Rheumatism-Arthritis Care & Research*, 59, 1690-1697.
- AVOUAC, J. & ALLANORE, Y. (2008) Cardiovascular risk in rheumatoid arthritis: effects of anti-TNF drugs. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy*, 9, 1121-1128.
- BANKS, M. J., FLINT, E. J., BACON, P. A. & KITAS, G. D. (1998) Expression and prevalence of ischaemic heart disease (IHD) in rheumatoid arthritis (RA). *Arthritis* and Rheumatism, 41, 1058.
- BERG, A. H., LIN, Y., LISANTI, M. P. & SCHERER, P. E. (2004) Adipocyte differentiation induces dynamic changes in NF-kappa B expression and activity. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 287, E1178-E1188.

- BEUTLER, B. & CERAMI, A. (1988) TUMOR NECROSIS, CACHEXIA, SHOCK, AND INFLAMMATION - A COMMON MEDIATOR. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 57, 505-518.
- BHAGAT, K. & VALLANCE, P. (1997) Inflammatory cytokines impair endotheliumdependent dilatation in human veins in vivo. *Circulation*, 96, 3042-3047.
- BIEDERMANN, B. C. (2001) Vascular endothelium: Checkpoint for inflammation and immunity. *News in Physiological Sciences*, 16, 84-88.
- BINDER, C. J., HARTVIGSEN, K., CHANG, M. K., MILLER, M., BROIDE, D., PALINSKI, W., CURTISS, L. K., CORR, M. & WITZTUM, J. L. (2004) IL-5 links adaptive and natural immunity specific for epitopes of oxidized LDL and protects from atherosclerosis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 114, 427-437.
- BIRAGYN, A., RUFFINI, P. A., LEIFER, C. A., KLYUSHNENKOVA, E., SHAKHOV, A., CHERTOV, O., SHIRAKAWA, A. K., FARBER, J. M., SEGAL, D. M., OPPENHEIM, J. J. & KWAK, L. W. (2002) Toll-like receptor 4-dependent activation of dendritic cells by beta-defensin 2. *Science*, 298, 1025-1029.
- BJORCK, P., ELENSTROMMAGNUSSON, C., ROSEN, A., SEVERINSON, E. & PAULIE, S. (1993) CD23 AND CD21 FUNCTION AS ADHESION MOLECULES IN HOMOTYPIC AGGREGATION OF HUMAN B-LYMPHOCYTES. European Journal of Immunology, 23, 1771-1775.
- BODMAN-SMITH, M. D., CORRIGALL, V. M., KEMENY, D. M. & PANAYI, G. S. (2003) BiP, a putative autoantigen in rheumatoid arthritis, stimulates IL-10producing CD8-positive T cells from normal individuals. *Rheumatology*, 42, 637-644.
- BOMAN, J. & HAMMERSCHLAG, M. R. (2002) Chlamydia pneumoniae and atherosclerosis: Critical assessment of diagnostic methods and relevance to treatment studies. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 15, 1-+.
- BOWIE, A. & O'NEILL, L. A. J. (2000) The interleukin-1 receptor/Toll-like receptor superfamily: signal generators for pro-inflammatory interleukins and microbial products. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 67, 508-514.
- BOYMAN, O. & SPRENT, J. (2012) The role of interleukin-2 during homeostasis and activation of the immune system. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 12, 180-190.
- BRABETZ, W., MULLERLOENNIES, S., HOLST, O. & BRADE, H. (1997) Deletion of the heptosyltransferase genes rfaC and rfaF in Escherichia coli K-12 results in an

Re-type lipopolysaccharide with a high degree of 2-aminoethanol phosphate substitution. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 247, 716-724.

- BRELAND, U. M., HOLLAN, I., SAATVEDT, K., ALMDAHL, S. M., DAMAS, J. K.,
 YNDESTAD, A., MIKKELSEN, K., FORRE, O. T., AUKRUST, P. & UELAND,
 T. (2010) Inflammatory markers in patients with coronary artery disease with and
 without inflammatory rheumatic disease. *Rheumatology*, 49, 1118-1127.
- BUHLIN, K., HULTIN, M., NORDERYD, O., PERSSON, L., POCKLEY, A. G., RABE, P., KLINGE, B. & GUSTAFSSON, A. (2009) Risk factors for atherosclerosis in cases with severe periodontitis. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology*, 36, 541-549.
- BURGESS, A. W. & METCALF, D. (1980) THE NATURE AND ACTION OF GRANULOCYTE-MACROPHAGE COLONY STIMULATING FACTORS. *Blood*, 56, 947-958.
- BURMESTER, G. R., FEIST, E., SLEEMAN, M. A., WANG, B., WHITE, B. & MAGRINI, F. (2011) Mavrilimumab, a human monoclonal antibody targeting GM-CSF receptor-α, in subjects with rheumatoid arthritis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase I, first-in-human study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 70, 1542-1549.
- CAI, H. & HARRISON, D. G. (2000) Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases -The role of oxidant stress. *Circulation Research*, 87, 840-844.
- CAMPBELL, L. A., BLESSING, E., ROSENFELD, M., LIN, T. M. & KUO, C. C. (2000) Mouse models of C-pneumoniae infection and atherosclerosis. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 181, S508-S513.
- CANDUCCI, F., SAITA, D., FOGLIENI, C., PISCOPIELLO, M. R., CHIESA, R.,
 COLOMBO, A., CIANFLONE, D., MASERI, A., CLEMENTI, M. & BURIONI,
 R. (2012) Cross-Reacting Antibacterial Auto-Antibodies Are Produced within
 Coronary Atherosclerotic Plaques of Acute Coronary Syndrome Patients. *PLoS One.* 2012;7(8):e42283. Epub 2012 Aug 6.
- CAPERS, Q., ALEXANDER, R. W., LOU, P. P., DE LEON, H., WILCOX, J. N., ISHIZAKA, N., HOWARD, A. B. & TAYLOR, W. R. (1997) Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in aortic tissues of hypertensive rats. *Hypertension*, 30, 1397-1402.
- CARUSO, C., CANDORE, G., CIGNA, D., COLUCCI, A. T. & MODICA, M. A. (1993) BIOLOGICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF SOLUBLE IL-2 RECEPTOR. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2, 3-21.

- CELLETTI, F. L., WAUGH, J. M., AMABILE, P. G., BRENDOLAN, A., HILFIKER, P.
 R. & DAKE, M. D. (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor enhances atherosclerotic plaque progression. *Nature Medicine*, 7, 425-429.
- CHARAKIDA, M., DONALD, A. E., TERESE, M., LEARY, S., HALCOX, J. P., NESS,
 A., SMITH, G. D., GOLDING, J., FRIBERG, P., KLEIN, N. J. & DEANFIELD, J.
 E. (2005) Endothelial dysfunction in childhood infection. *Circulation*, 111, 1660-1665.
- CHARO, I. F. & RANSOHOFF, R. M. (2006) Mechanisms of disease The many roles of chemokines and chemokine receptors in inflammation. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 354, 610-621.
- CHATURVEDI, A. & PIERCE, S. K. (2009) How Location Governs Toll-Like Receptor Signaling. *Traffic*, 10, 621-628.
- CHEN, X., TOUYZ, R. M., PARK, J. B. & SCHIFFRIN, E. L. (2001) Antioxidant effects of vitamins C and E are associated with altered activation of vascular NADPH oxidase and superoxide dismutase in stroke-prone SHR. *Hypertension*, 38, 606-611.
- CHIU, B., VIIRA, E., TUCKER, W. & FONG, I. W. (1997) Chlamydia pneumoniae, cytomegalovirus, and herpes simplex virus in atherosclerosis of the carotid artery. *Circulation*, 96, 2144-2148.
- CHIU, J. F., BELL, A. D., HERMAN, R. J., HILL, M. D., STEWART, J. A., COHEN, E. A., LIAU, C. S., STEG, P. G., BHATT, D. L. & INVESTIGATORS, R. R. (2010)
 Cardiovascular risk profiles and outcomes of Chinese living inside and outside
 China. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*, 17, 668-675.
- CHOE, J., KELKER, M. S. & WILSON, I. A. (2005) Crystal structure of human Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) ectodomain. *Science*, 309, 581-585.
- CHOY, E. H. S. & PANAYI, G. S. (2001) Mechanisms of disease: Cytokine pathways and joint inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 344, 907-916.
- CHUNG, A., KUDLICK, E. M., GREGORY, J. E., ROYAL, G. C. & REINDORF, C. A. (1986) TOOTHBRUSHING AND TRANSIENT BACTEREMIA IN PATIENTS UNDERGOING ORTHODONTIC TREATMENT. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 90, 181-186.

- CHUNG, C. P., AVALOS, I., RAGGI, P. & STEIN, C. M. (2007) Atherosclerosis and inflammation: insights from rheumatoid arthritis. *Clinical Rheumatology*, 26, 1228-1233.
- CLAPP, B. R., HINGORANI, A. D., KHARBANDA, R. K., MOHAMED-ALI, V., STEPHENS, J. W., VALLANCE, P. & MACALLISTER, R. J. (2004)
 Inflammation-induced endothelial dysfunction involves reduced nitric oxide bioavailability and increased oxidant stress. *Cardiovascular Research*, 64, 172-178.
- COLLOT-TEIXEIRA, S., MARTIN, J., MCDENNOTT-ROE, C., POSTON, R. & MCGREGOR, J. L. (2007) CD36 and macrophages in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovascular Research*, 75, 468-477.
- CORNELIS, F., FAURE, S., MARTINEZ, M., PRUD'HOMME, J. F., FRITZ, P., DIB, C., ALVES, H., BARRERA, P., DE VRIES, N., BALSA, A., PASCUAL-SALCEDO, D., MAENAUT, K., WESTHOVENS, R., MIGLIORINI, P., TRAN, T. H., DELAYE, A., PRINCE, N., LEFEVRE, C., THOMAS, G., POIRIER, M., SOUBIGOU, S., ALIBERT, O., LASBLEIZ, S., FOUIX, S., BOUCHIER, C., LIOTE, F., LOSTE, M. N., LEPAGE, V., CHARRON, D., GYAPAY, G., LOPES-VAZ, A., KUNTZ, D., BARDIN, T. & WEISSENBACH, J. (1998) New susceptibility locus for rheumatoid arthritis suggested by a genome-wide linkage study. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95, 10746-10750.
- CORNISH, A. L., CAMPBELL, I. K., MCKENZIE, B. S., CHATFIELD, S. & WICKS, I. P. (2009) G-CSF and GM-CSF as therapeutic targets in rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol*, 5, 554-559.
- CORRIGALL, V. M. & PANAYI, G. S. (2002) Autoantigens and immune pathways in rheumatoid arthritis. *Critical Reviews in Immunology*, 22, 281-293.
- DANESH, J., WONG, Y., WARD, M. & MUIR, J. (1999) Chronic infection with Helicobacter pylori, Chlamydia pneumoniae, or cytomegalovirus: population based study of coronary heart disease. *Heart*, 81, 245-247.
- DAS, U. N. (1991) INTERACTION(S) BETWEEN ESSENTIAL FATTY-ACIDS, EICOSANOIDS, CYTOKINES, GROWTH-FACTORS AND FREE-RADICALS -RELEVANCE TO NEW THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES IN RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS AND OTHER COLLAGEN VASCULAR DISEASES. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids, 44, 201-210.

- DAVIES, M. J. & THOMAS, A. (1984) THROMBOSIS AND ACUTE CORONARY-ARTERY LESIONS IN SUDDEN CARDIAC ISCHEMIC DEATH. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 310, 1137-1140.
- DAVIGNON, J. & GANZ, P. (2004) Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 109, 27-32.
- DE FERRANTI, S. & RIFAI, N. (2002) C-reactive protein and cardiovascular disease: a review of risk prediction and interventions. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 317, 1-15.
- DE GRAAF, J. C., BANGA, J. D., MONCADA, S., PALMER, R. M. J., DE GROOT, P. G. & SIXMA, J. J. (1992) NITRIC OXIDE FUNCTIONS AS AN INHIBITOR OF PLATELET ADHESION UNDER FLOW CONDITIONS. *Circulation*, 85, 2284-2290.
- DE VILLIERS, W. J. S. & SMART, E. J. (1999) Macrophage scavenger receptors and foam cell formation. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 66, 740-746.

DEINUM, J. (2002) Collagen and hypertension. Journal of Hypertension, 20, 1275-1276.

- DEL RINCON, I., FREEMAN, G. L., HAAS, R. W., O'LEARY, D. H. & ESCALANTE, A. (2005) Relative contribution of cardiovascular risk factors and rheumatoid arthritis clinical manifestations to atherosclerosis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 52, 3413-3423.
- DELGADO-VEGA, A. M. & ANAYA, J.-M. (2007) Meta-analysis of HLA-DRB1 polymorphism in Latin American patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 6, 402-408.
- DENISET, J. F., CHEUNG, P. K. M., DIBROV, E., LEE, K., STEIGERWALD, S. & PIERCE, G. N. (2009) Chlamydophila pneumoniae Infection Leads to Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation and Thickening in the Coronary Artery without Contributions from a Host Immune Response. *American Journal of Pathology*, 176, 1028-1037.
- DESTEFANO, F., ANDA, R. F., KAHN, H. S., WILLIAMSON, D. F. & RUSSELL, C. M. (1993) DENTAL DISEASE AND RISK OF CORONARY HEART-DISEASE AND MORTALITY. *British Medical Journal*, 306, 688-691.
- DHALIWAL, B. S. & STEINBRECHER, U. P. (1999) Scavenger receptors and oxidized low density lipoproteins. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 286, 191-205.
- DIDANGELOS, A., SIMPER, D., MONACO, C. & MAYR, M. (2009) Proteomics of acute coronary syndromes. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 11, 188-195.

- DIGIOVINE, F. S., NUKI, G. & DUFF, G. W. (1988) TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR IN SYNOVIAL EXUDATES. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 47, 768-772.
- DINARELLO, C. A. (1991) INTERLEUKIN-1 AND INTERLEUKIN-1 ANTAGONISM. Blood, 77, 1627-1652.
- DIXON, W. G. & SYMMONS, D. P. M. (2007) What effects might anti-TNF alpha treatment be expected to have on cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in rheumatoid arthritis? A review of the role of TNF alpha in cardiovascular pathophysiology. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 66, 1132-1136.
- DOHERTY, T. M., KASTELEIN, R., MENON, S., ANDRADE, S. & COFFMAN, R. L. (1993) MODULATION OF MURINE MACROPHAGE FUNCTION BY IL-13. *Journal of Immunology*, 151, 7151-7160.
- DORAN, M. F., CROWSON, C. S., POND, G. R., O'FALLON, W. M. & GABRIEL, S. E. (2002) Frequency of infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis compared with controls - A population-based study. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 46, 2287-2293.
- DOUGLAS, C. W. I., HEATH, J., HAMPTON, K. K. & PRESTON, F. E. (1993) IDENTITY OF VIRIDANS STREPTOCOCCI ISOLATED FROM CASES OF INFECTIVE ENDOCARDITIS. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 39, 179-182.
- DOUKAS, J. & POBER, J. S. (1990) IFN-GAMMA ENHANCES ENDOTHELIAL ACTIVATION INDUCED BY TUMOR-NECROSIS-FACTOR BUT NOT IL-1. Journal of Immunology, 145, 1727-1733.
- EBRINGER, A. & WILSON, C. (2000) HLA molecules, bacteria and autoimmunity. Journal of Medical Microbiology, 49, 305-311.
- EDFELDT, K., SWEDENBORG, J., HANSSON, G. K. & YAN, Z. Q. (2002) Expression of toll-like receptors in human atherosclerotic lesions - A possible pathway for plaque activation. *Circulation*, 105, 1158-1161.
- ELLINGSEN, T., BUUS, A. & STENGAARD-PEDERSEN, K. (2001) Plasma monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 is a marker for joint inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 28, 41-46.
- ENDEMANN, D. H. & SCHIFFRIN, E. L. (2004) Endothelial dysfunction. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 15, 1983-1992.
- ENDO, H., AKAHOSHI, T., TAKAGISHI, K., KASHIWAZAKI, S. & MATSUSHIMA, K. (1991) ELEVATION OF INTERLEUKIN-8 (IL-8) LEVELS IN JOINT FLUIDS OF PATIENTS WITH RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS AND THE

INDUCTION BY IL-8 OF LEUKOCYTE INFILTRATION AND SYNOVITIS IN RABBIT JOINTS. *Lymphokine and Cytokine Research*, 10, 245-252.

- ERBEL, C., CHEN, L., BEA, F., WANGLER, S., CELIK, S., LASITSCHKA, F., WANG,
 Y., BOECKLER, D., KATUS, H. A. & DENGLER, T. J. (2009) Inhibition of IL17A Attenuates Atherosclerotic Lesion Development in ApoE-Deficient Mice.
 Journal of Immunology, 183, 8167-8175.
- ERRIDGE, C., BURDESS, A., JACKSON, A. J., MURRAY, C., RIGGIO, M., LAPPIN, D., MILLIGAN, S., SPICKETT, C. M. & WEBB, D. J. (2008) Vascular cell responsiveness to Toll-like receptor ligands in carotid atheroma. *European Journal* of Clinical Investigation, 38, 713-720.
- ESCALANTE, A., HAAS, R. W. & DEL RINCON, I. (2005) Paradoxical effect of body mass index on survival in rheumatoid arthritis - Role of comorbidity and systemic inflammation. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 165, 1624-1629.
- ETMINAN, M., CARLETON, B., DELANEY, J. A. C. & PADWAL, R. (2004) Macrolide therapy for Chlamydia pneumoniae in the secondary prevention of coronary artery disease: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Pharmacotherapy*, 24, 338-343.
- FATHI, N. A., EZZ-ELDIN, A. M., MOSAD, E., BAKRY, R. M., HAMED, H. B., AHMED, S., MAHMOUD, M., RASHED, H.-A. G. & ABDULLAH, F. (2008)
 Diagnostic performance and predictive value of rheumatoid factor, anti-cycliccitrullinated peptide antibodies and HLA-DRB1 locus genes in rheumatoid arthritis. *International archives of medicine*, 1, 20.
- FEINGOLD, K. R. & GRUNFELD, C. (1992) ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN INDUCING HYPERLIPIDEMIA. *Diabetes*, 41, 97-101.
- FELDMANN, M., BRENNAN, F. M. & MAINI, R. N. (1996) Role of cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 14, 397-440.
- FELDMANN, M. & MAINI, R. N. (2003) TNF defined as a therapeutic target for rheumatoid arthritis and other autoimmune diseases (vol 9, pg 1245, 2003). *Nature Medicine*, 9, 1433-1433.
- FERRO, M., CONTI, M., NOVERO, D., BOTTO MICCA, F. & PALESTRO, G. (1990) [Incidence of atherosclerosis of the internal mammary artery compared with the coronary artery. A study of 22 non-selected autopsy cases]. *Minerva cardioangiologica*, 38, 325-30.

- FIEHN, N. E., LARSEN, T., CHRISTIANSEN, N., HOLMSTRUP, P. & SCHROEDER, T. V. (2005) Identification of periodontal pathogens in atherosclerotic vessels. *Journal of Periodontology*, 76, 731-736.
- FISCHER, M. B., GOERG, S., SHEN, L. M., PRODEUS, A. P., GOODNOW, C. C., KELSOE, G. & CARROLL, M. C. (1998) Dependence of germinal center B cells on expression of CD21/CD35 for survival. *Science*, 280, 582-585.
- FLEETWOOD, A. J., LAWRENCE, T., HAMILTON, J. A. & COOK, A. D. (2007) Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF) and macrophage CSFdependent macrophage phenotypes display differences in cytokine profiles and transcription factor activities: Implications for CSF blockade in inflammation. *Journal of Immunology*, 178, 5245-5252.
- FOELL, D. & ROTH, J. (2004) Proinflammatory S100 proteins in arthritis and autoimmune disease. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 50, 3762-3771.
- FONG, Y. M., TRACEY, K. J., MOLDAWER, L. L., HESSE, D. G., MANOGUE, K. B., KENNEY, J. S., LEE, A. T., KUO, G. C., ALLISON, A. C., LOWRY, S. F. & CERAMI, A. (1989) ANTIBODIES TO CACHECTIN TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR REDUCE INTERLEUKIN-1-BETA AND INTERLEUKIN-6 APPEARANCE DURING LETHAL BACTEREMIA. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 170, 1627-1633.
- FONTAINE, K. R., REDDEN, D. T., WANG, C. X., WESTFALL, A. O. & ALLISON, D.
 B. (2003) Years of life lost due to obesity. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association*, 289, 187-193.
- FOSTER, W., CARRUTHERS, D., LIP, G. Y. H. & BLANN, A. D. (2010) Inflammation and Microvascular and Macrovascular Endothelial Dysfunction in Rheumatoid Arthritis: Effect of Treatment. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 37, 711-716.
- FRANKLIN, J., LUNT, M., BUNN, D., SYMMONS, D. & SILMAN, A. (2007) Risk and predictors of infection leading to hospitalisation in a large primary-care-derived cohort of patients with inflammatory polyarthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 66, 308-312.
- FRITZ, J. H., FERRERO, R. L., PHILPOTT, D. J. & GIRARDIN, S. E. (2006) Nod-like proteins in immunity, inflammation and disease. *Nature Immunology*, 7, 1250-1257.

- FULTZ, M. J., BARBER, S. A., DIEFFENBACH, C. W. & VOGEL, S. N. (1993)
 INDUCTION OF IFN-GAMMA IN MACROPHAGES BY
 LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE. International immunology, 5, 1383-1392.
- GABRIEL, S. E. (2010) Heart disease and rheumatoid arthritis: understanding the risks. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, 69, 61-64.
- GAUTHIER, T. W., SCALIA, R., MUROHARA, T., GUO, J. P. & LEFER, A. M. (1995) NITRIC-OXIDE PROTECTS AGAINST LEUKOCYTE-ENDOTHELIUM INTERACTIONS IN THE EARLY STAGES OF HYPERCHOLESTEROLEMIA. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 15, 1652-1659.
- GILARDI, G. L. & FAUR, Y. C. (1984) PSEUDOMONAS-MESOPHILICA AND AN UNNAMED TAXON, CLINICAL ISOLATES OF PINK-PIGMENTED OXIDATIVE BACTERIA. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 20, 626-629.
- GILCHRIST, M. J. R., KRAFT, J. A., HAMMOND, J. G., CONNELLY, B. L. & MYERS, M. G. (1986) DETECTION OF PSEUDOMONAS-MESOPHILICA AS A SOURCE OF NOSOCOMIAL INFECTIONS IN A BONE-MARROW TRANSPLANT UNIT. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 23, 1052-1055.
- GIMBRONE, M. A. (1999) Endothelial dysfunction, hemodynamic forces, and atherosclerosis. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 82, 722-726.
- GLASS, C. K. & WITZTUM, J. L. (2001) Atherosclerosis: The road ahead. *Cell*, 104, 503-516.
- GOLDSTEIN, J. L., HO, Y. K., BASU, S. K. & BROWN, M. S. (1979) BINDING-SITE ON MACROPHAGES THAT MEDIATES UPTAKE AND DEGRADATION OF ACETYLATED LOW-DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN, PRODUCING MASSIVE CHOLESTEROL DEPOSITION. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 76, 333-337.
- GONZALEZ-JUANATEY, C., LLORCA, J., VAZQUEZ-RODRIGUEZ, T. R., DIAZ-VARELA, N., GARCIA-QUIROGA, H. & GONZALEZ-GAY, M. A. (2008)
 Short-Term Improvement of Endothelial Function in Rituximab-Treated
 Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients Refractory to Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha Blocker
 Therapy. Arthritis & Rheumatism-Arthritis Care & Research, 59, 1821-1824.
- GONZALEZ, A., KREMERS, H. M., CROWSON, C. S., BALLMAN, K. V., ROGER, V. L., JACOBSEN, S. J., O'FALLON, W. M. & GABRIEL, S. E. (2008) Do cardiovascular risk factors confer the same risk for cardiovascular outcomes in

rheumatoid arthritis patients as in non-rheumatoid arthritis patients? *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 67, 64-69.

- GONZALEZ, A., KREMERS, H. M., CROWSON, C. S., NICOLA, P. J., DAVIS, J. M., III, THERNEAU, T. M., ROGER, V. L. & GABRIEL, S. E. (2007) The widening mortality gap between rheumatoid arthritis patients and the general population. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 56, 3583-3587.
- GOODSON, N. (2002) Coronary artery disease and rheumatoid arthritis. *Current Opinion in Rheumatology*, 14, 115-120.
- GOODSON, N. J., WILES, N. J., LUNT, M., BARRETT, E. M., SILMAN, A. J. & SYMMONS, D. P. M. (2002) Mortality in early inflammatory polyarthritis -Cardiovascular mortality is increased in seropositive patients. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 46, 2010-2019.
- GORDON, T., KANNEL, W. B., MCGEE, D. & DAWBER, T. R. (1974) DEATH AND CORONARY ATTACKS IN MEN AFTER GIVING UP CIGARETTE-SMOKING - REPORT FROM FRAMINGHAM STUDY. *Lancet*, 2, 1345-1348.
- GOTTO, A. M. (2004) Atherosclerosis: Evolving vascular biology and clinical implications Introduction. *Circulation*, 109, 1-1.
- GRAF, J., SCHERZER, R., GRUNFELD, C. & IMBODEN, J. (2009) Levels of C-Reactive Protein Associated with High and Very High Cardiovascular Risk Are Prevalent in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Plos One*, 4.
- GRANT, S. F. A., THORLEIFSSON, G., FRIGGE, M. L., THORSTEINSSON, J.,
 GUNNLAUGSDOTTIR, B., GEIRSSON, A. J., GUDMUNDSSON, M.,
 VIKINGSSON, A., ERLENDSSON, K., VALSSON, J., JONSSON, H.,
 GUDBJARTSSON, D. F., STEFANSSON, K., GULCHER, J. R. & STEINSSON,
 K. (2001) The inheritance of rheumatoid arthritis in Iceland. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 44, 2247-2254.
- GRAYSTON, J. T., KRONMAL, R. A., JACKSON, L. A., PARISI, A. F., MUHLESTEIN, J. B., COHEN, J. D., ROGERS, W. J., CROUSE, J. R., BORROWDALE, S. L., SCHRON, E. & KNIRSCH, C. (2005) Azithromycin for the secondary prevention of coronary events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 352, 1637-1645.
- GREAVES, W. L. & KAISER, A. B. (1984) ENDOCARDITIS DUE TO VEILLONELLA-ALCALESCENS. Southern Medical Journal, 77, 1211-1212.

- GREWAL, T., PRICEPUTU, E., DAVIGNON, J. & BERNIER, L. (2001) Identification of a gamma-interferon-responsive element in the promoter of the human macrophage scavenger receptor A gene. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 21, 825-831.
- GRIENDLING, K. K. & FITZGERALD, G. A. (2003) Oxidative stress and cardiovascular injury - Part I: Basic mechanisms and in vivo monitoring of ROS. *Circulation*, 108, 1912-1916.
- GRUNFELD, C. & FEINGOLD, K. R. (1992) TUMOR-NECROSIS-FACTOR, INTERLEUKIN, AND INTERFERON INDUCED CHANGES IN LIPID-METABOLISM AS PART OF HOST DEFENSE. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine, 200, 224-227.
- GUEST, C. B., PARK, M. J., JOHNSON, D. R. & FREUND, G. G. (2008) The implication of proinflammatory cytokines in type 2 diabetes. *Frontiers in Bioscience*, 13, 5187-5194.
- GURFINKEL, E., BOZOVICH, G., BECK, E., TESTA, E., LIVELLARA, B. & MAUTNER, B. (1999) Treatment with the antibiotic roxithromycin in patients with acute non-Q-wave coronary syndromes - The final report of the ROXIS study. *European Heart Journal*, 20, 121-127.
- HACKER, H. & KARIN, M. (2006) Regulation and function of IKK and IKK-related kinases. *Science's STKE : signal transduction knowledge environment*, 2006, re13.
- HADDAD, A., THAVANESWARAN, A., CHANDRAN, V. & GLADMAN, D. D. (2011)
 The Incidence of Infection in Psoriatic Arthritis Results From a Longitudinal
 Observational Cohort. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 63, S645-S645.
- HAFFAJEE, A. D., BOGREN, A., HASTURK, H., FERES, M., LOPEZ, N. J. & SOCRANSKY, S. S. (2004) Subgingival microbiota of chronic periodontitis subjects from different geographic locations. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology*, 31, 996-1002.
- HAHN, B. H. (2010) Should Antibodies to High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol and Its Components Be Measured in All Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients to Predict Risk of Atherosclerosis? *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 62, 639-642.
- HAHN, B. H., GROSSMAN, J., CHEN, W. & MCMAHON, M. (2007) The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis in autoimmune rheumatic diseases: Roles of inflammation and dyslipidemia. *Journal of Autoimmunity*, 28, 69-75.

HALCOX, J. P. J., DEANFIELD, J., SHAMAEI-TOUSI, A., HENDERSON, B.,

STEPTOE, A., COATES, A. R. M., SINGHAL, A. & LUCAS, A. (2005) Circulating human heat shock protein 60 in the blood of healthy teenagers: A novel determinant of endothelial dysfunction and early vascular injury? *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 25, E141-E142.

HAMILTON, J. A. (2008) Colony-stimulating factors in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 8, 533-544.

- HAMILTON, J. A., STANLEY, E. R., BURGESS, A. W. & SHADDUCK, R. K. (1980) STIMULATION OF MACROPHAGE PLASMINOGEN-ACTIVATOR ACTIVITY BY COLONY-STIMULATING FACTORS. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 103, 435-445.
- HAMPE, J., CUTHBERT, A., CROUCHER, P. J. P., MIRZA, M. M., MASCHERETTI, S., FISHER, S., FRENZEL, H., KING, K., HASSELMEYER, A., MACPHERSON, A. J. S., BRIDGER, S., VAN DEVENTER, S., FORBES, A., NIKOLAUS, S., LENNARD-JONES, J. E., FOELSCH, U. R., KRAWCZAK, M., LEWIS, C., SCHREIBER, S. & MATHEW, C. G. (2001) Association between insertion mutation in NOD2 gene and Crohn's disease in German and British populations. *Lancet*, 357, 1925-1928.
- HAN, C. L., ROBINSON, D. W., HACKETT, M. V., PARAMORE, L. C., FRAEMAN,
 K. H. & BALA, M. V. (2006) Cardiovascular disease and risk factors in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, psoriatic arthritis, and ankylosing spondylitis. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 33, 2167-2172.
- HANSSON, G. K. (1997) Cell-mediated immunity in atherosclerosis. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 8, 301-311.
- HANSSON, G. K. (2001) Immune mechanisms in atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 21, 1876-1890.
- HANSSON, G. K. (2005) Mechanisms of disease Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 352, 1685-1695.
- HANSSON, G. K. & LIBBY, P. (2006) The immune response in atherosclerosis: a doubleedged sword. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 6, 508-519.
- HARASZTHY, V. I., ZAMBON, J. J., TREVISAN, M., ZEID, M. & GENCO, R. J. (2000) Identification of periodontal pathogens in atheromatous plaques. *Journal of Periodontology*, 71, 1554-1560.

- HARDING, C. V., RAMACHANDRA, L. & WICK, M. J. (2003) Interaction of bacteria with antigen presenting cells: influences on antigen presentation and antibacterial immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 15, 112-119.
- HASEGAWA, H., TAKANO, H., OHTSUKA, M., UEDA, K., NIITSUMA, Y., QIN, Y. J., TADOKORO, H., SHIOMI, M. & KOMURO, I. (2006) G-CSF prevents the progression of atherosclerosis and neointimal formation in rabbits. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 344, 370-376.
- HATTORI, T., VON DER MARK, K., KAWAKI, H., YUTANI, Y., KUBOTA, S., NAKANISHI, T., EBERSPAECHER, H., DE CROMBRUGGHE, B. & TAKIGAWA, M. (2005) Downregulation of rheumatoid arthritis-related antigen RA-A47 (HSP47/colligin-2) in chondrocytic cell lines induces apoptosis and cellsurface expression of RA-A47 in association with CD9. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 202, 191-204.
- HAYNES, W. G. & STANFORD, C. (2003) Periodontal disease and atherosclerosis From dental to arterial plaque. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 23, 1309-1311.
- HIGASHI, Y., GOTO, C., JITSUIKI, D., UMEMURA, T., NISHIOKA, K., HIDAKA, T., TAKEMOTO, H., NAKAMURA, S., SOGA, J., CHAYAMA, K., YOSHIZUMI, M. & TAGUCHI, A. (2008) Periodontal infection is associated with endothelial dysfunction in healthy subjects and hypertensive patients. *Hypertension*, 51, 446-453.
- HIGHTOWER, L. E. (1991) HEAT-SHOCK, STRESS PROTEINS, CHAPERONES, AND PROTEOTOXICITY. *Cell*, 66, 191-197.
- HIGUCHI, M. L., GUTIERREZ, P. S., BEZERRA, H. G., PALOMINO, S. A., AIELLO, V. D., SILVESTRE, J. M. L., LIBBY, P. & RAMIRES, J. A. F. (2002)
 Comparison between adventitial and intimal inflammation of ruptured and nonruptured atherosclerotic plaques in human coronary arteries. *Arquivos brasileiros de cardiologia*, 79, 20-4.
- HOFFMAN, H. M., MUELLER, J. L., BROIDE, D. H., WANDERER, A. A. & KOLODNER, R. D. (2001) Mutation of a new gene encoding a putative pyrin-like protein causes familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome and Muckle-Wells syndrome. *Nature Genetics*, 29, 301-305.
- HOLLAN, I., SCOTT, H., SAATVEDT, K., PRAYSON, R., MIKKELSEN, K., NOSSENT, H. C., KVELSTAD, I. L., LIANG, M. H. & FORRE, O. T. (2007)

Inflammatory rheumatic disease and smoking are predictors of aortic inflammation - A controlled study of biopsy specimens obtained at coronary artery surgery. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 56, 2072-2079.

- HOLST, O., ULMER, A. J., BRADE, H., FLAD, H. D. & RIETSCHEL, E. T. (1996)
 Biochemistry and cell biology of bacterial endotoxins. *Fems Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, 16, 83-104.
- HONGOH, Y., YUZAWA, H., OHKUMA, M. & KUDO, T. (2003) Evaluation of primers and PCR conditions for the analysis of 16S rRNA genes from a natural environment. *Fems Microbiology Letters*, 221, 299-304.
- HOUTKAMP, M. A., DE BOER, O. J., VAN DER LOOS, C. M., VAN DER WAL, A. C.
 & BECKER, A. E. (2001) Adventitial infiltrates associated with advanced atherosclerotic plaques: structural organization suggests generation of local humoral immune responses. *Journal of Pathology*, 193, 263-269.
- HSU, H. Y., NICHOLSON, A. C. & HAJJAR, D. P. (1996) Inhibition of macrophage scavenger receptor activity by tumor necrosis factor-alpha is transcriptionally and post-transcriptionally regulated. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271, 7767-7773.
- HU, H., PIERCE, G. N. & ZHONG, G. M. (1999) The atherogenic effects of chlamydia are dependent on serum cholesterol and specific to Chlamydia pneumoniae. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 103, 747-753.
- HUANG, Q.-Q., SOBKOVIAK, R., JOCKHECK-CLARK, A. R., SHI, B., MANDELIN,
 A. M., II, TAK, P. P., HAINES, G. K., III, NICCHITTA, C. V. & POPE, R. M.
 (2009) Heat Shock Protein 96 Is Elevated in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Activates
 Macrophages Primarily via TLR2 Signaling. *Journal of Immunology*, 182, 4965-4973.
- HUBER, S. A., SAKKINEN, P., CONZE, D., HARDIN, N. & TRACY, R. (1999) Interleukin-6 exacerbates early atherosclerosis in mice. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 19, 2364-2367.
- HUITTINEN, T., LEINONEN, M., TENKANEN, L., MANTTARI, M., VIRKKUNEN,
 H., PITKANEN, T., WAHLSTROM, E., PALOSUO, T., MANNINEN, V. &
 SAIKKU, P. (2002) Autoimmunity to human heat shock protein 60, Chlamydia
 pneumoniae infection, and inflammation in predicting coronary risk.
 Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, 22, 431-437.

- HUNG, H. C., WILLETT, W., MERCHANT, A., ROSNER, B. A., ASCHERIO, A. & JOSHIPURA, K. J. (2003) Oral health and peripheral arterial disease. *Circulation*, 107, 1152-1157.
- HURLIMANN, D., FORSTER, A., NOLL, G., ENSELEIT, F., CHENEVARD, R., DISTLER, O., BECHIR, M., SPIEKER, L. E., NEIDHART, M., MICHEL, B. A., GAY, R. E., LUSCHER, T. F., GAY, S. & RUSCHITZKA, F. (2002) Anti-tumor necrosis factor-alpha treatment improves endothelial function in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Circulation*, 106, 2184-2187.
- IMAL, Y. & YAMAKAWA, M. (1996) Morphology, function and pathology of follicular dendritic cells. *Pathology international*, 46, 807-33.
- INOHARA, N. & NUNEZ, G. (2003) NODs: Intracellular proteins involved in inflammation and apoptosis. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 3, 371-382.
- INOUE, M., ITOH, H., UEDA, M., NARUKO, T., KOJIMA, A., KOMATSU, R., DOI,
 K., OGAWA, Y., TAMURA, N., TAKAYA, K., IGAKI, T., YAMASHITA, J.,
 CHUN, T. H., MASATSUGU, K., BECKER, A. E. & NAKAO, K. (1998)
 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in human coronary
 atherosclerotic lesions Possible pathophysiological significance of VEGF in
 progression of atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 98, 2108-2116.
- ISHIKAWA, Y., SATOH, M., ITOH, T., MINAMI, Y., TAKAHASHI, Y. & AKAMURA, M. (2008) Local expression of Toll-like receptor 4 at the site of ruptured plaques in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Clinical Science*, 115, 133-140.
- ISHISAKA, R., SATO, N., TANAKA, K., TAKESHIGE, T., IWATA, H., KLOSTERGAARD, J. & UTSUMI, T. (1999) A part of the transmembrane domain of pro-TNF can function as a cleavable signal sequence that generates a biologically active secretory form of TNF. *Journal of Biochemistry*, 126, 413-420.
- ISNARDI, I., NG, Y.-S., MENARD, L., MEYERS, G., SAADOUN, D., SRDANOVIC, I.,
 SAMUELS, J., BERMAN, J., BUCKNER, J. H., CUNNINGHAM-RUNDLES, C.
 & MEFFRE, E. Complement receptor 2/CD21(-) human naive B cells contain
 mostly autoreactive unresponsive clones. *Blood*, 115, 5026-5036.
- ITO, T. & IKEDA, U. (2003) Inflammatory cytokines and cardiovascular disease. Current Drug Targets - Inflammation and Allergy, 2, 257-265.
- JABS, A., OKAMOTO, E.-I., VINTEN-JOHANSEN, J., BAURIEDEL, G. & WILCOX, J. N. (2007) Sequential patterns of chemokine- and chemokine receptor-synthesis

following vessel wall injury in porcine coronary arteries. *Atherosclerosis*, 192, 75-84.

- JACOB, H. S., VISSER, M., KEY, N. S., GOODMAN, J. L., MOLDOW, C. F. & VERCELLOTTI, G. M. (1992) Herpes virus infection of endothelium: new insights into atherosclerosis. *Transactions of the American Clinical and Climatological Association*, 103, 95-104.
- JACOBSSON, L. T. H., TURESSON, C., GULFE, A., KAPETANOVIC, M. C., PETERSSON, I. F., SAXNE, T. & GEBOREK, P. (2005) Treatment with tumor necrosis factor blockers is associated with a lower incidence of first cardiovascular events in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 32, 1213-1218.
- JACOBSSON, L. T. H., TURESSON, C., HANSON, R. L., PILLEMER, S., SIEVERS, M. L., PETTITT, D. J., BENNETT, P. H. & KNOWLER, W. C. (2001) Joint swelling as a predictor of death from cardiovascular disease in a population study of Pima Indians. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 44, 1170-1176.
- JANDA, J. M. & ABBOTT, S. L. (2007) 16S rRNA gene sequencing for bacterial identification in the diagnostic laboratory: Pluses, perils, and pitfalls. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 45, 2761-2764.
- JANEWAY, C. A. & MEDZHITOV, R. (2002) Innate immune recognition. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 20, 197-216.
- JAVIER LOPEZ-LONGO, F., OLIVER-MINARRO, D., DE LA TORRE, I.,
 GONZALEZ-DIAZ DE RABAGO, E., SANCHEZ-RAMON, S., RODRIGUEZ-MAHOU, M., PARAVISINI, A., MONTEAGUDO, I., GONZALEZ, C.-M.,
 GARCIA-CASTRO, M., DOLORES CASAS, M. & CARRENO, L. (2009)
 Association Between Anti-Cyclic Citrullinated Peptide Antibodies and Ischemic
 Heart Disease in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism-Arthritis Care & Research*, 61, 419-424.
- JAWAHEER, D., SELDIN, M. F., AMOS, C. I., CHEN, W. V., SHIGETA, R., ETZEL,
 C., DAMLE, A., XIAO, X. L., CHEN, D., LUM, R. F., KERN, M., CRISWELL,
 L. A., ALBANI, S., NELSON, J. L., CLEGG, D. O., POPE, R., SCHROEDER, H.
 W., BRIDGES, S. L., PISETSKY, D. S., WARD, R., KASTNER, D. L., WILDER,
 R. L., PINCUS, T., CALLAHAN, L. F., FLEMMING, D., WENER, M. H. &
 GREGERSEN, P. K. (2003) Screening the rheumatoid arthritis genome for

susceptibility genes - A replication study and combined analysis of 512 multicase families. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 48, 906-916.

- KALAYOGLU, M. V. & BYRNE, G. I. (1998) Induction of macrophage foam cell formation by Chlamydia pneumoniae. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 177, 725-729.
- KALAYOGLU, M. V., HOERNEMAN, B., LAVERDA, D., MORRISON, S. G., MORRISON, R. P. & BYRNE, G. I. (1999) Cellular oxidation of low-density lipoprotein by Chlamydia pneumoniae. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 180, 780-790.
- KANNEL, W. B. & SCHATZKIN, A. (1985) SUDDEN-DEATH LESSONS FROM SUBSETS IN POPULATION STUDIES. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 5, B141-B149.
- KARASEK, R., COLLINS, S., CLAYS, E., BORTKIEWICZ, A. & FERRARIO, M.
 (2010) DESCRIPTION OF A LARGE-SCALE STUDY DESIGN TO ASSESS
 WORK-STRESS-DISEASE ASSOCIATIONS FOR CARDIOVASCULAR
 DISEASE. International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health, 23, 293-312.
- KARLSSON, H., HESSLE, C. & RUDIN, A. (2002) Innate immune responses of human neonatal cells to bacteria from the normal gastrointestinal flora. *Infection and Immunity*, 70, 6688-6696.
- KATSIKIS, P. D., CHU, C. Q., BRENNAN, F. M., MAINI, R. N. & FELDMANN, M.
 (1994) IMMUNOREGULATORY ROLE OF INTERLEUKIN-10 IN
 RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 179, 1517-1527.
- KAUFMANN, S. H. E. (1990) HEAT-SHOCK PROTEINS AND THE IMMUNE-RESPONSE. *Immunology Today*, 11, 129-136.
- KAWASAKI, K., SMITH, R. S., HSIEH, C. M., SUN, J. X., CHAO, J. & LIAO, J. K. (2003) Activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase Akt pathway mediates nitric oxide-induced endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23, 5726-5737.
- KAYE, K. M., MACONE, A. & KAZANJIAN, P. H. (1992) CATHETER INFECTION CAUSED BY METHYLOBACTERIUM IN IMMUNOCOMPROMISED HOSTS
 REPORT OF 3 CASES AND REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 14, 1010-1014.

- KEANEY, J. F., JR. (2011) Immune Modulation of Atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 124, E559-E560.
- KEFFER, J., PROBERT, L., CAZLARIS, H., GEORGOPOULOS, S., KASLARIS, E., KIOUSSIS, D. & KOLLIAS, G. (1991) TRANSGENIC MICE EXPRESSING HUMAN TUMOR-NECROSIS-FACTOR - A PREDICTIVE GENETIC MODEL OF ARTHRITIS. *Embo Journal*, 10, 4025-4031.
- KEYSTONE, E. C. (2001) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha blockade in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America*, 27, 427-443.
- KHAN, B. V., HARRISON, D. G., OLBRYCH, M. T., ALEXANDER, R. W. & MEDFORD, R. M. (1996) Nitric oxide regulates vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 gene expression and redox-sensitive transcriptional events in human vascular endothelial cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93, 9114-9119.
- KHARBANDA, R. & MACALLISTER, R. J. (2005) The atherosclerosis time-line and the role of the endothelium. *Current Medicinal Chemistry - Immunology Endocrine & Metabolic Agents*, 5, 47-52.
- KHERA, T. K., COPLAND, D. A., BOLDISON, J., LAIT, P. J. P., SZYMKOWSKI, D. E., DICK, A. D. & NICHOLSON, L. B. (2011) TNF-mediated macrophage activation in the target organ is critical for clinical manifestation of uveitis. *Immunology*, 135, 179-179.
- KIM, W.-J., KIM, H., SUK, K. & LEE, W.-H. (2007) Macrophages express granzyme B in the lesion areas of atherosclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis. *Immunology Letters*, 111, 57-65.
- KIM, W. U., CHO, M. L., JUNG, Y. O., MIN, S. Y., PARK, S. W., MIN, D. J., YOON, J.
 H. & KIM, H. Y. (2004) Type II collagen autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. *American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, 327, 202-211.
- KIMHI, O., CASPI, D., BORNSTEIN, N. M., MAHARSHAK, N., GUR, A., ARBEL, Y., COMANESHTER, D., PARAN, D., WIGLER, I., LEVARTOVSKY, D., BERLINER, S. & ELKAYAM, O. (2007) Prevalence and risk factors of atherosclerosis in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 36, 203-209.
- KIRII, H., NIWA, T., YAMADA, Y., WADA, H., SAITO, K., IWAKURA, Y., ASANO, M., MORIWAKI, H. & SEISHIMA, M. (2003) Lack of interleukin-1 beta

decreases the severity of atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 23, 656-660.

- KITAS, G. D. & GABRIEL, S. E. (2010) Cardiovascular disease in rheumatoid arthritis: state of the art and future perspectives. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 70, 8-14.
- KLEINDIENST, R., XU, Q. B., WILLEIT, J., WALDENBERGER, F. R., WEIMANN, S.
 & WICK, G. (1993) IMMUNOLOGY OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS DEMONSTRATION OF HEAT-SHOCK PROTEIN-60 EXPRESSION AND TLYMPHOCYTES BEARING ALPHA/BETA OR GAMMA/DELTA RECEPTOR
 IN HUMAN ATHEROSCLEROTIC LESIONS. American Journal of Pathology, 142, 1927-1937.
- KOBE, B. & DEISENHOFER, J. (1994) THE LEUCINE-RICH REPEAT A VERSATILE BINDING MOTIF. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 19, 415-421.
- KOBE, B. & KAJAVA, A. V. (2001) The leucine-rich repeat as a protein recognition motif. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, 11, 725-732.
- KONO, H. & ROCK, K. L. (2008) How dying cells alert the immune system to danger. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 8, 279-289.
- KREMERS, H. M., NICOLA, P. J., CROWSON, C. S., BALLMAN, K. V. & GABRIEL, S. E. (2004) Prognostic importance of low body mass index in relation to cardiovascular mortality in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 50, 3450-3457.
- KRUTH, H. S. (2001) Macrophage foam cells and atherosclerosis. *Frontiers in Bioscience*, 6, D429-D455.
- KU, I. A., IMBODEN, J. B., HSUE, P. Y. & GANZ, P. (2009) Rheumatoid Arthritis A Model of Systemic Inflammation Driving Atherosclerosis. *Circulation Journal*, 73, 977-985.
- KUMAR, H., KAWAI, T. & AKIRA, S. (2011) Pathogen Recognition by the Innate Immune System. *International Reviews of Immunology*, 30, 16-34.
- KUNJATHOOR, V. V., FEBBRAIO, M., PODREZ, E. A., MOORE, K. J.,
 ANDERSSON, L., KOEHN, S., RHEE, J. S., SILVERSTEIN, R., HOFF, H. F. &
 FREEMAN, M. W. (2002) Scavenger receptors class A-I/II and CD36 are the
 principal receptors responsible for the uptake of modified low density lipoprotein
 leading to lipid loading in macrophages. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 49982-49988.

- KUO, C. C., GOWN, A. M., BENDITT, E. P. & GRAYSTON, J. T. (1993) DETECTION OF CHLAMYDIA-PNEUMONIAE IN AORTIC LESIONS OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS BY IMMUNOCYTOCHEMICAL STAIN. Arteriosclerosis and Thrombosis, 13, 1501-1504.
- LAMB, J. R., BAL, V., MENDEZ-SAMPERIO, P., MEHLERT, A., SO, A., ROTHBARD, J., JINDAL, S., YOUNG, R. A. & YOUNG, D. B. (1989) Stress proteins may provide a link between the immune response to infection and autoimmunity. *International immunology*, 1, 191-6.
- LANZAVECCHIA, A. & SALLUSTO, F. (2009) Human B cell memory. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 21, 298-304.
- LEE, H. K., LEE, J. & TOBIAS, P. S. (2002) Two lipoproteins extracted from Escherichia coli K-12 LCD25 lipopolysaccharide are the major components responsible for tolllike receptor 2-mediated signaling. *Journal of Immunology*, 168, 4012-4017.
- LEHRKE, M. & LAZAR, M. A. (2004) Inflamed about obesity. *Nature Medicine*, 10, 126-127.
- LEHTINIEMI, J., KARHUNEN, P. J., GOEBELER, S., NIKKARI, S. & NIKKARI, S. T. (2005) Identification of different bacterial DNAs in human coronary arteries. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 35, 13-16.
- LEINONEN, M. & SAIKKU, P. (2002) Evidence for infectious agents in cardiovascular disease and atherosclerosis. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 2, 11-17.
- LEVENSON, J., GIRAL, P., RAZAVIAN, M., GARIEPY, J. & SIMON, A. (1995) FIBRINOGEN AND SILENT ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN SUBJECTS WITH CARDIOVASCULAR RISK-FACTORS. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 15, 1263-1268.
- LI, L., MESSAS, E., BATISTA, E. L., LEVINE, R. A. & AMAR, S. (2002) Porphyromonas gingivalis infection accelerates the progression of atherosclerosis in a heterozygous apolipoprotein E-deficient murine model. *Circulation*, 105, 861-867.
- LIBBY, P. (2008) Role of inflammation in atherosclerosis associated with rheumatoid arthritis. *The American journal of medicine*, 121, S21-31.
- LIBBY, P., RIDKER, P. M. & HANSSON, G. K. (2011) Progress and challenges in translating the biology of atherosclerosis. *Nature*, 473, 317-325.

- LIN, E., FREEDMAN, J. E. & BEAULIEU, L. M. (2009) Innate Immunity and Toll-like Receptor Antagonists: A Potential Role in the Treatment of Cardiovascular Diseases. *Cardiovascular Therapeutics*, 27, 117-123.
- LIU, J. W., WU, J. J., CHEN, H. M., HUANG, A. H., KO, W. C. & CHUANG, Y. C. (1997) Methylobacterium mesophilicum synovitis in an alcoholic. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 24, 1008-1009.
- LOEWE, L., ROSENBLATT, P. & ALTUREWERBER, E. (1946) A REFRACTORY CASE OF SUBACUTE BACTERIAL ENDOCARDITIS DUE TO VEILLONELLA GAZOGENES CLINICALLY ARRESTED BY A COMBINATION OF PENICILLIN, SODIUM PARAAMINOHIPPURATE, AND HEPARIN. *American Heart Journal*, 32, 327-338.
- LOONEY, W. J., NARITA, M. & MUHLEMANN, K. (2009) Stenotrophomonas maltophilia: an emerging opportunist human pathogen. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 9, 312-323.
- LOUGHREY, A. C. & CHEW, E. W. (1990) ENDOCARDITIS CAUSED BY VEILLONELLA-DISPAR. *Journal of Infection*, 21, 319-320.
- LU, T., STROOT, P. G. & OERTHER, D. B. (2009) Reverse Transcription of 16S rRNA To Monitor Ribosome-Synthesizing Bacterial Populations in the Environment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75, 4589-4598.
- LUSIS, A. J., MAR, R. & PAJUKANTA, P. (2004) Genetics of atherosclerosis. *Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics*, 5, 189-218.
- MACGREGOR, A. J., SNIEDER, H., RIGBY, A. S., KOSKENVUO, M., KAPRIO, J., AHO, K. & SILMAN, A. J. (2000) Characterizing the quantitative genetic contribution to rheumatoid arthritis using data from twins. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 43, 30-37.
- MADHAIYAN, M., KIM, B. Y., POONGUZHALI, S., KWON, S. W., SONG, M. H., RYU, J. H., GO, S. J., KOO, B. S. & SA, T. M. (2007) Methylobacterium oryzae sp nov., an aerobic, pink-pigmented, facultatively methylotrophic, 1aminocyclopropane-L-carboxylate deaminase-producing bacterium isolated from rice. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 57, 326-331.
- MAIELLARO, K. & TAYLOR, W. R. (2007) The role of the adventitia in vascular inflammation. *Cardiovascular Research*, 75, 640-648.

- MAJESKY, M. W., DONG, X. R., HOGLUND, V., DAUM, G. & MAHONEY, W. M., JR. (2012) The Adventitia: A Progenitor Cell Niche for the Vessel Wall. *Cells Tissues Organs*, 195, 73-81.
- MAJITHIA, V. & GERACI, S. A. (2007) Rheumatoid arthritis: Diagnosis and management. *American Journal of Medicine*, 120, 936-939.
- MARADIT-KREMERS, H., NICOLA, P. J., CROWSON, C. S., BALLMAN, K. V. & GABRIEL, S. E. (2005) Cardiovascular Death in Rheumatoid Arthritis A Population-Based Study. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 52, 722-732.
- MARCHESI, J. R., SATO, T., WEIGHTMAN, A. J., MARTIN, T. A., FRY, J. C., HIOM, S. J. & WADE, W. G. (1998) Design and evaluation of useful bacterium-specific PCR primers that amplify genes coding for bacterial 16S rRNA. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 64, 795-799.
- MARQUES DA SILVA, R., CAUGANT, D. A., ERIBE, E. R. K., AAS, J. A., LINGAAS, P. S., GEIRAN, O., TRONSTAD, L. & OLSEN, I. (2006) Bacterial diversity in aortic aneurysms determined by 16S ribosomal RNA gene analysis. *J Vasc Surg*, 44, 1055-60.
- MATTILA, K. J., NIEMINEN, M. S., VALTONEN, V. V., RASI, V. P., KESANIEMI, Y. A., SYRJALA, S. L., JUNGELL, P. S., ISOLUOMA, M., HIETANIEMI, K., JOKINEN, M. J. & HUTTUNEN, J. K. (1989) ASSOCIATION BETWEEN DENTAL-HEALTH AND ACUTE MYOCARDIAL-INFARCTION. *British Medical Journal*, 298, 779-781.
- MATZINGER, P. (2002) The danger model: A renewed sense of self. *Science*, 296, 301-305.
- MAURER, M. & VON STEBUT, E. (2004) Macrophage inflammatory protein-1. International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 36, 1882-1886.
- MCKELLAR, G. E., MCCAREY, D. W., SATTAR, N. & MCINNES, I. B. (2009) Role for TNF in atherosclerosis? Lessons from autoimmune disease. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 6, 410-417.
- MCLAREN, J. E., MICHAEL, D. R., SALTER, R. C., ASHLIN, T. G., CALDER, C. J., MILLER, A. M., LIEW, F. Y. & RAMJI, D. P. (2010) IL-33 Reduces Macrophage Foam Cell Formation. *Journal of Immunology*, 185, 1222-1229.
- MEASE, P. J. (2010) Psoriatic arthritis update on pathophysiology, assessment, and management. *Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis*, 68, 191-8.

- MEDZHITOV, R. & JANEWAY, C. J. (2000) Advances in immunology: Innate immunity. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 343, 338-344.
- MEDZHITOV, R., PRESTONHURLBURT, P. & JANEWAY, C. A. (1997) A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. *Nature*, 388, 394-397.
- MERCADO, F. B., MARSHALL, R. I., KLESTOV, A. C. & BARTOLD, P. M. (2001) Relationship between rheumatoid arthritis and periodontitis. *Journal of Periodontology*, 72, 779-787.
- MEREDITH, I. T., YEUNG, A. C., WEIDINGER, F. F., ANDERSON, T. J., UEHATA, A., RYAN, T. J., JR., SELWYN, A. P. & GANZ, P. (1993) Role of impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation in ischemic manifestations of coronary artery disease. *Circulation*, 87, V56-V66.
- MEYLAN, E., TSCHOPP, J. & KARIN, M. (2006) Intracellular pattern recognition receptors in the host response. *Nature*, 442, 39-44.
- MICHAUD, K. & WOLFE, F. (2007) Comorbidities in rheumatoid arthritis. *Best Practice* & *Research in Clinical Rheumatology*, 21, 885-906.
- MICHIELS, C. (2003) Endothelial cell functions. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 196, 430-443.
- MILLAUER, B., WIZIGMANNVOOS, S., SCHNURCH, H., MARTINEZ, R., MOLLER, N. P. H., RISAU, W. & ULLRICH, A. (1993) HIGH-AFFINITY VEGF BINDING AND DEVELOPMENTAL EXPRESSION SUGGEST FLK-1 AS A MAJOR REGULATOR OF VASCULOGENESIS AND ANGIOGENESIS. *Cell*, 72, 835-846.
- MILLONIG, G., MALCOM, G. T. & WICK, G. (2002) Early inflammatoryimmunological lesions in juvenile atherosclerosis from the Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth (PDAY)-study. *Atherosclerosis*, 160, 441-448.
- MILLS, N. L. & EVERSON, C. T. (1991) ATHEROSCLEROSIS OF THE ASCENDING AORTA AND CORONARY-ARTERY BYPASS - PATHOLOGY, CLINICAL CORRELATES, AND OPERATIVE MANAGEMENT. Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, 102, 546-553.
- MOEN, K., BRUN, J. G., VALEN, M., SKARTVEIT, L., ERIBE, E. K. R., OLSEN, I. & JONSSON, R. (2006) Synovial inflammation in active rheumatoid arthritis and

psoriatic arthritis facilitates trapping of a variety of oral bacterial DNAs. *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology*, 24, 656-663.

- MORATH, S., GEYER, A. & HARTUNG, T. (2001) Structure-function relationship of cytokine induction by lipoteichoic acid from Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 193, 393-397.
- MORTENSEN, O. H., NIELSEN, A. R., ERIKSTRUP, C., PLOMGAARD, P., FISCHER, C. P., KROGH-MADSEN, R., LINDEGAARD, B., PETERSEN, A. M., TAUDORF, S. & PEDERSEN, B. K. (2009) Calprotectin - A Novel Marker of Obesity. *Plos One*, 4.
- MUHLRADT, P. F., KIESS, M., MEYER, H., SUSSMUTH, R. & JUNG, G. (1997)
 Isolation, structure elucidation, and synthesis of a macrophage stimulatory
 lipopeptide from Mycoplasma fermentans acting at picomolar concentration.
 Journal of Experimental Medicine, 185, 1951-1958.
- MULLICK, A. E., SOLDAU, K., KIOSSES, W. B., BELL, T. A., III, TOBIAS, P. S. & CURTISS, L. K. (2008) Increased endothelial expression of Toll-like receptor 2 at sites of disturbed blood flow exacerbates early atherogenic events. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 205, 373-383.
- MURRAY, C. J. L. & LOPEZ, A. D. (1997a) Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020: Global burden of disease study. *Lancet*, 349, 1498-1504.
- MURRAY, C. J. L. & LOPEZ, A. D. (1997b) Mortality by cause for eight regions of the world: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet*, 349, 1269-1276.
- MUZIO, M., POLENTARUTTI, N., BOSISIO, D., PRAHLADAN, M. K. P. & MANTOVANI, A. (2000) Toll-like receptors: a growing family of immune receptors that are differentially expressed and regulated by different leukocytes. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 67, 450-456.
- NAITO, M., SUZUKI, H., MORI, T., MATSUMOTO, A., KODAMA, T. & TAKAHASHI, K. (1992) COEXPRESSION OF TYPE-I AND TYPE-II HUMAN MACROPHAGE SCAVENGER RECEPTORS IN MACROPHAGES OF VARIOUS ORGANS AND FOAM CELLS IN ATHEROSCLEROTIC LESIONS. *American Journal of Pathology*, 141, 591-599.
- NAKAI, A., SATOH, M., HIRAYOSHI, K. & NAGATA, K. (1992) INVOLVEMENT OF THE STRESS PROTEIN HSP47 IN PROCOLLAGEN PROCESSING IN THE ENDOPLASMIC-RETICULUM. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 117, 903-914.

- NAKIB, S. A., PANKOW, J. S., BECK, J. D., OFFENBACHER, S., EVANS, G. W., DESVARIEUX, M. & FOLSOM, A. R. (2004) Periodontitis and coronary artery calcification: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. *Journal of Periodontology*, 75, 505-510.
- NARUKO, T., UEDA, M., HAZE, K., VAN DER WAL, A. C., VAN DER LOOS, C. M., ITOH, A., KOMATSU, R., IKURA, Y., OGAMI, M., SHIMADA, Y., EHARA, S., YOSHIYAMA, M., TAKEUCHI, K., YOSHIKAWA, J. & BECKER, A. E. (2002) Neutrophil infiltration of culprit lesions in acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation*, 106, 2894-2900.
- NIELEN, M. M. J., VAN SCHAARDENBURG, D., REESINK, H. W., VAN DE STADT,
 R. J., VAN DER HORST-BRUINSMA, I. E., DE KONING, M., HABIBUW, M.
 R., VANDENBROUCKE, J. P. & DIJKMANS, B. A. C. (2004) Specific
 autoantibodies precede the symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis A study of serial
 measurements in blood donors. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 50, 380-386.
- O'CONNOR, C. M., DUNNE, M. W., PFEFFER, M. A., MUHLESTEIN, J. B., YAO, L., GUPTA, S., BENNER, R. J., FISHER, M. R., COOK, T. D. & INVESTIGATORS, W. S. (2003) Azithromycin for the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease events - The WIZARD study: A randomized controlled trial. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association*, 290, 1459-1466.
- O'NEILL, S. G., GILES, I., LAMBRIANIDES, A., MANSON, J., D'CRUZ, D., SCHRIEBER, L., MARCH, L. M., LATCHMAN, D. S., ISENBERG, D. A. & RAHMAN, A. (2010) Antibodies to Apolipoprotein A-I, High-Density Lipoprotein, and C-Reactive Protein Are Associated With Disease Activity in Patients With Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 62, 845-854.
- OCONNELL, K. A. & EDIDIN, M. (1990) A MOUSE LYMPHOID ENDOTHELIAL-CELL LINE IMMORTALIZED BY SIMIAN VIRUS-40 BINDS LYMPHOCYTES AND RETAINS FUNCTIONAL-CHARACTERISTICS OF NORMAL ENDOTHELIAL-CELLS. *Journal of Immunology*, 144, 521-525.
- OGRENDIK, M. (2006) Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with ornidazole: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Rheumatology International*, 26, 1132-1137.

- OHASHI, K., BURKART, V., FLOHE, S. & KOLB, H. (2000) Heat shock protein 60 is a putative endogenous ligand of the toll-like receptor-4 complex. *Journal of Immunology*, 164, 558-561.
- OHTA, S., HARIGAI, M., TANAKA, M., KAWAGUCHI, Y., SUGIURA, T., TAKAGI, K., FUKASAWA, C., HARA, M. & KAMATANI, N. (2001) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha,) converting enzyme contributes to production of TNFalpha in synovial tissues from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 28, 1756-1763.
- OKAMURA, Y., WATARI, M., JERUD, E. S., YOUNG, D. W., ISHIZAKA, S. T., ROSE, J., CHOW, J. C. & STRAUSS, J. F. (2001) The extra domain A of fibronectin activates toll-like receptor 4. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276, 10229-10233.
- OSHIMA, T., OZONO, R., YANO, Y., OISHI, Y., TERAGAWA, H., HIGASHI, Y., YOSHIZUMI, M. & KAMBE, M. (2005) Association of Helicobacter pylori infection with systemic inflammation and endothelial dysfunction in healthy male subjects. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 45, 1219-1222.
- OSTOS, M. A., RECALDE, D., ZAKIN, M. M. & SCOTT-ALGARA, D. (2002) Implication of natural killer T cells in atherosclerosis development during a LPSinduced chronic inflammation. *Febs Letters*, 519, 23-29.
- OTT, S. J., EL MOKHTARI, N. E., MUSFELDT, M., HELLMIG, S., FREITAG, S.,
 REHMAN, A., KUHBACHER, T., NIKOLAUS, S., NAMSOLLECK, P., BLAUT,
 M., HAMPE, J., SAHLY, H., REINECKE, A., HAAKE, N., GUNTHER, R.,
 KRUGER, D., LINS, M., HERRMANN, G., FOLSCH, U. R., SIMON, R. &
 SCHREIBER, S. (2006) Detection of diverse bacterial signatures in atherosclerotic
 lesions of patients with coronary heart disease. *Circulation*, 113, 929-37.
- OTTNAD, E., PARTHASARATHY, S., SAMBRANO, G. R., RAMPRASAD, M. P., QUEHENBERGER, O., KONDRATENKO, N., GREEN, S. & STEINBERG, D. (1995) A MACROPHAGE RECEPTOR FOR OXIDIZED LOW-DENSITY-LIPOPROTEIN DISTINCT FROM THE RECEPTOR FOR ACETYL LOW-DENSITY-LIPOPROTEIN - PARTIAL-PURIFICATION AND ROLE IN RECOGNITION OF OXIDATIVELY DAMAGED CELLS. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 92, 1391-1395.

PALINSKI, W., ROSENFELD, M. E., YLAHERTTUALA, S., GURTNER, G. C., SOCHER, S. S., BUTLER, S. W., PARTHASARATHY, S., CAREW, T. E.,
STEINBERG, D. & WITZTUM, J. L. (1989) LOW-DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN UNDERGOES OXIDATIVE MODIFICATION INVIVO. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 86, 1372-1376.

- PARK, J. Y. & PILLINGER, M. H. (2007) Interleukin-6 in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Bulletin of the NYU hospital for joint diseases*, 65 Suppl 1, S4-10.
- PARK, Y. S., KIM, S. Y., PARK, S. Y., KANG, J. H., LEE, H. S., SEE, Y. H. & CHO, Y.
 K. (2008) Pseudooutbreak of Stenotrophomonas maltophilia bacteremia in a general ward. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 36, 29-32.
- PARKIN, J. & COHEN, B. (2001) An overview of the immune system. *Lancet*, 357, 1777-1789.
- PASCERI, V. & YEH, E. T. H. (1999) A tale of two diseases Atherosclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis. *Circulation*, 100, 2124-2126.
- PEREZ, J., GARCIA, P. M., BAUTISTA, M. J., MILLAN, Y., ORDAS, J. & DE LAS MULAS, J. M. (2002) Immunohistochemical characterization of tumor cells and inflammatory infiltrate associated with cutaneous melanocytic tumors of Duroc and Iberian swine. *Veterinary Pathology*, 39, 445-451.
- PINCUS, T. & CALLAHAN, L. F. (1986) TAKING MORTALITY IN RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS SERIOUSLY - PREDICTIVE MAKERS, SOCIOECONOMIC-STATUS AND CO-MORBIDITY. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 13, 841-845.
- PINCUS, T., CALLAHAN, L. F., SALE, W. G., BROOKS, A. L., PAYNE, L. E. & VAUGHN, W. K. (1984) SEVERE FUNCTIONAL DECLINES, WORK DISABILITY, AND INCREASED MORTALITY IN 75 RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS PATIENTS STUDIED OVER 9 YEARS. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 27, 864-872.
- POCKLEY, A. G. (2002) Heat shock proteins, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*, 105, 1012-1017.
- POLLREISZ, A., HUANG, Y., ROTH, G. A., CHENG, B., KEBSCHULL, M., PAPAPANOU, P. N., SCHMIDT, A. M. & LALLA, E. (2009) Enhanced monocyte migration and pro-inflammatory cytokine production by Porphyromonas gingivalis infection. *J Periodontal Res*, 45, 239-45.
- POULSEN, L. K., BALLARD, G. & STAHL, D. A. (1993) USE OF RIBOSOMAL-RNA FLUORESCENCE INSITU HYBRIDIZATION FOR MEASURING THE ACTIVITY OF SINGLE CELLS IN YOUNG AND ESTABLISHED BIOFILMS. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59, 1354-1360.

- PRAWAN, A., BURANRAT, B., KUKONGVIRIYAPAN, U., SRIPA, B. & KUKONGVIRIYAPAN, V. (2009) Inflammatory cytokines suppress NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase-1 and induce oxidative stress in cholangiocarcinoma cells. *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, 135, 515-522.
- QIAO, J. H., TRIPATHI, J., MISHRA, N. K., CAI, Y., TRIPATHI, S., WANG, X. P., IMES, S., FISHBEIN, M. C., CLINTON, S. K., LIBBY, P., LUSIS, A. J. & RAJAVASHISTH, T. B. (1997) Role of macrophage colony-stimulating factor in atherosclerosis - Studies of osteopetrotic mice. *American Journal of Pathology*, 150, 1687-1699.
- QIU, X. Y., WU, L. Y., HUANG, H. S., MCDONEL, P. E., PALUMBO, A. V., TIEDJE, J. M. & ZHOU, J. Z. (2001) Evaluation of PCR-generated chimeras: Mutations, and heteroduplexes with 16S rRNA gene-based cloning. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67, 880-887.
- RAETZ, C. R. H. & WHITFIELD, C. (2002) Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins. IN RICHARDSON, C. C. K. R. R. C. R. H. & THORNER, J. W. (Eds.) Annual Review of Biochemistry.
- RAJAVASHISTH, T. B., XU, X. P., JOVINGE, S., MEISEL, S., XU, X. O., CHAI, N. N., FISHBEIN, M. C., KAUL, S., CERCEK, B., SHARIFI, B. & SHAH, P. K. (1999)
 Membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase expression in human atherosclerotic plaques Evidence for activation by proinflammatory mediators. *Circulation*, 99, 3103-3109.
- RAMSHAW, A. L. & PARUMS, D. V. (1990) IMMUNOHISTOCHEMICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF INFLAMMATORY CELLS ASSOCIATED WITH ADVANCED ATHEROSCLEROSIS. *Histopathology*, 17, 543-552.
- RANDEN, I., MELLBYE, O. J., FORRE, O. & NATVIG, J. B. (1995) THE IDENTIFICATION OF GERMINAL-CENTERS AND FOLLICULAR DENDRITIC CELL NETWORKS IN RHEUMATOID SYNOVIAL TISSUE. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology, 41, 481-486.
- RANTAPAA-DAHLQVIST, S., DE JONG, B. A. W., BERGLIN, E., HALLMANS, G.,
 WADELL, G., STENLUND, H., SUNDIN, U. & VAN VENROOIJ, W. J. (2003)
 Antibodies against cyclic citrullinated peptide and IgA rheumatoid factor predict
 the development of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 48, 2741-2749.

- RAO, R. M., YANG, L., GARCIA-CARDENA, G. & LUSCINSKAS, F. W. (2007) Endothelial-dependent mechanisms of leukocyte recruitment to the vascular wall. *Circulation Research*, 101, 234-247.
- REDDY, K. S. (1999) Emerging epidemic of cardiovascular disease in the developing countries. *Atherosclerosis*, 144, 143-143.
- REISS, A. B., PATEL, C. A., RAHMAN, M. M., CHAN, E. S. L., HASNEEN, K., MONTESINOS, M. C., TRACHMAN, J. D. & CRONSTEIN, B. N. (2004) Interferon-gamma impedes reverse cholesterol transport and promotes foam cell transformation in THP-1 human monocytes/macrophages. *Medical Science Monitor*, 10, BR420-BR425.
- RESCH, H. (2008) *Pathophysiology of Rheumatoid Arthritis and Other Disorders*, Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- RIDKER, P. M. (1997) Inflammation, aspirin, and the risk of cardiovascular disease in apparently healthy men (vol 336, pg 973, 1997). *New England Journal of Medicine*, 337, 356-356.
- RIDKER, P. M. (2005) C-reactive protein, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease -Clinical update. *Texas Heart Institute Journal*, 32, 384-386.
- RIDKER, P. M., RIFAI, N., ROSE, L., BURING, J. E. & COOK, N. R. (2002) Comparison of C-reactive protein and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels in the prediction of first cardiovascular events. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 347, 1557-1565.
- RIDKER, P. M., RIFAI, N., STAMPFER, M. J. & HENNEKENS, C. H. (2000) Plasma concentration of interleukin-6 and the risk of future myocardial infarction among apparently healthy men. *Circulation*, 101, 1767-1772.
- RIETSCHEL, E. T., KIRIKAE, T., SCHADE, F. U., MAMAT, U., SCHMIDT, G., LOPPNOW, H., ULMER, A. J., ZAHRINGER, U., SEYDEL, U., DIPADOVA, F., SCHREIER, M. & BRADE, H. (1994) BACTERIAL, ENDOTOXIN -MOLECULAR RELATIONSHIPS OF STRUCTURE TO ACTIVITY AND FUNCTION. *Faseb Journal*, 8, 217-225.
- ROCNIK, E., CHOW, L. H. & PICKERING, J. G. (2000) Heat shock protein 47 is expressed in fibrous regions of human atheroma and is regulated by growth factors and oxidized low-density lipoprotein. *Circulation*, 101, 1229-1233.
- ROGER, V. L., GO, A. S., LLOYD-JONES, D. M., ADAMS, R. J., BERRY, J. D., BROWN, T. M., CAMETHON, M. R., DAI, S., DE SIMONE, G., FORD, E. S.,

FOX, C. S., FULLERTON, H. J., GILLESPIE, C., GREENLUND, K. J.,
HAILPEM, S. M., HEIT, J. A., HO, P. M., HOWARD, V. J., KISSELA, B. M.,
KITTNER, S. J., LACKLAND, D. T., LICHTMAN, J. H., LISABETH, L. D.,
MAKUC, D. M., MARCUS, G. M., MARELLI, A., MATCHAR, D. B.,
MCDERMOTT, M. M., MEIGS, J. B., MOY, C. S., MOZAFFARIAN, D.,
MUSSOLINO, M. E., NICHOL, G., PAYNTER, N. P., ROSAMOND, W. D.,
SORLIE, P. D., STAFFORD, R. S., TURAN, T. N., TURNER, M. B., WONG, N.
D., WYLIE-ROSETT, J., AMERICAN HEART ASSOC STAT, C. & STROKE
STAT, S. (2011) Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2011 Update A Report From
the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 123, E18-E209.

- ROLSTON, K. V. I., KONTOYIANNIS, D. P., YADEGARYNIA, D. & RAAD, II (2005)
 Nonfermentative gram-negative bacilli in cancer patients: increasing frequency of infection and antimicrobial susceptibility of clinical isolates to fluoroquinolones. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, 51, 215-218.
- ROMAS, E., GILLESPIE, M. T. & MARTIN, T. J. (2002) Involvement of receptor activator of NF kappa B ligand and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in bone destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. *Bone*, 30, 340-346.
- ROSENSTEIN, E. D., GREENWALD, R. A., KUSHNER, L. J. & WEISSMANN, G. (2004) Hypothesis: The humoral immune response to oral bacteria provides a stimulus for the development of rheumatoid arthritis. *Inflammation*, 28, 311-318.
- ROSS, R. (1993) THE PATHOGENESIS OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS A PERSPECTIVE FOR THE 1990S. *Nature*, 362, 801-809.
- ROSS, R. (1999) Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease. *American Heart Journal*, 138, S419-S420.
- ROTHSCHILD, B. M. & MASI, A. T. (1982) PATHOGENESIS OF RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS - A VASCULAR HYPOTHESIS. Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism, 12, 11-31.
- RUULS, S. R. (2001) Membrane-bound TNF supports secondary lymphoid organ structure but is subservient to secreted TNF in driving autoimmune inflammation. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 1, 175-175.
- RYCKMAN, C., VANDAL, K., ROULEAU, P., TALBOT, M. & TESSIER, P. A. (2003) Proinflammatory activities of S100: Proteins S10OA8, S10OA9, and S100A8/A9 induce neutrophil chemotaxis and adhesion. *Journal of Immunology*, 170, 3233-3242.

- RYDEN, M., DICKER, A., VAN HERMELEN, V., HAUNER, H., BRUNNBERG, M., PERBECK, L., LONNQVIST, F. & ARNER, P. (2002) Mapping of early signaling events in tumor necrosis factor-alpha-mediated lipolysis in human fat cells. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 277, 1085-1091.
- SAIKKU, P., LEINONEN, M., TENKANEN, L., LINNANMAKI, E., EKMAN, M. R., MANNINEN, V., MANTTARI, M., FRICK, M. H. & HUTTUNEN, J. K. (1992) CHRONIC CHLAMYDIA-PNEUMONIAE INFECTION AS A RISK FACTOR FOR CORONARY HEART-DISEASE IN THE HELSINKI HEART-STUDY. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 116, 273-278.
- SAKAGUCHI, H., TAKEYA, M., SUZUKI, H., HAKAMATA, H., KODAMA, T., HORIUCHI, S., GORDON, S., VAN DER LAAN, L. J. W., KRAAL, G., ISHIBASHI, S., KITAMURA, N. & TAKAHASHI, K. (1998) Role of macrophage scavenger receptors in diet-induced atherosclerosis in mice. *Laboratory Investigation*, 78, 423-434.
- SANDERS, J. W., MARTIN, J. W., HOOKE, M. & HOOKE, J. (2000) Methylobacterium mesophilicum infection: Case report and literature review of an unusual opportunistic pathogen. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 30, 936-938.
- SATTAR, N., MCCAREY, D. W., CAPELL, H. & MCINNES, I. B. (2003) Explaining how "high-grade" systemic inflammation accelerates vascular risk in rheumatoid arthritis. *Circulation*, 108, 2957-2963.
- SATTAR, N. & MCINNES, I. B. (2005) Vascular comorbidity in rheumatoid arthritis: potential mechanisms and solutions. *Current Opinion in Rheumatology*, 17, 286-292.
- SCHETT, G., REDLICH, K., XU, Q. B., BIZAN, P., GROGER, M., TOHIDAST-AKRAD, M., KIENER, H., SMOLEN, J. & STEINER, G. (1998) Enhanced expression of heat shock protein 70 (hsp70) and heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) activation in rheumatoid arthritis synovial tissue - Differential regulation of hsp70 expression and HSF1 activation in synovial fibroblasts by proinflammatory cytokines, shear stress, and antiinflammatory drugs. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 102, 302-311.
- SCHRODER, J. M., STICHERLING, M., HENNEICKE, H. H., PREISSNER, W. C. & CHRISTOPHERS, E. (1990) IL-1-ALPHA OR TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR-ALPHA STIMULATE RELEASE OF 3 NAP-1/IL-8-RELATED NEUTROPHIL

CHEMOTACTIC PROTEINS IN HUMAN DERMAL FIBROBLASTS. Journal of Immunology, 144, 2223-2232.

- SCOTT, D. L., WOLFE, F. & HUIZINGA, T. W. J. (2010) Rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet*, 376, 1094-1108.
- SCOTT, N. A., CIPOLLA, G. D., ROSS, C. E., DUNN, B., MARTIN, F. H., SIMONET, L. & WILCOX, J. N. (1996) Identification of a potential role for the adventitia in vascular lesion formation after balloon overstretch injury of porcine coronary arteries. *Circulation*, 93, 2178-2187.
- SEMB, A. G., KVIEN, T. K., AASTVEIT, A. H., JUNGNER, I., PEDERSEN, T. R., WALLDIUS, G. & HOLME, I. (2010) Lipids, myocardial infarction and ischaemic stroke in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in the Apolipoprotein-related Mortality RISk (AMORIS) Study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 69, 1996-2001.
- SEYMOUR, G. J., FORD, P. J., CULLINAN, M. P., LEISHMAN, S., WEST, M. J. & YAMAZAKI, K. (2009) Infection or inflammation: the link between periodontal and cardiovascular diseases. *Future Cardiol*, 5, 5-9.
- SHAH, P. K. (2001) Link between infection and atherosclerosis Who are the culprits: Viruses, bacteria, both, or neither? *Circulation*, 103, 5-6.
- SHAHRARA, S., PICKENS, S. R., DORFLEUTNER, A. & POPE, R. M. (2009) IL-17 Induces Monocyte Migration in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Journal of Immunology*, 182, 3884-3891.
- SHASHKIN, P., DRAGULEV, B. & LEY, K. (2005) Macrophage differentiation to foam cells. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 11, 3061-3072.
- SHERRY, B., BLANCK, H. M., GALUSKA, D. A., PAN, L., DIETZ, W. H. & BALLUZ, L. (2010) Vital Signs: State-Specific Obesity Prevalence Among Adults - United States, 2009. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 59, 951-955.
- SHI, Y. F., LIU, C. H., ROBERTS, A. I., DAS, J. T., XU, G. W., REN, G. W., ZHANG,
 Y. Y., ZHANG, L. Y., YUAN, Z. R., TAN, H. S. W., DAS, G. H. & DEVADAS,
 S. (2006) Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and T-cell responses: what we do and don't know. *Cell Research*, 16, 126-133.
- SHIMAZU, R., AKASHI, S., OGATA, H., NAGAI, Y., FUKUDOME, K., MIYAKE, K. & KIMOTO, M. (1999) MD-2, a molecule that confers lipopolysaccharide responsiveness on Toll-like receptor 4. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 189, 1777-1782.

- SHINGU, M., NAGAI, Y., ISAYAMA, T., NAONO, T. & NOBUNAGA, M. (1993) THE EFFECTS OF CYTOKINES ON METALLOPROTEINASE INHIBITORS (TIMP) AND COLLAGENASE PRODUCTION BY HUMAN CHONDROCYTES AND TIMP PRODUCTION BY SYNOVIAL-CELLS AND ENDOTHELIAL-CELLS. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, 94, 145-149.
- SHMERLING, R. H. & DELBANCO, T. L. (1991) THE RHEUMATOID-FACTOR AN ANALYSIS OF CLINICAL UTILITY. American Journal of Medicine, 91, 528-534.
- SHOR, A., KUO, C. C. & PATTON, D. L. (1992) DETECTION OF CHLAMYDIA-PNEUMONIAE IN CORONARY ARTERIAL FATTY STREAKS AND ATHEROMATOUS PLAQUES. *South African Medical Journal*, 82, 158-161.
- SIHVONEN (2006) Death rates and causes of death in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a population-based study (vol 33, pg 221, 2004). Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology, 35, 332.
- SILMAN, A. J., MACGREGOR, A. J., THOMSON, W., HOLLIGAN, S., CARTHY, D., FARHAN, A. & OLLIER, W. E. R. (1993) TWIN CONCORDANCE RATES FOR RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS - RESULTS FROM A NATIONWIDE STUDY. British Journal of Rheumatology, 32, 903-907.
- SILVERMAN, G. J. & CARSON, D. A. (2003) Roles of B cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 5, S1-S6.
- SLOTS, J. (1998) Casual or causal relationship between periodontal infection and non-oral disease? *Journal of Dental Research*, 77, 1764-1765.
- SMITH, R. A. & BAGLIONI, C. (1987) THE ACTIVE FORM OF TUMOR-NECROSIS-FACTOR IS A TRIMER. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 262, 6951-6954.
- SMITTEN, A. L., CHOI, H. K., HOCHBERG, M. C., SUISSA, S., SIMON, T. A., TESTA, M. A. & CHAN, K. A. (2008) The risk of hospitalized infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 35, 387-393.
- SNOW, M. H. & MIKULS, T. R. (2005) Rheumatoid arthritis and cardiovascular disease: the role of systemic inflammation and evolving strategies of prevention. *Current Opinion in Rheumatology*, 17, 234-241.
- SOLOMON, D. H., CURHAN, G. C., RIMM, E. B., CANNUSCIO, C. C. & KARLSON, E. W. (2004) Cardiovascular risk factors in women with and without rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 50, 3444-3449.

- SOLOMON, D. H., KARLSON, E. W., RIMM, E. B., CANNUSCIO, C. C., MANDL, L. A., MANSON, J. E., STAMPFER, M. J. & CURHAN, G. C. (2003) Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in women diagnosed with rheumatoid arthritis. *Circulation*, 107, 1303-1307.
- SORGI, C. A., ROSE, S., COURT, N., CARLOS, D., PAULA-SILVA, F. W. G., ASSIS,
 P. A., FRANTZ, F. G., RYFFEL, B., QUESNIAUX, V. & FACCIOLI, L. H.
 (2012) GM-CSF Priming Drives Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophages to a Pro-Inflammatory Pattern and Downmodulates PGE(2) in Response to TLR2 Ligands. *Plos One*, 7, e40523-e40523.
- SPARROW, C. P., PARTHASARATHY, S. & STEINBERG, D. (1989) A MACROPHAGE RECEPTOR THAT RECOGNIZES OXIDIZED LOW-DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN BUT NOT ACETYLATED LOW-DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264, 2599-2604.
- STEFFENS, S., VEILLARD, N. R., PELLI, G., BURGER, F., STAUB, C., FROSSARD, J. L., ARNAUD, C. & MACH, F. (2005) Low dose oral cannabinoid therapy reduces progression of atherosclerosis in mice. *European Heart Journal*, 26, 226-226.
- STEIN, M., KESHAV, S., HARRIS, N. & GORDON, S. (1992) INTERLEUKIN-4 POTENTLY ENHANCES MURINE MACROPHAGE MANNOSE RECEPTOR ACTIVITY - A MARKER OF ALTERNATIVE IMMUNOLOGICAL MACROPHAGE ACTIVATION. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 176, 287-292.
- STEINBRECHER, U. P., ZHANG, H. F. & LOUGHEED, M. (1990) ROLE OF OXIDATIVELY MODIFIED LDL IN ATHEROSCLEROSIS. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 9, 155-168.
- STENVINKEL, P. (2001) Endothelial dysfunction and inflammation is there a link? *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, 16, 1968-1971.
- STRIZ, I. & TREBICHAVSKY, I. (2004) Calprotectin a pleiotropic molecule in acute and chronic inflammation. *Physiological Research*, 53, 245-253.
- SUGIYAMA, E., KURODA, A., TAKI, H., IKEMOTO, M., HORI, T., YAMASHITA, N., MARUYAMA, M. & KOBAYASHI, M. (1995) INTERLEUKIN-10 COOPERATES WITH INTERLEUKIN-4 TO SUPPRESS INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE PRODUCTION BY FRESHLY PREPARED ADHERENT RHEUMATOID SYNOVIAL-CELLS. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 22, 2020-2026.

SURYONO, KIDO, J., HAYASHI, N., KATAOKA, M. & NAGATA, T. (2005)

Calprotectin expression in human monocytes: Induction by Porphyromonas gingivalis lipopolysaccharide, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and Interleukin-1 beta. *Journal of Periodontology*, 76, 437-442.

- SUZUKI, M. T. & GIOVANNONI, S. J. (1996) Bias caused by template annealing in the amplification of mixtures of 16S rRNA genes by PCR. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 62, 625-630.
- SZCZERKOWSKA DOBOSZ, A., REBALA, K., SZCZERKOWSKA, Z. & NEDOSZYTKO, B. (2005) HLA-C locus alleles distribution in patients from northern Poland with psoriatic arthritis--preliminary report. *International journal of immunogenetics*, 32, 389-91.
- SZEKANECZ, Z. & KOCH, A. E. (2008) Vascular involvement in rheumatic diseases: 'vascular rheumatology'. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 10.
- TAKAHASHI, K., TAKEYA, M. & SAKASHITA, N. (2002) Multifunctional roles of macrophages in the development and progression of atherosclerosis in humans and experimental animals. *Medical Electron Microscopy*, 35, 179-203.
- TAKEUCHI, O. & AKIRA, S. (2010) Pattern Recognition Receptors and Inflammation. *Cell*, 140, 805-820.
- TAKI, H., SUGIYAMA, E., KURODA, A., MINO, T. & KOBAYASHI, M. (2000) Interleukin-4 inhibits interleukin-11 production by rheumatoid synovial cells. *Rheumatology*, 39, 728-731.
- TALEB, S., ROMAIN, M., RAMKHELAWON, B., UYTTENHOVE, C., PASTERKAMP, G., HERBIN, O., ESPOSITO, B., PEREZ, N., YASUKAWA, H., VAN SNICK, J., YOSHIMURA, A., TEDGUI, A. & MALLAT, Z. (2009) Loss of SOCS3 Expression in T Cells Reveals a Regulatory Role for Interleukin-17 in Atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 120, S1064-S1065.
- TASAB, M., BATTEN, M. R. & BULLEID, N. J. (2000) Hsp47: a molecular chaperone that interacts with and stabilizes correctly-folded procollagen. *Embo Journal*, 19, 2204-2211.
- TERRIN, G., PASSARIELLO, A., MANGUSO, F., SALVIA, G., RAPACCIUOLO, L., MESSINA, F., RAIMONDI, F. & CANANI, R. B. (2011) Serum Calprotectin: An Antimicrobial Peptide as a New Marker For the Diagnosis of Sepsis in Very Low Birth Weight Newborns. *Clinical & Developmental Immunology*.

TSUBAMOTO, Y., YAMADA, N., WATANABE, Y., INABA, T., SHIOMI, M., SHIMANO, H., GOTODA, T., HARADA, K., SHIMADA, M., OHSUGA, J., KAWAMURA, M. & YAZAKI, Y. (1994) DEXTRAN SULFATE, A COMPETITIVE INHIBITOR FOR SCAVENGER RECEPTOR, PREVENTS THE PROGRESSION OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN WATANABE HERITABLE HYPERLIPIDEMIC RABBITS. *Atherosclerosis*, 106, 43-50.

TURESSON, C., O'FALLON, W. M., CROWSON, C. S., GABRIEL, S. E. & MATTESON, E. L. (2003) Extra-articular disease manifestations in rheumatoid arthritis: incidence trends and risk factors over 46 years. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 62, 722-727.

- TURIEL, M., TOMASONI, L., SITIA, S., CICALA, S., GIANTURCO, L., RICCI, C., ATZENI, F., COLONNA, V. D. G., LONGHI, M. & SARZI-PUTTINI, P. (2010) Effects of Long-Term Disease-Modifying Antirheumatic Drugs on Endothelial Function in Patients with Early Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Cardiovascular Therapeutics*, 28, e53-e64.
- UPADHYA, S., MOOTERI, S., PECKHAM, N. & PAI, R. G. (2004) Atherogenic effect of interleukin-2 and antiatherogenic effect of interleukin-2 antibody in apo-Edeficient mice. *Angiology*, 55, 289-294.
- VALENCIA, X., STEPHENS, G., GOLDBACH-MANSKY, R., WILSON, M., SHEVACH, E. M. & LIPSKY, P. E. (2006) TNF downmodulates the function of human CD4(+)CD25(hi) T-regulatory cells. *Blood*, 108, 253-261.
- VALLEJO, J. G. (2011) Role of Toll-like receptors in cardiovascular diseases. *Clinical Science*, 121, 1-10.
- VAN DER HELM-VAN MIL, A. H. M. & HUIZINGA, T. W. J. (2008) Advances in the genetics of rheumatoid arthritis point to subclassification into distinct disease subsets. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 10.
- VAN DER LINDEN, M. P. M., VAN DER WOUDE, D., IOAN-FACSINAY, A., LEVARHT, E. W. N., STOEKEN-RIJSBERGEN, G., HUIZINGA, T. W. J., TOES, R. E. M. & VAN DER HELM-VAN MIL, A. H. M. (2009) Value of Anti-Modified Citrullinated Vimentin and Third-Generation Anti-Cyclic Citrullinated Peptide Compared With Second-Generation Anti-Cyclic Citrullinated Peptide and Rheumatoid Factor in Predicting Disease Outcome in Undifferentiated Arthritis and Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 60, 2232-2241.

- VAN DOORNUM, S., MCCOLL, G. & WICKS, I. P. (2002) Accelerated atherosclerosis -An extraarticular feature of rheumatoid arthritis? *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 46, 862-873.
- VAN EDEN, W. & WAKSMAN, B. H. (2003) Immune regulation in adjuvant-induced arthritis - Possible implications for innovative therapeutic strategies in arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 48, 1788-1796.
- VAN ES, T., VAN PUIJVELDE, G. H. M., RAMOS, O. H., SEGERS, F. M. E., JOOSTEN, L. A., VAN DEN BERG, W. B., MICHON, I. M., DE VOS, P., VAN BERKEL, T. J. C. & KUIPER, J. (2009) Attenuated atherosclerosis upon IL-17R signaling disruption in LDLr deficient mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 388, 261-265.
- VAN HALM, V. P., NURMOHAMED, M. T., TWISK, J. W. R., DIJKMANS, B. A. C. & VOSKUYL, A. E. (2006) Disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs are associated with a reduced risk for cardiovascular disease in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a case control study. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 8.
- VAN LEUVEN, S. I., KASTELEIN, J. J. P., D'CRUZ, D. P., HUGHES, G. R. & STROES, E. S. (2006) Atherogenesis in rheumatology. *Lupus*, 15, 117-121.
- VANLENTEN, B. J. & FOGELMAN, A. M. (1992) LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDE-INDUCED INHIBITION OF SCAVENGER RECEPTOR EXPRESSION IN HUMAN MONOCYTE-MACROPHAGES IS MEDIATED THROUGH TUMOR-NECROSIS-FACTOR-ALPHA. Journal of Immunology, 148, 112-116.
- VANROON, J. A. G., VANEDEN, W., VANROY, J., LAFEBER, F. & BIJLSMA, J. W.
 J. (1997) Stimulation of suppressive T cell responses by human but not bacterial
 60-kD heat-shock protein in synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid arthritis.
 Journal of Clinical Investigation, 100, 459-463.
- VANROON, J. A. G., VANROY, J., DUITS, A., LAFEBER, F. & BIJLSMA, J. W. (1995) PROINFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE PRODUCTION AND CARTILAGE DAMAGE DUE TO RHEUMATOID SYNOVIAL T-HELPER-1 ACTIVATION IS INHIBITED BY INTERLEUKIN-4. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 54, 836-840.
- VANROON, J. A. G., VANROY, J., GMELIGMEYLING, F. H. J., LAFEBER, F. & BIJLSMA, J. W. J. (1996) Prevention and reversal of cartilage degradation in rheumatoid arthritis by interleukin-10 and interleukin-4. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 39, 829-835.

- VAUDO, G., MARCHESI, S., GERLI, R., ALLEGRUCCI, R., GIORDANO, A., SIEPI,
 D., PIRRO, M., SHOENFELD, Y., SCHILLACI, G. & MANNARINO, E. (2004)
 Endothelial dysfunction in young patients with rheumatoid arthritis and low disease
 activity. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 63, 31-35.
- VENUGOPAL, S. K., DEVARAJ, S., YUHANNA, I., SHAUL, P. & JIALAL, I. (2002) Demonstration that C-reactive protein decreases eNOS expression and bioactivity in human aortic endothelial cells. *Circulation*, 106, 1439-1441.
- VERMA, S., WANG, C. H., LI, S. H., DUMONT, A. S., FEDAK, P. W. M.,
 BADIWALA, M. V., DHILLON, B., WEISEL, R. D., LI, R. K., MICKLE, D. A.
 G. & STEWART, D. J. (2002) A self-fulfilling prophecy C-reactive protein attenuates nitric oxide production and inhibits angiogenesis. *Circulation*, 106, 913-919.
- WAGNER, H. (2002) Interactions between bacterial CpG-DNA and TLR9 bridge innate and adaptive immunity. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, **5**, 62-69.
- WALLBERGJONSSON, S., OHMAN, M. L. & DAHLQVIST, S. R. (1997) Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in patients with seropositive rheumatoid arthritis in northern Sweden. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 24, 445-451.
- WARREN, S. E., MAO, D. P., RODRIGUEZ, A. E., MIAO, E. A. & ADEREM, A. (2008) Multiple nod-like receptors activate caspase 1 during Listeria monocytogenes infection. *Journal of Immunology*, 180, 7558-7564.
- WEIDEMANN, B., SCHLETTER, J., DZIARSKI, R., KUSUMOTO, S., STELTER, F., RIETSCHEL, E. T., FLAD, H. D. & ULMER, A. J. (1997) Specific binding of soluble peptidoglycan and muramyldipeptide to CD14 on human monocytes. *Infection and Immunity*, 65, 858-864.
- WEINBERG, E. O., SHIMPO, M., DE KEULENAER, G. W., MACGILLIVRAY, C., TOMINAGA, S., SOLOMON, S. D., ROULEAU, J. L. & LEE, R. T. (2002)
 Expression and regulation of ST2, an interleukin-1 receptor family member, in cardiomyocytes and myocardial infarction. *Circulation*, 106, 2961-2966.
- WEISBERG, S. P., MCCANN, D., DESAI, M., ROSENBAUM, M., LEIBEL, R. L. & FERRANTE, A. W. (2003) Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 112, 1796-1808.
- WEYAND, C. M. & GORONZY, J. J. (2003) Ectopic germinal center formation in rheumatoid synovitis. IN CHIORAZZI, N. L. R. G. C. J. D. F. M. Z. J. B. (Ed.) *Immune Mechanisms and Disease.*

- WEYAND, C. M., GORONZY, J. J., LIUZZO, G., KOPECKY, S. L., HOLMES, D. R. & FRYE, R. L. (2001) T-cell immunity in acute coronary syndromes. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 76, 1011-1020.
- WHALLEY, D., MCKENNA, S. P., DEJONG, Z. & VANDERHEIJDE, D. (1997) Quality of life in rheumatoid arthritis. *British Journal of Rheumatology*, 36, 884-888.
- WHO (2011) The top 10 causes of death by broad income group (2008).
- WICK, G., ROMEN, M., AMBERGER, A., METZLER, B., MAYR, M., FALKENSAMMER, G. & XU, Q. (1997) Atherosclerosis, autoimmunity, and vascular-associated lymphoid tissue. *Faseb Journal*, 11, 1199-1207.
- WILCOX, J. N. & SCOTT, N. A. (1996) Potential role of the adventitia in arteritis and atherosclerosis. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 54, S21-S35.
- WILDMAN, R. P., MCGINN, A. P., LIN, J. A., WANG, D., MUNTNER, P., COHEN, H. W., REYNOLDS, K., FONSECA, V. & SOWERS, M. R. (2011) Cardiovascular Disease Risk of Abdominal Obesity vs. Metabolic Abnormalities. *Obesity*, 19, 853-860.
- WILLIAMS, R. C., JACOBSSON, L. T. H., KNOWLER, W. C., DELPUENTE, A., KOSTYU, D., MCAULEY, J. E., BENNETT, P. H. & PETTITT, D. J. (1995)
 METAANALYSIS REVEALS ASSOCIATION BETWEEN MOST COMMON CLASS-II HAPLOTYPE IN FULL-HERITAGE NATIVE-AMERICANS AND RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS. *Human Immunology*, 42, 90-94.
- WILSON, C., TIWANA, H. & EBRINGER, A. (2000) Molecular mimicry between HLA-DR alleles associated with rheumatoid arthritis and Proteus mirabilis as the aetiological basis for autoimmunity. *Microbes and Infection*, 2, 1489-1496.
- WILSON, P. W. F. (2008) Evidence of systemic inflammation and estimation of coronary artery disease risk: A population perspective. *American Journal of Medicine*, 121, 15-20.
- WINDHORST, S., FRANK, E., GEORGIEVA, D. N., GENOV, N., BUCK, F., BOROWSKI, P. & WEBER, W. (2002) The major extracellular protease of the nosocomial pathogen Stenotrophomonas maltophilia - Characterization of the protein and molecular cloning of the gene. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 11042-11049.
- WINYARD, P. G., TATZBER, F., ESTERBAUER, H., KUS, M. L., BLAKE, D. R. & MORRIS, C. J. (1993) PRESENCE OF FOAM CELLS CONTAINING OXIDIZED LOW-DENSITY-LIPOPROTEIN IN THE SYNOVIAL-

MEMBRANE FROM PATIENTS WITH RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, 52, 677-680.

- WOLFE, F., MITCHELL, D. M., SIBLEY, J. T., FRIES, J. F., BLOCH, D. A.,
 WILLIAMS, C. A., SPITZ, P. W., HAGA, M., KLEINHEKSEL, S. M. &
 CATHEY, M. A. (1994) THE MORTALITY OF RHEUMATOID-ARTHRITIS.
 Arthritis and Rheumatism, 37, 481-494.
- WONG, K., GLADMAN, D. D., HUSTED, J., LONG, J. A. & FAREWELL, V. T. (1997)
 Mortality studies in psoriatic arthritis Results from a single outpatient clinic .1.
 Causes and risk of death. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 40, 1868-1872.
- WOODFIN, A., VOISIN, M. B., IMHOF, B. A., DEJANA, E., ENGELHARDT, B. & NOURSHARGH, S. (2009) Endothelial cell activation leads to neutrophil transmigration as supported by the sequential roles of ICAM-2, JAM-A, and PECAM-1. *Blood*, 113, 6246-6257.
- WU, H.-J., IVANOV, I. I., DARCE, J., HATTORI, K., SHIMA, T., UMESAKI, Y., LITTMAN, D. R., BENOIST, C. & MATHIS, D. (2010) Gut-Residing Segmented Filamentous Bacteria Drive Autoimmune Arthritis via T Helper 17 Cells. *Immunity*, 32, 815-827.
- WUTTGE, D. M., ZHOU, X. H., SHEIKINE, Y., WAGSATER, D., STEMME, V., HEDIN, U., STEMME, S., HANSSON, G. K. & SIRSJO, A. (2004) CXCL16/SR-PSOX is an interferon-gamma-regulated chemokine and scavenger receptor expressed in atherosclerotic lesions. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 24, 750-755.
- XU, K. & GECZY, C. L. (2000) IFN-gamma and TNF regulate macrophage expression of the chemotactic S100 protein S100A8. *Journal of Immunology*, 164, 4916-4923.
- XU, Q. (2005) The role of stem cells in atherosclerosis. *Archives Des Maladies Du Coeur Et Des Vaisseaux*, 98, 672-676.
- XU, Q. B., DIETRICH, H., STEINER, H. J., GOWN, A. M., SCHOEL, B., MIKUZ, G., KAUFMANN, S. H. E. & WICK, G. (1992) INDUCTION OF ARTERIOSCLEROSIS IN NORMOCHOLESTEROLEMIC RABBITS BY IMMUNIZATION WITH HEAT-SHOCK PROTEIN-65. Arteriosclerosis and Thrombosis, 12, 789-799.
- XU, Q. B., SCHETT, G., SEITZ, C. S., HU, Y. H., GUPTA, R. S. & WICK, G. (1994) SURFACE STAINING AND CYTOTOXIC ACTIVITY OF HEAT-SHOCK

PROTEIN-60 ANTIBODY IN STRESSED AORTIC ENDOTHELIAL-CELLS. *Circulation Research*, 75, 1078-1085.

- YADAV, R., LARBI, K. Y., YOUNG, R. E. & NOURSHARGH, S. (2003) Migration of leukocytes through the vessel wall and beyond. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 90, 598-606.
- YANOVSKI, S. Z. & YANOVSKI, J. A. (2011) Obesity Prevalence in the United States -Up, Down, or Sideways? *New England Journal of Medicine*, 364, 987-989.
- YOKOTA, S. I., KUBOTA, H., MATSUOKA, Y., NAITOH, M., HIRATA, D., MINOTA, S., HIROKI, T. I. D., FUJII, N. & NAGATA, K. (2003) Prevalence of HSP47 antigen and autoantibodies to HSP47 in the sera of patients with mixed connective tissue disease. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 303, 413-418.
- YOUNG, R. A. (1990) STRESS PROTEINS AND IMMUNOLOGY. Annual Review of Immunology, 8, 401-420.
- YOUSSEF, P., ROTH, J., FROSCH, M., COSTELLO, P., FITZGERALD, O., SORG, C.
 & BRESNIHAN, B. (1999) Expression of myeloid related proteins (MRP) 8 and 14 and the MRP8/14 heterodimer in rheumatoid arthritis synovial membrane. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 26, 2523-2528.
- YUN, A. J., DOUX, J. D., BAZAR, K. A. & LEE, P. Y. (2005) Adventitial dysfunction: an evolutionary model for understanding atherosclerosis. *Medical Hypotheses*, 65, 962-965.
- YUSUF, S., REDDY, S., OUNPUU, S. & ANAND, S. (2001) Global burden of cardiovascular diseases - Part I: General considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization. *Circulation*, 104, 2746-2753.
- ZAL, B., KASKI, J. C., ARNO, G., AKIYU, J. P., XU, Q. B., COLE, D., WHELAN, M., RUSSELL, N., MADRIGAL, J. A., DODI, I. A. & BABOONIAN, C. (2004) Heatshock protein 60-reactive CD4(+)CD28(null) T cells in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation*, 109, 1230-1235.
- ZHANG, L., PEPPEL, K., SIVASHANMUGAM, P., ORMAN, E. S., BRIAN, L., EXUM, S. T. & FREEDMAN, N. J. (2007) Expression of tumor necrosis factor receptor-1 in arterial wall cells promotes atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 27, 1087-1094.

- ZHU, J. H., NIETO, F. J., HORNE, B. D., ANDERSON, J. L., MUHLESTEIN, J. B. & EPSTEIN, S. E. (2001a) Prospective study of pathogen burden and risk of myocardial infarction or death. *Circulation*, 103, 45-51.
- ZHU, J. H., QUYYUMI, A. A., ROTT, D., CSAKO, G., WU, H. S., HALCOX, J. & EPSTEIN, S. E. (2001b) Antibodies to human heat-shock protein 60 are associated with the presence and severity of coronary artery disease - Evidence for an autoimmune component of atherogenesis. *Circulation*, 103, 1071-1075.
- ZHU, S.-N., CHEN, M., JONGSTRA-BILEN, J. & CYBULSKY, M. I. (2009) GM-CSF regulates intimal cell proliferation in nascent atherosclerotic lesions. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 206, 2141-2149.
- ZOETENDAL, E. G., BEN-AMOR, K., AKKERMANS, A. D. L., ABEE, T. & DE VOS, W. M. (2001) DNA isolation Protocols affect the detection limit of PCR approaches of bacteria in samples from the human gastrointestinal tract. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 24, 405-410.
- ZUEGEL, U. & KAUFMANN, S. H. E. (1999) Role of heat shock proteins in protection from and pathogenesis of infectious diseases. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 12, 19-39.

Appendix

1.	Universal primer for	r 16S sequencing	
a) Bacterial 16	S rDNA	Forward 5' CAGGCCTAACACATGCAAGTC 3'	(63F)
(Annealing tem	np 60°C)	Reverse 5' GGGCGGWGTGTACAAGGC 3'	(1387r).
2.	Immunohistochemis	try Reagents	
Tris buffered s	aline (TBS)	8.76 g sodium chloride (150 mM), 6.05 g Tr (50 mM) to 800 ml of distilled water. pH to addition of HCl. Make up to 1 litre by addit distilled water. Add Tween-20 (Sigma-Aldr 0.1% (v/v). Stored for up to 1 week at room temperature.	is base 7.5 by ion of ich) to
TBS + 0.05% 7	Tween (TBST)	Add 200ml 10X TBS to 1800ml of deionise followed by addition of 1ml Tween (Sigma- P5927) then mix	d water Aldrich,
Trypsin workir	ng solution	0.5% Trypsin, 1% calcium chloride solution pH to 7.8 by addition of 1M NaOH.	. Adjust
Citrate buffer		2.1 g of Citric acid (Sigma-Aldrich) dissolve 800ml of distilled water. pH adjust to 6.0 by of 1 =M NaOH. Volune made up to 1 litre b addition of distilled water.	ed in 7 addition 9y
Hydrogen pero	oxide 0.5%	Prepare fresh for every use. Add 5ml of 309 hydrogen peroxide (H ₂ O ₂) to 295ml of meth (both supplied by Sigma-Aldrich)	% anol
Impact DAB		1ml diluent, 1 drop chromagen, mex	
		(Vector Laboratories)	
Secondary Ant	ibody	Biotinylated anti-mouse IgG (produced in he	orse)
		(Vector Laboratories) (1.5mg/ml)	

Vacstatin Elite ABC kit

Avidin and Biotinylated horseradish peroxidise macromolecular Complex (Vector Laboratories, PK6100)

	To 5ml TBST:	2 drops of reagent A, mix
		2 drops of reagent B, mix
	Incubate at room tempuse	perature for 30 minutes before
Wax pens	Immedge pen (Vector	Laboratories, H-4000)
Blocking serum	2.5% normal horse se 2000) in TBST (unles	rum (Vector Laboratories, S- ss otherwise stated)
Negative control	Mouse IgG2A, (500µ	g/ml) (R&D, MAB003)
	Mouse IgG1, (500µg/	/ml) (R&D, MAB002)
FACS buffer	3% BSA 0.05% NaNs	₃ in 1 x PBS

3. Lipoprotein isolation/visulisation reagents

a) Copper reagent

20g sodium carbonate dissolved in 260ml H_2O , 0.4g cupric sulphate pentahydrate dissolved in 20ml H_2O and 0.2g sodium potassium tartrate dissolved in 20ml H_2O . The resulting solutions are then combined.

b) Barbital buffer

18.2g (5, 5-Diethylbarbituric Acid), 10mmol/L reconstituted; 5, 5-Diethylbarbituric Acid sodium salt 50mmol/L

c) Oil-red-O stock solution

0.5g of Oil-red-O powder was dissolved in 100ml isopropanol. This was performed overnight with gentle agitation.

d) Oil-red-O working solution

Mix 6ml of Oil-red-O stock solution with 4ml of ddH_2O . Allow to sit at room temperature for 20 minutes and then filter (0.2 μ m).

4. Primers for quantitative PCR

Human GAPDH	Forward 5' ACA GTC AGC CGC ATC TTC TT 3'
(Annealing Temp: 55°C)	Reverse 5' AAA TGA GCC CCA GCC TTC T 3'
Human SRA-1	Forward 5' GAC TTT GGT TCC CGT GTT GT 3'
(Annealing Temp: 55.6°C)	Reverse 5' GGA GAG AGG TGA TGG TGG AG 3'
Human CD36	Forward 5' CAA GGA AAA TGT AAC CCA GGA C 3'
(Annealing Temp: 56.4°C)	Reverse 5' GCC ACA GCC AGA TTG AGA AC 3'
Human SRB1	Forward 5' CCC TAA CCA GGA GGC ACA C 3'
(Annealing Temp: 56.9°C)	Reverse 5' CAG GAC CAC AGG CTC AAT CT 3'
Human MARCO	Forward 5' TCT GGG GAG CAA GGA GTA AA 3'
(Annealing Temp: 58.1°C)	Reverse 5' ATT GTC CCC CAG GTA CCA CT 3'

M. oryzae and M. mesophilicum sequence alignment

Top line: Bottom line	:	<i>Methylobacterium oryzae</i> Methylobacterium mesophilicum	
Length: 102 Identity: Similarity: Gaps:	23 973/1023 (9 973/1023 (1 11/1023 (1	95.1%) (95.1%) 1.1%)	
EMBOSS_001	1	ctaaccgtggtcagcggcggacgggtgagtaacgcgtgggaacgtgcctt	50
EMBOSS_001	1	cttcggtgtcagcggcggacgggtgagtaacgcgtgggaacgtgccct	48
EMBOSS_001	51	ccggttcggaataaccctgggaaactagggctaataccggatacgccctt	100
EMBOSS_001	49	ctggttcggaataactcagggaaacttgagctaataccggatacgccctt	98
EMBOSS_001	101	atggggaaaggtttactgccggaagatcggcccgcgtctgattagctagt	150
EMBOSS_001	99	ttggggaaaggcttgctgccggaggatcggcccgcgtctgattagctagt	148
EMBOSS_001	151	tggtggggtaacggcctaccaaggcgacgatcagtagctggtctgnnaga	200
EMBOSS_001	149	tggtgaggtaacggctcaccaaggcgacgatcagtagctggtctgaga	196
EMBOSS_001	201	ggaagatcaagccacactgcgcactgaggacacggcccagactcctacgg	250
EMBOSS_001	197	ggatgatc-agccacactg-ggactga-gacacggcccagactcctacgg	243
EMBOSS_001	251	gnaagcaacagtggagaatattagacaatgcgcgcaagcctgatccagcc	300
EMBOSS_001	244	g-aggcagcagtggggaatattggacaatgggcgcaagcctgatccagcc	292
EMBOSS_001	301	atgcctgagggagtgatgaaggccttagggttgttaaagctcttttatcc	350
EMBOSS_001	293	atgcc-gcgtgagtgatgaaggccttagggttg-taaagctcttttatcc	340
EMBOSS_001	351	gggacgataatgacggtaccggacgaataagccccggctaactccgtccc	400
EMBOSS_001	341	gggacgataatgacggtaccggaggaataagccccggctaacttcgtgcc	390
EMBOSS_001	401	agcagccgcggtaatacgaagggggctagcgttgctcggaatcactggcc	450
EMBOSS_001	391	agcagccgcggtaatacgaaggggggtagcgttgctcggaatcactgggc	440
EMBOSS_001	451	gtaaagggcgcgtaggcggcgttttaagtcgggggtgaaagcctgtggct	500
EMBOSS_001	441	gtaaagggcgcgtaggcggcgttttaagtcgggggtgaaagcctgtggct	490
EMBOSS_001	501	caaccacagaatggccttcgatactgggacgcttgagtatggtagaggtt	550
EMBOSS_001	491	caaccacagaatggccttcgatactgggacgcttgagtatggtagaggtt	540
EMBOSS_001	551	ggtggaactgcgagtgtagaggtgaaattagtagatattcgcaagaacac	600
EMBOSS_001	541	ggtggaactgcgagtgtagaggtgaaattcgtagatattcgcaagaacac	590
EMBOSS_001	601	cggtggcgaaggcggccaactggaccattactgacgctgaggcgcgaaag	650
EMBOSS_001	591	cggtggcgaaggcggccaactggaccattactgacgctgaggcgcgaaag	640
EMBOSS_001	651	cgtgggggggcaaacaggattagataccctggtagtccacgccgtaaacga	700
EMBOSS_001	641	cgtgggggggcaaacaggattagataccctggtagtccacgccgtaaacga	690

750	tgaatgccagctgttggggtgcttgcaccgcagtagcgcagctaacgctt	001 701	EMBOSS_001
740	tgaatgccagctgttggggtgcttgcacctcagtagcgcagctaacgctt	001 691	EMBOSS_001
800	tgagcattccgcctggggagtacggtcgcaagattaaaactcaaaggaat	001 751	EMBOSS_001
790	tgagcattccgcctggggagtacggtcgcaagattaaaactcaaaggaat	001 741	EMBOSS_001
850	tgacgggggcccgcacaagcggtggagcatgtggtttaattcgaagcaac	001 801	EMBOSS_001
840	tgacgggggcccgcacaagcggtggagcatgtggtttaattcgaagcaac	001 791	EMBOSS_001
900	gcgcagaaccttaccatctttgacatggcgtgttacccagagagatttg	001 851	EMBOSS_001
889	gcgcag-accttaccatcctttgacatggcgtgttatggggagagattcc	001 841	EMBOSS_001
950	gggtccacttcggtggcgcgcacacaggtgctgcatggctgtcgtcagct	001 901	EMBOSS_001
939	cagtccacttcggtggcgcgcacacaggtgctgcatggctgtcgtcgtcagct	001 890	EMBOSS_001
1000	cgtgtcgtgagatgttgggttaagtcccgcaacgagcgcaacccacgtcc	001 951	EMBOSS_001
989	cgtgtcgtgagatgttgggttaagtcccgcaacgagcgcaacccacgtcc	001 940	EMBOSS_001
	ttagttgccatcattcagttggg 1023	001 1001	EMBOSS_001
	ttagttgccatcattcagttggg 1012	001 990	EMBOSS_001

Gene	Name	Class	Functions	
IL-1a	Interleukin 1 alpha	Cytokine	Produced by macrophages and neutrophils with a central role in immune regulation	
IL-1b	Interleukin 1 beta	Cytokine	Produced by macrophages and regulates inflammation, cell proliferation,	
			differentiation and apoptosis	
IL-2	Interleukin 2	Cytokine	Stimulates proliferation of T and B cells	
IL-4	Interleukin 4	Cytokine	Induces differentiation of naive helper T cells to Th2 cells	
IL-5	Interleukin 5	Cytokine	Stimulates B cell growth and mediates eosinophil activation	
IL-6	Interleukin 6	Cytokine	Pro-inflammatory pleiotropic cytokine	
IL-7	Interleukin 7	Cytokine	Stimulates proliferation of B, T and NK cells	
IL-9	Interleukin 9	Cytokine	Produced by CD4 ⁺ cells and stimulates cell proliferation and inhibits apoptosis	
IL-10	Interleukin 10	Cytokine	Anti-inflammatory/resolving	
IL-12a	Interleukin 12 alpha	Cytokine	Differentiation of Th1 and Th2 cells and stimulates IFNy production by PBMCs	
IL-12b	Interleukin 12 beta	Cytokine	Differentiation of Th1 and Th2 cells and stimulates IFNy production by PBMCs	
IL-13	Interleukin 13	Cytokine	Inhibits inflammatory cytokine production	
IL-15	Interleukin 15	Cytokine	Stimulates proliferation of T-lymphocytes	
IL-17	Interleukin 17	Cytokine	Induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines	
<i>Il18</i>	Interleukin 18	Cytokine	Pro inflammatory cytokine produced by macrophages	
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor	Cytokine	Regulation of a wide spectrum of biological processes including cell proliferation,	
			differentiation, lipid metabolism and apoptosis.	
IFN y	Interferon gamma	Cytokine	Produced by macrophages and T cells and has antiviral and antibacterial activities	
Tgfb1	Transforming growth	Cytokine	Regulates cell growth, cell proliferation, cell differentiation and apoptosis	

Table 6.1List of human and murine cytokines examined by TLDA

Gene	Name	Class	Functions	
Cxcl10	Chemokine (C-X-C-	Chemokine	Secreted by monocytes, endothelial cells and fibroblasts in reponse to IFN γ .	
	motif) ligand 10		Chemoattractant for macrophages, T cells NK cell	
Cxcl11	Chemokine (C-X-C	Chemokine	Chemotactic for activated T cells and is highly produced in peripheral blood	
	motif) ligand 11		leukocytes	
Ccl2	Chemokine (C-C motif)	Chemokine	Recruits monocytes, memory T cells and dendritic cells to sites of infection and	
	ligand 2		inflammation	
Ccl3	Chemokine (C-C motif)	Chemokine	Involved in the acute inflammatory state for the recruitment and activation of	
	ligand 3		polymorphonuclear leukocytes	
Ccl5	Chemokine (C-C motif)	Chemokine	Promotion of inflammatory infiltrate and T-cell chemotaxis	
	ligand 5			
Ccl19	Chemokine (C-C motif)	Chemokine	Chemoattractant for dendritic cells, antigen engaged B cells and CCR7 ⁺ memory T	
	ligand 19		cells.	
Ccr2	Chemokine (C-C motif)	Chemokine	Receptor for Ccl2	
	receptor 2			
Ccr4	Chemokine (C-C motif)	Chemokine	Receptor for Ccl2, Ccl17, Ccl22	
	receptor 4			
Ccr7	Chemokine (C-C motif)	Chemokine	Receptor for Ccl19, Ccl21	
	receptor 7			
Cxcr3	Chemokine (C-X-C	Chemokine	Receptor for Cxcl10, Cxcl11	
	motif) receptor 3			
<i>Il</i> 8	Interleukin 8	Chemokine	Functions as a chemoattractant and is a potent angiogenic factor	
(Human)				

Table 6.2List of human and murine chemokines examined by TLDA. Species specific genes are shown in bold.

Gene	Surface lineage
CD19	B lymphocytes
CD28	T cells that provide co-stimulatory signals
<i>CD34</i>	hematopoietic cells
CD38	T cells, B cells, NK cells and plasma cells
CD3e	T cells
CD4	T helper cells
CD68	Macrophages
CD80	B cells and monocytes that provides a costimulatory signal necessary for T cell
	activation and survival
CD86	Antigen presenting cells
CD8a	Cytotoxic T cell
Ctla4	T cell
Icos	Activated T cells

Table 6.3List of human and murine surface lineage markers examined by TLDA

Gene	Name	Class	Functions
18S	18S ribosomal RNA	Housekeeping	18S rRNA is part a component of the ribosomal subunit
Gapdh	Glyceraldehyde 3-	Housekeeping	Breaks down glucose during metabolism
	phosphate dehydrogenase		

Table 6.4List of human and murine housekeeping genes examined by TLDA

Gene	Name	Class	Functions	
Col4a5	Collagen alpha-5(IV)	Structural	Encodes one of six subunits of type IV collagen, the main component of connective	
	chain	protein	tissue	
Actb	Beta-actin	Structural	Nonmuscle cytoskeletal actin involved in motility, structure and integrity	
Nos2	Nitric oxide synthase 2	Enzyme	Synthesises the biological mediator nitric oxide which has antimicrobial activity	
Cyp1a2	Cytochrome P450 1A2	Enzyme	A member of the mixed function oxidase system involved in xenobiotics metabolism	
Cyp7a1	Cholesterol 7 alpha hydroxylase	Enzyme	Oxidises cholesterol using molecular oxygen	
Gusb	Beta-glucuronidase	Enzyme	Hydrolase that degrades glycosaminoglycans	
Hmox1	Heme oxygenase 1	Enzyme	Essential enzyme in heme catabolism	
Ecel	Endothelin converting	Enzyme	Proteolytic processing of EDN1,2,3 to biologically active peptides	
	enzyme 1			
Edn1	Endothelin 1	Peptide	Vasoconstricting peptide having a key role in vascular homeostatsis	
Hprt1	Hypoxanthine-guanine	Enzyme	Plays a central role in generation of purine nucleotides through the purine salvage	
(Murine)			patheway	
Pgk1	Phosphoglycerate kinase	Enzyme	Glycolytic enzyme that catalyses conversion of 1,3-diphosphoglycerate to 3-	
	1		phosphoglycerate	
Ptgs2	Prostaglandin- endoperoxide synthase 2	Enzyme	Converts arachidonic acid to prostaglandin endoperoxide H2 during inflammation	
Lrp2	Low density lipoprotein- related protein 1	Receptor	Mediates endocytosis of ligands leading to degradation in lysosomes or transcytosis	
Tfrc	Transferrin receptor 1	Protein	Iron delivery from transferring to cells	
Ski	Ski proto-oncogene	Protein	Negatively regulates TGF-beta	
Fnl	Fibronectin	Glycoprotein	Glycoprotein of the extracellular matrix that binds integrins	
Gnly	Granulysin	Protein	Present in cytotoxic granules of cytotoxic T cells, macrophages and natural killer	
(Human)			cells and has antimicrobial activity	
Ace	Angiotensin I converting	Enzyme	Converts angiotensin I to Angiotensin II and is also able to inactivate bradykinin	
(Human)	enzyme			
Ren	Renin	Enzyme	Activates the rennin-angiotensin system which mediates extracellular volume	

Table 6.5List of human and murine genes encoding intracellular proteins and enzymes examined by TLDA. Species specific genes are shown in

Gene	Name	Class	Functions
Socs 2	Suppressor of cytokine	Transcription	Regulation of IGF1R
(Murine)	signalling 2	factor	
Smad3	SMAD family member 3	Transcription	Transcriptional modulator activated by TGFb
		factor	
Smad7	SMAD family member 7	Transcription	Antagonistic and locks activation of SMADs
		factor	
Tbx21	T-box transcription factor	Transcription	Controls expression of IFNG in Th1 and natural killer
	TBX21	factor	cells
Ikbkb	Inhibitor of kappa light	Signalling factor	Phosphorylates inhibitors of NF-kappa-B thus leading to
	polypeptide gene		the dissociation of inhibitor/NF-kappa-B complex
Stat1	Signal transducer and	Signalling factor	Upregulates genes in response to type I, II or III
(Murine)	activator of transcription 1		interferons
Stat3	Signal transducer and	Signalling factor	Mediates genes that play key roles in cell growth and
	activator of transcription 3		apoptosis
Stat4	Signal transducer and	Signalling factor	Mediates responses to IL12 in lymphocytes
(Murine)	activator of transcription 4		
Stat6	Signal transducer and	Signalling factor	Exerts IL4 mediated biological responses and induces
(Murine)	activator of transcription 6		expression of BCL2L1
Nfkb1	Nuclear factor NF-kappa-	Transcription	Involved in many biological functions such as
(Murine)	B p105 subunit	factor	inflammation, immunity, differentiation and cell growth
Nfkb2	Nuclear factor NF-k-B	Transcription	Involved in cellular responses to stimuli such as cytokines
	p49/p100 subunit	factor	and stress and plays a key role in regulating the immune
			response to infection

Table 6.6List of human and murine genes encoding transcription factors and signalling factors examined by TLDA. Species specific genes are

shown in bold.

Name	Class	Functions	
Bcl2-associated X protein	Pro-apoptotic	Promotes apoptosis by competing with Bcl2	
FAS receptor	Pro-apoptotic	Death receptor on the cell surface which lead to programmed cell death	
FAS ligand	Pro-apoptotic	Ligand which binds the FAS receptor	
B cell lymphoma 2	Pro-survival	Suppresses apoptosis in a variety of cell systems	
Bcl2-like 1	Pro-survival	Inhibitor of cell death. Inhibits activation of caspases.	
Macrophage colony stimulating factor	Growth factor	Influences hematopoietic stem cells to differentiate into macrophages	
Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor	Growth factor	Stimulates stem cells to produce granulocytes and monocytes	
Colony stimulating factor 3	Growth factor	Controls the production, differentiation and function of granulocytes	
Vascular endothelial	Growth factor	Specifically acts on endothelial cells with effects including increased vascular	
growth factor A		permeability, inducing angiogenesis and inhibiting apoptosis	
Complement component	Immune	Plays a central role in the complement system and contributes to innate immunity	
3	effector		
Perforin	Immune	A cytolytic protein found in granules of T cells and NK cells. Upon degranulation,	
	effector	perforin inserts into the target cell's membrane forming a pore.	
Granzyme B	Immune	Expressed by cytotoxic T cells and NK cells and induces rapid induction of target cell	
	effector	apoptosis	
Lymphotoxin-alpha	Immune	Mediates a large variety of inflammatory, immunostimulatory and antiviral responses	
	effector	and is also involved in the formation of secondary lymphoid organs	
Angiotensin II receptor	Pro- apoptotic	Mediates programmed cell death	
type 1	receptor		
Angiotensin II receptor	Pro- apoptotic	Mediates programmed cell death	
type 2	receptor		
	NameBcl2-associated X proteinFAS receptorFAS ligandB cell lymphoma 2Bcl2-like 1Macrophage colonystimulating factorGranulocyte macrophagecolony stimulating factorColony stimulating factor3Vascular endothelialgrowth factor AComplement component3PerforinGranzyme BLymphotoxin-alphaAngiotensin II receptortype 1Angiotensin II receptortype 2	NameClassBcl2-associated X proteinPro-apoptoticFAS receptorPro-apoptoticFAS ligandPro-apoptoticB cell lymphoma 2Pro-survivalBcl2-like 1Pro-survivalMacrophage colonyGrowth factorstimulating factorGrowth factorColony stimulating factorGrowth factor3Growth factorVascular endothelial growth factor AGrowth factor2ProfectorPerforinImmune effectorGranzyme BImmune effectorLymphotoxin-alphaImmune effectorAngiotensin II receptor type 1Pro- apoptoticYue 2receptor	

Table 6.7List of human and murine growth factors, immune effector and pro/anti-apoptotic genes examined by TLDA. Species specific genes are

shown in bold.

Gene	Name	Class	Functions		
B2m	Beta-2 microglobulin	Surface protein	Component of MHC class I molecules and is involved in endocytosis		
(Mruine)			regulation		
H2-ea	Histocompatibility 2, class II antigen	Cell surface	Immune response antigen that function in T cell dependent immune response		
(Murine)		protein			
Tnfrsf18	Tumour necrosis factor receptor	Cell surface	Key role in regulating immunological self tolerance		
	superfamily 18	recpetor			
Cd40	CD40 molecule, TNF receptor	Cell surface	CD40 activates antigen presenting cells		
	superfamily 5	recpetor			
Cd40lg	Cd40 ligand	Cell surface	Primarily expressed on activated T cells and binds to CD40 on antigen		
		ligand	presenting cells		
Sele	E-selectin	Cell adhesion	Expressed only on activated endothelial cells and plays a role in leukocyte		
			recruitment		
Selp	P-selectin	Cell adhesion	Expressed on the surface of activated endothelial cells and functions in		
			leukocyte recruitment		
Ptprc	Protein tyrosine phosphatise receptor C	Enzyme	Signalling molecule with extracellular domain. Regulates a variety of cellular		
			processes including growth and differentiation.		
Hla-dra	HLA class II histocompatability	Cell surface	Plays a central role in the immune system by presenting peptides derived from		
(Human)	antigen, DR alpha chain	protein	extracellular proteins		
Hla-drb1	HLA class II histocompatability	Cell surface	Plays a central role in the immune system by presenting peptides derived from		
(Human)	antigen, DRB1-9 beta	protein	extracellular proteins		
Myh6	Myosin-6	Motor protein	Involvement in a wide range of motility processes		
(Human)					
Il2-RA	Interleukin-2-receptor alpha chain	Surface receptor	High affinity IL-2 receptor		
(Human)					
Icam1	Intercellular adhesion molecule 1	Surface	Supports binding of leukocytes		
(Human)		glycoprotein			
Table 6.8	List of human and murine cell surface proteins and adhesion molecules examined by TLDA. Species specific genes are shown in bold				